

BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

FORM 10-K (Annual Report)

Filed 02/26/10 for the Period Ending 12/31/09

Address 345 PARK AVENUE

NEW YORK, NY 10154

Telephone 212 583 5000

CIK 0001393818

Symbol BX

SIC Code 6282 - Investment Advice

Industry Real Estate Operations

Sector Services

Fiscal Year 12/31



2010 was 109,083,468.

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K		
(Mark One) ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF 1934 FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, OR		
TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 ACT OF 1934 FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM Commission File Number: 001-3	TO	
The Blackstone Group L.P. (Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)		
Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 345 Park Avenue New York, New York 10154 (Address of principal executive offices)(Zip (212) 583-5000 (Registrant's telephone number, including ar	Code)	
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12	- 2(b) of the Act:	
Title of each class Common units representing limited partner interests	Name of each exchange on which registered New York Stock Exchange	
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Se	d in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ⊠ No	
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to b Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registra subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \boxtimes No \square		
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and post Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files) Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Re	§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 month). Yes \square No \square	
herein and will not be contained, to the best of the Registrant's knowledge, in the defini reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.		
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accele company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer", "accelerated filer" and "smalle Act.		
Large accelerated filer ⊠ Non-accelerated filer □ (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Ru The aggregate market value of the common units of the Registrant held by non-affil \$2,852.3 million, which includes non-voting common units with a value of approximate The number of the Registrant's voting common units representing limited partner in	liates as of June 30, 2009 was approximately \$1,149.8 million.	

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

205,632,807. The number of the Registrant's non-voting common units representing limited partner interests outstanding as of February 19,

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
PART I		
ITEM 1.	BUSINESS	5
ITEM 1A.	RISK FACTORS	18
ITEM 1B.	UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS	55
ITEM 2.	PROPERTIES	55
ITEM 3.	LEGAL PROCEEDINGS	56
ITEM 4.	SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS	56
PART II		
ITEM 5.	MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES	57
ITEM 6.	SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA	60
ITEM 7.	MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	62
ITEM 7A.	QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK	113
ITEM 8.	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA	116
ITEM 8A.	UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTAL PRESENTATION OF STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION	178
ITEM 9.	CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE	181
ITEM 9A.	CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES	181
ITEM 9B.	OTHER INFORMATION	182
PART III		
ITEM 10.	DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	183
ITEM 11.	EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	189
ITEM 12.	SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS	204
ITEM 13.	CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE	208
ITEM 14.	PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES	214
PART IV		
ITEM 15.	EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES	216
SIGNATUR	ES	223

Forward-Looking Statements

This report may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 which reflect our current views with respect to, among other things, our operations and financial performance. You can identify these forward-looking statements by the use of words such as "outlook," "believes," "expects," "potential," "continues," "may," "will," "should," "seeks," "approximately," "predicts," "intends," "plans," "estimates," "anticipates" or the negative version of these words or other comparable words. Such forward-looking statements are subject to various risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, there are or will be important factors that could cause actual outcomes or results to differ materially from those indicated in these statements. We believe these factors include but are not limited to those described under the section entitled "Risk Factors" in this report, as such factors may be updated from time to time in our periodic filings with the SEC, which are accessible on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. These factors should not be construed as exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other cautionary statements that are included in this report and in our other periodic filings. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or review any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.

In this report, references to "Blackstone," the "Partnership", "we," "us" or "our" refer (1) prior to the consummation of our reorganization into a holding partnership structure in June 2007 as described under "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Significant Transactions—Reorganization", to Blackstone Group, which comprised certain consolidated and combined entities historically under the common ownership of (a) our two founders, Mr. Stephen A. Schwarzman and Mr. Peter G. Peterson, and our other senior managing directors, (b) selected other individuals engaged in some of our businesses and (c) a subsidiary of American International Group, Inc., to whom we refer collectively as our "predecessor owners" or "pre-IPO owners," and (2) after our reorganization, to The Blackstone Group L.P. and its consolidated subsidiaries. Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this report to the ownership of our founders and other Blackstone personnel include the ownership of personal planning vehicles and family members of these individuals.

"Blackstone Funds," "our funds" and "our investment funds" refer to the private equity funds, real estate funds, funds of hedge funds, credit-oriented funds, CLOs, and closed-end mutual funds that are managed by Blackstone. "Our carry funds" refer to the private equity funds, real estate funds and certain of the credit-oriented funds (with multi-year drawdown, commitment-based structures that only receive carry on the realization of an investment) that are managed by Blackstone. "Our hedge funds" refer to our funds of hedge funds, certain of our real estate debt investment funds and our other credit-oriented funds that are managed by Blackstone.

"Assets under management" refers to the assets we manage. Our assets under management equals the sum of:

- (a) the fair value of the investments held by our carry funds plus the capital that we are entitled to call from investors in those funds pursuant to the terms of their capital commitments to those funds (plus the fair value of co-investments arranged by us that were made by limited partners of our funds in portfolio companies of such funds and on which we receive fees or a carried interest allocation);
- (b) the net asset value of our funds of hedge funds, hedge funds and our closed-end mutual funds;
- (c) the fair value of assets we manage pursuant to separately managed accounts; and
- (d) the amount of capital raised for our CLOs.

Our carry funds are commitment-based drawdown structured funds that do not permit investors to redeem their interests at their election. Interests related to our funds of hedge funds and certain of our credit-oriented funds are generally subject to annual, semi-annual or quarterly withdrawal or redemption by investors upon

advance written notice, with the majority of our funds requiring from 60 days up to 95 days' notice, depending on the fund and the liquidity profile of the underlying assets. Investment advisory agreements related to separately managed accounts may generally be terminated by an investor on 30 to 90 days' notice.

"Fee-earning assets under management" refers to the assets we manage on which we derive management and incentive fees. Our fee-earning assets under management equal the sum of:

- (a) for our Blackstone Capital Partners ("BCP") and Blackstone Real Estate Partners ("BREP") funds where the investment period has not expired, the amount of capital commitments;
- (b) for our BCP and BREP funds where the investment period has expired, the remaining amount of invested capital;
- (c) for our real estate debt investment funds, the remaining amount of invested capital;
- (d) for our credit-oriented carry funds, the amount of invested capital (which may be calculated to include leverage) or net asset value;
- (e) the invested capital of co-investments arranged by us that were made by limited partners of our funds in portfolio companies of such funds and on which we receive fees;
- (f) the net asset value of our funds of hedge funds, hedge funds and our closed-end mutual funds;
- (g) the fair value of assets we manage pursuant to separately managed accounts; and
- (h) the gross amount of assets of our CLOs at cost.

Our calculations of assets under management and fee-earning assets under management may differ from the calculations of other asset managers, and as a result this measure may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other asset managers. In addition, our calculation of assets under management includes commitments to, and the fair value of, invested capital in our funds from Blackstone and our personnel, regardless of whether such commitments or invested capital are subject to fees. Our definitions of assets under management or fee-earning assets under management are not based on any definition of assets under management or fee-earning assets under management that is set forth in the agreements governing the investment funds that we manage.

For our carry funds, total assets under management includes the fair value of the investments held, whereas fee-earning assets under management includes the amount of capital commitments or the remaining amount of invested capital at cost, depending on whether the investment period has or has not expired. As such, fee-earning assets under management may be greater than total assets under management when the aggregate fair value of the remaining investments is less than the cost of those investments.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Blackstone is a leading manager of private capital and provider of financial advisory services. We are one of the largest independent managers of private capital in the world, with assets under management of \$98.2 billion as of December 31, 2009. Our alternative asset management businesses include the management of private equity funds, real estate funds, funds of hedge funds, credit-oriented funds, collateralized loan obligation ("CLO") vehicles, separately managed accounts and publicly-traded closed-end mutual funds. We also provide a wide range of financial advisory services, including corporate and mergers and acquisitions, restructuring and reorganization and fund placement services.

We seek to deliver superior returns to investors in our funds through a disciplined, value-oriented investment approach. Since we were founded in 1985, we have cultivated strong relationships with clients in our financial advisory business, where we endeavor to provide objective and insightful solutions and advice that our clients can trust. We believe our scaled, diversified businesses, coupled with our long track record of investment performance, proven investment approach and strong client relationships, position us to continue to perform well in a variety of market conditions, expand our assets under management and add complementary businesses. Our businesses have yielded a significant positive impact on society through, for example, increases in employment, additional capital investment and research and development expense by our portfolio companies, increased tax revenue to federal and local governments and returns to our limited partners. Two of our primary limited partner constituencies are corporate and public pension funds. As a result, to the extent our funds perform well it supports a better retirement for thousands of pensioners.

During 2009 many of the strategies and initiatives we have formulated to enhance our asset management and financial advisory businesses proved successful.

- We believe our attention to building a stable, diversified business was substantiated with the receipt of an A+/F1 rating with stable outlook from Fitch Ratings and an A rating with stable outlook from Standard & Poor's.
- In an uncertain year for financing, we issued \$600 million 10-year 6.625% notes in the third quarter of 2009, the proceeds of which we expect to utilize to further our growth strategy.
- In a very difficult fund-raising environment for many asset managers, we were able to grow fee-earning assets in our investment funds by over 5% during 2009 by continuing to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns in our investment funds and by entering complementary businesses. For example, we have raised over \$1.0 billion for our real-estate debt investment funds, an investment business we first entered in 2008.
- The continued focus of our funds of hedge funds business on the key tenets of its investment approach such as diversification, risk management, due diligence and a focus on downside protection, contributed to that business becoming the leading global institutional funds of hedge funds investment manager with \$27.1 billion in assets under management.
- Our integration of GSO Capital Partners LP ("GSO"), which we purchased in 2008, has produced what we believe is one of the dominant credit investment platforms in the industry today with \$24.2 billion in assets under management.
- Our continued focus on growing our international financial advisory practice resulted in an advisory team with global capabilities and international recognition, evidenced by major advisory assignments in Europe and Asia.
- The efforts of the operations management group in our Private Equity business, which seeks to create operational improvements to our investments in a multitude of ways, enabled our portfolio companies to successfully weather the tumultuous economic downturn and even grow and create value which, we believe, not only benefits the investors in our investment funds but contributes to economic growth and productivity.

Moreover, we continue to devise and implement strategies to strengthen and grow our asset management and financial advisory businesses. For instance, we recently enhanced our presence in Asia with the opening of an office in Shanghai (to complement our existing offices in Beijing, Hong Kong, Mumbai and Tokyo). In addition, in 2009 we formalized a partnership with the Pudong government of Shanghai to raise and manage a Renminbi-denominated fund focused on investments in China.

As of December 31, 2009, we had 98 senior managing directors and employed approximately 490 other investment and advisory professionals at our headquarters in New York and our offices in Atlanta, Beijing, Boston, Chicago, Dallas, Hong Kong, Houston, London, Los Angeles, Menlo Park, Mumbai, Paris, San Francisco, Shanghai and Tokyo. We believe that the depth and breadth of the intellectual capital and experience of our professionals are key reasons why we have generated excellent returns while managing downside risk over many years for the investors in our funds. This track record in turn has allowed us to successfully and repeatedly raise additional assets from an increasingly wide variety of sophisticated investors.

Business Segments

Our four business segments are: (1) Private Equity, (2) Real Estate, (3) Credit and Marketable Alternatives, which comprises our management of funds of hedge funds, credit-oriented funds and separately managed accounts, CLOs and publicly-traded closed-end mutual funds, and (4) Financial Advisory, which comprises our corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory services, restructuring and reorganization advisory services and Park Hill Group, which provides fund placement services for alternative investment funds. The Credit and Marketable Alternatives segment was formerly known as Marketable Alternative Asset Management and has been renamed to better reflect the product mix in this segment. This does not reflect a change to the underlying businesses or how they are reflected in Blackstone's results of operation.

Information about our business segments should be read together with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and the historical financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Private Equity Segment

Our Private Equity segment, established in 1987, is a global business with 107 investment professionals and offices in New York, London, Menlo Park, Mumbai, Hong Kong, Beijing and Shanghai. We are a world leader in private equity investing, having managed five general private equity funds as well as one specialized fund focusing on communications-related investments. In addition, we are in the process of raising our seventh private equity fund and are seeking to launch complementary investment funds to separately target investments in each of the infrastructure and clean technology asset classes. From an operation focused in our early years on consummating leveraged buyout acquisitions of U.S.-based companies, we have grown into a business pursuing transactions throughout the world and executing not only typical leveraged buyout acquisitions of seasoned companies but also transactions involving growth equity or start-up businesses in established industries, minority investments, corporate partnerships, distressed debt, structured securities and industry consolidations, in all cases in strictly friendly transactions. Our Private Equity segment's multi-dimensional investment approach is guided by several core investment principles: corporate partnerships, sector expertise, a contrarian bias (e.g., investing in out-of-favor / under-appreciated industries), global scope, distressed securities investing, significant number of exclusive opportunities, superior financing expertise, operations oversight and a strong focus on value creation. Our existing Private Equity funds, which we refer to as the Blackstone Capital Partners ("BCP") funds, invest primarily in control-oriented, privately negotiated investments and generally utilize leverage in consummating the investments they make. As of December 31, 2009, our Private Equity segment had \$24.8 billion of assets under management, or 25.2% of our total assets under management. For more information concerning the revenues and fees we derive from our Private Equity segmen

Real Estate Segment

We are a world leader in real estate investing with an assortment of real estate funds that are diversified geographically and across a variety of sectors. We launched our first real estate fund in 1994 and have managed six opportunistic real estate funds, two internationally focused real estate funds, a European focused real estate fund and a number of real estate debt-investment funds. Our real estate funds, which we refer to as the Blackstone Real Estate Partners ("BREP") funds, have made significant investments in lodging, major urban office buildings and a variety of real estate operating companies. The BREP funds invest primarily in control-oriented, privately negotiated real estate investments and generally utilize leverage in consummating the investments they make. In addition, our debt-investment funds target non-controlling real estate debt-related investment opportunities in the public and private markets, primarily in the United States and Europe. The Real Estate segment is comprised of 69 investment professionals with offices in New York, Chicago, London, Paris, Mumbai, Tokyo, and Hong Kong. Our Real Estate segment's investing approach is guided by several core investment principles, many of which are similar to our Private Equity segment, including global scope, significant number of exclusive opportunities, superior financing expertise, operations oversight and a strong focus on value creation. As of December 31, 2009, our Real Estate segment had \$20.4 billion of assets under management, or 20.8% of our total assets under management. For more information concerning the revenues and fees we derive from our Real Estate segment, see "—Incentive Arrangements / Fee Structure" in this Item 1.

Credit and Marketable Alternatives Segment

Our Credit and Marketable Alternatives segment comprises our funds of hedge funds, credit-oriented funds, separately managed accounts and CLO vehicles and publicly-traded closed-end mutual funds. As of December 31, 2009, our Credit and Marketable Alternatives segment had \$53.0 billion of assets under management, or 54.0% of our total assets under management. For more information concerning the revenues and fees we derive from our Credit and Marketable Alternatives segment, see "—Incentive Arrangements / Fee Structure" in this Item 1.

Funds of hedge funds. Our funds of hedge funds group, which we refer to as Blackstone Alternative Asset Management or "BAAM", was organized in 1990 and manages a variety of funds of hedge funds and separately managed accounts. Working with our clients over the past 20 years, BAAM has developed into a leading manager of institutional funds of hedge funds with 80 investment professionals and offices in New York, London and Hong Kong. BAAM's overall investment philosophy is to utilize leading non-traditional investment managers to achieve attractive risk-adjusted returns with relatively low volatility and low correlation to traditional asset classes. Diversification, risk management, due diligence and a focus on downside protection are key tenets of our approach. Although certain underlying managers that BAAM invests with may utilize leverage in connection with the investments those managers make in their respective underlying hedge funds, BAAM does not utilize long-term leverage for the investments it makes in the underlying hedge funds. Our funds of hedge funds operation had \$27.1 billion of assets under management as of December 31, 2009.

Credit-oriented businesses / CLOs . Our credit-oriented funds, CLO and separately managed accounts are managed by our subsidiary, GSO Capital Partners ("GSO"), which we acquired in March 2008. GSO is a major participant in the leveraged finance markets with \$24.2 billion of assets under management as of December 31, 2009. Our credit-oriented businesses have 73 investment professionals and offices in New York, London and Houston. The credit-oriented funds we manage or advise include senior credit-oriented funds, distressed debt funds, mezzanine funds and general credit-oriented funds focused on the leveraged finance marketplace. In addition, GSO manages a number of credit-oriented separately managed accounts. Those funds or accounts have investment portfolios comprised of securities spread across the capital structure, including senior debt, subordinated debt, preferred stock and common equity. GSO may utilize leverage in connection with the investments the credit-oriented funds or separately managed accounts make. In addition, GSO manages 24 separate CLO vehicles with total assets under management of approximately \$13.3 billion focused primarily on senior secured debt issued by a diverse universe of non-investment grade companies.

Closed-End Mutual Funds. In 2005, we were appointed the investment manager and adviser of two publicly-traded closed-end mutual funds called The India Fund and The Asia Tigers Fund. The India Fund, with \$1.6 billion in assets under management as of December 31, 2009, trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "IFN." The India Fund's investment objective is long-term capital appreciation through investing primarily in the equity securities of Indian companies. The Asia Tigers Fund, with \$76.9 million in assets under management as of December 31, 2009, trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "GRR." The Asia Tigers Fund's investment objective is long-term capital appreciation through investing primarily in the equity securities of Asian companies.

Financial Advisory Segment

Our Financial Advisory segment comprises our corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory services, restructuring and reorganization advisory services and Park Hill Group, which provides fund placement services for alternative investment funds. Our financial advisory businesses are global businesses with 227 professionals and offices in New York, Atlanta, Chicago, Dallas, Boston, Los Angeles, San Francisco, Menlo Park, London, Paris, Hong Kong, Beijing and Tokyo.

Financial and Strategic Advisory Services ("Blackstone Advisory Partners L.P."). Our financial and strategic advisory business, "Blackstone Advisory Partners L.P.," has been an independent provider of creative solutions in complex and critical financial advisory assignments for over 24 years. We focus on a wide range of transaction execution capabilities with respect to acquisitions, mergers, joint ventures, minority investments, asset swaps, divestitures, takeover defenses, corporate finance advisory, private placements and distressed sales with offices in New York, London, Hong Kong, Atlanta, Boston, Menlo Park, Paris and Beijing. Recent clients include Aluminum Corporation of China, American International Group, Inc. ("AIG"), Flextronics International LTD., Genworth Financial, Inc., Kraft Foods, Pennsylvania Insurance Commission, The Procter & Gamble Company, Publicis Groupe S.A., Reuters Group PLC, Suez S.A. and Xerox Corporation. The success of Blackstone Advisory Partners L.P. has resulted from a highly experienced team focused on our core principles, including protecting client confidentiality, prioritizing our client's interests, avoidance of conflicts and senior-level attention. The 21 senior managing directors in Blackstone Advisory Partners L.P. have an average of 20 years of experience in providing corporate finance and mergers and acquisitions advice.

Restructuring and Reorganization Advisory Services. Our restructuring and reorganization advisory operation is one of the leading advisers to companies and creditors in restructurings and bankruptcies with offices in New York and London. Our restructuring and reorganization advisory clients include companies, creditors, corporate parents, hedge funds, financial sponsors and acquirers of troubled companies. This operation is particularly active in large, complex and high-profile bankruptcies and restructurings, where we have advised clients in both out-of-court restructurings and Chapter 11 reorganizations as well as provided general advice. Some of the recent clients that we have advised include AIG, Allied Capital, American Axle & Manufacturing, BAA, Delta Air Lines, Ford Motor Company, MBIA, Nortek, SemGroup, Thule and W.R. Grace. Senior-level attention, global emphasis and the ability to facilitate prompt resolutions are critical ingredients in our restructuring and reorganization advisory approach. We have one of the most seasoned and experienced restructuring and reorganization advisory operations in the financial services industry, working on a significant share of all major restructuring assignments. Our seven senior managing directors in this area have an average of 20 years of experience in restructuring assignments and employ the skills we feel are crucial to successful restructuring assignments.

Park Hill Group . Park Hill Group provides fund placement services for private equity funds, real estate funds, venture capital funds and hedge funds. Park Hill Group primarily provides placement services to unrelated third-party sponsored funds. It also assists us in raising capital for our own investment funds from time to time and providing insights into new alternative asset products and trends. Park Hill Group and our investment funds each benefit from the others' relationships with both limited partners and other fund sponsors.

Financial and Other Information by Segment

Financial and other information by segment for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 is set forth in Note 19. "Segment Reporting" in the "Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements" in "Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing.

Investment Process and Risk Management

We maintain a rigorous investment process across all of our funds. Each fund has investment policies and procedures that generally contain requirements and limitations for investments, such as limitations relating to the amount that will be invested in any one investment and the types of industries or geographic regions in which the fund will invest.

Private Equity Funds

Our Private Equity investment professionals are responsible for selecting, evaluating, structuring, diligencing, negotiating, executing, managing and exiting investments, as well as pursuing operational improvements and value creation. After an initial selection, evaluation and diligence process, the relevant team of investment professionals (i.e., the deal team) will present a proposed transaction at a weekly review committee meeting comprised of the senior managing directors of our Private Equity segment, a number of whom participate in each weekly meeting. Review committee meetings are co-chaired by our President and Chief Operating Officer, Hamilton E. James, and senior managing director, Garrett M. Moran. After discussing the contemplated transaction with the deal team, the review committee decides whether to give its preliminary approval to the deal team to continue the selection, evaluation, diligence and negotiation process and provides guidance on strategy, process and other pertinent considerations.

Once a proposed transaction has reached a more advanced stage, it undergoes a detailed interim review by the review committee of our private equity funds. Following assimilation of the review committee's input and its decision to proceed with a proposed transaction, the proposed investment is vetted by the investment committee. The investment committee of our private equity funds is composed of certain members of our senior management, including Stephen A. Schwarzman and Hamilton E. James, and the senior managing directors of our Private Equity segment. The investment committee is responsible for approving all investment decisions made on behalf of our private equity funds. Both the review committee and the investment committee processes involve a consensus approach to decision making among committee members.

The investment professionals of our private equity funds are responsible for monitoring an investment once it is made and for making recommendations with respect to exiting an investment. In addition to members of a deal team and our portfolio operations group, which is responsible for monitoring and assisting in enhancing portfolio companies' operations and value, all professionals in the Private Equity segment meet several times each year to review the performance of the funds' portfolio companies.

Real Estate Funds

Our real estate operation has an investment committee similar to that described under "—Private Equity Funds." The real estate investment committee, which includes Stephen A. Schwarzman, Hamilton E. James and the senior managing directors in the Real Estate segment, scrutinizes potential transactions, provides guidance and instructions at the appropriate stage of each transaction and approves the making and disposition of each BREP fund investment. In addition, the committee approves significant illiquid investments by the real estate debt funds.

The investment professionals of our real estate funds are responsible for monitoring an investment once it is made and for making recommendations with respect to exiting an investment. In addition to members of a deal team and our asset management group responsible for monitoring and assisting in enhancing portfolio companies' operations and value, senior professionals in the Real Estate segment meet several times each year to review the performance of the funds' portfolio companies.

Credit and Marketable Alternatives

Funds of Hedge Funds

Before deciding to invest in a new hedge fund, our funds of hedge funds team conducts extensive due diligence, including an on-site "front office" review of the hedge fund's performance, investment terms, investment strategy and investment personnel, a "back office" review of the hedge fund's operations, processes, risk management and internal controls, industry reference checks and a legal review of the fund investment structures and legal documents. Once initial due diligence procedures are completed and the investment professionals are satisfied with the results of the review, the team will present the potential hedge fund investment to the investment committee of our funds of hedge funds operation. The investment committee is comprised of the senior managing directors on the investment team and other senior investment personnel. This committee meets formally at least once a month to review, and potentially approve, investment and divestment suggestions. If the investment committee approves a potential hedge fund investment, the executive committee of our funds of hedge funds operation, chaired by Blackstone Vice Chairman J. Tomilson Hill, will make the ultimate decision to approve an investment decision. Members of our funds of hedge funds team monitor and review existing hedge fund investments at least weekly. Additionally, J. Tomilson Hill and other senior members of our funds of hedge funds teams meet weekly with Stephen A. Schwarzman and Hamilton E. James to monitor and review our funds of hedge funds.

Credit-Oriented Funds and CLOs

Each of our credit-oriented funds has an investment committee similar to that described under "—Private Equity Funds." The investment committees for the credit-oriented funds, each of which includes Bennett J. Goodman, J. Albert Smith III and Douglas I. Ostrover and senior members of the respective investment teams associated with each fund, review potential transactions, provide input regarding the scope of due diligence and approve recommended investments and dispositions. These investment committees have delegated certain abilities to approve investments and dispositions to credit committees within each operation which consist of the senior members of the respective investment teams associated with each fund. In addition, senior members of GSO, including Bennett J. Goodman, J. Albert Smith III and Douglas I. Ostrover, meet weekly with Stephen A. Schwarzman and Hamilton E. James to discuss investment and risk management activities and market conditions.

The CLO Investment Committee, which is composed of the group's Senior Managing Directors and Managing Directors, approves all assets prior to the initial investment by any CLO in such asset. The CLO investment team is staffed by 33 professionals, organized across areas of research, portfolio management, trading, and capital formation to ensure active management of the portfolios and to afford focus on all aspects of our CLOs. Investment decisions follow a consensus based approach and require unanimous approval of the Investment Committee. Industry focused research analysts provide the committee with a formal and comprehensive review of any new investment recommendation, while our portfolio managers and trading professionals provide opinions on other technical aspects of the recommendation. Once approved, investments are subject to predetermined periodic reviews to assess their continued fit within the funds. Our research team constantly monitors the operating performance of the underlying issuers, while portfolio managers, in concert with our traders, focus on optimizing asset composition to maximize value for CLO investors.

Structure and Operation of Our Investment Funds

We conduct the sponsorship and management of our carry funds and other similar vehicles primarily through a partnership structure in which limited partnerships organized by us accept commitments and/or funds for investment from institutional investors and (to a limited extent) high net worth individuals. Such commitments are generally drawn down from investors on an as needed basis to fund investments over a specified term. All of our private equity and real estate funds are commitment structured funds, except for two of our real estate debt funds which are structured like hedge funds where all of the committed capital is funded on

or promptly after the investor's subscription date and cash proceeds resulting from the disposition of investments can be reused indefinitely for further investment, subject to certain investor withdrawal rights. Our credit-oriented funds may be commitment structured funds or hedge funds where the investor's capital is fully funded into the fund upon or soon after the subscription for interests in the fund. Most of our funds of hedge funds are structured as funds where the investor's capital is fully funded into the fund upon the subscription for interests in the fund. Our investment funds are generally organized as limited partnerships with respect to U.S. domiciled vehicles and limited liability (and other similar) companies with respect to non-U.S. domiciled vehicles. In the case of our separately managed accounts, the investor, rather than us, generally controls the investment vehicle that holds or has custody of the investments we advise the vehicle to make.

Our investment funds and separately managed accounts are generally advised by a Blackstone entity serving as investment adviser which is registered under the U.S. Investment Advisers Act of 1940, or "Advisers Act." Substantially all of the responsibility for the day-to-day operations of each investment fund or account is typically delegated to the investment funds' respective investment advisers pursuant to an investment advisory (or similar) agreement. Generally, the material terms of our investment advisory agreements relate to the scope of services to be rendered by the investment adviser to the applicable investment funds, the calculation of management fees to be borne by investors in our investment funds, the calculation of and the manner and extent to which other fees received by the investment adviser from fund portfolio companies serve to offset or reduce the management fees payable by investors in our investment funds and certain rights of termination with respect to our investment advisory agreements. For a discussion of the management fees to which our investment advisers are entitled across our various types of investment funds, please see "-Incentive Arrangements / Fee Structure" below. The investment funds themselves do not generally register as investment companies under the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, or "1940 Act," in reliance on Section 3(c)(7) or Section 7(d) thereof or, typically in the case of funds formed prior to 1997, Section 3(c)(1) thereof. Section 3(c)(7) of the 1940 Act exempts from its registration requirements investment funds privately placed in the United States whose securities are owned exclusively by persons who, at the time of acquisition of such securities, are "qualified purchasers" as defined under the 1940 Act. Section 3(c)(1) of the 1940 Act excepts from its registration requirements privately placed investment funds whose securities are beneficially owned by not more than 100 persons. In addition, under current interpretations of the SEC, Section 7(d) of the 1940 Act exempts from registration any non-U.S. investment fund all of whose outstanding securities are beneficially owned either by non-U.S. residents or by U.S. residents that are qualified purchasers.

In some cases, one or more of our investment advisers advises funds registered under the 1940 Act. For example, one of our investment advisers advises the two publicly-traded closed-end mutual funds, The India Fund and The Asia Tigers Fund. In addition, GSO serves as an investment sub-adviser to a registered investment advisor which manages a closed-end investment company called FS Investment Corporation, which is registered as a business development company under the 1940 Act.

In addition to having an investment adviser, each investment fund that is a limited partnership, or "partnership" fund, also has a general partner that makes all operational and investment decisions relating to the conduct of the investment fund's business. Furthermore, all decisions concerning the making, monitoring and disposing of investments are made by the general partner. The limited partners of the partnership funds take no part in the conduct or control of the business of the investment funds, have no right or authority to act for or bind the investment funds and have no influence over the voting or disposition of the securities or other assets held by the investment funds. These decisions are made by the investment fund's general partner in its sole discretion. With the exception of certain of our funds of hedge funds and certain credit-oriented funds, third-party investors in our funds have the right to remove the general partner of the fund or to accelerate the liquidation date of the investment fund without cause by a simple majority vote. In addition, the governing agreements of our investment funds enable investors in those funds to vote to terminate the investment period by a simple majority vote in accordance with specified procedures or accelerate the withdrawal of their capital on an investor-by-investor basis in the event certain "key persons" in our investment funds do not meet specified time commitments with regard to managing the fund (for example, both of Stephen A. Schwarzman and Hamilton E. James in the case of our private equity funds).

Incentive Arrangements / Fee Structure

The investment adviser of each of our carry funds generally receives an annual management fee that ranges from 1.0% to 2.0% of the investment fund's capital commitments during the investment period and from 0.75% to 1.5% of invested capital after the investment period, except that the investment advisers to certain of our credit-oriented and real estate debt carry funds receive an annual management fee that ranges from 1.0% to 1.5% of invested capital throughout the term of the fund. The investment adviser of each of our credit-oriented and certain of our real estate debt funds that are structured like a hedge fund generally receives an annual management fee that ranges from 1.0% to 2.0% of the fund's net asset value and for general partners or similar entities a performance-based allocation fee (or similar incentive fee) equal to a range of 10% to 20% of the applicable fund's net capital appreciation per annum, subject to certain net loss carry-forward provisions (known as a "high water mark"). The investment adviser of each of our funds of hedge funds and separately managed accounts that invest in hedge funds is generally entitled to a management fee with respect to each fund it manages ranging from 0.65% to 1.5% of assets under management per annum plus, in some cases, an incentive fee generally ranging from 5% to 10% of the applicable fund's net appreciation per annum, subject to a highwater mark and in some cases a preferred return. The investment adviser of each of our CLOs receives annual management fees typically equal to 0.50% to 1.25% of each fund's total assets, subject to certain performance measures related to the underlying assets the CLO owns, and additional management fees which are incentive based (that is, subject to meeting certain return criteria). The investment adviser of our creditoriented separately managed accounts receives annual management fees typically equal to 0.35% to 0.50% of each account's invested capital or net asset value. The investment adviser of each of our closed-end mutual funds receives an annual management fee that ranges from 0.75% to 1.1% depending on the amount of assets in the applicable fund.

The management fees we receive from our carry funds are payable on a regular basis (typically quarterly) in the contractually prescribed amounts noted above over the life of the fund and do not depend on the investment performance of the fund. The management fees we receive from our hedge funds have similar characteristics, except that such funds often afford investors increased liquidity through annual, semi-annual or quarterly withdrawal or redemption rights following the expiration of a specified period of time when capital may not be withdrawn (typically between one and three years) and the amount of management fees to which the investment adviser is entitled with respect thereto will proportionately increase as the net asset value of each investor's capital account decreases. The management fees we receive from our separately managed accounts are generally paid on a regular basis (typically quarterly) and may alternatively be based on invested capital or proportionately increase or decrease based on the net asset value of the separately managed account. In each case the management fees we are paid for managing a separately managed account will generally be subject to contractual rights the investor has to terminate our management of an account on as short as 30 days' prior notice.

The general partner or an affiliate of each of our carry funds also receives carried interest from the investment fund. Carried interest entitles the general partner (or an affiliate) to a preferred allocation of income and gains from a fund. The carried interest is typically structured as a net profits interest in the applicable fund. In the case of our carry funds, carried interest is calculated on a "realized gain" basis, and each general partner is generally entitled to a carried interest equal to 20% of the net realized income and gains (generally taking into account unrealized losses) generated by such fund, except that the general partners (or affiliates) of certain of our credit-oriented and real estate debt funds are entitled to a carried interest that ranges from 10% to 15% depending on the specific fund. Net realized income or loss is not netted between or among funds. For most carry funds, the carried interest is subject to an annual preferred limited partner return ranging from 7.0% to 10.0%, subject to a catch-up allocation to the general partner. If, at the end of the life of a carry fund or earlier with respect to our real estate funds, as a result of diminished performance of later investments in a carry fund's life, the carry fund has not achieved investment returns that (in most cases) exceed the preferred return threshold or (in all cases) the general partner receives in excess of 20% (10% or 15% in the case of certain of our credit-oriented and real estate debt carry funds) of the fund's net profits over the life of the fund, we will be obligated to repay an amount equal

to the carried interest that was previously distributed to us that exceeds the amounts to which we are ultimately entitled. This obligation is known as a "clawback" obligation and is an obligation of any person who directly received such carried interest, including us and our employees who participate in our carried interest plans. Although a portion of any distributions by us to our unitholders may include any carried interest received by us, we do not intend to seek fulfillment of any clawback obligation by seeking to have our unitholders return any portion of such distributions attributable to carried interest associated with any clawback obligation. The clawback obligation operates with respect to a given carry fund's own net investment performance only and performance fees of other funds are not netted for determining this contingent obligation. Moreover, although a clawback obligation is several, the governing agreements of most of our funds provide that to the extent another recipient of carried interest (such as a current or former employee) does not fund his or her respective share, then we and our employees who participate in such carried interest plans may have to fund additional amounts (generally up to an additional 50%) beyond what we actually received in carried interest, although we will retain the right to pursue any remedies that we have under such governing agreements against those carried interest recipients who fail to fund their obligations. Despite the fact that since the inception of the funds, the general partners have not been required to make a cash clawback payment, we have recorded a contingent repayment obligation equal to the amount that would be due on December 31, 2009, if the various carry funds were liquidated at their current carrying value. Our ability to generate carried interest is an important element of our business and carried interest has historically accounted for a very significant portion of our income.

For additional information concerning the clawback obligations we could face, see "—Item 1A. Risk Factors, We may not have sufficient cash to pay back 'clawback' obligations if and when they are triggered under the governing agreements with our investors."

Many of our investment advisors receive customary fees (e.g. , acquisition fees or origination fees) upon consummation of many of the funds' transactions, receive monitoring fees from many of the funds' portfolio companies for continued advice from the investment adviser, and may from time to time receive disposition and other fees in connection with their activities. The acquisition fees which they receive are generally calculated as a percentage (that generally can range up to 1%) of the total enterprise value of the acquired entity. Most of our carry funds are required to reduce the management fees charged to their limited partner investors by 50% to 100% of such transaction fees and certain other fees that they receive.

Capital Invested In and Alongside Our Investment Funds

To further align our interests with those of investors in our investment funds, we have invested the firm's capital and that of our personnel in the investment funds we sponsor and manage. Minimum general partner capital commitments to our investment funds are determined separately with respect to our investment funds and, generally, are less than 5% of the assets of any particular fund. See "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Our Sources of Cash and Liquidity Needs" for more information regarding our minimum general partner capital commitments to our funds. We determine whether to make general partner capital commitments to our funds in excess of the minimum required commitments based on a variety of factors, including estimates regarding liquidity over the estimated time period during which commitments will be funded, estimates regarding the amounts of capital that may be appropriate for other opportunities or other funds we may be in the process of raising or are considering raising, prevailing industry standards with respect to sponsor commitments and our general working capital requirements. In some cases, we require our senior managing directors and other professionals to fund a portion of the general partner capital commitments to our funds. In other cases, we may from time to time on an annual basis offer to our senior managing directors and employees a part of the general partner commitments to our investment funds. Our general partner capital commitments are funded with cash and not with carried interest or deferral of management fees.

Investors in many of our funds also receive the opportunity to make additional "co-investments" with the investment funds. Our senior managing directors and employees, as well as Blackstone itself, also have the

opportunity to make co-investments, which we refer to as "side-by-side investments," with many of our carry funds. Co-investments and side-by-side investments are investments in portfolio companies or other assets on the same terms and conditions as those acquired by the applicable fund. Co-investments refer to investments arranged by us that are made by our limited partner investors (and other investors in some instances) in a portfolio company or other assets alongside an investment fund. In certain cases, limited partner investors may pay additional management fees or carried interest in connection with such co-investments. Side-by-side investments are similar to co-investments but are made by senior managing directors, employees and certain affiliates of Blackstone pursuant to a binding election, subject to certain limitations, submitted in January of each year for the estimated activity during the ensuing 12 months under which those persons are permitted to make investments alongside a particular carry fund in all transactions of that fund for that year. Our side-by-side investments are funded in cash and are not generally subject to management fees or carried interest.

Competition

The asset management and financial advisory industries are intensely competitive, and we expect them to remain so. We compete both globally and on a regional, industry and niche basis. We compete on the basis of a number of factors, including investment performance, transaction execution skills, access to capital, reputation, range of products and services, innovation and price.

Asset Management. We face competition both in the pursuit of outside investors for our investment funds and in acquiring investments in attractive portfolio companies and making other investments. Depending on the investment, we face competition primarily from sponsors managing other private equity funds, specialized investment funds, hedge funds and other pools of capital, other financial institutions including sovereign wealth funds, corporate buyers and other parties. Many of these competitors in some of our businesses are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial, technical and marketing resources than are available to us. Several of these competitors have recently raised, or are expected to raise, significant amounts of capital and many of them have similar investment objectives to us, which may create additional competition for investment opportunities. Some of these competitors may also have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources or other resources that are not available to us, which may create competitive disadvantages for us with respect to investment opportunities. In addition, some of these competitors may have higher risk tolerances, different risk assessments or lower return thresholds, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and to bid more aggressively than us for investments that we want to make. Corporate buyers may be able to achieve synergistic cost savings with regard to an investment that may provide them with a competitive advantage in bidding for an investment. Lastly, any increase in the allocation of amounts of capital to alternative investment strategies by institutional and individual investors could lead to a reduction in the size and duration of pricing inefficiencies that many of our investment funds seek to exploit.

Financial Advisory. Our competitors are other advisory, investment banking and financial firms. Our primary competitors in our financial advisory business are large financial institutions, many of which have far greater financial and other resources and much broader client relationships than us and (unlike us) have the ability to offer a wide range of products, from loans, deposit-taking and insurance to brokerage and a wide range of investment banking services, which may enhance their competitive position. Our competitors also have the ability to support investment banking, including financial advisory services, with commercial banking, insurance and other financial services and products in an effort to gain market share, which puts us at a competitive disadvantage and could result in pricing pressures that could materially adversely affect our revenue and profitability. In the current market environment, we are also seeing increased competition from independent boutique advisory firms focused primarily on mergers and acquisitions and other strategic advisory and/or restructuring services. In addition, Park Hill Group operates in a highly competitive environment and the barriers to entry into the fund placement business are low.

Competition is also intense, particularly from independent boutique advisory firms, for the attraction and retention of qualified employees. Our ability to continue to compete effectively in our businesses will depend upon our ability to attract new employees and retain and motivate our existing employees.

For additional information concerning the competitive risks that we face, see "Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Asset Management Business—The asset management business is intensely competitive" and "—Risks Related to Our Financial Advisory Business—We face strong competition from other financial advisory firms".

Employees

As of December 31, 2009, we employed approximately 1,295 people, including our 98 senior managing directors and approximately 490 other investment and advisory professionals. We strive to maintain a work environment that fosters professionalism, excellence, integrity and cooperation among our employees.

Regulatory and Compliance Matters

Our businesses, as well as the financial services industry generally, are subject to extensive regulation in the United States and elsewhere.

All of the investment advisers of our investment funds operating in the U.S. are registered as investment advisers with the SEC (other investment advisers are registered in non-U.S. jurisdictions). Registered investment advisers are subject to the requirements and regulations of the Advisers Act. Such requirements relate to, among other things, fiduciary duties to clients, maintaining an effective compliance program, solicitation agreements, conflicts of interest, recordkeeping and reporting requirements, disclosure requirements, limitations on agency cross and principal transactions between an adviser and advisory clients and general anti-fraud prohibitions.

Blackstone Advisory Partners L.P., a subsidiary of ours through which we conduct our financial advisory business, is registered as a broker-dealer with the SEC and is a member of The Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, or "FINRA," and is registered as a broker-dealer in 50 states, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands. Park Hill Group LLC is registered as a broker-dealer with the SEC and is a member of FINRA and is registered as a broker-dealer in several states. Park Hill Group Real Estate Group LLC is also registered as a broker-dealer with the SEC and is a member of FINRA and is registered as a broker-dealer in several states. Our broker-dealer entities are subject to regulation and oversight by the SEC. In addition, FINRA, a self-regulatory organization that is subject to oversight by the SEC, adopts and enforces rules governing the conduct, and examines the activities, of its member firms, including our broker-dealer entities. State securities regulators also have regulatory or oversight authority over our broker-dealer entities.

Broker-dealers are subject to regulations that cover all aspects of the securities business, including sales methods, trade practices among broker-dealers, use and safekeeping of customers' funds and securities, capital structure, record keeping, the financing of customers' purchases and the conduct and qualifications of directors, officers and employees. In particular, as a registered broker-dealer and member of a self-regulatory organization, we are subject to the SEC's uniform net capital rule, Rule 15c3-1. Rule 15c3-1 specifies the minimum level of net capital a broker-dealer must maintain and also requires that a significant part of a broker-dealer's assets be kept in relatively liquid form. The SEC and various self-regulatory organizations impose rules that require notification when net capital falls below certain predefined criteria, limit the ratio of subordinated debt to equity in the regulatory capital composition of a broker-dealer and constrain the ability of a broker-dealer to expand its business under certain circumstances. Additionally, the SEC's uniform net capital rule imposes certain requirements that may have the effect of prohibiting a broker-dealer from distributing or withdrawing capital and requiring prior notice to the SEC for certain withdrawals of capital.

Two of our subsidiaries, The Blackstone Group International Ltd ("BGIL") and GSO Capital Partners International LLP ("GSO International"), are regulated by the U.K. Financial Services Authority ("FSA") and are authorized investment managers in the United Kingdom. The U.K. Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, or "FSMA," and rules promulgated thereunder govern all aspects of our investment business in the United Kingdom, including sales, research and trading practices, provision of investment advice, use and safekeeping of

client funds and securities, regulatory capital, record keeping, margin practices and procedures, approval standards for individuals, anti-money laundering, periodic reporting and settlement procedures. Pursuant to the FSMA, certain of our subsidiaries are subject to regulations promulgated and administered by the U.K. Financial Services Authority.

In addition, each of the closed-end mutual funds we manage is registered under the 1940 Act as a closed-end investment company. The closed-end mutual funds and the entities that serve as the funds' investment advisers are subject to the 1940 Act and the rules thereunder, which among other things regulate the relationship between a registered investment company and its investment adviser and prohibit or severely restrict principal transactions and joint transactions.

The SEC and various self-regulatory organizations have in recent years increased their regulatory activities in respect of asset management firms.

Certain of our businesses are subject to compliance with laws and regulations of U.S. federal and state governments, non-U.S. governments (including, without limitation, India, Japan and Hong Kong), their respective agencies and/or various self-regulatory organizations or exchanges relating to, among other things, marketing of investment products, the privacy of client information, and any failure to comply with these regulations could expose us to liability and/or damage our reputation. Our businesses have operated for many years within a legal framework that requires our being able to monitor and comply with a broad range of legal and regulatory developments that affect our activities. However, additional legislation, changes in rules promulgated by self-regulatory organizations or changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules, either in the United States or elsewhere, may directly affect our mode of operation and profitability.

Rigorous legal and compliance analysis of our businesses and investments is important to our culture and risk management. In addition, disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting are documented, tested and assessed for design and operating effectiveness in compliance with the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. We strive to maintain a culture of compliance through the use of policies and procedures such as oversight compliance, codes of conduct, compliance systems, communication of compliance guidance and employee education and training. Our enterprise risk management function further analyzes our business, investment, and other key risks, reinforcing their importance in our environment. We have a compliance group that monitors our compliance with all of the regulatory requirements to which we are subject and manages our compliance policies and procedures. Our Chief Legal Officer supervises our compliance group, which is responsible for addressing all regulatory and compliance matters that affect our activities. Our compliance policies and procedures address a variety of regulatory and compliance risks such as the handling of material non-public information, position reporting, personal securities trading, valuation of investments on a fund-specific basis, document retention, potential conflicts of interest and the allocation of investment opportunities.

Our compliance group also monitors the information barriers that we maintain between each of our different businesses. We believe that our various businesses' access to the intellectual knowledge and contacts and relationships that reside throughout our firm benefits all of our businesses. However, in order to maximize that access without compromising our compliance with the legal and contractual obligations to which we are subject, our compliance group oversees and monitors the communications between or among our firm's different businesses to facilitate regulatory compliance.

Available Information

The Blackstone Group L.P. is a Delaware limited partnership that was formed on March 12, 2007.

We file annual, quarterly and current reports and other information with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). These filings are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC's web site at http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document we file at the SEC's public reference room located at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room.

Our principal Internet address is www.blackstone.com. We make available free of charge on or through www.blackstone.com our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The contents of our website are not, however, a part of this report.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to Our Business

Difficult market conditions can adversely affect our business in many ways, including by reducing the value or performance of the investments made by our investment funds, reducing the ability of our investment funds to raise or deploy capital and reducing the volume of the transactions involving our financial advisory business, each of which could materially reduce our revenue and cash flow and adversely affect our financial condition.

Our business is materially affected by conditions in the global financial markets and economic conditions or events throughout the world that are outside our control, including but not limited to changes in interest rates, availability of credit, inflation rates, economic uncertainty, changes in laws (including laws relating to taxation), trade barriers, commodity prices, currency exchange rates and controls and national and international political circumstances (including wars, terrorist acts or security operations). These factors may affect the level and volatility of securities prices and the liquidity and the value of investments, and we may not be able to or may choose not to manage our exposure to these market conditions and/or other events. In the event of a market downturn each of our businesses could be affected in different ways.

For example, the unprecedented turmoil in the global financial markets during 2008 which continued into 2009 and provoked significant volatility of securities prices, contraction in the availability of credit and the failure of a number of companies, including leading financial institutions, had a significant material adverse effect on our investment businesses, particularly our private equity and real estate businesses. In the face of wide-spread deteriorating market conditions, certain government bodies and central banks worldwide, including the U.S. Treasury Department and the U.S. Federal Reserve, undertook unprecedented intervention programs, the effects of which remain uncertain. Many economies around the world, including the U.S. economy, experienced and continue to experience significant declines in employment, household wealth, and lending. These events have led to a significantly diminished availability of credit and an increase in the cost of financing. The lack of credit has materially hindered the initiation of new, large-sized transactions for our private equity and real estate segments and has adversely impacted our operating results in recent periods. These events may place additional negative pressure on our operating results going forward

Our funds may be affected by reduced opportunities to exit and realize value from their investments, by lower than expected returns on investments made prior to the deterioration of the credit markets and by the fact that we may not be able to find suitable investments for the funds to effectively deploy capital, which could adversely affect our ability to raise new funds. During periods of difficult market conditions or slowdowns (which may be across one or more industries, sectors or geographies), our funds' portfolio companies may experience adverse operating performance, decreased revenues, financial losses, difficulty in obtaining access to financing and increased funding costs. Negative financial results in our investment funds' portfolio companies may result in lower investment returns for our investment funds, which could materially and adversely affect our ability to raise new funds as well as our operating results and cash flow. To the extent the operating performance of those portfolio companies (as well as valuation multiples) do not improve or other portfolio companies experience adverse operating performance, our investment funds may sell those assets at values that are less than we projected or even a loss, thereby significantly affecting those investment funds' performance and consequently our operating results and cash flow. During such periods of weakness, our investment funds' portfolio companies may also have difficulty expanding their businesses and operations or meeting their debt service obligations or other expenses as they become due, including expenses payable to us. Furthermore, such negative market conditions could potentially result in a portfolio company entering bankruptcy proceedings, thereby potentially resulting in a complete loss of the fund's investment in such portfolio company and a significant negative impact to the investment fund's performance and consequently our operating results and cash flow, as well as to our reputation. In addition, negative market conditions would also increase the risk of default with respect to investments held by our investment funds that have significant debt investments, such as our credit-oriented funds. Although market conditions have recently shown some signs of improvement, we are

unable to predict whether economic and market conditions may continue to improve. Even if such conditions do improve broadly and significantly over the long term, adverse conditions and/or other events in particular sectors may cause our performance to suffer further.

Our operating performance may also be adversely affected by our fixed costs and other expenses and the possibility that we would be unable to scale back other costs within a time frame sufficient to match any decreases in revenue relating to changes in market and economic conditions. In order to reduce expenses in the face of a difficult economic environment, we may need to cut back or eliminate the use of certain services or service providers, or terminate the employment of a significant number of our personnel that, in each case, could be important to our business and without which our operating results could be adversely affected.

In addition, our financial advisory business can be materially affected by conditions in the global economy and various financial markets. For example, revenues generated by our financial advisory business are directly related to the volume and value of the transactions in which we are involved. During periods of unfavorable market or economic conditions, the volume and value of mergers and acquisitions transactions may decrease, thereby reducing the demand for our financial advisory services and increasing price competition among financial services companies seeking such engagements.

Changes in the debt financing markets have negatively impacted the ability of our funds and their portfolio companies to obtain attractive financing or re-financing for their investments and have increased the cost of such financing if it is obtained, which could lead to lower-yielding investments and potentially decreasing our net income.

Since the latter half of 2007, the markets for debt financing have contracted significantly, particularly in the area of acquisition financings for private equity and real estate transactions. Large commercial and investment banks, which have traditionally provided such financing, have demanded higher rates, higher equity requirements as part of private equity and real estate investments, more restrictive covenants and generally more onerous terms in order to provide such financing, and in some cases are refusing to provide financing for acquisitions the type of which would have been readily financed in earlier years. In the event that our funds are unable to obtain committed debt financing for potential acquisitions or can only obtain debt at an increased interest rate or on unfavorable terms, our funds may have difficulty completing otherwise profitable acquisitions or may generate profits that are lower than would otherwise be the case, either of which could lead to a decrease in the investment income earned by us. Any failure by lenders to provide previously committed financing can also expose us to potential claims by sellers of businesses which we may have contracted to purchase. Similarly, our funds' portfolio companies regularly utilize the corporate debt markets in order to obtain financing for their operations. To the extent that the current credit markets have rendered such financing difficult to obtain or more expensive, this may negatively impact the operating performance of those portfolio companies and, therefore, the investment returns on our funds. In addition, to the extent that the current markets make it difficult or impossible to refinance debt that is maturing in the near term, some of our portfolio companies may be unable to repay such debt at maturity and may be forced to sell assets, undergo a recapitalization or seek bankruptcy protection.

A decline in the pace or size of investment by our private equity and real estate funds or an increase in the amount of transaction and monitoring fees we share with our investors would result in our receiving less revenue from transaction and monitoring fees.

The transaction and monitoring fees that we earn are driven in part by the pace at which our private equity and real estate funds make investments and the size of those investments. Any decline in that pace or the size of such investments would reduce our transaction and monitoring fees. Many factors could cause such a decline in the pace of investment, including the inability of our investment professionals to identify attractive investment opportunities, competition for such opportunities among other potential acquirers, decreased availability of capital on attractive terms and our failure to consummate identified investment opportunities because of business, regulatory or legal complexities and adverse developments in the U.S. or global economy or financial markets.

For example, the current limited financing options for large private equity and real estate investments resulting from the credit market dislocation, has significantly reduced the pace and size of investments by our private equity and real estate funds. In addition, we have confronted and expect to continue to confront requests from a variety of investors and groups representing investors to increase the percentage of transaction and monitoring fees we share with our investors. To the extent we accommodate such requests, it would result in a decrease in the amount of fee revenue we earn.

Our revenue, net income and cash flow are all highly variable, which may make it difficult for us to achieve steady earnings growth on a quarterly basis and may cause the price of our common units to decline.

Our revenue, net income and cash flow are all highly variable. For example, our cash flow may fluctuate significantly due to the fact that we receive carried interest from our carry funds only when investments are realized and achieve a certain preferred return. In addition, transaction fees received by our carry funds and fees received by our advisory business can vary significantly from quarter to quarter. We may also experience fluctuations in our results, including our revenue and net income, from quarter to quarter due to a number of other factors, including changes in the values of our funds' investments, changes in the amount of distributions, dividends or interest paid in respect of investments, changes in our operating expenses, the degree to which we encounter competition and general economic and market conditions. Such variability may lead to volatility in the trading price of our common units and cause our results for a particular period not to be indicative of our performance in a future period. It may be difficult for us to achieve steady growth in net income and cash flow on a quarterly basis, which could in turn lead to large adverse movements in the price of our common units or increased volatility in our common unit price generally.

The timing and receipt of carried interest generated by our carry funds is uncertain and will contribute to the volatility of our results. Carried interest depends on our carry funds' performance and opportunities for realizing gains, which may be limited. It takes a substantial period of time to identify attractive investment opportunities, to raise all the funds needed to make an investment and then to realize the cash value (or other proceeds) of an investment through a sale, public offering, recapitalization or other exit. Even if an investment proves to be profitable, it may be several years before any profits can be realized in cash (or other proceeds). We cannot predict when, or if, any realization of investments will occur. In addition, upon the realization of a profitable investment by any of our carry funds and prior to us receiving any carried interest in respect of that investment, 100% of the proceeds of that investment must generally be paid to the investors in that carry fund until they have recovered certain fees and expenses and achieved a certain return on all realized investments by that carry fund as well as a recovery of any unrealized losses. If we were to have a realization event in a particular quarter, it may have a significant impact on our results for that particular quarter which may not be replicated in subsequent quarters. We recognize revenue on investments in our investment funds based on our allocable share of realized and unrealized gains (or losses) reported by such investment funds, and a decline in realized or unrealized gains, or an increase in realized or unrealized losses, would adversely affect our revenue and possibly cash flow, which could further increase the volatility of our quarterly results. Because our carry funds have preferred return thresholds to investors that need to be met prior to Blackstone receiving any carried interest, substantial declines in the carrying value of the investment portfolios of a carry fund can significantly delay or eliminate any carried interest distributions paid to us in respect of that fund since the value of the assets in the fund would need to recover to their aggregate cost basis plus the preferred return over time before we would be entitled to receive any carried interest from that fund. For this reason, due to declines in the carrying values of their underlying portfolio assets, our most recent private equity fund and real estate fund are not expected to generate any carried interest in the near future.

With respect to most of our funds of hedge funds and credit-oriented and real estate debt funds structured like hedge funds, our incentive income is paid annually or semi-annually, and the varying frequency of these payments will contribute to the volatility of our cash flow. Furthermore, we earn this incentive income only if the net asset value of a fund has increased or, in the case of certain funds, increased beyond a particular return threshold. Certain of these funds also have "high water marks" whereby we do not earn incentive income during

a particular period even though the fund had positive returns in such period as a result of losses in prior periods. If one of these funds experiences losses, we will not be able to earn incentive income from the fund until it surpasses the previous high water mark. This occurred with respect to many such funds in 2009 as a result of investment losses experienced in 2008. The incentive income we earn is therefore dependent on the net asset value of the fund, which could lead to significant volatility in our results.

We also earn a portion of our revenue from financial advisory engagements, and in many cases we are not paid until the successful consummation of the underlying transaction, restructuring or closing of the fund. As a result, our financial advisory revenue is highly dependent on market conditions and the decisions and actions of our clients, interested third parties and governmental authorities. If a transaction, restructuring or funding is not consummated, we often do not receive any financial advisory fees other than the reimbursement of certain out-of-pocket expenses, despite the fact that we may have devoted considerable resources to these transactions.

Because our revenue, net income and cash flow can be highly variable from quarter to quarter and year to year, we do not provide any guidance regarding our expected quarterly and annual operating results. The lack of guidance may affect the expectations of public market analysts and could cause increased volatility in our common unit price.

Adverse economic and market conditions may adversely affect our liquidity position, which could adversely affect our business operations in the future.

We use cash to (1) provide capital to facilitate the growth of our existing businesses, which principally includes funding our general partner and co-investment commitments to our funds; (2) provide capital for business expansion; (3) pay operating expenses and other obligations as they arise; (4) fund capital expenditures; (5) repay debt; (6) pay income taxes; and (7) make distributions to our unitholders and the holders of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units. In addition to the cash we received in connection with our IPO and our \$600 million debt offering in August 2009, our principal sources of cash are: (1) Net Fee Related Earnings from Operations, (2) Realized Performance Fees and Allocations net of related profit sharing interests that are included in Compensation and (3) Blackstone Investment Income related to its investments in liquid funds and its net realized investment income on its illiquid investments. We also maintain a \$850 million revolving 364 day credit facility with a final maturity date of May 11, 2010. We had \$952 million in cash and \$652 million in debt at the end of 2009. During 2009, the firm had adjusted cash flow from operations of \$526 million. We also paid distributions to common unitholders of \$261 million (\$0.90 per common unit) in respect of the first three quarters of 2009 and will make a distribution of approximately \$98 million to common unitholders (\$0.30 per common unit) in respect of the fourth quarter of 2009. Common unitholders were entitled to a priority distribution of up to \$1.20 per unit ahead of Blackstone personnel and others regarding distributions made in respect of fiscal periods from July 1, 2007 through December 31, 2009. As a result, in contrast to the \$1.20 per unit of distributions that will have been paid to common unitholders in respect of fiscal 2009, holders of Blackstone Holdings Partnership units will be receiving a distribution of \$0.22 per unit in respect of fiscal 2009. Had this distribution priority not been in effect in 2009 so that cash distributions were made to all unitholders on a pro rata basis, the distributions to common unitholders in respect of fiscal 2009 would have been \$0.48 per unit instead of \$1.20 per unit. On December 31, 2009, this distribution priority ended and therefore all future distributions will be made on a pro rata basis among all holders of Blackstone Holdings units (held by Blackstone personnel and others) and all holders of Blackstone common units (held by public unitholders and others).

If the global economy and conditions in the financing markets fail to improve or worsen, our fund investment performance could suffer, resulting in, for example, the payment of less or no carried interest to us. The payment of less or no carried interest could cause our adjusted cash flow from operations to significantly decrease, which could materially and adversely affect our liquidity position and the amount of cash we have on hand to conduct our operations. Having less cash on hand could in turn require us to rely on other sources of cash (such as the capital markets which may not be available to us on acceptable terms) to conduct our operations, which include, for example, funding significant general partner and co-investment commitments to our carry funds.

Furthermore, during adverse economic and market conditions, we might not be able to renew all or part of our existing revolving credit facility or find alternate financing on commercially reasonable terms. As a result, our uses of cash may exceed our sources of cash, thereby potentially affecting our liquidity position.

We depend on our co-founder and other key senior managing directors and the loss of their services would have a material adverse effect on our business, results and financial condition.

We depend on the efforts, skill, reputations and business contacts of our co-founder, Stephen A. Schwarzman, our President and Chief Operating Officer, Hamilton E. James, our Vice Chairman, J. Tomilson Hill, and other key senior managing directors, the information and deal flow they and other senior managing directors generate during the normal course of their activities and the synergies among the diverse fields of expertise and knowledge held by our professionals. Accordingly, our success will depend on the continued service of these individuals, who are not obligated to remain employed with us. Several key senior managing directors have left the firm in the past and others may do so in the future, and we cannot predict the impact that the departure of any key senior managing director will have on our ability to achieve our investment objectives. The loss of the services of any of them could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, net income and cash flows and could harm our ability to maintain or grow assets under management in existing funds or raise additional funds in the future. We have historically relied in part on the interests of these professionals in the investment funds' carried interest and incentive fees to discourage them from leaving the firm. However, to the extent our investment funds perform poorly, thereby reducing the potential for carried interest and incentive fees, their interests in carried interest and incentive fees become less valuable to them and become less effective as incentives for them to continue to be employed at Blackstone.

Our senior managing directors and other key personnel possess substantial experience and expertise and have strong business relationships with investors in our funds, clients and other members of the business community. As a result, the loss of these personnel could jeopardize our relationships with investors in our funds, our clients and members of the business community and result in the reduction of assets under management or fewer investment opportunities.

Our publicly traded structure may adversely affect our ability to retain and motivate our senior managing directors and other key personnel and to recruit, retain and motivate new senior managing directors and other key personnel, both of which could adversely affect our business, results and financial condition.

Our most important asset is our people, and our continued success is highly dependent upon the efforts of our senior managing directors and other professionals. Our future success and growth depends to a substantial degree on our ability to retain and motivate our senior managing directors and other key personnel and to strategically recruit, retain and motivate new talented personnel. Our current senior managing directors and other senior personnel have equity interests in our business that are primarily partnership units in Blackstone Holdings (as defined under "Item 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence—Blackstone Holdings Partnership Agreements") and which entitle such personnel to cash distributions. However, the value of such Blackstone Holdings partnership units and the distributions in respect of these equity interests may not be sufficient to retain and motivate our senior managing directors and other key personnel, nor may they be sufficiently attractive to strategically recruit, retain and motivate new talented personnel. Moreover, prior to our IPO, many of our senior managing directors and other senior personnel had interests in each of our underlying businesses which may have entitled to them to a larger amount of cash distributions than they receive in respect of Blackstone Holdings partnership units.

Additionally, the retention of an increasingly larger portion of the Blackstone Holdings partnership units held by senior managing directors is not dependent upon their continued employment with us as those equity interests continue to vest as time passes. Moreover, the minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions to which these interests are subject in certain instances lapse over time, may not be enforceable in all cases and can be waived. There is no guarantee that the non-competition and non-solicitation agreements to

which our senior managing directors are subject, together with our other arrangements with them, will prevent them from leaving us, joining our competitors or otherwise competing with us or that these agreements will be enforceable in all cases. In addition, these agreements will expire after a certain period of time, at which point each of our senior managing directors would be free to compete against us and solicit investors in our funds, clients and employees.

We might not be able to provide future senior managing directors with equity interests in our business to the same extent or with the same tax consequences from which our existing senior managing directors previously benefited. For example, if legislation were to be enacted by the U.S. Congress or any state or local governments to treat carried interest as ordinary income rather than as capital gain for tax purposes, such legislation would materially increase the amount of taxes that we and possibly our unitholders would be required to pay, thereby adversely affecting our ability to recruit, retain and motivate our current and future professionals. See "—Risks Related to United States Taxation—Our structure involves complex provisions of U.S. federal income tax law for which no clear precedent or authority may be available. Our structure also is subject to potential legislative, judicial or administrative change and differing interpretations, possibly on a retroactive basis."

Alternatively, the value of the units we may issue senior managing directors at any given time may subsequently fall (as reflected in the market price of our common units), which could counteract the incentives we are seeking to induce in them. Therefore, in order to recruit and retain existing and future senior managing directors, we may need to increase the level of compensation that we pay to them. Accordingly, as we promote or hire new senior managing directors over time, we may increase the level of compensation we pay to our senior managing directors, which would cause our total employee compensation and benefits expense as a percentage of our total revenue to increase and adversely affect our profitability. In addition, issuance of equity interests in our business to future senior managing directors would dilute public common unitholders.

We strive to maintain a work environment that reinforces our culture of collaboration, motivation and alignment of interests with investors. If we do not continue to develop and implement the right processes and tools to manage our changing enterprise and maintain this culture, our ability to compete successfully and achieve our business objectives could be impaired, which could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our organizational documents do not limit our ability to enter into new lines of businesses, and we may expand into new investment strategies, geographic markets and businesses, each of which may result in additional risks and uncertainties in our businesses.

Our plan, to the extent that market conditions permit, is to grow our investment and financial advisory businesses and expand into new investment strategies, geographic markets and businesses. Our organizational documents do not limit us to the investment management and financial advisory businesses. Accordingly, we may pursue growth through acquisitions of other investment management or advisory companies, acquisitions of critical business partners or other strategic initiatives. In addition, we expect opportunities will arise to acquire other alternative or traditional asset managers. To the extent we make strategic investments or acquisitions, undertake other strategic initiatives or enter into a new line of business, we will face numerous risks and uncertainties, including risks associated with (1) the required investment of capital and other resources, (2) the possibility that we have insufficient expertise to engage in such activities profitably or without incurring inappropriate amounts of risk, (3) combining or integrating operational and management systems and controls and (4) the broadening of our geographic footprint, including the risks associated with conducting operations in non-U.S. jurisdictions. Entry into certain lines of business may subject us to new laws and regulations with which we are not familiar, or from which we are currently exempt, and may lead to increased litigation and regulatory risk. If a new business generates insufficient revenues or if we are unable to efficiently manage our expanded operations, our results of operations will be adversely affected. Our strategic initiatives may include joint ventures, in which case we will be subject to additional risks and uncertainties in that we may be dependent upon, and subject to liability, losses or reputational damage relating to systems, controls and personnel that are not under our control.

If we are unable to consummate or successfully integrate additional development opportunities, acquisitions or joint ventures, we may not be able to implement our growth strategy successfully.

Our growth strategy is based, in part, on the selective development or acquisition of asset management businesses, advisory businesses or other businesses complementary to our business where we think we can add substantial value or generate substantial returns. The success of this strategy will depend on, among other things: (1) the availability of suitable opportunities; (2) the level of competition from other companies that may have greater financial resources; (3) our ability to value potential development or acquisition opportunities accurately and negotiate acceptable terms for those opportunities; (4) our ability to identify and enter into mutually beneficial relationships with venture partners; (5) and our ability to successfully integrate and oversee the operations of the new businesses. If we are not successful in implementing our growth strategy, our business, financial results and the market price for our common units may be adversely affected.

Legislation has been introduced in the U.S. Congress in various forms that, if enacted, (i) would preclude us from qualifying as a partnership and/or (ii) would require us to hold carried interest through taxable subsidiary corporations and tax carried interest as ordinary income for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If this or any similar legislation or regulation were to be enacted and apply to us, we would incur a material increase in our tax liability that could result in a reduction in the market price of our common units.

In 2007, Congress considered legislation that would tax as corporations publicly traded partnerships that directly or indirectly derive income from investment adviser or asset management services. If we were taxed as a corporation, our effective tax rate would increase significantly. The federal statutory rate for corporations is currently 35%, and the state and local tax rates, net of the federal benefit, aggregate approximately 10%. If a variation of this proposed legislation or any other change in the tax laws, rules, regulations or interpretations preclude us from qualifying for treatment as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes under the publicly traded partnership rules, this would materially increase our tax liability and could well result in a reduction in the market price of our common units.

In 2008, the U.S. House of Representatives passed a bill that would generally (1) treat carried interest as non-qualifying income under the tax rules applicable to publicly traded partnerships, which would generally require us to hold interests in entities earning such income through taxable subsidiary corporations by the end of 2010, and (2) tax carried interest as ordinary income for U.S. federal income taxes, rather than in accordance with the character of income derived by the underlying fund, which is in many cases capital gain, starting with our 2008 taxable year. In December, 2009, the U.S. House of Representatives passed substantially similar legislation. Such legislation would tax carried interest as ordinary income starting with our 2010 taxable year. However, under a transition rule, the portion of such legislation treating carried interest as non-qualifying income under the tax rules applicable to publicly traded partnerships would not apply until our first taxable year beginning 10 years after the date of the enactment of the legislation. In addition, the Obama administration proposed in its published revenue proposals for both 2010 and 2011 that the current law regarding the treatment of carried interest be changed to treat such income as income received in connection with the performance of services and subject to ordinary income tax. If any such legislation or similar legislation were to be enacted and apply to us, it would materially increase our tax liability, which could well result in a reduction in the market price of our common units.

The requirements of being a public entity and sustaining our growth may strain our resources.

As a public entity, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or "Exchange Act," and requirements of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or "Sarbanes-Oxley Act." These requirements may place a strain on our systems and resources. The Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, significant resources and management oversight are required. We have implemented and continue to

implement additional procedures and processes for the purpose of addressing the standards and requirements applicable to public companies. In addition, sustaining our growth also requires us to commit additional management, operational and financial resources to identify new professionals to join our firm and to maintain appropriate operational and financial systems to adequately support expansion. These activities may divert management's attention from other business concerns, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. We have incurred and expect to continue to incur significant additional annual expenses related to these steps, including among other things additional directors and officers liability insurance, director fees, reporting requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or "SEC," transfer agent fees, hiring additional accounting, legal and administrative personnel, increased auditing and legal fees and similar expenses.

The potential requirement to convert our financial statements from being prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America to International Financial Reporting Standards may strain our resources and increase our annual expenses.

As a public entity, the SEC may require in the future that we report our financial results under International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") instead of under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). IFRS is a set of accounting principles that has been gaining acceptance on a worldwide basis. These standards are published by the London-based International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and are more focused on objectives and principles and less reliant on detailed rules than U.S. GAAP. Today, there remain significant and material differences in several key areas between U.S. GAAP and IFRS which would affect Blackstone. Additionally, U.S. GAAP provides specific guidance in classes of accounting transactions for which equivalent guidance in IFRS does not exist. The adoption of IFRS is highly complex and would have an impact on many aspects and operations of Blackstone, including but not limited to financial accounting and reporting systems, internal controls, taxes, borrowing covenants and cash management. It is expected that a significant amount of time, internal and external resources and expenses over a multi-year period would be required for this conversion.

Operational risks may disrupt our businesses, result in losses or limit our growth.

We rely heavily on our financial, accounting and other data processing systems. If any of these systems do not operate properly or are disabled, we could suffer financial loss, a disruption of our businesses, liability to our investment funds, regulatory intervention or reputational damage. In addition, we operate in businesses that are highly dependent on information systems and technology. Our information systems and technology may not continue to be able to accommodate our growth, and the cost of maintaining such systems may increase from its current level. Such a failure to accommodate growth, or an increase in costs related to such information systems, could have a material adverse effect on us.

Furthermore, we depend on our headquarters in New York City, where most of our personnel are located, for the continued operation of our business. A disaster or a disruption in the infrastructure that supports our businesses, including a disruption involving electronic communications or other services used by us or third parties with whom we conduct business, or directly affecting our headquarters, could have a material adverse impact on our ability to continue to operate our business without interruption. Our disaster recovery programs may not be sufficient to mitigate the harm that may result from such a disaster or disruption. In addition, insurance and other safeguards might only partially reimburse us for our losses, if at all.

Finally, we rely on third-party service providers for certain aspects of our business, including for certain information systems and technology and administration of our hedge funds. Any interruption or deterioration in the performance of these third parties or failures of their information systems and technology could impair the quality of the funds' operations and could affect our reputation and hence adversely affect our businesses.

Extensive regulation of our businesses affects our activities and creates the potential for significant liabilities and penalties. The possibility of increased regulatory focus could result in additional burdens on our business. Changes in tax law and other legislative or regulatory changes could adversely affect us.

Our asset management and financial advisory businesses are subject to extensive regulation. We are subject to regulation, including periodic examinations, by governmental and self-regulatory organizations in the jurisdictions in which we operate around the world. Many of these regulators, including U.S. and foreign government agencies and self-regulatory organizations, as well as state securities commissions in the United States, are empowered to conduct investigations and administrative proceedings that can result in fines, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions, including censure, the issuance of cease-and-desist orders or the suspension or expulsion of a broker-dealer or investment adviser from registration or memberships. Even if an investigation or proceeding did not result in a sanction or the sanction imposed against us or our personnel by a regulator were small in monetary amount, the adverse publicity relating to the investigation, proceeding or imposition of these sanctions could harm our reputation and cause us to lose existing clients or fail to gain new asset management or financial advisory clients. In addition, we regularly rely on exemptions from various requirements of the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or "Securities Act," the Exchange Act, the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or "1940 Act," and the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, in conducting our asset management activities. These exemptions are sometimes highly complex and may in certain circumstances depend on compliance by third parties whom we do not control. If for any reason these exemptions were to become unavailable to us, we could become subject to regulatory action or third party claims and our business could be materially and adversely affected. See "—Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure—If The Blackstone Group L.P. were deemed an "investment company" under the 1940 Act, applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated and could have a material adverse effect on our business". Lastly, the requirements imposed by our regulators are designed primarily to ensure the integrity of the financial markets and to protect investors in our investment funds and are not designed to protect our common unitholders. Consequently, these regulations often serve to limit our activities.

In addition, the regulatory environment in which our asset management and financial advisory clients operate may affect our business. For example, changes in antitrust laws or the enforcement of antitrust laws could affect the level of mergers and acquisitions activity and changes in state laws may limit investment activities of state pension plans. In addition, the U.K. Financial Services Authority recently published a discussion paper on the impact that the growth in the private equity market has had on the markets in the United Kingdom and the suitability of its regulatory approach in addressing risks posed by the private equity market. See "Business—Regulatory and Compliance Matters" for a further discussion of the regulatory environment in which we conduct our businesses.

As a result of the recent economic downturn, acts of serious fraud in the alternative asset management industry and perceived lapses in regulatory oversight, the current environment in which we operate is subject to further regulation. Governmental regulators and other authorities (including those in the U.S. and Europe) have proposed a number of initiatives and additional rules and regulations that could materially and adversely affect our business. In addition, we may be adversely affected as a result of new or revised legislation or regulations imposed by the SEC, other U.S. or non-U.S. governmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that supervise the financial markets. We also may be adversely affected by changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules by these governmental authorities and self-regulatory organizations. It is impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any new laws, regulations or initiatives that may be proposed, or whether any of the proposals will become law. Compliance with any new laws or regulations could make compliance more difficult and expensive and affect the manner in which we conduct business.

Recent legislative or regulatory proposals in the U.S. include designating a federal agency as the financial system's systemic risk regulator with authority to review the activities of all financial institutions, including alternative asset managers, and to impose regulatory standards on any companies deemed to pose a threat to the financial health of the U.S. economy; authorizing federal regulatory agencies to ban compensation arrangements

at financial institutions that give employees incentives to engage in conduct that could pose risks to the nation's financial system; and new ground rules for private equity investments in failed banks that make the acquisition of a failed bank less attractive for a private equity fund. In addition, a bill is pending in the U.S. Congress that would require investment managers of private equity funds, hedge funds, real estate funds and other private investment vehicles with at least \$150 million in assets under management to register with the SEC under the U.S. Investment Advisers Act of 1940, maintain books and records in accordance with SEC requirements and become subject to SEC examinations and information requests in order to remain exempt from the substantive provisions of the 1940 Act. All of Blackstone's U.S. investment advisory entities that advise our various funds are already registered under the Investment Advisers Act, but the bill would also impose new reporting, record-keeping and disclosure requirements on each registered investment advisor and would expand the SEC's rule-making and enforcement authority.

Legislation has been adopted in Australia, Denmark, Germany and Italy that limits the tax deductibility of interest expense incurred by companies in those countries. These measures will most likely adversely affect portfolio companies in those countries in which our private equity funds have investments and limit the benefits of additional investments in those countries. Our private equity business is subject to the risk that similar measures might be introduced in other countries in which our private equity funds currently have investments or plan to invest in the future, or that other legislative or regulatory measures that negatively affect their respective portfolio investments might be promulgated in any of the countries in which they invest.

A directive introduced by the European Commission that would impose a new regulatory scheme on private equity funds and hedge funds operating in the European Union would, if enacted in its original proposed form, have a particularly adverse effect on our investment businesses by among other things (a) imposing costly requirements to hire an independent valuation firm based in the European Union to value all of our investment funds' assets and to hire an independent depositary based in the European Union to hold all of our investments, (b) imposing capital requirements on all of our investment advisors that manage or market investment funds in the European Union, (c) imposing extensive disclosure obligations on our investment funds' portfolio companies, (d) prohibiting Blackstone from marketing our investment funds to any investors based in a European Union country for three years after enactment of the directive and significantly restricting those marketing activities thereafter, and (e) potentially in effect restricting our investment funds' investments in companies based in European Union countries. If enacted in that form or in a revised form, the proposed legislation or regulations noted above could negatively impact us or our funds in a number of ways, including increasing our or our funds' regulatory costs, imposing additional burdens on our staff, restricting our ability to market our funds and potentially requiring the disclosure of sensitive information.

Blackstone's non-U.S. advisory entities are, to the extent required, registered with the relevant regulatory authority of the jurisdiction in which the advisory entity is domiciled. In addition, we voluntarily participate in several transparency initiatives, including those organized by the Private Equity Council ("PEC"), the British Private Equity and Venture Capital Association ("BVCA") and others calling for the reporting of information concerning companies in which certain of our funds have investments. The reporting related to such initiatives may divert the attention of our personnel and the management teams of our portfolio companies. Moreover, sensitive business information relating to us or our portfolio companies could be publicly released.

In addition, U.S. and foreign labor unions have recently been agitating for greater legislative and regulatory oversight of private equity firms and transactions. Labor unions have also threatened to use their influence to prevent pension funds from investing in private equity funds.

In 2009 the New York State Attorney General launched an investigation into possible illegal conduct by some placement agents that assisted certain alternative investment funds who were retained to manage investments for New York State's pension funds. In respect of this investigation, the State of New York banned the use of all placement agents, lobbyists and other paid intermediaries in making investments by the state's pension funds. The Illinois and New Mexico legislatures adopted similar measures and similar actions were

considered by other government officials. The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") released a proposed rule in 2009 regarding asset managers' dealings with public pension funds. The proposed rule would ban the use of placement agents to obtain funds from public pension funds. Our fund placement business, Park Hill Group, provides extensive and needed services to its client alternative investment funds in connection with their marketing of investments in their funds to pension funds and other investors, in contrast to the placement agents that were investigated by the New York Attorney General for illegal conduct. But if other states were to impose similar bans on their pension funds dealing with all placement agents as New York State, Illinois and New Mexico have done, or more significantly, if the SEC were to adopt its proposed rule banning the use of placement agents to obtain funds from public pension funds, Park Hill's business would be materially and adversely affected. See "Our organizational documents do not limit our ability to enter into new lines of businesses, and we may expand into new investment strategies, geographic markets and businesses, each of which may result in additional risks and uncertainties in our businesses."

Our use of leverage to finance our business will expose us to substantial risks, which are exacerbated by our funds' use of leverage to finance investments.

We intend to use borrowings to finance our business operations as a public company. For example, in August 2009, we issued \$600 million of ten-year senior notes at a rate of 6.625% per annum. Borrowing to finance our businesses exposes us to the typical risks associated with the use of leverage, including those discussed below under "—Dependence on significant leverage in investments by our funds could adversely affect our ability to achieve attractive rates of return on those investments". In order for us to utilize leverage to finance our business, we are dependent on financial institutions such as global banks extending credit to us on terms that are reasonable to us. There is no guarantee that such institutions will continue to extend credit to us or renew any existing credit agreements we may have with them. For example, we have a credit facility which provides for revolving credit borrowings that has a final maturity date of May 10, 2010. As borrowings under the facility or any other indebtedness mature, we will be required to either refinance them by entering into a new facility, which could result in higher borrowing costs, or issuing equity, which would dilute existing unitholders. We could also repay them by using cash on hand or cash from the sale of our assets. We could have difficulty entering into new facilities or issuing equity in the future on attractive terms, or at all. These risks are exacerbated by our funds' use of leverage to finance investments.

We are subject to substantial litigation risks and may face significant liabilities and damage to our professional reputation as a result of litigation allegations and negative publicity.

The investment decisions we make in our asset management business and the activities of our investment professionals on behalf of portfolio companies of our carry funds may subject them and us to the risk of third-party litigation arising from investor dissatisfaction with the performance of those investment funds, the activities of our portfolio companies and a variety of other litigation claims. For example, from time to time we and our portfolio companies have been subject to class action suits by shareholders in public companies that we have agreed to acquire that challenge our acquisition transactions and attempt to enjoin them.

In addition, to the extent investors in our investment funds suffer losses resulting from fraud, gross negligence, willful misconduct or other similar misconduct, investors may have remedies against us, our investment funds, our senior managing directors or our affiliates under the federal securities law and/or state law. While the general partners and investment advisers to our investment funds, including their directors, officers, other employees and affiliates, are generally indemnified to the fullest extent permitted by law with respect to their conduct in connection with the management of the business and affairs of our investment funds, such indemnity does not extend to actions determined to have involved fraud, gross negligence, willful misconduct or other similar misconduct.

Our financial advisory activities may also subject us to the risk of liabilities to our clients and third parties, including our clients' stockholders, under securities or other laws in connection with corporate transactions on which we render advice.

If any lawsuits were brought against us and resulted in a finding of substantial legal liability, it could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations or cause significant reputational harm to us, which could seriously harm our business. We depend to a large extent on our business relationships and our reputation for integrity and high-caliber professional services to attract and retain investors and advisory clients and to pursue investment opportunities for our carry funds. As a result, allegations of improper conduct by private litigants or regulators, whether the ultimate outcome is favorable or unfavorable to us, as well as negative publicity and press speculation about us, our investment activities or the private equity industry in general, whether or not valid, may harm our reputation, which may be more damaging to our business than to other types of businesses.

Employee misconduct could harm us by impairing our ability to attract and retain clients and subjecting us to significant legal liability and reputational harm.

There is a risk that our employees could engage in misconduct that adversely affects our business. We are subject to a number of obligations and standards arising from our asset management business and our authority over the assets managed by our asset management business. The violation of these obligations and standards by any of our employees would adversely affect our clients and us. Our business often requires that we deal with confidential matters of great significance to companies in which we may invest or our financial advisory clients. If our employees were improperly to use or disclose confidential information, we could suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial position and current and future business relationships. It is not always possible to detect or deter employee misconduct, and the extensive precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in all cases. If one of our employees were to engage in misconduct or were to be accused of such misconduct, our business and our reputation could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Asset Management Business

Poor performance of our investment funds would cause a decline in our revenue, income and cash flow, may obligate us to repay carried interest previously paid to us, and could adversely affect our ability to raise capital for future investment funds.

In the event that any of our investment funds were to perform poorly, our revenue, income and cash flow would decline because the value of our assets under management would decrease, which would result in a reduction in management fees, and our investment returns would decrease, resulting in a reduction in the carried interest and incentive fees we earn. Moreover, we could experience losses on our investments of our own principal as a result of poor investment performance by our investment funds. Furthermore, if, as a result of poor performance of later investments in a carry fund's life, the fund does not achieve certain investment returns for the fund over its life, we will be obligated to repay the amount by which carried interest that was previously distributed to us exceeds amounts to which we are ultimately entitled.

Poor performance of our investment funds could make it more difficult for us to raise new capital. Investors in carry funds might decline to invest in future investment funds we raise and investors in hedge funds or other investment funds might withdraw their investments as a result of poor performance of the investment funds in which they are invested. Investors and potential investors in our funds continually assess our investment funds' performance, and our ability to raise capital for existing and future investment funds and avoid excessive redemption levels will depend on our investment funds' continued satisfactory performance. Accordingly, poor fund performance may deter future investment in our funds and thereby decrease the capital invested in our funds and ultimately, our management fee income. Alternatively, in the face of poor fund performance, investors could demand lower fees or fee concessions which would likewise decrease our revenue. During 2009, a significant number of fund sponsors decreased the amount of fees they charged investors for fund management as a direct result of poor fund performance.

Our asset management business depends in large part on our ability to raise capital from third party investors. If we are unable to raise capital from third party investors, we would be unable to collect management fees or deploy their capital into investments and potentially collect transaction fees or carried interest, which would materially reduce our revenue and cash flow and adversely affect our financial condition.

Our ability to raise capital from third party investors depends on a number of factors, including certain factors that are outside our control. Certain factors, such as the performance of the stock market or the asset allocation rules or regulations to which such third party investors are subject, could inhibit or restrict the ability of third party investors to make investments in our investment funds or the asset classes in which our investment funds invest. For example, during the last eighteen months a large number of third party investors that invest in alternative assets and have historically invested in our investment funds have experienced significant volatility in valuations of their investment portfolios, including a significant decline in the value of their overall private equity, real estate, venture capital and hedge fund portfolios, which affected our ability to raise capital from them. Coupled with a lack of realizations from their existing private equity and real estate portfolios, many of these investors were left with disproportionately outsized remaining commitments to a number of investment funds, and have been significantly limited in making new commitments to third party managed investment funds such as those managed by us. To the extent economic conditions fail to improve, we may be unable to raise sufficient amounts of capital to support the investment activities of future funds. For instance, we are in the process of raising our sixth general private equity fund and although we have raised a significant portion of capital for that fund to invest and expect to raise significant additional capital, the final amount we do eventually raise may be less than its predecessor fund and below our desired amount for that fund. Moreover, as we seek to expand into other asset classes, such as funds that focus on the infrastructure and clean technology asset classes, we may be unable to raise a sufficient amount of capital to adequately support such businesses. If we are unable to successfully raise

In addition, in connection with raising new funds or making further investments in existing funds, we negotiate terms for such funds and investments with existing and potential investors. The outcome of such negotiations could result in our agreement to terms that are materially less favorable to us than for prior funds we have managed or funds managed by our competitors. Such terms could restrict our ability to raise investment funds with investment objectives or strategies that compete with existing funds, add additional expenses and obligations for us in managing the fund or increase our potential liabilities, all of which could ultimately reduce our revenues. For example, we have confronted and expect to continue to confront requests from a variety of investors and groups representing investors to decrease fees, which could result in a reduction in the fees and carried interest and incentive fees we earn.

Valuation methodologies for certain assets in our funds can be subject to significant subjectivity and the fair value of assets established pursuant to such methodologies may never be realized, which could result in significant losses for our funds.

There are often no readily ascertainable market prices for illiquid investments in our private equity, real estate and certain of our credit-oriented funds. We determine the value of the investments of each of our private equity, real estate and credit-oriented funds at least quarterly based on the fair value of such investments. The fair value of investments of a private equity, real estate or credit-oriented fund is generally determined using several methodologies described in the investment funds' valuation policies.

Investments for which market prices are not observable include private investments in the equity of operating companies or real estate properties. Fair values of such investments are determined by reference to projected net earnings, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA"), the discounted cash flow method, public market or private transactions, valuations for comparable companies and other measures which, in many cases, are unaudited at the time received. In determining fair values of real estate investments, we also consider projected operating cash flows, sales of comparable assets, replacement costs and

capitalization rates ("cap rates") analyses. Valuations may be derived by reference to observable valuation measures for comparable companies or assets (e.g., multiplying a key performance metric of the investee company or asset, such as EBITDA, by a relevant valuation multiple observed in the range of comparable companies or transactions), adjusted by management for differences between the investment and the referenced comparables, and in some instances by reference to option pricing models or other similar methods. Additionally, where applicable, projected distributable cash flow through debt maturity will also be considered in support of the investment's carrying value. Private investments may also be valued at cost for a period of time after an acquisition as the best indicator of fair value. These valuation methodologies involve a significant degree of management judgment.

In certain cases debt and equity securities are valued on the basis of prices from an orderly transaction between market participants provided by reputable dealers or pricing services. In determining the value of a particular investment, pricing services may use certain information with respect to transactions in such investments, quotations from dealers, pricing matrixes, market transactions in comparable investments and various relationships between investments.

The determination of fair value using these methodologies takes into consideration a range of factors including but not limited to the price at which the investment was acquired, the nature of the investment, local market conditions, trading values on public exchanges for comparable securities, current and projected operating performance and financing transactions subsequent to the acquisition of the investment. These valuation methodologies involve a significant degree of management judgment.

Because there is significant uncertainty in the valuation of, or in the stability of the value of illiquid investments, the fair values of such investments as reflected in an investment fund's net asset value do not necessarily reflect the prices that would actually be obtained by us on behalf of the investment fund when such investments are realized. Realizations at values significantly lower than the values at which investments have been reflected in prior fund net asset values would result in losses for the applicable fund, a decline in asset management fees and the loss of potential carried interest and incentive fees. Changes in values attributed to investments from quarter to quarter may result in volatility in the net asset values and results of operations and cash flow that we report from period to period. Also, a situation where asset values turn out to be materially different than values reflected in prior fund net asset values could cause investors to lose confidence in us, which would in turn result in difficulty in raising additional funds or redemptions from our hedge funds.

The historical returns attributable to our funds should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our funds or of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our common units.

The historical and potential future returns of the investment funds that we manage are not directly linked to returns on our common units. Therefore, any continued positive performance of the investment funds that we manage will not necessarily result in positive returns on an investment in our common units. However, poor performance of the investment funds that we manage would cause a decline in our revenue from such investment funds, and would therefore have a negative effect on our performance and in all likelihood the returns on an investment in our common units.

Moreover, with respect to the historical returns of our investment funds:

- the rates of returns of our carry funds reflect unrealized gains as of the applicable measurement date that may never be realized, which may adversely affect the ultimate value realized from those funds' investments;
- the rates of returns of our BCP and BREP funds in some years were positively influenced by a number of investments that experienced rapid and substantial increases in value following the dates on which those investments were made, which may not occur with respect to future investments;

- our investment funds' returns in some years benefited from investment opportunities and general market conditions that may not repeat themselves (including, for example, particularly favorable borrowing conditions in the debt markets during 2005, 2006 and early 2007), and our current or future investment funds might not be able to avail themselves of comparable investment opportunities or market conditions; and
- the rates of return reflect our historical cost structure, which may vary in the future due to various factors enumerated elsewhere in this report and other factors beyond our control, including changes in laws.

In addition, future returns will be affected by the applicable risks described elsewhere in this Form 10-K, including risks of the industries and businesses in which a particular fund invests.

Dependence on significant leverage in investments by our funds could adversely affect our ability to achieve attractive rates of return on those investments.

Many of our carry funds' investments rely heavily on the use of leverage, and our ability to achieve attractive rates of return on investments will depend on our ability to access sufficient sources of indebtedness at attractive rates. For example, in many private equity investments, indebtedness may constitute approximately 70% or more of a portfolio company's or real estate asset's total debt and equity capitalization, including debt that may be incurred in connection with the investment. The absence of available sources of sufficient senior debt financing for extended periods of time could therefore materially and adversely affect our private equity and real estate businesses. In addition, an increase in either the general levels of interest rates or in the risk spread demanded by sources of indebtedness such as we experienced during 2009 would make it more expensive to finance those businesses' investments. Increases in interest rates could also make it more difficult to locate and consummate private equity investments because other potential buyers, including operating companies acting as strategic buyers, may be able to bid for an asset at a higher price due to a lower overall cost of capital or their ability to benefit from a higher amount of cost savings following the acquisition of the asset. In addition, a portion of the indebtedness used to finance private equity investments often includes high-yield debt securities issued in the capital markets. Availability of capital from the high-yield debt markets is subject to significant volatility, and there may be times when we might not be able to access those markets at attractive rates, or at all, when completing an investment. Since the middle of 2007, the amount of attractive financing of any type available for leveraged acquisition transactions has been limited, which has significantly reduced the type and size of investments our private equity and real estate funds have been able to make.

Investments in highly leveraged entities are inherently more sensitive to declines in revenues, increases in expenses and interest rates and adverse economic, market and industry developments. The incurrence of a significant amount of indebtedness by an entity could, among other things:

- give rise to an obligation to make mandatory prepayments of debt using excess cash flow, which might limit the entity's ability to respond to changing industry conditions to the extent additional cash is needed for the response, to make unplanned but necessary capital expenditures or to take advantage of growth opportunities;
- limit the entity's ability to adjust to changing market conditions, thereby placing it at a competitive disadvantage compared to its competitors who have relatively less debt;
- limit the entity's ability to engage in strategic acquisitions that might be necessary to generate attractive returns or further growth;
 and
- limit the entity's ability to obtain additional financing or increase the cost of obtaining such financing, including for capital expenditures, working capital or general corporate purposes.

As a result, the risk of loss associated with a leveraged entity is generally greater than for companies with comparatively less debt. For example, many investments consummated by private equity sponsors during 2005,

2006 and 2007 which utilized significant amounts of leverage are experiencing severe economic stress and have or may default on their debt obligations due to a decrease in revenues and cash flow precipitated by the subsequent economic downturn.

When our BCP and BREP funds' existing portfolio investments reach the point when debt incurred to finance those investments mature in significant amounts and must be either repaid or refinanced, those investments may materially suffer if they have generated insufficient cash flow to repay maturing debt and there is insufficient capacity and availability in the financing markets to permit them to refinance maturing debt on satisfactory terms, or at all. If the current limited availability of financing for such purposes were to persist for several years, when significant amounts of the debt incurred to finance our private equity and real estate funds' existing portfolio investments start to come due, these funds could be materially and adversely affected.

Many of the hedge funds in which our funds of hedge funds invest, our credit-oriented funds and CLOs may choose to use leverage as part of their respective investment programs and regularly borrow a substantial amount of their capital. The use of leverage poses a significant degree of risk and enhances the possibility of a significant loss in the value of the investment portfolio. A fund may borrow money from time to time to purchase or carry securities or may enter into derivative transactions (such as total return swaps) with counterparties that have embedded leverage. The interest expense and other costs incurred in connection with such borrowing may not be recovered by appreciation in the securities purchased or carried and will be lost—and the timing and magnitude of such losses may be accelerated or exacerbated—in the event of a decline in the market value of such securities. Gains realized with borrowed funds may cause the fund's net asset value to increase at a faster rate than would be the case without borrowings. However, if investment results fail to cover the cost of borrowings, the fund's net asset value could also decrease faster than if there had been no borrowings.

Increases in interest rates could also decrease the value of fixed-rate debt investments that our investment funds make.

Any of the foregoing circumstances could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.

The asset management business is intensely competitive.

The asset management business is intensely competitive, with competition based on a variety of factors, including investment performance, the quality of service provided to clients, investor liquidity and willingness to invest, fund terms (including fees), brand recognition and business reputation. Our asset management business competes with a number of private equity funds, specialized investment funds, hedge funds, funds of hedge funds and other sponsors managing pools of capital, as well as corporate buyers, traditional asset managers, commercial banks, investment banks and other financial institutions (including sovereign wealth funds). A number of factors serve to increase our competitive risks:

- a number of our competitors in some of our businesses have greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources and more personnel than we do;
- a significant number of investors have materially decreased or temporarily stopped making new fund investments recently because of the global economic downturn and generally poor returns in their overall alternative asset investment portfolios in 2008 and 2009;
- some of our funds may not perform as well as competitors' funds or other available investment products;
- several of our competitors have recently raised, or are expected to raise, significant amounts of capital, and many of them have similar investment objectives to ours, which may create additional competition for investment opportunities and may reduce the size and duration of pricing inefficiencies that many alternative investment strategies seek to exploit;

- some of these competitors may also have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that are not available to us, which may create competitive disadvantages for us with respect to investment opportunities;
- some of our competitors may have more flexibility than us in raising certain types of investment funds under the investment management contracts they have negotiated with their investors;
- some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances, different risk assessments or lower return thresholds, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and to bid more aggressively than us for investments that we want to make:
- some of our competitors may have better expertise or be regarded by investors as having better expertise in a specific asset class or geographic region than we do;
- our competitors that are corporate buyers may be able to achieve synergistic cost savings in respect of an investment, which may provide them with a competitive advantage in bidding for an investment;
- some investors may prefer to invest with an investment manager that is not publicly traded or is smaller with only one or two investment products that it manages; and
- other industry participants will from time to time seek to recruit our investment professionals and other employees away from us.

We may lose investment opportunities in the future if we do not match investment prices, structures and terms offered by competitors. Alternatively, we may experience decreased rates of return and increased risks of loss if we match investment prices, structures and terms offered by competitors. Moreover, if we are forced to compete with other alternative asset managers on the basis of price, we may not be able to maintain our current fund fee and carried interest terms. We have historically competed primarily on the performance of our funds, and not on the level of our fees or carried interest relative to those of our competitors. However, there is a risk that fees and carried interest in the alternative investment management industry will decline, without regard to the historical performance of a manager. Fee or carried interest income reductions on existing or future funds, without corresponding decreases in our cost structure, would adversely affect our revenues and profitability.

In addition, the attractiveness of our investment funds relative to investments in other investment products could decrease depending on economic conditions. This competitive pressure could adversely affect our ability to make successful investments and limit our ability to raise future investment funds, either of which would adversely impact our business, revenue, results of operations and cash flow.

The due diligence process that we undertake in connection with investments by our investment funds may not reveal all facts that may be relevant in connection with an investment.

Before making investments in private equity and other investments, we conduct due diligence that we deem reasonable and appropriate based on the facts and circumstances applicable to each investment. When conducting due diligence, we may be required to evaluate important and complex business, financial, tax, accounting, environmental and legal issues. Outside consultants, legal advisors, accountants and investment banks may be involved in the due diligence process in varying degrees depending on the type of investment. Nevertheless, when conducting due diligence and making an assessment regarding an investment, we rely on the resources available to us, including information provided by the target of the investment and, in some circumstances, third-party investigations. The due diligence investigation that we will carry out with respect to any investment opportunity may not reveal or highlight all relevant facts (including fraud) that may be necessary or helpful in evaluating such investment opportunity. Moreover, such an investigation will not necessarily result in the investment being successful.

In connection with the due diligence that our funds of hedge funds conduct in making and monitoring investments in third party hedge funds, we rely on information supplied by third party hedge funds or by service

providers to such third party hedge funds. The information we receive from them may not be accurate or complete and therefore we may not have all the relevant facts necessary to properly assess and monitor our funds' investment in a particular hedge fund.

Our asset management activities involve investments in relatively high-risk, illiquid assets, and we may fail to realize any profits from these activities for a considerable period of time or lose some or all of our principal investments.

Many of our investment funds invest in securities that are not publicly traded. In many cases, our investment funds may be prohibited by contract or by applicable securities laws from selling such securities for a period of time. Our investment funds will generally not be able to sell these securities publicly unless their sale is registered under applicable securities laws, or unless an exemption from such registration is available. The ability of many of our investment funds, particularly our BCP funds, to dispose of investments is heavily dependent on the public equity markets. For example, the ability to realize any value from an investment may depend upon the ability to complete an initial public offering of the portfolio company in which such investment is held. Even if the securities are publicly traded, large holdings of securities can often be disposed of only over a substantial length of time, exposing the investment returns to risks of downward movement in market prices during the intended disposition period. Accordingly, under certain conditions, our investment funds may be forced to either sell securities at lower prices than they had expected to realize or defer—potentially for a considerable period of time—sales that they had planned to make. We have made and expect to continue to make significant principal investments in our current and future investment funds. Contributing capital to these investment funds is risky, and we may lose some or the entire principal amount of our investments.

We have engaged in large-sized investments, which involve certain complexities and risks that are not encountered in small and mediumsized investments.

Our BCP and BREP funds have invested and plan to continue to invest in large transactions. The size of these investments involves certain complexities and risks that are not encountered in small- and medium-sized investments. For example, larger transactions may be more difficult to finance, and exiting larger deals may present challenges in many cases. In addition, larger transactions may entail greater scrutiny by regulators, labor unions and other third parties.

Larger transactions may be structured as "consortium transactions" due to the size of the investment and the amount of capital required to be invested. A consortium transaction involves an equity investment in which two or more private equity firms serve together or collectively as equity sponsors. We participated in a significant number of consortium transactions in prior years due to the increased size of many of the transactions in which we were involved. Consortium transactions generally entail a reduced level of control by Blackstone over the investment because governance rights must be shared with the other private equity investors. Accordingly, we may not be able to control decisions relating to the investment, including decisions relating to the management and operation of the company and the timing and nature of any exit, which could result in the risks described in "—Our investment funds make investments in companies that we do not control."

Any of these factors could increase the risk that our larger investments could be less successful. The consequences to our investment funds of an unsuccessful larger investment could be more severe given the size of the investment.

We often pursue investment opportunities that involve business, regulatory, legal or other complexities.

As an element of our investment style, we may pursue unusually complex investment opportunities. This can often take the form of substantial business, regulatory or legal complexity that would deter other investment managers. Our tolerance for complexity presents risks, as such transactions can be more difficult, expensive and time-consuming to finance and execute; it can be more difficult to manage or realize value from the assets

acquired in such transactions; and such transactions sometimes entail a higher level of regulatory scrutiny or a greater risk of contingent liabilities. Any of these risks could harm the performance of our funds.

Our investment funds make investments in companies that we do not control.

Investments by most of our investment funds will include debt instruments and equity securities of companies that we do not control. Such instruments and securities may be acquired by our investment funds through trading activities or through purchases of securities from the issuer. In addition, our private equity and real estate funds may acquire minority equity interests (particularly in consortium transactions, as described in "—We have engaged in large-sized investments, which involve certain complexities and risks that are not encountered in small and medium-sized investments") and may also dispose of a portion of their majority equity investments in portfolio companies over time in a manner that results in the investment funds retaining a minority investment. Those investments will be subject to the risk that the company in which the investment is made may make business, financial or management decisions with which we do not agree or that the majority stakeholders or the management of the company may take risks or otherwise act in a manner that does not serve our interests. If any of the foregoing were to occur, the values of investments by our investment funds could decrease and our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow could suffer as a result.

We expect to make investments in companies that are based outside of the United States, which may expose us to additional risks not typically associated with investing in companies that are based in the United States.

Many of our investment funds generally invest a significant portion of their assets in the equity, debt, loans or other securities of issuers located outside the United States, and we expect that international investments will increase as a proportion of certain of our funds' portfolios in the future. Investments in non-U.S. securities involve certain factors not typically associated with investing in U.S. securities, including risks relating to:

- currency exchange matters, including fluctuations in currency exchange rates and costs associated with conversion of investment principal and income from one currency into another;
- less developed or efficient financial markets than in the United States, which may lead to potential price volatility and relative illiquidity;
- the absence of uniform accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards, practices and disclosure requirements and less government supervision and regulation;
- differences in the legal and regulatory environment or enhanced legal and regulatory compliance;
- political hostility to investments by foreign or private equity investors;
- less publicly available information in respect of companies in non-U.S. markets;
- certain economic and political risks, including potential exchange control regulations and restrictions on our non-U.S. investments and repatriation of profits on investments or of capital invested, the risks of political, economic or social instability, the possibility of expropriation or confiscatory taxation and adverse economic and political developments; and
- the possible imposition of non-U.S. taxes or withholding on income and gains recognized with respect to such securities.

There can be no assurance that adverse developments with respect to such risks will not adversely affect our assets that are held in certain countries or the returns from these assets.

We may not have sufficient cash to pay back "clawback" obligations if and when they are triggered under the governing agreements with our investors.

If, at the end of the life of a carry fund (or earlier with respect to certain of our real estate funds), as a result of diminished performance of later investments in any carry fund's life, the carry fund has not achieved

investment returns that (in most cases) exceed the preferred return threshold or (in all cases) the general partner receives in excess of 20% (10% or 15% in the case of certain of our credit-oriented and real estate debt carry funds) of the fund's net profits over the life of the fund, we will be obligated to repay an amount equal to the extent to which carried interest that was previously distributed to us exceeds the amounts to which we are ultimately entitled. This obligation is known as a clawback obligation and is an obligation of any person who directly received such carried interest, including us and our employees who participate in our carried interest plans. Although a portion of any distributions by us to our unitholders may include any carried interest received by us, we do not intend to seek fulfillment of any clawback obligation by seeking to have our unitholders return any portion of such distributions attributable to carried interest associated with any clawback obligation. The clawback obligation operates with respect to a given carry fund's own net investment performance only and performance fees of other funds are not netted for determining this contingent obligation. To the extent one or more clawback obligations were to occur for any one or more carry funds, we might not have available cash at the time such clawback obligation is triggered to repay the carried interest and satisfy such obligation. If we were unable to repay such carried interest, we would be in breach of the governing agreements with our investors and could be subject to liability. Moreover, although a clawback obligation is several, the governing agreements of most of our funds provide that to the extent another recipient of carried interest (such as a current or former employee) does not fund his or her respective share, then we and our employees who participate in such carried interest plans may have to fund additional amounts (generally up to an additional 50%) beyond what we actually received in carried interest, although we will retain the right to pursue any remedies that we have under such governing agreements against those carried interest recipients who fail to fund their obligations.

Investments by our investment funds will in most cases rank junior to investments made by others.

In most cases, the companies in which our investment funds invest will have indebtedness or equity securities, or may be permitted to incur indebtedness or to issue equity securities, that rank senior to our investment. By their terms, such instruments may provide that their holders are entitled to receive payments of dividends, interest or principal on or before the dates on which payments are to be made in respect of our investment. Also, in the event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of a company in which an investment is made, holders of securities ranking senior to our investment would typically be entitled to receive payment in full before distributions could be made in respect of our investment. After repaying senior security holders, the company may not have any remaining assets to use for repaying amounts owed in respect of our investment. To the extent that any assets remain, holders of claims that rank equally with our investment would be entitled to share on an equal and ratable basis in distributions that are made out of those assets. Also, during periods of financial distress or following an insolvency, the ability of our investment funds to influence a company's affairs and to take actions to protect their investments may be substantially less than that of the senior creditors.

Investors in our hedge funds may redeem their investments in these funds. In addition, the investment management agreements related to our separately managed accounts may permit the investor to terminate our management of such account on short notice. Lastly, investors in our other investment funds have the right to cause these investment funds to be dissolved. Any of these events would lead to a decrease in our revenues, which could be substantial.

Investors in our hedge funds may generally redeem their investments on an annual, semi-annual or quarterly basis following the expiration of a specified period of time when capital may not be withdrawn (typically between one and three years), subject to the applicable fund's specific redemption provisions. In a declining market, the pace of redemptions and consequent reduction in our assets under management could accelerate. The decrease in revenues that would result from significant redemptions in our hedge funds could have a material adverse effect on our business, revenues, net income and cash flows.

We currently manage a significant portion of investor assets through separately managed accounts whereby we earn management and incentive fees, and we intend to continue to seek additional separately managed

account mandates. The investment management agreements we enter into in connection with managing separately managed accounts on behalf of certain clients may be terminated by such clients on as little as 30 days' prior written notice. In the case of any such termination, the management and incentive fees we earn in connection with managing such account would immediately cease, which could result in a significant adverse impact on our revenues.

The governing agreements of all of our investment funds (with the exception of certain of our funds of hedge funds) provide that, subject to certain conditions, third-party investors in those funds will have the right to remove the general partner of the fund or to accelerate the liquidation date of the investment fund without cause by a simple majority vote, resulting in a reduction in management fees we would earn from such investment funds and a significant reduction in the amounts of total carried interest and incentive fees from those funds. Carried interest and incentive fees could be significantly reduced as a result of our inability to maximize the value of investments by an investment fund during the liquidation process or in the event of the triggering of a "clawback" obligation. Finally, the applicable funds would cease to exist. In addition, the governing agreements of our investment funds enable investors in those funds to vote to terminate the investment period by a simple majority vote in accordance with specified procedures or accelerate the withdrawal of their capital on an investor by investor basis in the event certain "key persons" in our investment funds (for example, both of Stephen A. Schwarzman and Hamilton E. James in the case of our BCP funds) do not remain active managing the fund. In addition to having a significant negative impact on our revenue, net income and cash flow, the occurrence of such an event with respect to any of our investment funds would likely result in significant reputational damage to us.

In addition, because all of our investment funds have advisers that are registered under the Advisers Act, the management agreements of all of our investment funds would be terminated upon an "assignment," without investor consent, of these agreements, which may be deemed to occur in the event these advisers were to experience a change of control. We cannot be certain that consents required for assignments of our investment management agreements will be obtained if a change of control occurs. In addition, with respect to our publicly traded closed-end mutual funds, each investment fund's investment management agreement must be approved annually by the independent members of such investment fund's board of directors and, in certain cases, by its stockholders, as required by law. Termination of these agreements would cause us to lose the fees we earn from such investment funds.

Third party investors in our investment funds with commitment-based structures may not satisfy their contractual obligation to fund capital calls when requested by us, which could adversely affect a fund's operations and performance.

Investors in all of our carry funds (and certain of our hedge funds) make capital commitments to those funds that we are entitled to call from those investors at any time during prescribed periods. We depend on investors fulfilling their commitments when we call capital from them in order for those funds to consummate investments and otherwise pay their obligations (for example, management fees) when due. We have not had investors fail to honor capital calls to any meaningful extent. Any investor that did not fund a capital call would generally be subject to several possible penalties, including having a significant amount of its existing investment forfeited in that fund. However, the impact of the penalty is directly correlated to the amount of capital previously invested by the investor in the fund and if an investor has invested little or no capital, for instance early in the life of the fund, then the forfeiture penalty may not be as meaningful. Investors may also negotiate for lesser or reduced penalties at the outset of the fund, thereby inhibiting our ability to enforce the funding of a capital call. If investors were to fail to satisfy a significant amount of capital calls for any particular fund or funds, the operation and performance of those funds could be materially and adversely affected.

Certain policies and procedures implemented to mitigate potential conflicts of interest and address certain regulatory requirements may reduce the synergies across our various businesses.

Because of our various lines of asset management and advisory businesses, we will be subject to a number of actual and potential conflicts of interest and subject to greater regulatory oversight than that to which we

would otherwise be subject if we had just one line of business. In addressing these conflicts and regulatory requirements across our various businesses, we have implemented certain policies and procedures (for example, information walls) that may reduce the positive synergies that we cultivate across these businesses. For example, we may come into possession of material non-public information with respect to issuers in which we may be considering making an investment or issuers that are our advisory clients. As a consequence, we may be precluded from providing such information or other ideas to our other businesses that might be of benefit to them.

Our failure to deal appropriately with conflicts of interest in our investment business could damage our reputation and adversely affect our businesses.

As we have expanded and as we continue to expand the number and scope of our businesses, we increasingly confront potential conflicts of interest relating to our funds' investment activities. Certain of our funds may have overlapping investment objectives, including funds that have different fee structures, and potential conflicts may arise with respect to our decisions regarding how to allocate investment opportunities among those funds. For example, a decision to acquire material non-public information about a company while pursuing an investment opportunity for a particular fund gives rise to a potential conflict of interest when it results in our having to restrict the ability of other funds to take any action. Also, our decision to pursue a fund investment opportunity could preclude our ability to obtain a related advisory assignment, and vice versa. In addition, conflicts of interest may exist in the valuation of our investments and regarding decisions about the allocation of specific investment opportunities among us and our funds and the allocation of fees and costs among us, our funds and their portfolio companies. To the extent we failed to appropriately deal with any such conflicts, it could negatively impact our reputation and ability to raise additional funds or result in potential litigation against us.

Risk management activities may adversely affect the return on our funds' investments.

When managing our exposure to market risks, we may (on our own behalf or on behalf of our funds) from time to time use forward contracts, options, swaps, caps, collars and floors or pursue other strategies or use other forms of derivative instruments to limit our exposure to changes in the relative values of investments that may result from market developments, including changes in prevailing interest rates, currency exchange rates and commodity prices. The success of any hedging or other derivative transactions generally will depend on our ability to correctly predict market changes, the degree of correlation between price movements of a derivative instrument, the position being hedged, the creditworthiness of the counterparty and other factors. As a result, while we may enter into a transaction in order to reduce our exposure to market risks, the transaction may result in poorer overall investment performance than if it had not been executed. Such transactions may also limit the opportunity for gain if the value of a hedged position increases.

Our real estate funds are subject to the risks inherent in the ownership and operation of real estate and the construction and development of real estate.

Investments in our real estate funds will be subject to the risks inherent in the ownership and operation of real estate and real estate related businesses and assets. These risks include those associated with the burdens of ownership of real property, general and local economic conditions, changes in supply of and demand for competing properties in an area (as a result for instance of overbuilding), fluctuations in the average occupancy and room rates for hotel properties, the financial resources of tenants, changes in building, environmental and other laws, energy and supply shortages, various uninsured or uninsurable risks, natural disasters, changes in government regulations (such as rent control), changes in real property tax rates, changes in interest rates, the reduced availability of mortgage funds which may render the sale or refinancing of properties difficult or impracticable, negative developments in the economy that depress travel activity, environmental liabilities, contingent liabilities on disposition of assets, terrorist attacks, war and other factors that are beyond our control. During 2008 and 2009, real estate markets in the U.S. and Europe generally experienced increases in

capitalization rates and declines in value as a result of the overall economic decline and the limited availability of financing. As a result, the value of investments in our real estate funds declined significantly. See "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Business Environment" for further discussion of the real estate market environment. In addition, if our real estate funds acquire direct or indirect interests in undeveloped land or underdeveloped real property, which may often be non-income producing, they will be subject to the risks normally associated with such assets and development activities, including risks relating to the availability and timely receipt of zoning and other regulatory or environmental approvals, the cost and timely completion of construction (including risks beyond the control of our fund, such as weather or labor conditions or material shortages) and the availability of both construction and permanent financing on favorable terms.

Certain of our investment funds may invest in securities of companies that are experiencing significant financial or business difficulties, including companies involved in bankruptcy or other reorganization and liquidation proceedings. Such investments are subject to a greater risk of poor performance or loss.

Certain of our investment funds, especially our credit-oriented funds, may invest in business enterprises involved in work-outs, liquidations, spin-offs, reorganizations, bankruptcies and similar transactions and may purchase high risk receivables. An investment in such business enterprises entails the risk that the transaction in which such business enterprise is involved either will be unsuccessful, will take considerable time or will result in a distribution of cash or a new security the value of which will be less than the purchase price to the fund of the security or other financial instrument in respect of which such distribution is received. In addition, if an anticipated transaction does not in fact occur, the fund may be required to sell its investment at a loss. Investments in troubled companies may also be adversely affected by U.S. federal and state laws relating to, among other things, fraudulent conveyances, voidable preferences, lender liability and a bankruptcy court's discretionary power to disallow, subordinate or disenfranchise particular claims. Investments in securities and private claims of troubled companies made in connection with an attempt to influence a restructuring proposal or plan of reorganization in a bankruptcy case may also involve substantial litigation. Because there is substantial uncertainty concerning the outcome of transactions involving financially troubled companies, there is a potential risk of loss by a fund of its entire investment in such company. Moreover, a major economic recession could have a materially adverse impact on the value of such securities. In addition, adverse publicity and investor perceptions, whether or not based on fundamental analysis, may also decrease the value and liquidity of securities rated below investment grade or otherwise adversely affect our reputation.

Certain of our fund investments may be concentrated in certain asset types or in a geographic region, which could exacerbate any negative performance of those funds to the extent those concentrated investments perform poorly.

The governing agreements of our investment funds contain only limited investment restrictions and only limited requirements as to diversification of fund investments, either by geographic region or asset type. For example, over 83% of the investments of our real estate funds (based on current fair values) are in office building and hotel assets. During periods of difficult market conditions or slowdowns in these sectors, the decreased revenues, difficulty in obtaining access to financing and increased funding costs experienced by our real estate funds may be exacerbated by this concentration of investments, which would result in lower investment returns for our real estate funds.

Hedge fund investments are subject to numerous additional risks.

Investments by our funds of hedge funds in other hedge funds, as well as investments by our credit-oriented and real estate debt hedge funds, are subject to numerous additional risks, including the following:

• Certain of the funds are newly established funds without any operating history or are managed by management companies or general partners who may not have as significant track records as an independent manager.

- Generally, there are few limitations on the execution of the hedge funds' investment strategies, which are subject to the sole discretion of the management company or the general partner of such funds.
- Hedge funds may engage in short selling, which is subject to the theoretically unlimited risk of loss because there is no limit on how
 much the price of a security may appreciate before the short position is closed out. A fund may be subject to losses if a security
 lender demands return of the lent securities and an alternative lending source cannot be found or if the fund is otherwise unable to
 borrow securities that are necessary to hedge its positions.
- Hedge funds are exposed to the risk that a counterparty will not settle a transaction in accordance with its terms and conditions because of a dispute over the terms of the contract (whether or not bona fide) or because of a credit or liquidity problem, thus causing the fund to suffer a loss. Counterparty risk is accentuated for contracts with longer maturities where events may intervene to prevent settlement, or where the fund has concentrated its transactions with a single or small group of counterparties. Generally, hedge funds are not restricted from dealing with any particular counterparty or from concentrating any or all of their transactions with one counterparty. Moreover, the funds' internal consideration of the creditworthiness of their counterparties may prove insufficient. The absence of a regulated market to facilitate settlement may increase the potential for losses.
- Credit risk may arise through a default by one of several large institutions that are dependent on one another to meet their liquidity or operational needs, so that a default by one institution causes a series of defaults by the other institutions. This "systemic risk" may adversely affect the financial intermediaries (such as clearing agencies, clearing houses, banks, securities firms and exchanges) with which the hedge funds interact on a daily basis.
- The efficacy of investment and trading strategies depend largely on the ability to establish and maintain an overall market position in a combination of financial instruments. A hedge fund's trading orders may not be executed in a timely and efficient manner due to various circumstances, including systems failures or human error. In such event, the funds might only be able to acquire some but not all of the components of the position, or if the overall position were to need adjustment, the funds might not be able to make such adjustment. As a result, the funds would not be able to achieve the market position selected by the management company or general partner of such funds, and might incur a loss in liquidating their position.
- Hedge funds are subject to risks due to potential illiquidity of assets. Hedge funds may make investments or hold trading positions in markets that are volatile and which may become illiquid. Timely divestiture or sale of trading positions can be impaired by decreased trading volume, increased price volatility, concentrated trading positions, limitations on the ability to transfer positions in highly specialized or structured transactions to which they may be a party, and changes in industry and government regulations. It may be impossible or costly for hedge funds to liquidate positions rapidly in order to meet margin calls, withdrawal requests or otherwise, particularly if there are other market participants seeking to dispose of similar assets at the same time or the relevant market is otherwise moving against a position or in the event of trading halts or daily price movement limits on the market or otherwise. Moreover, these risks may be exacerbated for our funds of hedge funds. For example, if one of our funds of hedge funds were to invest a significant portion of its assets in two or more hedge funds that each had illiquid positions in the same issuer, the illiquidity risk for our funds of hedge funds would be compounded. For example, in 2008 many hedge funds, including some of our hedge funds, experienced significant declines in value. In many cases, these declines in value were both provoked and exacerbated by margin calls and forced selling of assets. Moreover, certain of our funds of hedge funds were invested in third party hedge funds that halted redemptions in the face of illiquidity and other issues, which precluded those funds of hedge funds from receiving their capital back on request.
- Hedge fund investments are subject to risks relating to investments in commodities, futures, options and other derivatives, the prices of which are highly volatile and may be subject to the theoretically unlimited risk of loss in certain circumstances, including if the fund writes a call option. Price

movements of commodities, futures and options contracts and payments pursuant to swap agreements are influenced by, among other things, interest rates, changing supply and demand relationships, trade, fiscal, monetary and exchange control programs and policies of governments and national and international political and economic events and policies. The value of futures, options and swap agreements also depends upon the price of the commodities underlying them. In addition, hedge funds' assets are subject to the risk of the failure of any of the exchanges on which their positions trade or of their clearinghouses or counterparties. Most U.S. commodities exchanges limit fluctuations in certain commodity interest prices during a single day by imposing "daily price fluctuation limits" or "daily limits," the existence of which may reduce liquidity or effectively curtail trading in particular markets.

Risks Related to Our Financial Advisory Business

Financial advisory fees are not long-term contracted sources of revenue and are not predictable.

The fees earned by our financial advisory business are typically payable upon the successful completion of a particular transaction or restructuring. A decline in our financial advisory engagements or the market for advisory services would adversely affect our business.

Our financial advisory business operates in a highly competitive environment where typically there are no long-term contracted sources of revenue. Each revenue generating engagement typically is separately solicited, awarded and negotiated. In addition, many businesses do not routinely engage in transactions requiring our services. As a consequence, our fee-paying engagements with many clients are not predictable and high levels of financial advisory revenue in one quarter are not necessarily predictive of continued high levels of financial advisory revenue in future periods. In addition to the fact that most of our financial advisory engagements are single, non-recurring engagements, we lose clients each year as a result of a client's decision to retain other financial advisors, the sale, merger or restructuring of a client, a change in a client's senior management and various other causes. Moreover, in any given year our financial advisory engagements may be limited to a relatively smaller number of clients and an even smaller number of those clients may account for a disproportionate percentage of our financial advisory revenues in any such year. As a result, the adverse impact on our results of operations of one lost engagement or the failure of one transaction or restructuring on which we are advising to be completed could be significant. Revenue volumes in our financial advisory business tend to be affected by economic and capital market conditions, with greater merger activity—and therefore higher revenues in our Financial and Strategic Advisory Services business—generally resulting when the economy is growing, and more bankruptcies and restructurings—and therefore higher revenues in our Restructuring and Reorganization Advisory Services business—generally resulting in weak economic periods. Accordingly, our financial advisory revenue can fluctuate up or down considerably depending on economic conditions.

The fees earned by Park Hill Group, our fund placement business, are generally recognized by us for accounting purposes, upon the successful subscription by an investor in a client's fund and/or the closing of that fund. However, those fees are typically actually paid by a Park Hill Group client over a period of time (e.g., two to three years) following such successful subscription by an investor in a client's fund and/or the closing of that fund with interest. There is a risk that during that period of time, Park Hill Group may not be able to collect on all or a portion of the fees Park Hill is due for the placement services it has already provided to such client. For instance, a Park Hill client's fund may be liquidated prior to the time that all or a portion of the fees due to Park Hill for its placement services are due to be paid. Moreover, to the extent fewer assets are raised for funds or interest by investors in alternative asset funds declines, the fees earned by Park Hill Group would be adversely affected. During 2009, a difficult year for fund-raising for funds in the alternative asset class, Park Hill experienced a material decline in revenue due to fewer placement mandates and fewer assets being raised.

We face strong competition from other financial advisory firms.

The financial advisory industry is intensely competitive, and we expect it to remain so. We compete on the basis of a number of factors, including the quality of our employees, transaction execution, our products and

services, innovation and reputation and price. We have always experienced intense competition over obtaining advisory mandates, and we may experience pricing pressures in our financial advisory business in the future as some of our competitors seek to obtain increased market share by reducing fees. Our primary competitors in our financial advisory business are large financial institutions, many of which have far greater financial and other resources and much broader client relationships than us and (unlike us) have the ability to offer a wide range of products, from loans, deposit taking and insurance to brokerage and a wide range of investment banking services, which may enhance their competitive position. They also have the ability to support investment banking, including financial advisory services, with commercial banking, insurance and other financial services and products in an effort to gain market share, which puts us at a competitive disadvantage and could result in pricing pressures that could materially adversely affect our revenue and profitability. In the current market environment, we are also seeing increased competition from independent boutique advisory firms focused primarily on mergers and acquisitions advisory and/or restructuring services. In addition, Park Hill Group operates in a highly competitive environment and the barriers to entry into the fund placement business are low.

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

Our common unitholders do not elect our general partner or vote on our general partner's directors and have limited ability to influence decisions regarding our business.

Our general partner, Blackstone Group Management L.L.C., which is owned by our senior managing directors, manages all of our operations and activities. Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. has a board of directors that is responsible for the oversight of our business and operations. Our general partner's board of directors is elected in accordance with its limited liability company agreement, where our senior managing directors have agreed that our founder, Stephen A. Schwarzman, will have the power to appoint and remove the directors of our general partner. The limited liability company agreement of our general partner provides that at such time as Mr. Schwarzman should cease to be a founder, Hamilton E. James will thereupon succeed Mr. Schwarzman as the sole founding member of our general partner, and thereafter such power will revert to the members of our general partner (our senior managing directors) holding a majority in interest in our general partner.

Our common unitholders do not elect our general partner or its board of directors and, unlike the holders of common stock in a corporation, have only limited voting rights on matters affecting our business and therefore limited ability to influence decisions regarding our business. Furthermore, if our common unitholders are dissatisfied with the performance of our general partner, they have little ability to remove our general partner. Our general partner may not be removed unless that removal is approved by the vote of the holders of not less than two-thirds of the voting power of our outstanding common units and special voting units (including common units and special voting units held by the general partner and its affiliates) and we receive an opinion of counsel regarding limited liability matters. As of December 31, 2009, Blackstone Partners L.L.C., an entity wholly owned by our senior managing directors, had 79% of the voting power of The Blackstone Group L.P. limited partners. Therefore, our senior managing directors have the ability to remove or block any removal of our general partner and thus control The Blackstone Group L.P.

Blackstone personnel collectively own a controlling interest in us and will be able to determine the outcome of those few matters that may be submitted for a vote of the limited partners.

Our senior managing directors generally have sufficient voting power to determine the outcome of those few matters that may be submitted for a vote of the limited partners of the Blackstone Group L.P., including any attempt to remove our general partner.

Our common unitholders' voting rights are further restricted by the provision in our partnership agreement stating that any common units held by a person that beneficially owns 20% or more of any class of The Blackstone Group L.P. common units then outstanding (other than our general partner and its affiliates, or a direct or subsequently approved transferee of our general partner or its affiliates) cannot be voted on any matter.

In addition, our partnership agreement contains provisions limiting the ability of our common unitholders to call meetings or to acquire information about our operations, as well as other provisions limiting the ability of our common unitholders to influence the manner or direction of our management. Our partnership agreement also does not restrict our general partner's ability to take actions that may result in our being treated as an entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal (and applicable state) income tax purposes. Furthermore, the common unitholders are not entitled to dissenters' rights of appraisal under our partnership agreement or applicable Delaware law in the event of a merger or consolidation, a sale of substantially all of our assets or any other transaction or event. In addition, we have the right to acquire all of our thenoutstanding common units if not more than 10% of our common units are held by persons other than our general partner and its affiliates.

As a result of these matters and the provisions referred to under "—Our common unitholders do not elect our general partner or vote on our general partner's directors and have limited ability to influence decisions regarding our business", our common unitholders may be deprived of an opportunity to receive a premium for their common units in the future through a sale of The Blackstone Group L.P., and the trading prices of our common units may be adversely affected by the absence or reduction of a takeover premium in the trading price.

We are a limited partnership and as a result fall within exceptions from certain corporate governance and other requirements under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange.

We are a limited partnership and fall within exceptions from certain corporate governance and other requirements of the rules of the New York Stock Exchange. Pursuant to these exceptions, limited partnerships may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements of the New York Stock Exchange, including the requirements (1) that a majority of the board of directors of our general partner consist of independent directors, (2) that we have a nominating/corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent directors and (3) that we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors. In addition, we are not required to hold annual meetings of our common unitholders. We will continue to avail ourselves of these exceptions. Accordingly, common unitholders generally do not have the same protections afforded to equityholders of entities that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of the New York Stock Exchange.

Potential conflicts of interest may arise among our general partner, its affiliates and us. Our general partner and its affiliates have limited fiduciary duties to us and our common unitholders, which may permit them to favor their own interests to the detriment of us and our common unitholders.

Conflicts of interest may arise among our general partner and its affiliates, on the one hand, and us and our common unitholders, on the other hand. As a result of these conflicts, our general partner may favor its own interests and the interests of its affiliates over the interests of our common unitholders. These conflicts include, among others, the following:

- our general partner determines the amount and timing of our investments and dispositions, indebtedness, issuances of additional
 partnership interests and amounts of reserves, each of which can affect the amount of cash that is available for distribution to our
 common unitholders:
- our general partner is allowed to take into account the interests of parties other than us in resolving conflicts of interest, which has the effect of limiting its duties (including fiduciary duties) to our common unitholders. For example, our subsidiaries that serve as the general partners of our investment funds have fiduciary and contractual obligations to the investors in those funds and certain of our subsidiaries engaged in our advisory business have contractual duties to their clients, as a result of which we expect to regularly take actions that might adversely affect our near-term results of operations or cash flow;
- because our senior managing directors hold their Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units directly or through entities that are not subject to corporate income taxation and The Blackstone Group L.P. holds

Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units through wholly owned subsidiaries, some of which are subject to corporate income taxation, conflicts may arise between our senior managing directors and The Blackstone Group L.P. relating to the selection and structuring of investments;

- other than as set forth in the non-competition and non-solicitation agreements to which our senior managing directors are subject, which may not be enforceable, affiliates of our general partner and existing and former personnel employed by our general partner are not prohibited from engaging in other businesses or activities, including those that might be in direct competition with us;
- our general partner has limited its liability and reduced or eliminated its duties (including fiduciary duties) under the partnership agreement, while also restricting the remedies available to our common unitholders for actions that, without these limitations, might constitute breaches of duty (including fiduciary duty). In addition, we have agreed to indemnify our general partner and its affiliates to the fullest extent permitted by law, except with respect to conduct involving bad faith, fraud or willful misconduct. By purchasing our common units, common unitholders will have agreed and consented to the provisions set forth in our partnership agreement, including the provisions regarding conflicts of interest situations that, in the absence of such provisions, might constitute a breach of fiduciary or other duties under applicable state law;
- our partnership agreement does not restrict our general partner from causing us to pay it or its affiliates for any services rendered, or from entering into additional contractual arrangements with any of these entities on our behalf, so long as the terms of any such additional contractual arrangements are fair and reasonable to us as determined under the partnership agreement;
- our general partner determines how much debt we incur and that decision may adversely affect our credit ratings;
- our general partner determines which costs incurred by it and its affiliates are reimbursable by us;
- · our general partner controls the enforcement of obligations owed to us by it and its affiliates; and
- our general partner decides whether to retain separate counsel, accountants or others to perform services for us.

See "Part III. Item 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence" and "Part III. Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance—Partnership Management and Governance—Conflicts Committee."

Our partnership agreement contains provisions that reduce or eliminate duties (including fiduciary duties) of our general partner and limit remedies available to common unitholders for actions that might otherwise constitute a breach of duty. It will be difficult for a common unitholder to successfully challenge a resolution of a conflict of interest by our general partner or by its conflicts committee.

Our partnership agreement contains provisions that waive or consent to conduct by our general partner and its affiliates that might otherwise raise issues about compliance with fiduciary duties or applicable law. For example, our partnership agreement provides that when our general partner is acting in its individual capacity, as opposed to in its capacity as our general partner, it may act without any fiduciary obligations to us or our common unitholders whatsoever. When our general partner, in its capacity as our general partner, is permitted to or required to make a decision in its "sole discretion" or "discretion" or that it deems "necessary or appropriate" or "necessary or advisable," then our general partner is entitled to consider only such interests and factors as it desires, including its own interests, and has no duty or obligation (fiduciary or otherwise) to give any consideration to any interest of or factors affecting us or any limited partners and will not be subject to any different standards imposed by the partnership agreement, the Delaware Limited Partnership Act or under any other law, rule or regulation or in equity. These modifications of fiduciary duties are expressly permitted by Delaware law. Hence, we and our common unitholders only have recourse and are able to seek remedies against our general partner if our general partner breaches its obligations pursuant to our partnership agreement. Unless

our general partner breaches its obligations pursuant to our partnership agreement, we and our common unitholders do not have any recourse against our general partner even if our general partner were to act in a manner that was inconsistent with traditional fiduciary duties. Furthermore, even if there has been a breach of the obligations set forth in our partnership agreement, our partnership agreement provides that our general partner and its officers and directors are not liable to us or our common unitholders for errors of judgment or for any acts or omissions unless there has been a final and non-appealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction determining that the general partner or its officers and directors acted in bad faith or engaged in fraud or willful misconduct. These modifications are detrimental to the common unitholders because they restrict the remedies available to common unitholders for actions that without those limitations might constitute breaches of duty (including fiduciary duty).

Whenever a potential conflict of interest exists between us and our general partner, our general partner may resolve such conflict of interest. If our general partner determines that its resolution of the conflict of interest is on terms no less favorable to us than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties or is fair and reasonable to us, taking into account the totality of the relationships between us and our general partner, then it will be presumed that in making this determination, our general partner acted in good faith. A common unitholder seeking to challenge this resolution of the conflict of interest would bear the burden of overcoming such presumption. This is different from the situation with Delaware corporations, where a conflict resolution by an interested party would be presumed to be unfair and the interested party would have the burden of demonstrating that the resolution was fair.

Also, if our general partner obtains the approval of the conflicts committee of our general partner, the resolution will be conclusively deemed to be fair and reasonable to us and not a breach by our general partner of any duties it may owe to us or our common unitholders. This is different from the situation with Delaware corporations, where a conflict resolution by a committee consisting solely of independent directors may, in certain circumstances, merely shift the burden of demonstrating unfairness to the plaintiff. Common unitholders, in purchasing our common units, are deemed as having consented to the provisions set forth in the partnership agreement, including provisions regarding conflicts of interest situations that, in the absence of such provisions, might be considered a breach of fiduciary or other duties under applicable state law. As a result, common unitholders will, as a practical matter, not be able to successfully challenge an informed decision by the conflicts committee. See "Part III. Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance—Partnership Management and Governance—Conflicts Committee."

The control of our general partner may be transferred to a third party without common unitholder consent.

Our general partner may transfer its general partner interest to a third party in a merger or consolidation without the consent of our common unitholders. Furthermore, at any time, the members of our general partner may sell or transfer all or part of their limited liability company interests in our general partner without the approval of the common unitholders, subject to certain restrictions as described elsewhere in this annual report. A new general partner may not be willing or able to form new investment funds and could form funds that have investment objectives and governing terms that differ materially from those of our current investment funds. A new owner could also have a different investment philosophy, employ investment professionals who are less experienced, be unsuccessful in identifying investment opportunities or have a track record that is not as successful as Blackstone's track record. If any of the foregoing were to occur, we could experience difficulty in making new investments, and the value of our existing investments, our business, our results of operations and our financial condition could materially suffer.

We intend to pay regular distributions to our common unitholders, but our ability to do so may be limited by our holding partnership structure, applicable provisions of Delaware law and contractual restrictions.

Our current intention is to distribute to our common unitholders substantially all of The Blackstone Group L.P.'s net after-tax share of our annual Distributable Earnings in excess of amounts determined by our general

partner to be necessary or appropriate to provide for the conduct of our business, to make appropriate investments in our business and our funds, to comply with applicable law, any of our debt instruments or other agreements, or to provide for future distributions to our unitholders for any ensuing quarter. The declaration and payment of any distributions will be at the sole discretion of our general partner, which may change our distribution policy at any time. The Blackstone Group L.P. is a holding partnership and has no material assets other than the ownership of the partnership units in Blackstone Holdings held through wholly owned subsidiaries. The Blackstone Group L.P. has no independent means of generating revenue. Accordingly, we intend to cause Blackstone Holdings to make distributions to its partners, including The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries, to fund any distributions The Blackstone Group L.P. may declare on the common units. Distributable Earnings is a non-GAAP measure intended to show the amount of our net realized earnings.

Our ability to make cash distributions to our unitholders will depend on a number of factors, including among others general economic and business conditions, our strategic plans and prospects, our business and investment opportunities, our financial condition and operating results, working capital requirements and anticipated cash needs, contractual restrictions and obligations including fulfilling our current and future capital commitments, legal, tax and regulatory restrictions, restrictions and other implications on the payment of distributions by us to our common unitholders or by our subsidiaries to us and such other factors as our general partner may deem relevant.

All of the foregoing is subject to the qualification that the declaration and payment of any distributions are at the sole discretion of our general partner and our general partner may change our distribution policy at any time.

Under the Delaware Limited Partnership Act, we may not make a distribution to a partner if after the distribution all our liabilities, other than liabilities to partners on account of their partnership interests and liabilities for which the recourse of creditors is limited to specific property of the partnership, would exceed the fair value of our assets. If we were to make such an impermissible distribution, any limited partner who received a distribution and knew at the time of the distribution that the distribution was in violation of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act would be liable to us for the amount of the distribution for three years. In addition, the terms of our revolving credit facility or other financing arrangements may from time to time include covenants or other restrictions that could constrain our ability to make distributions.

We expect to record significant net losses for a number of years as a result of the amortization of finite-lived intangible assets and non-cash equity-based compensation.

As part of the reorganization related to our initial public offering we acquired interests in our business from our predecessor owners. This transaction has been accounted for partially as a transfer of interests under common control and partially as an acquisition of non-controlling interests. We accounted for the acquisition of the non-controlling interests using the purchase method of accounting, and reflected the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed as goodwill and other intangible assets on our statement of financial condition. We have recorded \$876.3 million of finite-lived intangible assets (in addition to \$1.52 billion of goodwill). We are amortizing these finite-lived intangibles over their estimated useful lives, which range between five and fifteen years, using the straight-line method. In addition, as part of the reorganization, Blackstone personnel received an aggregate of 827,516,625 Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units, of which 439,711,537 were unvested. The grant date fair value of the unvested Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units (which was \$31) is being charged to expense as the Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units vest over the assumed service periods, which range up to eight years, on a straight-line basis. The amortization of these finite-lived intangible assets and of this non-cash equity-based compensation will increase our expenses substantially during the relevant periods and, as a result, we expect to record significant net losses for a number of years.

We are required to pay our senior managing directors for most of the benefits relating to any additional tax depreciation or amortization deductions we may claim as a result of the tax basis step-up we received as part of the reorganization we implemented in connection with our IPO or receive in connection with future exchanges of our common units and related transactions.

As part of the reorganization we implemented in connection with our IPO, we purchased interests in our business from our pre-IPO owners. In addition, holders of partnership units in Blackstone Holdings (other than The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly owned subsidiaries), subject to the vesting and minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions set forth in the partnership agreements of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships, may up to four times each year (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement) exchange their Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units for The Blackstone Group L.P. common units on a one-for-one basis. A Blackstone Holdings limited partner must exchange one partnership unit in each of the four Blackstone Holdings partnerships to effect an exchange for a common unit. The purchase and subsequent exchanges are expected to result in increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of Blackstone Holdings that otherwise would not have been available. These increases in tax basis may increase (for tax purposes) depreciation and amortization and therefore reduce the amount of tax that The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly owned subsidiaries that are taxable as corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which we refer to as the "corporate taxpayers," would otherwise be required to pay in the future, although the IRS may challenge all or part of that tax basis increase, and a court could sustain such a challenge.

The corporate taxpayers have entered into a tax receivable agreement with our senior managing directors and other pre-IPO owners that provides for the payment by the corporate taxpayers to the counterparties of 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax or franchise tax that the corporate taxpayers actually realize as a result of these increases in tax basis and of certain other tax benefits related to entering into the tax receivable agreement, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the tax receivable agreement. In addition, additional tax receivable agreements have been executed, and will continue to be executed, with newly admitted Blackstone senior managing directors and certain others who receive Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units. This payment obligation is an obligation of the corporate taxpayers and not of Blackstone Holdings. As such, the cash distributions to public common unitholders may vary from holders of Blackstone Holdings units (held by Blackstone personnel and others) to the extent payments are made under the tax receivable agreements to selling holders of Blackstone Holdings units. As the payments reflect actual tax savings received by Blackstone entities, there may be a timing difference between the tax savings received by Blackstone entities and the cash payments to selling holders of Blackstone holdings units. While the actual increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under this agreement, will vary depending upon a number of factors, including the timing of exchanges, the price of our common units at the time of the exchange, the extent to which such exchanges are taxable and the amount and timing of our income, we expect that as a result of the size of the increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of Blackstone Holdings, the payments that we may make under the tax receivable agreements will be substantial. The payments under a tax receivable agreement are not conditioned upon a tax receivable agreement counterparty's continued ownership of us. We may need to incur debt to finance payments under the tax receivable agreement to the extent our cash resources are insufficient to meet our obligations under the tax receivable agreements as a result of timing discrepancies or otherwise.

Although we are not aware of any issue that would cause the IRS to challenge a tax basis increase, the tax receivable agreement counterparties will not reimburse us for any payments previously made under the tax receivable agreement. As a result, in certain circumstances payments to the counterparties' under the tax receivable agreement could be in excess of the corporate taxpayers' actual cash tax savings. The corporate taxpayers' ability to achieve benefits from any tax basis increase, and the payments to be made under the tax receivable agreements, will depend upon a number of factors, as discussed above, including the timing and amount of our future income.

If The Blackstone Group L.P. were deemed an "investment company" under the 1940 Act, applicable restrictions could make it impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

An entity will generally be deemed to be an "investment company" for purposes of the 1940 Act if: (a) it is or holds itself out as being engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities; or (b) absent an applicable exemption, it owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis. We believe that we are engaged primarily in the business of providing asset management and financial advisory services and not in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. We also believe that the primary source of income from each of our businesses is properly characterized as income earned in exchange for the provision of services. We hold ourselves out as an asset management and financial advisory firm and do not propose to engage primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. Accordingly, we do not believe that The Blackstone Group L.P. is an "orthodox" investment company as defined in section 3(a)(1)(A) of the 1940 Act and described in clause (a) in the first sentence of this paragraph. Furthermore, The Blackstone Group L.P. does not have any material assets other than its equity interests in certain wholly owned subsidiaries, which in turn will have no material assets (other than intercompany debt) other than general partner interests in the Blackstone Holdings partnerships. These wholly owned subsidiaries are the sole general partners of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships and are vested with all management and control over the Blackstone Holdings partnerships. We do not believe the equity interests of The Blackstone Group L.P. in its wholly owned subsidiaries or the general partner interests of these wholly owned subsidiaries in the Blackstone Holdings partnerships are investment securities. Moreover, because we believe that the capital interests of the general partners of our funds in their respective funds are neither securities nor investment securities, we believe that less than 40% of The Blackstone Group L.P.'s total assets (exclusive of U.S. government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis are comprised of assets that could be considered investment securities. Accordingly, we do not believe The Blackstone Group L.P. is an inadvertent investment company by virtue of the 40% test in section 3(a)(1)(C) of the 1940 Act as described in clause (b) in the first sentence of this paragraph. In addition, we believe The Blackstone Group L.P. is not an investment company under section 3(b)(1) of the 1940 Act because it is primarily engaged in a non-investment company business.

The 1940 Act and the rules thereunder contain detailed parameters for the organization and operation of investment companies. Among other things, the 1940 Act and the rules thereunder limit or prohibit transactions with affiliates, impose limitations on the issuance of debt and equity securities, generally prohibit the issuance of options and impose certain governance requirements. We intend to conduct our operations so that The Blackstone Group L.P. will not be deemed to be an investment company under the 1940 Act. If anything were to happen which would cause The Blackstone Group L.P. to be deemed to be an investment company under the 1940 Act, requirements imposed by the 1940 Act, including limitations on our capital structure, ability to transact business with affiliates (including us) and ability to compensate key employees, could make it impractical for us to continue our business as currently conducted, impair the agreements and arrangements between and among The Blackstone Group L.P., Blackstone Holdings and our senior managing directors, or any combination thereof, and materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we may be required to limit the amount of investments that we make as a principal or otherwise conduct our business in a manner that does not subject us to the registration and other requirements of the 1940 Act.

Risks Related to Our Common Units

Our common unit price may decline due to the large number of common units eligible for future sale and for exchange.

The market price of our common units could decline as a result of sales of a large number of common units in the market in the future or the perception that such sales could occur. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell common units in the future at a time and at a

price that we deem appropriate. We had a total of 205,632,807 voting common units outstanding as of February 19, 2010. Subject to the lock-up restrictions described below, we may issue and sell in the future additional common units. Limited partners of Blackstone Holdings own an aggregate of 766,398,253 Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units outstanding as of February 19, 2010. In connection with our initial public offering, we entered into an exchange agreement with holders of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units (other than The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly owned subsidiaries) so that these holders, subject to the vesting and minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions set forth in the partnership agreements of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships, may up to four times each year (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement) exchange their Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units for The Blackstone Group L.P. common units on a one-forone basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for splits, unit distributions and reclassifications. A Blackstone Holdings limited partner must exchange one partnership unit in each of the four Blackstone Holdings partnerships to effect an exchange for a common unit. The common units we issue upon such exchanges would be "restricted securities," as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, unless we register such issuances. However, we have entered into a registration rights agreement with the limited partners of Blackstone Holdings that would require us to register these common units under the Securities Act. See "Part III. Item 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence—Transactions with Related Persons—Registration Rights Agreement". While the partnership agreements of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships and related agreements contractually restrict the ability of Blackstone personnel to transfer the Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units or The Blackstone Group L.P. common units they hold and require that they maintain a minimum amount of equity ownership during their employ by us, these contractual provisions may lapse over time or be waived, modified or amended at any time.

In addition, in June 2007, we entered into an agreement with Beijing Wonderful Investments, an investment vehicle established and controlled by The People's Republic of China, pursuant to which we sold to it 101,334,234 non-voting common units for \$3.00 billion at a purchase price per common unit of \$29.605. Beijing Wonderful Investments will be able to sell these common units subject to certain transfer restrictions. We have agreed to provide the Beijing Wonderful Investments with registration rights to effect certain sales.

As of February 19, 2010, we had granted 33,618,490 outstanding deferred restricted common units and 4,828,847 outstanding deferred restricted Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units, which are subject to specified vesting requirements, to our non-senior managing director professionals and senior managing directors under our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. The aggregate number of common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units covered by our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan is increased on the first day of each fiscal year during its term by a number of units equal to the positive difference, if any, of (a) 15% of the aggregate number of common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units outstanding on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year (excluding Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units held by The Blackstone Group L.P. or its wholly-owned subsidiaries) minus (b) the aggregate number of common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units covered by our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan as of such date (unless the administrator of the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan should decide to increase the number of common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units covered by the plan by a lesser amount). An aggregate of 161,277,157 additional common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units were available for grant under our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan as of February 20, 2010. We have filed a registration statement and intend to file additional registration statements on Form S-8 under the Securities Act to register common units covered by our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (including pursuant to automatic annual increases). Any such Form S-8 registration statement will automatically become effective upon filing. Accordingly, common units registered under such registration statement will be available for sale in the open market.

In addition, our partnership agreement authorizes us to issue an unlimited number of additional partnership securities and options, rights, warrants and appreciation rights relating to partnership securities for the consideration and on the terms and conditions established by our general partner in its sole discretion without the approval of any limited partners. In accordance with the Delaware Limited Partnership Act and the provisions of our partnership agreement, we may also issue additional partnership interests that have certain designations,

preferences, rights, powers and duties that are different from, and may be senior to, those applicable to common units. Similarly, the Blackstone Holdings partnership agreements authorize the wholly owned subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group L.P. which are the general partners of those partnerships to issue an unlimited number of additional partnership securities of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships with such designations, preferences, rights, powers and duties that are different from, and may be senior to, those applicable to the Blackstone Holdings partnerships units, and which may be exchangeable for our common units.

The market price of our common units may be volatile, which could cause the value of your investment to decline.

Securities markets worldwide experience significant price and volume fluctuations. This market volatility, as well as general economic, market or political conditions, could reduce the market price of common units in spite of our operating performance. In addition, our operating results could be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors, and in response the market price of our common units could decrease significantly. You may be unable to resell your common units at or above the price you paid for them.

Risks Related to United States Taxation

Our structure involves complex provisions of U.S. federal income tax law for which no clear precedent or authority may be available. Our structure also is subject to potential legislative, judicial or administrative change and differing interpretations, possibly on a retroactive basis.

The U.S. federal income tax treatment of common unitholders depends in some instances on determinations of fact and interpretations of complex provisions of U.S. federal income tax law for which no clear precedent or authority may be available. The U.S. federal income tax rules are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, or "IRS," and the U.S. Treasury Department, frequently resulting in revised interpretations of established concepts, statutory changes, revisions to regulations and other modifications and interpretations. The IRS pays close attention to the proper application of tax laws to partnerships. The present U.S. federal income tax treatment of an investment in our common units may be modified by administrative, legislative or judicial interpretation at any time, and any such action may affect investments and commitments previously made. Changes to the U.S. federal income tax laws and interpretations thereof could make it more difficult or impossible to meet the exception for us to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes that is not taxable as a corporation (referred to as the "Qualifying Income Exception"), affect or cause us to change our investments and commitments, affect the tax considerations of an investment in us, change the character or treatment of portions of our income (including, for instance, the treatment of carried interest as ordinary income rather than capital gain) and adversely affect an investment in our common units. For example, as discussed above under "-Legislation has been introduced in the U.S. Congress that would, if enacted, preclude us from qualifying as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes or otherwise increase our tax liability. If this or any similar legislation or regulation were to be enacted and apply to us, we would incur a material increase in our tax liability that could result in a reduction in the value of our common units", the U.S. Congress has recently considered various legislative proposals to treat all or part of the capital gain and dividend income that is recognized by an investment partnership and allocable to a partner affiliated with the sponsor of the partnership (i.e., a portion of the carried interest) as ordinary income to such partner for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Our organizational documents and governing agreements permit our general partner to modify our amended and restated limited partnership agreement from time to time, without the consent of the common unitholders, to address certain changes in U.S. federal income tax regulations, legislation or interpretation. In some circumstances, such revisions could have a material adverse impact on some or all common unitholders. Moreover, we will apply certain assumptions and conventions in an attempt to comply with applicable rules and to report income, gain, deduction, loss and credit to common unitholders in a manner that reflects such common unitholders' beneficial ownership of partnership items, taking into account variation in unitholder ownership interests during each taxable year because of trading activity. More specifically, our allocations of items of

taxable income and loss between transferors and transferees of our units will be determined annually, will be prorated on a monthly basis and will be subsequently apportioned among the unitholders in proportion to the number of units owned by each of them determined as of the opening of trading of our units on the New York Stock Exchange on the first business day of every month. As a result, a unitholder transferring units may be allocated income, gain, loss and deductions realized after the date of transfer. However, those assumptions and conventions may not be in compliance with all aspects of applicable tax requirements. It is possible that the IRS will assert successfully that the conventions and assumptions used by us do not satisfy the technical requirements of the Internal Revenue Code and/or Treasury regulations and could require that items of income, gain, deductions, loss or credit, including interest deductions, be adjusted, reallocated or disallowed in a manner that adversely affects common unitholders.

If we were treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax or state tax purposes, then our distributions to our common unitholders would be substantially reduced and the value of our common units would be adversely affected.

The value of our common units depends largely on our being treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which requires that 90% or more of our gross income for every taxable year consist of qualifying income, as defined in Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code and that The Blackstone Group L.P. not be registered under the 1940 Act. Qualifying income generally includes dividends, interest, capital gains from the sale or other disposition of stocks and securities and certain other forms of investment income. We may not meet these requirements or current law may change so as to cause, in either event, us to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes or otherwise subject to U.S. federal income tax. Moreover, the anticipated after-tax benefit of an investment in our common units depends largely on our being treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We have not requested, and do not plan to request, a ruling from the IRS on this or any other matter affecting us.

If we were treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would pay U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income at the corporate tax rate. Distributions to our common unitholders would generally be taxed again as corporate distributions, and no income, gains, losses, deductions or credits would flow through to you. Because a tax would be imposed upon us as a corporation, our distributions to our common unitholders would be substantially reduced, likely causing a substantial reduction in the value of our common units.

Current law may change, causing us to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal or state income tax purposes or otherwise subjecting us to entity level taxation. See "—Legislation has been introduced in the U.S. Congress that would, if enacted, preclude us from qualifying as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes or otherwise increase our tax liability. If this or any similar legislation or regulation were to be enacted and apply to us, we would incur a material increase in our tax liability that could result in a reduction in the value of our common units". For example, because of widespread state budget deficits, several states are evaluating ways to subject partnerships to entity level taxation through the imposition of state income, franchise or other forms of taxation. If any state were to impose a tax upon us as an entity, our distributions to our common unitholders would be reduced.

Our common unitholders may be subject to U.S. federal income tax on their share of our taxable income, regardless of whether they receive any cash distributions from us.

As long as 90% of our gross income for each taxable year constitutes qualifying income as defined in Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code and we are not required to register as an investment company under the 1940 Act on a continuing basis, we will be treated, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, as a partnership and not as an association or a publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation. Accordingly, each unitholder will be required to take into account its allocable share of items of income, gain, loss and deduction of the Partnership. Distributions to a unitholder will generally be taxable to the unitholder for U.S. federal income tax purposes only to the extent the amount distributed exceeds the unitholder's tax basis in the unit. That treatment

contrasts with the treatment of a shareholder in a corporation. For example, a shareholder in a corporation who receives a distribution of earnings from the corporation will generally report the distribution as dividend income for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In contrast, a holder of our units who receives a distribution of earnings from us will not report the distribution as dividend income (and will treat the distribution as taxable only to the extent the amount distributed exceeds the unitholder's tax basis in the units), but will instead report the holder's allocable share of items of our income for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result, our common unitholders may be subject to U.S. federal, state, local and possibly, in some cases, foreign income taxation on their allocable share of our items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit (including our allocable share of those items of any entity in which we invest that is treated as a partnership or is otherwise subject to tax on a flow through basis) for each of our taxable years ending with or within your taxable year, regardless of whether or not a common unitholder receives cash distributions from us.

Our common unitholders may not receive cash distributions equal to their allocable share of our net taxable income or even the tax liability that results from that income. In addition, certain of our holdings, including holdings, if any, in a Controlled Foreign Corporation, or "CFC," and a Passive Foreign Investment Company, or "PFIC," may produce taxable income prior to the receipt of cash relating to such income, and common unitholders that are U.S. taxpayers will be required to take such income into account in determining their taxable income. In the event of an inadvertent termination of our partnership status for which the IRS has granted us limited relief, each holder of our common units may be obligated to make such adjustments as the IRS may require to maintain our status as a partnership. Such adjustments may require persons holding our common units to recognize additional amounts in income during the years in which they hold such units.

The Blackstone Group L.P.'s interest in certain of our businesses are held through Blackstone Holdings I/II GP Inc. or Blackstone Holdings IV GP L.P., which are treated as corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes; such corporations may be liable for significant taxes and may create other adverse tax consequences, which could potentially adversely affect the value of your investment.

In light of the publicly traded partnership rules under U.S. federal income tax law and other requirements, The Blackstone Group L.P. holds its interest in certain of our businesses through Blackstone Holdings I/II GP Inc. or Blackstone Holdings IV GP L.P., which are treated as corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Each such corporation could be liable for significant U.S. federal income taxes and applicable state, local and other taxes that would not otherwise be incurred, which could adversely affect the value of our common units.

Complying with certain tax-related requirements may cause us to invest through foreign or domestic corporations subject to corporate income tax or enter into acquisitions, borrowings, financings or arrangements we may not have otherwise entered into.

In order for us to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and not as an association or publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation, we must meet the Qualifying Income Exception discussed above on a continuing basis and we must not be required to register as an investment company under the 1940 Act. In order to effect such treatment, we (or our subsidiaries) may be required to invest through foreign or domestic corporations subject to corporate income tax, or enter into acquisitions, borrowings, financings or other transactions we may not have otherwise entered into. This may adversely affect our ability to operate solely to maximize our cash flow.

Tax gain or loss on disposition of our common units could be more or less than expected.

If a holder of our common units sells the common units it holds, it will recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized and the adjusted tax basis in those common units. Prior distributions to such common unitholder in excess of the total net taxable income allocated to such common unitholder, which decreased the tax basis in its common units, will in effect become taxable income to such common unitholder if the common units are sold at a price greater than such common unitholder's tax basis in those common units, even if the price is less than the original cost. A portion of the amount realized, whether or not representing gain, may be ordinary income to such common unitholder.

If we were not to make, or cause to be made, an otherwise available election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code to adjust our asset basis or the asset basis of certain of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships, a holder of common units could be allocated more taxable income in respect of those common units prior to disposition than if such an election were made.

We currently do not intend to make, or cause to be made, an election to adjust asset basis under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code with respect to us, Blackstone Holdings III L.P. or Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. If no such election is made, there will generally be no adjustment to the basis of the assets of Blackstone Holdings III L.P. or Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. upon our acquisition of interests in Blackstone Holdings III L.P. or Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. in connection with our initial public offering, or to our assets or to the assets of Blackstone Holdings III L.P. or Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. upon a subsequent transferee's acquisition of common units from a prior holder of such common units, even if the purchase price for those interests or units, as applicable, is greater than the share of the aggregate tax basis of our assets or the assets of Blackstone Holdings III L.P. or Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. attributable to those interests or units immediately prior to the acquisition. Consequently, upon a sale of an asset by us, Blackstone Holdings III L.P. or Blackstone Holdings IV L.P., gain allocable to a holder of common units could include built-in gain in the asset existing at the time we acquired those interests, or such holder acquired such units, which built-in gain would otherwise generally be eliminated if a Section 754 election had been made.

Non-U.S. persons face unique U.S. tax issues from owning common units that may result in adverse tax consequences to them.

In light of our investment activities, we will be treated as engaged in a U.S. trade or business for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which may cause some portion of our income to be treated as effectively connected income with respect to non-U.S. holders, or "ECI." Moreover, dividends paid by an investment that we make in a real estate investment trust, or "REIT," that are attributable to gains from the sale of U.S. real property interests and sales of certain investments in interests in U.S. real property, including stock of certain U.S. corporations owning significant U.S. real property, may be treated as ECI with respect to non-U.S. holders. In addition, certain income of non-U.S. holders from U.S. sources not connected to any such U.S. trade or business conducted by us could be treated as ECI. To the extent our income is treated as ECI, non-U.S. holders generally would be subject to withholding tax on their allocable shares of such income, would be required to file a U.S. federal income tax return for such year reporting their allocable shares of income effectively connected with such trade or business and any other income treated as ECI, and would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular U.S. tax rates on any such income (state and local income taxes and filings may also apply in that event). Non-U.S. holders that are corporations may also be subject to a 30% branch profits tax on their allocable share of such income. In addition, certain income from U.S. sources that is not ECI allocable to non-U.S. holders may be reduced by withholding taxes imposed at the highest effective applicable tax rate.

Tax-exempt entities face unique tax issues from owning common units that may result in adverse tax consequences to them.

In light of our investment activities, we will be treated as deriving income that constitutes "unrelated business taxable income," or "UBTI." Consequently, a holder of common units that is a tax-exempt organization may be subject to "unrelated business income tax" to the extent that its allocable share of our income consists of UBTI. A tax-exempt partner of a partnership could be treated as earning UBTI if the partnership regularly engages in a trade or business that is unrelated to the exempt function of the tax-exempt partner, if the partnership derives income from debt-financed property or if the partnership interest itself is debt-financed.

We cannot match transferors and transferees of common units, and we have therefore adopted certain income tax accounting positions that may not conform with all aspects of applicable tax requirements. The IRS may challenge this treatment, which could adversely affect the value of our common units.

Because we cannot match transferors and transferees of common units, we have adopted depreciation, amortization and other tax accounting positions that may not conform with all aspects of existing Treasury regulations. A successful IRS challenge to those positions could adversely affect the amount of tax benefits available to our common unitholders. It also could affect the timing of these tax benefits or the amount of gain on the sale of common units and could have a negative impact on the value of our common units or result in audits of and adjustments to our common unitholders' tax returns.

The sale or exchange of 50% or more of our capital and profit interests will result in the termination of our partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We will be considered to have been terminated for U.S. federal income tax purposes if there is a sale or exchange of 50% or more of the total interests in our capital and profits within a 12-month period. Our termination would, among other things, result in the closing of our taxable year for all common unitholders and could result in a deferral of depreciation deductions allowable in computing our taxable income.

Common unitholders will be subject to state and local taxes and return filing requirements as a result of investing in our common units.

In addition to U.S. federal income taxes, our common unitholders are subject to other taxes, including state and local taxes, unincorporated business taxes and estate, inheritance or intangible taxes that are imposed by the various jurisdictions in which we do business or own property now or in the future, even if our common unitholders do not reside in any of those jurisdictions. Our common unitholders are likely to be required to file state and local income tax returns and pay state and local income taxes in some or all of these jurisdictions. Further, common unitholders may be subject to penalties for failure to comply with those requirements. It is the responsibility of each common unitholder to file all U.S. federal, state and local tax returns that may be required of such common unitholder. Our counsel has not rendered an opinion on the state or local tax consequences of an investment in our common units.

We do not expect to be able to furnish to each unitholder specific tax information within 90 days after the close of each calendar year, which means that holders of common units who are U.S. taxpayers should anticipate the need to file annually a request for an extension of the due date of their income tax return. In addition, it is possible that common unitholders may be required to file amended income tax returns.

It will most likely require longer than 90 days after the end of our fiscal year to obtain the requisite information from all lower-tier entities so that K-1s may be prepared for the Partnership. For this reason, holders of common units who are U.S. taxpayers should anticipate the need to file annually with the IRS (and certain states) a request for an extension past April 15 or the otherwise applicable due date of their income tax return for the taxable year. In addition, it is possible that a common unitholder will be required to file amended income tax returns as a result of adjustments to items on the corresponding income tax returns of the partnership. Any obligation for a unitholder to file amended income tax returns for that or any other reason, including any costs incurred in the preparation or filing of such returns, are the responsibility of each common unitholder.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices are located in leased office space at 345 Park Avenue, New York, New York. We also lease other office space in New York for GSO and we lease our offices in Atlanta, Boston,

Chicago, Dallas, Houston, Los Angeles, Menlo Park, San Francisco, London, Paris, Mumbai, Shanghai, Beijing, Tokyo and Hong Kong. We do not own any real property. We consider these facilities to be suitable and adequate for the management and operations of our business.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We may from time to time be involved in litigation and claims incidental to the conduct of our business. Our businesses are also subject to extensive regulation, which may result in regulatory proceedings against us. See "Item 1A. Risk Factors" above. We are not currently subject to any pending judicial, administrative or arbitration proceedings that we expect to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, a purported class of shareholders in public companies acquired by one or more private equity firms filed a lawsuit against sixteen private equity firms and investment banks, including The Blackstone Group L.P., in the United States District Court in Massachusetts. The suit alleges that from mid-2003 defendants have violated antitrust laws by allegedly conspiring to rig bids, restrict the supply of private equity financing, fix the prices for target companies at artificially low levels, and divide up an alleged market for private equity services for leveraged buyouts. The complaint seeks injunctive relief on behalf of all persons who sold securities to any of the defendants in leveraged buyout transactions. The amended complaint also includes five purported sub-classes of plaintiffs seeking damages and/or restitution and comprised of shareholders of five companies.

In the spring of 2008, six substantially identical complaints were brought against Blackstone and some of its executive officers purporting to be class actions on behalf of purchasers of common units in Blackstone's June 2007 initial public offering. These suits were subsequently consolidated into one complaint filed in the Southern District of New York in October 2008 against Blackstone, Stephen A. Schwarzman (Blackstone's Chairman and Chief Executive Officer), Peter G. Peterson (Blackstone's former Senior Chairman), Hamilton E. James (Blackstone's President and Chief Operating Officer) and Michael A. Puglisi (Blackstone's Chief Financial Officer at the time of the IPO). The amended complaint alleged that (1) the IPO prospectus was false and misleading for failing to disclose that (a) certain investments made by Blackstone's private equity funds were performing poorly at the time of the IPO and were materially impaired and (b) prior to the IPO the U.S. real estate market had started to deteriorate, adversely affecting the value of Blackstone's real estate investments; and (2) the financial statements in the IPO prospectus were materially inaccurate principally because they overstated the value of the investments referred to in clause (1). In September 2009 the District Court judge dismissed the complaint with prejudice, ruling that even if the allegations in the complaint were assumed to be true, the alleged omissions were immaterial. The plaintiffs are appealing the District Court's ruling.

Blackstone believes that the foregoing suits are totally without merit and intends to defend them vigorously.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Not applicable.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common units representing limited partner interests are traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol "BX." Our common units began trading on the NYSE on June 22, 2007.

The following table sets forth the high and low intra-day sales prices per unit of our common units, for the periods indicated, as reported by the NYSE.

		Sales Price			
	2	2009		2008	
	High	Low	High	Low	
First Quarter	\$ 9.19	\$ 3.55	\$22.59	\$13.40	
Second Quarter	\$14.44	\$ 6.89	\$20.98	\$15.91	
Third Quarter	\$15.38	\$ 8.54	\$19.50	\$14.00	
Fourth Quarter	\$17.22	\$12.71	\$15.95	\$ 4.15	

The number of holders of record of our common units as of February 19, 2010 was 59. This does not include the number of unitholders that hold shares in "street-name" through banks or broker-dealers.

Cash Distribution Policy

With respect to fiscal year 2009, we have paid distributions of \$0.90 per common unit to record holders of common units and we have declared an additional distribution of \$0.30 per common unit to common unitholders in respect of the fourth quarter of 2009 payable on March 31, 2010 to holders of record of common units at the close of business on March 15, 2010. We have also declared a distribution of \$0.22 per unit in respect of 2009 to be paid to the Blackstone personnel and others who are limited partners of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships, payable on March 31, 2010 to holders of record of Blackstone Holdings partnership units at the close of business on December 31, 2009. These distributions related to fiscal year 2009 represented our net after-tax share of our annual Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations in excess of amounts determined by our general partner to be necessary or appropriate to provide for the conduct of our business, to make appropriate investments in our business and our funds, to comply with applicable law, any of our debt instruments or other agreements, or to provide for future distributions to our common unitholders for any ensuing quarter.

As previously disclosed, public common unitholders were entitled to a priority distribution of up to \$1.20 per common unit per year ahead of Blackstone personnel and others regarding distributions made in respect of fiscal periods from July 1, 2007 through December 31, 2009. On December 31, 2009, that distribution priority ended and therefore all future distributions after the distribution referred to in the preceding paragraph will be made on the same basis among all holders of Blackstone Holdings partnership units (held by Blackstone personnel and others) and all holders of Blackstone common units (held by public unitholders and others). Had the distribution priority not been in effect in 2009 so that 2009 cash distributions were made to all unitholders on the same basis, the distributions to common unitholders in respect of fiscal 2009 would have been \$0.48 per unit instead of \$1.20 per unit.

For distributions related to fiscal year 2010 and thereafter we will no longer use Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations to determine distributions. Going forward we intend to use our Distributable Earnings for purposes of determining the distributions to our unitholders. Distributable Earnings is a non-GAAP measure intended to show the amount of our net realized earnings. Distributable Earnings, which is a component of Economic Net Income, is the sum across all Total Reportable Segments of (a) Total Management and Advisory Fees, (b) Interest and Dividend Revenue, (c) Other Revenue, (d) Realized Performance Fees and Allocations, and (e) Realized Investment Income (Loss) less (a) Base Compensation, (b) Realized Performance Fee Related Compensation, (c) Other Operating Expenses and (d) Cash Taxes.

Our current intention is to distribute to our common unitholders substantially all of The Blackstone Group L.P.'s net after-tax share of our annual Distributable Earnings in excess of amounts determined by our general partner to be necessary or appropriate to provide for the conduct of our business, to make appropriate investments in our business and our funds, to comply with applicable law, any of our debt instruments or other agreements, or to provide for future distributions to our unitholders for any ensuing quarter. Because we will not know what our Distributable Earnings will be for any fiscal year until the end of such year, we expect that our first three quarterly distributions in respect of any given year will be based on our anticipated annualized Net Fee Related Earnings. As such, the distributions for the first three quarters will likely be smaller than the final quarterly distribution in respect of such year, which we expect to also include realized Performance Fees and Allocations net of related compensation and realized net investment income.

In most years the aggregate amounts of our distributions to unitholders will not equal our Distributable Earnings for that year. Distributable Earnings will only be a starting point for our determination of the amount to be distributed to unitholders because as noted above, in determining the amount to be distributed we will subtract from Distributable Earnings any amounts determined by our general partner to be necessary or appropriate to provide for the conduct of our business, to make appropriate investments in our business and our funds, to comply with applicable law, any of our debt instruments or other agreements, or to provide for future distributions to our unitholders for any ensuing quarter.

All of the foregoing is subject to the qualification that the declaration and payment of any distributions are at the sole discretion of our general partner and our general partner may change our distribution policy at any time.

Because The Blackstone Group L.P. is a holding partnership and has no material assets other than its ownership of partnership units in Blackstone Holdings held through wholly-owned subsidiaries, we fund distributions by The Blackstone Group L.P., if any, in three steps:

- First, we cause Blackstone Holdings to make distributions to its partners, including The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries. If Blackstone Holdings makes such distributions, the limited partners of Blackstone Holdings will be entitled to receive equivalent distributions pro rata based on their partnership interests in Blackstone Holdings (except as set forth in the following paragraph);
- Second, we cause The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries to distribute to The Blackstone Group L.P. their share of such distributions, net of the taxes and amounts payable under the tax receivable agreement by such wholly-owned subsidiaries; and
- Third, The Blackstone Group L.P. distributes its net share of such distributions to our common unitholders on a pro rata basis.

Because the wholly-owned subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group L.P. must pay taxes and make payments under the tax receivable agreements described in the Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements, Footnote 15—Related Party Transactions, the amounts ultimately distributed by The Blackstone Group L.P. to its common unitholders in respect of fiscal 2010 and subsequent years are expected to be different, and in many years likely less, on a per unit basis, than the amounts distributed by the Blackstone Holdings partnerships to the Blackstone personnel and others who are limited partners of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships in respect of their Blackstone Holdings partnership units.

In addition, the partnership agreements of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships provide for cash distributions, which we refer to as "tax distributions," to the partners of such partnerships if the wholly-owned subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group L.P. which are the general partners of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships determine that the taxable income of the relevant partnership will give rise to taxable income for its partners. Generally, these tax distributions will be computed based on our estimate of the net taxable income of the relevant partnership allocable to a partner multiplied by an assumed tax rate equal to the highest effective marginal combined U.S. federal, state and local income tax rate prescribed for an individual or corporate resident

in New York, New York (taking into account the nondeductibility of certain expenses and the character of our income). The Blackstone Holdings partnerships will make tax distributions only to the extent distributions from such partnerships for the relevant year were otherwise insufficient to cover such tax liabilities.

Under the Delaware Limited Partnership Act, we may not make a distribution to a partner if after the distribution all our liabilities, other than liabilities to partners on account of their partnership interests and liabilities for which the recourse of creditors is limited to specific property of the partnership, would exceed the fair value of our assets. If we were to make such an impermissible distribution, any limited partner who received a distribution and knew at the time of the distribution that the distribution was in violation of the Delaware Limited Partnership Act would be liable to us for the amount of the distribution for three years. In addition, the terms of our revolving credit facility or other financing arrangements may from time to time include covenants or other restrictions that could constrain our ability to make distributions.

Common Unit Repurchases in the Fourth Quarter of 2009

In January 2008, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to \$500 million of Blackstone common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units. Under this unit repurchase program, units may be repurchased in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The unit repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time and does not have a final specified date. No purchases of our common units were made by us or on our behalf during the quarter ended December 31, 2009. See "Part II—Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements—Note 13. Net Loss Per Common Unit" and "Part I—Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Our Future Sources of Cash and Liquidity Needs" for further information regarding this unit repurchase program.

As permitted by our policies and procedures governing transactions in our securities by our directors, executive officers and other employees, from time to time some of these persons may establish plans or arrangements complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act, and similar plans and arrangements relating to our common units and Holdings units.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The consolidated and combined statements of financial condition and income data as of and for the five years ended December 31, 2009 have been derived from our consolidated and combined financial statements. The audited Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The audited Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 and Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 are not included in this Form 10-K. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.

The selected consolidated and combined financial data should be read in conjunction with "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our consolidated and combined financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

	Year Ended December 31,				
	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005
	(Dollars in Thousands)				
Revenues					
Management and Advisory Fees	\$ 1,482,226	\$ 1,476,357	\$1,566,047	\$1,077,139	\$ 478,908
Performance Fees and Allocations	221,090	(1,247,320)	1,126,640	1,267,764	880,906
Investment Income (Loss)	40,604	(622,877)	333,762	259,736	206,296
Interest and Dividend Revenue and Other	29,779	44,479	23,699	12,790	2,122
Total Revenues	1,773,699	(349,361)	3,050,148	2,617,429	1,568,232
Expenses					
Compensation and Benefits (1)	3,777,606	3,859,787	2,256,647	250,067	182,604
General, Administrative and Other	443,573	440,776	324,200	122,395	87,413
Interest Expense	13,384	23,008	32,080	36,932	23,830
Fund Expenses	7,296	63,031	151,917	143,695	67,972
Total Expenses	4,241,859	4,386,602	2,764,844	553,089	361,819
Other Income (Loss)					
Net Gains (Losses) from Fund Investment Activities	176,694	(872,336)	5,423,132	6,090,145	4,071,046
Income (Loss) Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	(2,291,466)	(5,608,299)	5,708,436	8,154,485	5,277,459
Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	99,230	(14,145)	47,693	31,934	12,260
Net Income (Loss)	(2,390,696)	(5,594,154)	5,660,743	8,122,551	5,265,199
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Redeemable Non-					
Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	131,097	(632,495)	628,354	593,328	421,680
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Non- Controlling					
Interests in Consolidated Entities	(14,328)	(159,828)	4,510,881	5,263,018	3,512,857
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Non- Controlling					
Interests in Blackstone Holdings	(1,792,174)	(3,638,799)	857,022	2,266,205	1,330,662
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to The Blackstone					
Group L.P.	\$ (715,291)	\$(1,163,032)	\$ (335,514)	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$</u>

	Year Ended December 31,					
	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	
		(Dollars in Thousands)				
			June 19, 2007 through December 31, 2007			
Net Loss Per Common Unit—Basic and Diluted (2)						
Common Units Entitled to Priority Distributions	<u>\$(2.46)</u>	<u>\$(4.32)</u>	\$ (1.28)	N/A	N/A	
Common Units Not Entitled to Priority Distributions	\$(3.71)	\$(3.06)	N/A	N/A	N/A	
	\$ 0.90	\$ 1.20	\$ 0.30	N/A	N/A	

- (1) Prior to the IPO in June 2007, our compensation and benefits expense reflected compensation (primarily salary and bonus) paid or accrued solely to our non-senior managing director employees. Subsequent to our IPO, our compensation and benefits expense reflects (1) employee compensation and benefits expense paid and payable to our employees, including our senior managing directors, (2) equity-based compensation associated with grants of equity-based awards to senior managing directors, other employees and selected other individuals engaged in our businesses, including the amortization of all equity granted to existing employees at the time of the IPO, and (3) performance payment arrangements for Blackstone personnel and profit sharing interests in carried interest.
- (2) Prior to our IPO in June 2007, we did not have any Blackstone common units. Accordingly, we had no earnings per common unit for the prior periods. Please refer to "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Significant Transactions—Reorganization" for further discussion.
- (3) Distributions declared reflects the calendar date of declaration for each distribution; the fourth quarter distribution, if any, for any fiscal year will be declared and paid in the subsequent fiscal year. For fiscal 2007 we declared and paid distributions per common unit of \$0.60, for fiscal year 2008 we declared and paid distributions per common unit of \$0.90 and for fiscal year 2009 we declared and paid distributions per common unit of \$0.30.

	As of December 31,					
	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	
		(Dollars in Thousands)				
Statement of Financial Condition Data						
Total Assets (a)	\$ 9,409,024	\$ 9,489,057	\$ 13,175,245	\$ 33,891,044	\$ 21,121,124	
Senior Notes	\$ 588,624	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	
Total Liabilities	\$ 2,865,491	\$3,370,612	\$ 2,890,960	\$ 2,373,273	\$ 2,082,771	
Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests in						
Consolidated Entities	\$ 526,311	\$ 362,462	\$ 2,438,266	\$ 6,060,444	\$ 4,333,757	
Partners' Capital	\$ 6,017,222	\$ 5,755,983	\$ 7,846,019	\$ 25,457,327	\$ 14,704,596	

⁽a) The decrease in total assets from December 31, 2006 and 2005 to December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 is due to the deconsolidation of the Blackstone Funds as described in "—Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Significant Transactions—Consolidation and Deconsolidation of Blackstone Funds".

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with The Blackstone Group L.P.'s consolidated and combined financial statements and the related notes included within this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

On March 3, 2008, we acquired GSO Capital Partners LP and certain of its affiliates ("GSO"). GSO is an alternative asset manager specializing in the leveraged finance marketplace. GSO manages various credit-oriented funds, separately managed accounts and collateralized loan obligation ("CLO") vehicles. GSO's results from the date of acquisition are included in our Credit and Marketable Alternatives segment.

During 2007 we consummated a number of significant transactions, including the reorganization on June 18, 2007, the concurrent completion of our initial public offering and sale of non-voting common units to Beijing Wonderful Investments on June 27, 2007, and the deconsolidation of a number of Blackstone Funds (effective June 27, 2007 and July 1, 2007). These transactions have had significant effects on many of the items within our consolidated and combined financial statements and affect the comparison of our results for periods following these transactions with those of prior years.

Our Business

Blackstone is one of the largest independent managers of private capital in the world. We also provide a wide range of financial advisory services, including corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory, restructuring and reorganization advisory and fund placement services.

Our business is organized into four business segments:

- **Private Equity.** We are a world leader in private equity investing, having managed five general private equity funds, as well as one specialized fund focusing on media and communications-related investments, since we established this business in 1987. In addition, we are in the process of raising our seventh private equity fund and are seeking to launch new investment funds to make infrastructure and clean technology investments. Through our private equity funds we pursue transactions throughout the world, including leveraged buyout acquisitions of seasoned companies, transactions involving growth equity or start-up businesses in established industries, minority investments, corporate partnerships, distressed debt, structured securities and industry consolidations, in all cases in strictly friendly transactions.
- **Real Estate.** We are a world leader in real estate investing with an assortment of real estate funds that are diversified geographically and across a variety of sectors. We launched our first real estate fund in 1994 and have managed six opportunistic real estate funds, two internationally focused real estate funds, a European focused real estate fund and a number of real estate debt investment funds. Our real estate funds have made significant investments in lodging, major urban office buildings and a variety of real estate operating companies. In addition, our debt investment funds target real estate non-controlling debt related investment opportunities in the public and private markets, primarily in the United States and Europe.
- Credit and Marketable Alternatives. Established in 1990, our credit and marketable alternatives segment is comprised of our management of funds of hedge funds, credit-oriented funds, CLO vehicles and publicly-traded closed-end mutual funds, in many of which we are a world leader. These products are intended to provide investors with greater levels of current income and for certain products, a greater level of liquidity.
- **Financial Advisory**. Our financial advisory segment serves a diverse and global group of clients with corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory services, restructuring and reorganization advisory services and fund placement services for alternative investment funds.

We generate our revenue from fees earned pursuant to contractual arrangements with funds, fund investors and fund portfolio companies (including management, transaction and monitoring fees), and from corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory services, restructuring and reorganization advisory services and fund placement services for alternative investment funds. We invest in the funds we manage and, in most cases, receive a preferred allocation of income (i.e., a "carried interest") or an incentive fee from an investment fund in the event that specified cumulative investment returns are achieved. The composition of our revenues will vary based on market conditions and the cyclicality of the different businesses in which we operate. Net investment gains and resultant investment income generated by the Blackstone Funds, principally private equity and real estate funds, are driven by value created by our operating and strategic initiatives as well as overall market conditions. Our funds initially record fund investments at cost and then such investments are subsequently recorded at fair value. Fair values are affected by changes in the fundamentals of the portfolio company, the portfolio company's industry, the overall economy as well as other market conditions.

Business Environment

World equity and debt markets continued to improve in the second half of 2009 in anticipation of sustained economic recovery. The United States and several other developed economies returned to growth, benefiting in part from government spending programs, and emerging economies grew more sharply. In the U.S., despite tangible evidence of economic recovery, unemployment remains high and consumer credit trends remain weak.

Equity indices improved dramatically throughout 2009 from multi-year lows reached early in the year, when valuations suffered from investor despondency and massive mutual and hedge fund withdrawals. Global equity indices in developed nations increased 20-30% in 2009. Improvement was more pronounced in developing nations, with equity indices increasing 60-100%.

Similarly, credit indices rose sharply, fueled by improving economic data and a significant increase in demand and liquidity. High yield credit spreads tightened roughly 1,100 basis points in 2009, and implied default rates declined to 2-4% versus 12-15% earlier in 2009. Average leveraged loan prices improved from 62% of par at the end of 2008 to 87% at year-end 2009.

In real estate, fundamentals are beginning to show signs of having reached bottom. For office properties, where trends tend to lag the overall economy, vacancy rates appear to have stabilized, with some markets showing signs of decreasing vacancy. In hospitality, demand appears to have bottomed as well, although pricing remains pressured. Revenue per average room ("RevPAR"), an important hospitality industry metric, continued to decline, but that decline clearly moderated in the fourth quarter of 2009. U.S. RevPAR has historically been highly correlated with changes in GDP and corporate profits, which are both being forecasted to improve in 2010. The combination of these factors is expected to set the stage for a recovery in lodging fundamentals. However, the timing and magnitude of the recovery are difficult to determine.

Real estate capital markets have improved dramatically. Public REITs in the U.S. raised \$25 billion of equity in 2009, and the REIT Index more than doubled from its low in March 2009. Public real estate debt (CMBS and REIT unsecured) yields tightened meaningfully. Private real estate markets have recently started showing signs of improvement, and private debt capital has begun to return to the market.

Commodity prices materially increased in 2009. Oil prices, for example, rose nearly 80%. The U.S. dollar weakened, pressured by historically low interest rates coupled with heavy borrowing. The U.S. dollar fell against each of the Euro and Pound Sterling by 2% and 10%, respectively. Global monetary policy has remained very accommodative throughout the economic downturn, and there are some initial signs of foreign governments tightening, although the outlook for monetary policy is uncertain.

The extent of the current economic improvement is unknown. Blackstone's businesses are materially affected by conditions in the financial markets and economic conditions in the U.S., Western Europe, Asia and, to a lesser extent, elsewhere in the world.

Significant Transactions

Reorganization

The Blackstone Group L.P. ("Blackstone" or the "Partnership") was formed as a Delaware limited partnership on March 12, 2007. The Partnership is managed and operated by its general partner, Blackstone Group Management L.L.C., which is in turn wholly-owned and controlled by one of Blackstone's founders, Stephen A. Schwarzman, and Blackstone's other senior managing directors.

The activities of the Partnership are conducted through its holding partnerships: Blackstone Holdings I L.P; Blackstone Holdings II L.P.; Blackstone Holdings IV L.P.; and Blackstone Holdings V L.P (collectively, the "Holding Partnerships"). On June 18, 2007, in preparation for an initial public offering, the predecessor owners of the Blackstone business completed a reorganization (the "Reorganization") whereby, with certain limited exceptions, the operating entities of the predecessor organization and the intellectual property rights associated with the Blackstone name were contributed ("Contributed Businesses") to these five holding partnerships either directly or indirectly via a sale to certain wholly owned subsidiaries of the Partnership and then a contribution to the Holding Partnerships. The Partnership, through its wholly owned subsidiaries, is the sole general partner in each of these Holding Partnerships. The reorganization was accounted for as an exchange of entities under common control for the component of interests contributed by the Founders and the other senior managing directors (collectively, the "Control Group") and as an acquisition of non-controlling interest using the purchase method of accounting for all the predecessor owners other than the Control Group.

Undistributed earnings of the Contributed Businesses through the date of the Reorganization inured to the benefit of predecessor owners.

On January 1, 2009, the number of Holding Partnerships was reduced from five to four through the transfer of assets and liabilities of Blackstone Holdings III L.P to Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. In connection therewith, Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. was renamed Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and Blackstone Holdings V L.P. was renamed Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. Blackstone Holdings refers to the five holding partnerships prior to the January 2009 reorganization and the four holding partnerships subsequent to the January 2009 reorganization.

Holders of the limited partner interests in the four Holding Partnerships may, up to four times each year, exchange their limited partnership interests ("Partnership Units") for Blackstone Common Units, on a one-to-one basis, exchanging one Partnership Unit in each of the four Holding Partnerships for one Blackstone Common Unit. Until the Blackstone Common Units issued in such exchanges are sold to third parties, they will forgo any priority distributions under the cash distribution policy as described in Note 13. "Net Loss Per Common Unit" in the "Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements" in "Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing.

Initial Public Offering

On June 27, 2007, the Partnership completed an initial public offering ("IPO") of its Common Units representing limited partner interests in the Partnership. Upon the completion of the IPO, public investors indirectly owned approximately 14.1% of the equity in Blackstone. Concurrently with the IPO, the Partnership completed the sale of non-voting common units, representing approximately 9.3% of the equity in Blackstone, to Beijing Wonderful Investments, an investment vehicle subsequently transferred to China Investment Corporation. On October 28, 2008, the agreement with Beijing Wonderful Investments was amended whereby it, and certain of its affiliates, are restricted in the future from engaging in the purchase of Blackstone common units that would result in its aggregate beneficial ownership in Blackstone on a fully-diluted (as-converted) basis exceeding 12.5%, an increase from 10% at the date of the IPO. In addition, Blackstone common units owned by Beijing Wonderful Investments or its affiliates in excess of 10% aggregate beneficial ownership in Blackstone on a fully-diluted (as-converted) basis are not subject to any restrictions on transfer but are non-voting while held by Beijing Wonderful Investments or its affiliates.

The Partnership contributed the proceeds from the IPO and the sale of non-voting common units to Beijing Wonderful Investments to its wholly-owned subsidiaries, which in turn used these proceeds to (a) purchase interests in the Contributed Businesses from the predecessor owners (which interests were then contributed to Blackstone Holdings in exchange for newly-issued Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units) and (b) purchase additional newly-issued Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units from Blackstone Holdings.

Consolidation and Deconsolidation of Blackstone Funds

Concurrently with the Reorganization, the Contributed Businesses that act as a general partner of a consolidated Blackstone Fund (with the exception of Blackstone's then existing proprietary hedge funds and four of the funds of hedge funds) took the necessary steps to grant rights to the unaffiliated investors in each respective fund to provide that a simple majority of the fund's unaffiliated investors will have the right, without cause, to remove the general partner of that fund or to accelerate the liquidation date of that fund in accordance with certain procedures. The granting of these rights resulted in the deconsolidation of such investment funds from the Partnership's consolidated financial statements and the accounting of Blackstone's interest in these funds under the equity method. With the exception of certain funds of hedge funds, hedge funds and credit-oriented funds, these rights became effective on June 27, 2007 for all Blackstone Funds where these rights were granted. The effective date of these rights for the applicable funds of hedge funds was July 1, 2007. The consolidated results of these funds have been reflected in the Partnership's consolidated and combined financial statements up to the effective date of these rights.

Acquisition of GSO Capital Partners LP

On March 3, 2008, the Partnership acquired GSO Capital Partners LP and certain of its affiliates ("GSO"). GSO is an alternative asset manager specializing in the credit markets. GSO manages various multi-strategy credit hedge funds, mezzanine funds, senior debt funds, separately managed accounts and various CLO vehicles.

Key Financial Measures and Indicators

Our key financial measures and indicators are discussed below.

Revenues

Revenues primarily consist of management and advisory fees, performance fees and allocations, investment income, interest and dividend revenue and other. Please refer to "Part I. Item 1. Business, Incentive Arrangements / Fee Structure" and "—, Critical Accounting Policies, Revenue Recognition" for additional information regarding the manner in which Base Management Fees and Performance Fees and Allocations are generated.

Management and Advisory Fees —Management and Advisory Fees are comprised of management fees, including base management fees, transaction and other fees, management fee reductions and offsets, and advisory fees.

The Partnership earns base management fees from the limited partners of funds in each of its managed funds, at a fixed percentage of assets under management, net asset value, total assets, committed capital or invested capital. Base management fees are based on contractual terms specified in the underlying investment advisory agreements.

Transaction and other fees (including monitoring fees) are fees charged directly to funds and portfolio companies. The investment advisory agreements generally require that the investment adviser reduce the amount of management fees payable by the limited partners to the Partnership ("management fee reduction") by an amount equal to a portion of the transaction and other fees directly paid to the Partnership by the portfolio companies. The amount of the reduction varies by fund, the type of fee paid by the portfolio company and the previously incurred expenses of the fund.

Management fee offsets are reductions to management fees payable by our limited partners, which are granted based on the amount they reimburse us for placement fees.

Advisory fees consist of advisory retainer and transaction-based fee arrangements related to merger, acquisition, restructuring and divestiture activities and fund placement services for alternative investment funds. Advisory retainer fees are recognized when services for the transactions are complete, in accordance with terms set forth in individual agreements. Transaction-based fees are recognized when (a) there is evidence of an arrangement with a client, (b) agreed upon services have been provided, (c) fees are fixed or determinable and (d) collection is reasonably assured. Fund placement fees are recognized as earned upon the acceptance by a fund of capital or capital commitments.

Accrued but unpaid Management and Advisory Fees, net of management fee reductions and management fee offsets, as of the reporting date, are included in Accounts Receivable or Due From Affiliates in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

Performance Fees and Allocations— Performance fees earned on the performance of Blackstone's hedge fund structures are recognized based on fund performance during the period, subject to the achievement of minimum return levels, or high water marks, in accordance with the respective terms set out in each hedge fund investment advisory agreement. Accrued but unpaid performance fees charged directly to investors in Blackstone's offshore hedge funds as of the reporting date are recorded within Due from Affiliates in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition. Performance fees arising on Blackstone's onshore hedge funds are allocated to the general partner. Accrued but unpaid performance fees on onshore funds as of the reporting date are reflected in Investments in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

In certain fund structures, specifically in private equity, real estate and certain credit-oriented funds ("Carry Funds"), performance fees ("Carried Interest") are allocated to the general partner based on cumulative fund performance to date, subject to a preferred return to limited partners. At the end of each reporting period, the Partnership calculates the Carried Interest that would be due to the Partnership for each fund, pursuant to the fund agreements, as if the fair value of the underlying investments were realized as of such date, irrespective of whether such amounts have been realized. As the fair value of underlying investments varies between reporting periods, it is necessary to make adjustments to amounts recorded as Carried Interest to reflect either (a) positive performance resulting in an increase in the Carried Interest allocated to the general partner or (b) negative performance resulting in a negative adjustment to carried interest allocated to the general partner, that would cause the amount due to the Partnership to be less than the amount previously recognized as revenue. In each scenario, it is necessary to calculate the Carried Interest on cumulative results compared to the Carried Interest recorded to date and make the required positive or negative adjustments. The Partnership ceases to record negative Carried Interest allocations once previously recognized Carried Interest allocations for such fund have been fully reversed. The Partnership is not obligated to pay guaranteed returns or hurdles, and therefore cannot have negative Carried Interest over the life of a fund. Accrued but unpaid Carried Interest as of the reporting date is reflected in Investments in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

Carried interest is realized when an underlying investment is profitably disposed of and the fund's cumulative returns are in excess of the preferred return. Performance fees earned on hedge fund structures are realized at the end of each fund's measurement period.

Carried Interest is subject to clawback to the extent that the Carried Interest actually distributed to date exceeds the amount due to Blackstone based on cumulative results. As such, the accrual for potential repayment of previously received performance fees and allocations, which is a component of Due to Affiliates, represents all amounts previously distributed to Blackstone Holdings and non-controlling interest holders that would need to be repaid to the Blackstone Funds if the Blackstone Carry Funds were to be liquidated based on the current fair value of the underlying funds' investments as of the reporting date. Generally, the actual clawback liability does not become realized until the end of a fund's life or one year after a realized loss is incurred, depending on the fund.

Investment Income (Loss) —Investment Income (Loss) represents the unrealized and realized gains and losses on the Partnership's principal investments, including its investments in Blackstone Funds that are not consolidated, its equity method investments, and other principal investments. Investment Income (Loss) is realized when the Partnership redeems all or a portion of its investment or when the Partnership receives cash income, such as dividends or distributions, from its non-consolidated funds. Unrealized Investment Income (Loss) results from changes in the fair value of the underlying investment as well as the reversal of unrealized gain (loss) at the time an investment is realized.

Interest and Dividend Revenue —Interest and Dividend Revenue comprises primarily interest and dividend income earned on principal investments held by Blackstone.

Other Revenue — Other Revenue comprises primarily foreign exchange gains and losses arising on transactions denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars.

Expenses

Compensation and Benefits—Base Compensation —Base compensation and benefits consists of (a) employee compensation, comprising salary and bonus, and benefits paid and payable to employees, including senior managing directors and (b) equity-based compensation associated with the grants of equity-based awards to employees, including senior managing directors.

Equity-Based Compensation— Compensation cost relating to the issuance of share-based awards to senior managing directors and employees is measured at fair value at the grant date, taking into consideration expected forfeitures, and expensed over the vesting period on a straight line basis. Equity-based awards that do not require future service are expensed immediately. Cash settled equity-based awards are classified as liabilities and are re-measured at the end of each reporting period.

Compensation and Benefits—Performance Fee Related —Performance fee related compensation and benefits consists of Carried Interest and performance fee allocations to employees, including senior managing directors, participating in certain profit sharing initiatives. Employees participating in such initiatives are allocated a certain portion of Carried Interest and performance fees allocated to the general partner under performance fee allocations (see "Revenue Recognition"). Such compensation expense is recognized in the same manner as Carried Interest and performance fee allocations and is subject to both positive and negative adjustments as a result of changes in underlying fund performance.

Other Operating Expenses . Other operating expenses represent general and administrative expenses including interest expense, occupancy and equipment expenses and other expenses, which consist principally of professional fees, public company costs, travel and related expenses, communications and information services and depreciation and amortization.

Fund Expenses. The expenses of our consolidated Blackstone Funds consist primarily of interest expense, professional fees and other third-party expenses.

Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities

Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities represent the component of Partners' Capital in consolidated entities held by third party investors. Such interests are adjusted for general partner allocations and by subscriptions and redemptions in funds of hedge funds and certain credit-oriented funds which occur during the reporting period. Non-controlling interests related to funds of hedge funds and certain other credit-oriented funds are subject to annual, semi-annual or quarterly redemption by investors in these funds following the expiration of a specified period of time (typically between one and three years), or may be withdrawn subject to a redemption fee in the funds of hedge funds and certain credit-oriented funds during the period when capital may

not be withdrawn. As limited partners in these types of funds have been granted redemption rights, amounts relating to third party interests in such consolidated funds are presented as Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities within the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition. When redeemable amounts become legally payable to investors, they are classified as a liability. For all consolidated funds in which redemption rights have not been granted, non-controlling interests are presented within Partners' Capital in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition as Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities.

Income Taxes

The Blackstone Holdings partnerships and certain of their subsidiaries operate in the U.S. as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes and generally as corporate entities in non-U.S. jurisdictions. Accordingly, these entities in some cases are subject to New York City unincorporated business taxes or non-U.S. income taxes. In addition, certain of the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Partnership and the Blackstone Holdings partnerships will be subject to federal, state and local corporate income taxes at the entity level and the related tax provision attributable to the Partnership's share of this income is reflected in the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method of accounting. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis, using currently enacted tax rates. The effect on deferred assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period when the change is enacted. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Tax laws are complex and subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer and respective governmental taxing authorities. Significant judgment is required in determining tax expense and in evaluating tax positions including evaluating uncertainties under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"). Blackstone reviews its tax positions quarterly and adjusts its tax balances as new information becomes available.

Blackstone analyzes its tax filing positions in all of the U.S. federal, state and foreign tax jurisdictions where it is required to file income tax returns, as well as for all open tax years in these jurisdictions. If, based on this analysis, the Partnership determines that uncertainties in tax positions exist, a reserve is established. Blackstone recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in General, Administrative, and Other expenses within the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations.

There remains some uncertainty regarding Blackstone's future taxation levels. In 2007, Congress considered legislation that would tax as corporations publicly traded partnerships that directly or indirectly derive income from investment adviser or asset management services. If we were taxed as a corporation, our effective tax rate would increase significantly. The federal statutory rate for corporations is currently 35%, and the state and local tax rates, net of the federal benefit, aggregate approximately 10%. If a variation of this proposed legislation or any other change in the tax laws, rules, regulations or interpretations preclude us from qualifying for treatment as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes under the publicly traded partnership rules, this would materially increase our tax liability, and could well result in a reduction in the market price of our common units.

In 2008, the U.S. House of Representatives passed a bill that would generally (1) treat carried interest as non-qualifying income under the tax rules applicable to publicly traded partnerships, which would generally require us to hold interests in entities earning such income through taxable subsidiary corporations by the end of 2010, and (2) tax carried interest as ordinary income for U.S. federal income taxes, rather than in accordance with the character of income derived by the underlying fund, which is in many cases capital gain, starting with our 2008 taxable year. In December 2009, the U.S. House of Representatives passed substantially similar

legislation. Such legislation would tax carried interest as ordinary income starting with our 2010 taxable year. However, under a transition rule, the portion of such legislation treating carried interest as non-qualifying income under the tax rules applicable to publicly traded partnerships would not apply until our first taxable year beginning 10 years after the date of the enactment of the legislation. In addition, the Obama administration proposed in its published revenue proposals for both 2010 and 2011 that the current law regarding the treatment of carried interest be changed to treat such income as income received in connection with the performance of services and subject to ordinary income tax. If any such legislation or similar legislation were to be enacted and apply to us, it would materially increase our tax liability, which could well result in a reduction in the market price of our common units.

Economic Net Income

Economic Net Income ("ENI") is a key performance measure used by management. ENI represents income before taxes by segment excluding any transaction-related items, amortization of intangibles and the impact of consolidated funds. Blackstone's historical combined financial statements for periods prior to the IPO do not include these transaction-related charges nor do such financial statements reflect performance fee related compensation expenses associated with senior managing directors, departed partners and other selected employees. Those compensation expenses were accounted for as partnership distributions prior to the IPO, but are included in the financial statements for the periods following the IPO as a component of compensation and benefits expense. The aggregate of ENI for all reportable segments equals Total Reportable Segment ENI. ENI is used by management primarily in making resource deployment and compensation decisions across Blackstone's four segments. (See Note 19. "Segment Reporting" in the "Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements" in Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.)

Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations

Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations, which is derived from our segment reported results, is a supplemental non-GAAP measure we use to assess liquidity and amounts available for distribution to owners. Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations is intended to reflect the cash flow attributable to Blackstone without the effects of the consolidation of the Blackstone Funds. The equivalent GAAP measure is Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities. See "—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Liquidity and Capital Resources" below for our detailed discussion of Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations.

Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations will be retired with the end of the distribution preference to public unitholders. Going forward we will disclose our Distributable Earnings, which is a non-GAAP measure intended to show the amount of our net realized earnings without the effects of the consolidation of the Blackstone Funds. Distributable Earnings, which is a component of Economic Net Income, is the sum across all Total Reportable Segments of (a) Total Management and Advisory Fees, (b) Interest and Dividend Revenue, (c) Other, (d) Realized Performance Fees and Allocations, and (e) Realized Investment Income (Loss) less (a) Base Compensation, (b) Realized Performance Fee Related Compensation, (c) Other Operating Expenses and (d) Cash Taxes. Distributable Earnings will be reconciled to our Consolidated Statement of Operations. It is Blackstone's current intention that on an annual basis it will distribute to unitholders all of its Distributable Earnings in excess of amounts determined by its general partner to be necessary or appropriate to provide for the conduct of its business, to make appropriate investments in its business and funds, to comply with applicable law, any of its debt instruments or other agreements, or to provide for future distributions to its unitholders for any ensuing quarter.

Net Fee Related Earnings from Operations

Net Fee Related Earnings from Operations, which is a component of Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations, is a measure that highlights our earnings from operations excluding the income and related compensation expense related to the performance fees and allocations, and income earned from Blackstone's investments in the Blackstone Funds. See "—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Liquidity and Capital Resources" below for a detailed discussion of Net Fee Related Earnings from Operations.

Operating Metrics

The alternative asset management business is a complex business that is primarily based on managing third party capital and does not require substantial capital investment to support rapid growth. However, there also can be volatility associated with its earnings and cash flows. Since our inception, we have developed and used various key operating metrics to assess and monitor the operating performance of our various alternative asset management businesses in order to monitor the effectiveness of our value creating strategies.

Assets Under Management. Assets Under Management refers to the assets we manage. Our Assets Under Management equal the sum of:

- (a) the fair value of the investments held by our carry funds plus the capital that we are entitled to call from investors in those funds pursuant to the terms of their capital commitments to those funds (plus the fair value of co-investments arranged by us that were made by limited partners of our funds in portfolio companies of such funds and on which we receive fees or a carried interest allocation);
- (b) the net asset value of our funds of hedge funds, hedge funds and our closed-end mutual funds;
- (c) the fair value of assets we manage pursuant to separately managed accounts; and
- (d) the amount of capital raised for our CLOs.

Our carry funds are commitment-based drawdown structured funds that do not permit investors to redeem their interests at their election. Interests related to our funds of hedge funds and certain of our credit-oriented funds are generally subject to annual, semi-annual or quarterly withdrawal or redemption by investors upon advance written notice, with the majority of our funds requiring from 60 days up to 95 days' notice, depending on the fund and the liquidity profile of the underlying assets. Investment advisory agreements related to separately managed accounts may generally be terminated by an investor on 30 to 90 days' notice.

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management . Fee-Earning Assets Under Management refers to the assets we manage on which we derive management and incentive fees. Our Fee-Earning Assets Under Management generally equal the sum of:

- (a) for our BCP and BREP funds where the investment period has not expired, the amount of capital commitments;
- (b) for our BCP and BREP funds where the investment period has expired, the remaining amount of invested capital;
- (c) for our real estate debt investment funds, the remaining amount of invested capital;
- (d) for our credit-oriented carry funds, the amount of invested capital (which may be calculated to include leverage) or net asset value;
- (e) the invested capital of co-investments arranged by us that were made by limited partners of our funds in portfolio companies of such funds and on which we receive fees;
- (f) the net asset value of our funds of hedge funds, hedge funds and our closed-end mutual funds;
- (g) the fair value of assets we manage pursuant to separately managed accounts; and
- (h) the gross amount of assets of our CLOs at cost.

Our calculations of assets under management and fee-earning assets under management may differ from the calculations of other asset managers, and as a result this measure may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other asset managers. In addition, our calculation of assets under management includes commitments to, and the fair value of, invested capital in our funds from Blackstone and our personnel,

regardless of whether such commitments or invested capital are subject to fees. Our definitions of assets under management or fee-earning assets under management are not based on any definition of assets under management or fee-earning assets under management that is set forth in the agreements governing the investment funds that we manage.

For our carry funds, total assets under management includes the fair value of the investments held, whereas fee-earning assets under management includes the amount of capital commitments or the remaining amount of invested capital at cost, depending on whether the investment period has or has not expired. As such, fee-earning assets under management may be greater than total assets under management when the aggregate fair value of the remaining investments is less than the cost of those investments.

Limited Partner Capital Invested. Limited Partner Capital Invested represents the amount of Limited Partner capital commitments which were invested by our carry funds during each period presented, plus the capital invested through co-investments arranged by us that were made by limited partners in investments of our carry funds on which we receive fees or a carried interest allocation.

We manage our business using traditional financial measures and our key operating metrics since we believe that these metrics measure the productivity of our investment activities.

Consolidated and Combined Results of Operations

Following is a discussion of our consolidated and combined results of operations for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2009. For a more detailed discussion of the factors that affected the results of our four business segments (which are presented on a basis that deconsolidates the investment funds we manage) in these periods, see "—Segment Analysis" below.

The following table sets forth information regarding our consolidated and combined results of operations and certain key operating metrics for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007.

	Year	Ended Decembe	er 31,	2009 vs. 2	2008 vs. 2007		
	2009	2008	2007	\$	%	\$	%
Revenues			(Dollars i	n Thousands)			
Management and Advisory Fees	\$ 1,482,226	\$ 1,476,357	\$1,566,047	\$ 5,869	0%	\$ (89,690)	-6%
Performance Fees and Allocations	<u>+ -,, -, </u>	<u>+ -,,</u>	+-10-0010-11	<u>+ +,</u>		+ (0,,0,0)	
Realized	70,492	38,941	1,024,566	31,551	81%	(985,625)	-96%
Unrealized	150,598	(1,286,261)	102,074	1,436,859	N/M	(1,388,335)	N/M
Total Performance Fees and Allocations	221,090	(1,247,320)	1,126,640	1,468,410	N/M	(2,373,960)	N/M
Investment Income (Loss)							
Realized	44,320	(16,425)	223,147	60,745	N/M	(239,572)	N/M
Unrealized	(3,716)	(606,452)	110,615	602,736	99%	(717,067)	N/M
Total Investment Income (Loss)	40,604	(622,877)	333,762	663,481	N/M	(956,639)	N/M
Interest and Dividend Revenue	22,680	30,879	23,174	(8,199)	-27%	7,705	33%
Other	7,099	13,600	525	(6,501)	-48%	13,075	N/M
Total Revenues	1,773,699	(349,361)	3,050,148	2,123,060	N/M	(3,399,509)	N/M
Expenses							
Compensation and Benefits							
Base Compensation	3,778,686	4,062,238	2,227,310	(283,552)	-7%	1,834,928	82%
Performance Fee Related							
Realized	25,102	4,997	91,203	20,105	N/M	(86,206)	-95%
Unrealized	(26,182)	(207,448)	(61,866)	181,266	87%	(145,582)	N/M
Total Compensation and Benefits	3,777,606	3,859,787	2,256,647	(82,181)	-2%	1,603,140	71%
General, Administrative and Other	443,573	440,776	324,200	2,797	1%	116,576	36%
Interest Expense	13,384	23,008	32,080	(9,624)	-42%	(9,072)	-28%
Fund Expenses	7,296	63,031	151,917	(55,735)	-88%	(88,886)	-59%
Total Expenses	4,241,859	4,386,602	2,764,844	(144,743)	-3%	1,621,758	59%
Other Income (Loss)							
Net Gains (Losses) from Fund Investment Activities	176,694	(872,336)	5,423,132	1,049,030	N/M	(6,295,468)	N/M
Income (Loss) Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	(2,291,466)	(5,608,299)	5,708,436	3,316,833	59%	(11,316,735)	N/M
Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	99,230	(14,145)	47,693	113,375	N/M	(61,838)	N/M
Net Income (Loss)	(2,390,696)	(5,594,154)	5,660,743	3,203,458	57%	(11,254,897)	N/M
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests in							
Consolidated Entities	131,097	(632,495)	628,354	763,592	N/M	(1,260,849)	N/M
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated							
Entities	(14,328)	(159,828)	4,510,881	145,500	91%	(4,670,709)	N/M
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Blackstone	(4.500.45.)	(2.520.75**	0.55.00.5	101550=		(4.405.05*)	
Holdings	(1,792,174)	(3,638,799)	857,022	1,846,625	51%	(4,495,821)	N/M
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to The Blackstone Group L.P.	\$ (715,291)	\$(1,163,032)	\$ (335,514)	\$ 447,741	38%	\$ (827,518)	N/M

Revenues

Total Revenues were \$1.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of \$2.1 billion compared to Total Revenues for the prior year of \$(349.4) million. The increase in revenues was primarily attributable to an increase of \$1.5 billion in Performance Fees and Allocations, which were \$221.1 million for the 2009 year, and an increase of \$663.5 million in Investment Income (Loss) to \$40.6 million for the year. Management and Advisory Fees were \$1.5 billion for the year, relatively unchanged compared to 2008. While Base Management Fees remained relatively unchanged, Transaction and Other Fees increased approximately \$11.2 million, primarily driven by one-time monitoring fees as a result of certain asset realizations. The improvements in Performance Fees and Allocations and Investment Income (Loss) were driven by improved returns by our Private Equity funds, which had a net internal rate of return ("IRR") of 9% in 2009 compared to (30)% in 2008. Performance Fees and Allocations were also helped by certain Real Estate funds. The 2009 net IRR for our real estate carry funds was (35)% compared to (38)% in 2008, while our real estate debt investment hedge funds had net returns of 21% in 2009 and (9)% in 2008. Our Credit and Marketable Alternatives segment also had improved performance in 2009, contributing \$155.6 million (primarily from our credit platform hedge funds and also from our funds of hedge funds which had a composite net return of 16% in 2009 versus (20)% in 2008). The Realized Performance Fees and Allocations of \$70.5 million were primarily attributable to the Private Equity and Credit and Marketable Alternatives segments with \$34.0 million and \$43.3 million, respectively.

Total Revenues were \$(349.4) million for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decrease of \$3.4 billion compared to Total Revenues for the prior year of \$3.0 billion. The decrease in revenues was primarily attributed to a decrease in Performance Fees and Allocations of \$2.4 billion to \$(1.3) billion and a decrease in Investment Income (Loss) of \$956.6 million to \$(622.9) million. Management and Advisory Fees declined \$89.7 million, or 6%, to \$1.5 billion for the year. The change in both Performance Fees and Allocations and Investment Income (Loss) was due principally to net depreciation in the fair value of the underlying portfolio investments of our Private Equity, Real Estate, fund of hedge funds, then existing proprietary hedge funds and credit oriented funds compared to net appreciation during the prior year, consistent with overall declines in the global equity and debt markets. Specifically, our Private Equity and Real Estate funds had net IRR's of (30)% and (38)%, respectively, in 2008, compared to 9% and 30% in 2007. The net reduction in the fair value of these investments was driven primarily by a decrease in projected exit multiples, lower operating projections for some portfolio investments, a reduction in share prices of various publicly held investments consistent with the general declines in the global equity markets and the decline in the value of foreign currencies versus the U.S. dollar. Realized Performance Fees and Allocations in 2008 of \$38.9 million were primarily attributable to the Real Estate and Credit and Marketable Alternatives segments with \$24.7 million and \$15.1 million, respectively. Realized Investment Income (Loss) of \$(16.4) million was primarily attributable to \$(82.1) million from the Credit and Marketable Alternatives segment. The decrease in Management and Advisory Fees was primarily attributable to a decrease in transaction fees, which reflected a reduction in the size and volume of consummated transactions in 2008 compared to the prior year when we earned substantial transaction fees from our funds' acquisitions of Equity Office Properties Trust and Hilton Hotels. This decrease was partially offset by an increase in base management fees of \$254.2 million, or 34%, as a result of an increase in Fee-Earning Assets Under Management for 2008 compared with 2007, as well as an increase in fees generated by our restructuring and reorganization and our corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory services businesses.

Total Revenues were \$3.1 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007, Management and Advisory Fees were \$1.6 billion while Performance Fees and Allocations were \$1.1 billion. Investment Income was \$333.8 million.

Expenses

Expenses were \$4.2 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009, a decrease of \$144.7 million, or 3%, compared to \$4.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease was primarily attributed to a decrease in Compensation and Benefits to \$3.8 billion from \$3.9 billion in 2008. The year 2008 included a

reduction in compensation costs of \$202.0 million resulting from the reversal of prior period carried interest allocations to certain personnel due to a net reduction in the fair value of underlying funds' investments. General, Administrative and Other expenses remained relatively unchanged. Our expenses are primarily driven by levels of business activity, revenue growth and headcount expansion.

Expenses were \$4.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of \$1.6 billion, or 59%, compared to \$2.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007. The primary driver of the change was Compensation and Benefits which were \$3.9 billion, 71% higher than for 2007. 2008 reflects a full year of equity-based compensation and performance payment arrangements versus approximately one half year in 2007. The net addition of personnel to support the growth of each of our business segments, including expansion into Asia and our hedge fund businesses, also contributed to the increase in Compensation and Benefits. These increases were partially offset by the reduction in compensation costs of \$202.0 million discussed above. General, Administrative and Other increased \$116.6 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2007, primarily due to \$35.6 million of incremental amortization expense associated with intangible assets related to our IPO, the acquisition of GSO, as well as an increase in costs associated with being a public company.

Other Income (Loss)

Other Income (Loss) was \$176.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of \$1.0 billion compared to \$(872.3) million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The change was due to improved performance of consolidated Blackstone Funds for the year ended December 31, 2009.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, Other Income (Loss) was \$(872.3) million, a decrease of \$6.3 billion compared to \$5.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007. The change was due to the deconsolidation of certain of our funds in our Private Equity, Real Estate and Credit and Marketable Alternatives segments as described above in "—Consolidation and Deconsolidation of Blackstone Funds."

Operating Metrics

The following table presents certain operating metrics for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. For a description of how assets under management is determined, please see "—Key Financial Measures and Indicators—Operating Metrics—Assets Under Management."

	Ye	ear Ended December	31,	2009 vs. 2008	8	2008 vs. 2007		
	2009	2008	2007	\$	%	\$	%	
			(Dollars in	Thousands)				
Fee-Earning Assets Under Management								
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$91,041,057	\$ 83,152,253	\$ 54,795,460	\$ 7,888,804	9%	\$ 28,356,793	52%	
Inflows, including Commitments (a)	7,407,805	27,414,604	29,547,760	(20,006,799)	-73%	(2,133,156)	-7%	
Outflows, including								
Distributions (b)	(7,165,725)	(7,709,415)	(5,362,627)	543,690	7%	(2,346,788)	-44%	
Market Appreciation (Depreciation)								
(c)	4,813,860	(11,816,385)	4,171,660	16,630,245	N/M	(15,988,045)	N/M	
Balance, End of Period	\$96,096,997	\$ 91,041,057	\$ 83,152,253	\$ 5,055,940	6%	\$ 7,888,804	9%	
Assets Under Management								
(End of Period)	\$98,183,128	\$ 94,559,217	\$102,427,372	\$ 3,623,911	4%	\$ (7,868,155)	-8%	
Capital Deployed					<u> </u>		,	
Limited Partner Capital Invested	\$ 3,147,526	\$ 6,548,651	\$ 14,771,359	\$ (3,401,125)	<u>-52</u> %	\$ (8,222,708)	<u>-56</u> %	

⁽a) Inflows represent contributions in our funds of hedge funds, credit-oriented funds and closed-end mutual funds, increases in available capital for our carry funds (capital raises, recallable capital and increased

- side-by-side commitments) and CLOs and increases in the capital we manage pursuant to separately managed account programs. For 2008, this also includes the assets under management of GSO beginning in March 2008.
- (b) Outflows represent redemptions in our funds of hedge funds, credit-oriented funds and closed-end mutual funds, client withdrawals from our separately managed account programs, decreases in available capital for our carry funds (expired capital, expense drawdowns and decreased side-by-side commitments) and realizations from the disposition of assets by our carry funds. Also included is the distribution of funds associated with the liquidation of our proprietary single manager hedge funds.
- (c) Market appreciation (depreciation) includes realized and unrealized gains (losses) on portfolio investments and the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management were \$96.1 billion at December 31, 2009, an increase of \$5.1 billion, or 6%, compared with \$91.0 billion at December 31, 2008. The increase was primarily driven by \$3.7 billion of net appreciation in our funds of hedge funds, \$908.0 million in our credit platform funds and \$699.3 million in our closed-end mutual funds. Additionally, our Real Estate segment contributed an increase of \$737.6 million while Private Equity experienced a decline of \$1.0 billion.

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management were \$91.0 billion at December 31, 2008, an increase of \$7.9 billion, or 9%, compared with \$83.2 billion at December 31, 2007. The increase was primarily driven by additional capital raised for our European focused real estate fund, contributions to our funds of hedge funds, the acquisition of GSO and the deployment of capital in funds which charge a fee based upon invested capital. These increases were partially offset by redemptions.

Assets Under Management

Assets Under Management were \$98.2 billion at December 31, 2009, an increase of \$3.6 billion, or 4%, compared with \$94.6 billion at December 31, 2008. The change was principally due to net appreciation of \$7.0 billion and \$2.0 billion in our Credit and Marketable Alternatives and Private Equity segments, respectively. This was offset by \$3.8 billion of net depreciation in our Real Estate Segment. Additionally, we had realizations of \$1.6 billion and \$1.0 billion in our Private Equity and Credit and Marketable Alternatives segments, respectively.

Assets Under Management were \$94.6 billion at December 31, 2008, a decrease of \$7.9 billion, or 8%, compared with \$102.4 billion at December 31, 2007. The change was principally due to a net depreciation in the fair value of portfolio investments of \$27.2 billion. This was partially offset by the addition of \$12.3 billion of Assets Under Management associated with our acquisition of GSO and \$5.6 billion of inflows into our real estate funds, primarily our European focused real estate fund.

Limited Partner Capital Invested

Limited Partner Capital Invested was \$3.1 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009, a decrease of \$3.4 billion, or 52%, compared to \$6.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008. The change reflected a decrease in the size and volume of consummated transactions compared to the prior year.

Limited Partner Capital Invested was \$6.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decrease of \$8.2 billion, or 56%, compared to \$14.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007. The change reflected a decrease in the size and volume of consummated transactions compared to the prior year that most notably reflected our funds' investments in Equity Office Properties Trust and Hilton Hotels Corporation.

Segment Analysis

Discussed below is our ENI for each of our reportable segments. This information is reflected in the manner utilized by our senior management to make operating decisions, assess performance and allocate resources. References to "our" sectors or investments may also refer to portfolio companies and investments of the underlying funds that we manage.

For segment reporting purposes, revenues and expenses are presented on a basis that deconsolidates the investment funds we manage. As a result, segment revenues are greater than those presented on a consolidated and combined GAAP basis because fund management fees recognized in certain segments are received from the Blackstone Funds and eliminated in consolidation when presented on a consolidated and combined GAAP basis. Furthermore, segment expenses are lower than related amounts presented on a consolidated and combined GAAP basis due to the exclusion of fund expenses that are paid by Limited Partners and the elimination of non-controlling interests.

Private Equity

The following table presents our results of operations for our Private Equity segment:

	Year Ended December 31,			2009 vs. 20		2008 vs. 200)7
	2009	2008	2007	\$	%	\$	%
			(Dolla	rs in Thousands)			
Segment Revenues							
Management Fees	****	A. 6. CO. O. C. 4	A 271 012	A 1 7 10	401	.	
Base Management Fees	\$270,509	\$ 268,961	\$ 254,843	\$ 1,548	1%	\$ 14,118	6%
Transaction and Other Fees, Net	86,336	51,796	123,770	34,540	67%	(71,974)	-58%
Management Fee Offsets		(4,862)	(10,734)	4,862	N/M	5,872	<u>55</u> %
Total Management Fees	356,845	315,895	367,879	40,950	<u>13</u> %	(51,984)	-14%
Performance Fees and Allocations							
Realized	34,021	(749)	574,274	34,770	N/M	(575,023)	N/M
Unrealized	303,491	(429,736)	(194,357)	733,227	N/M	(235,379)	-121%
Total Performance Fees and							
Allocations	337,512	(430,485)	379,917	767,997	N/M	(810,402)	N/M
Investment Income (Loss)							
Realized	36,968	13,687	131,498	23,281	170%	(117,811)	-90%
Unrealized	33,269	(196,200)	(16,166)	229,469	N/M	(180,034)	N/M
Total Investment Income (Loss)	70,237	(182,513)	115,332	252,750	N/M	(297,845)	N/M
Interest and Dividend Revenue	7,756	6,459	1,731	1,297	20%	4,728	N/M
Other	2,845	4,474	470	(1,629)	-36%	4,004	N/M
Total Revenues	775,195	(286,170)	865,329	1,061,365	N/M	(1,151,499)	N/M
Expenses	173,133	(200,170)	000,020	1,001,505	1 1/111	(1,131,133)	1 1/ 1/1
Compensation and Benefits							
Base Compensation	181,266	146,551	132,119	34,715	24%	14,432	11%
Performance Fee Related	101,200	140,331	132,117	34,713	2-7/0	17,732	1170
Realized	741	(4,255)	14,534	4,996	N/M	(18,789)	N/M
Unrealized	20,307	(126,090)	(50,251)	146,397	N/M	(75,839)	-151%
Total Compensation and	20,307	(120,000)	(30,231)	140,377	1 1/ 1/1	(13,037)	131/0
Benefits	202,314	16,206	96,402	186,108	N/M	(80,196)	-83%
Other Operating Expenses	82,471	90,130	78,473		-8%	11,657	15%
• •				(7,659)			
Total Expenses	284,785	106,336	174,875	178,449	168%	(68,539)	<u>-39</u> %
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$490,410	<u>\$(392,506)</u>	\$ 690,454	\$ 882,916	N/M	<u>\$(1,082,960)</u>	N/M

Revenues

Revenues were \$775.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of \$1.1 billion compared to \$(286.2) million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The increase in revenues was primarily attributed to an increase of \$768.0 million in Performance Fees and Allocations, an increase of \$252.8 million in Investment Income (Loss) and an increase of \$41.0 million in Total Management Fees.

Performance Fees and Allocations, which are determined on a fund by fund basis, were \$337.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of \$768.0 million compared to \$(430.5) million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Investment Income (Loss) was \$70.2 million, an increase of \$252.8 million compared to \$(182.5) million for the previous year. These increases were driven by the improved performance of our funds, which had a net IRR of 9% for the year compared to a net IRR of (30)% in 2008. At December 31, 2009, the unrealized value and cumulative realized proceeds, before carried interest, fees and expenses, of our contributed Private Equity funds represented 1.3 times investors' original investments. Over 50% of the appreciation in fair value for 2009 was attributable to increased share prices of various publicly held investments, notably TRW Automotive Holdings Corp. (NYSE: TRW) and TeamHealth Holdings, Inc. (NYSE: TMH), a company that Blackstone took public during the fourth quarter of 2009. The segment's private portfolio contributed approximately one-third to the overall appreciation in fair value for 2009. This improvement was primarily due to two investments sold during the year, Orangina Schweppes, SAS (consumer sector) and Stiefel Laboratories, Inc. (healthcare sector). At a fund level, the appreciation in fair value was primarily attributed to BCP IV, which generated \$340.4 million in Performance Fees and \$57.2 million in Investment Income. Within BCP IV, publicly traded TRW Automotive accounted for one-third of the contribution to our Performance Fees and Allocations and approximately 15% of the contribution to Investment Income (Loss). Orangina Schweppes, SAS and Kosmos Energy, LLC each accounted for approximately 20% of Performance Fees and slightly over 25% of Investment Income within BCP IV. The Realized Performance Fees and Allocations and Investment Income (Loss) for 2009 of \$34.0 million and \$37.0 million, respectively, were primarily attributable to our sale of Orangina Schweppes, SAS and a Sithe Global Power LLC investment.

Total Management Fees were \$356.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of \$41.0 million compared to \$315.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Transaction and Other Fees increased \$34.5 million primarily due to lower offsets for spending on due diligence for potential transactions. Base Management Fees were \$270.5 million for the year, relatively unchanged compared to the prior year as fee-earning assets under management also remained relatively unchanged for the comparable period.

Revenues were \$(286.2) million for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decrease of \$1.2 billion compared to \$865.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The decrease in revenues was primarily attributed to a decrease of \$810.4 million in Performance Fees and Allocations, a decrease of \$297.8 million in Investment Income (Loss), and a decrease of \$52.0 million in Total Management Fees.

Performance Fees and Allocations were \$(430.5) million for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decrease of \$810.4 million compared to \$379.9 million for the prior year. The Investment Income (Loss) for the year was \$(182.5) million, a decrease of \$297.8 million compared to \$115.3 million for the previous year. These decreases were driven by the deterioration in the performance of our funds, which had a net IRR of (30)% compared to positive 9% in 2007, primarily driven by a reduction in the unrealized value of the underlying portfolio investments. Approximately 60% of the depreciation in fair value was attributable to the segment's private portfolio, of which approximately 80% was driven by lower cash flow projections reflecting the difficult business environment and approximately 20% due to reduced exit multiple expectations for certain portfolio companies where changes to long term valuation trends for similar assets had an impact. The remaining 40% of the decrease was attributable to losses on foreign exchange and lower share prices of publicly traded companies such as Deutsche Telekom AG (XETRA: DTE) and TRW Automotive Holdings, Corp. The funds which drove the negative performance fees were BCP IV, BCOM and BCP V. The 2007 return of positive 9% was primarily attributable to the performance of our private portfolio, most significantly the chemicals and telecom sectors.

Total Management Fees were \$315.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decrease of \$52.0 million compared to \$367.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Transaction and Other Fees decreased \$72.0 million, primarily due to a reduction in the number and size of closed fee-earning transactions in

2008. Base Management Fees increased \$14.1 million, primarily due to the full-year impact on management fees of the \$5.4 billion of inflows to Fee-Earning Assets Under Management in 2007, which was driven by \$4.7 billion of additional capital raised for BCP V.

Performance Fees and Allocations of \$379.9 million and Investment Income (Loss) of \$115.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 were principally driven by BCP IV and BCOM, with BCP V and BCP III also helping to drive Investment Income (Loss). In 2007, we had numerous realizations that contributed to Realized Performance Fees and Allocations and Investment Income of \$574.3 million and \$131.5 million, respectively, with the realizations of Gerresheimer Group AG and Celanese Corporation being the largest.

Expenses

Expenses were \$284.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of \$178.4 million, or 168%, compared to \$106.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Compensation and Benefits increased in total with Compensation and Benefits—Base Compensation increasing \$34.7 million to \$181.3 million and Compensation and Benefits—Performance Fee Related increasing \$151.4 million to \$21.0 million compared to the prior year. The increase in Compensation and Benefits—Base Compensation was primarily due to an increase in management fee revenues, as a portion of compensation is directly related to the profitability of the segment. The increase in Compensation and Benefits—Performance Fee Related was a result of reversing the prior year's negative compensation of \$(126.9) million from the write-down of prior period carried interest allocations due to the decline in fair value of certain portfolio investments. Other Operating Expenses decreased \$7.7 million to \$82.5 million, principally due to decreases in professional fees and interest expense.

Expenses were \$106.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decrease of \$68.5 million, or 39%, compared to \$174.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Compensation and Benefits—Base Compensation were \$146.6 million for the year, an increase of \$14.4 million, compared to \$132.1 million for the prior year. The increase was primarily due to the impact of performance payment arrangements associated with our senior managing directors and other selected employees which were accounted for as partnership distributions prior to our IPO during 2007. Compensation and Benefits—Performance Related declined \$94.6 million, to \$(130.3) million, for the year driven by the reversal of prior period carried interest allocations to certain personnel of \$126.9 million, primarily due to the decline in fair value of certain portfolio investments. Other Operating Expenses increased \$11.7 million in 2008 to \$90.1 million, principally due to increases in professional fees, occupancy costs and foreign exchange losses, partially offset by a decrease in interest expense.

Realized Compensation and Benefits – Performance Fee Related for all periods is a direct result of the Realized Revenue items described above and is determined on a deal-by-deal basis.

Operating Metrics

The following operating metrics are used in the management of this business segment:

	Yea	ar Ended December	31,	2009 vs. 200	08	2008 vs. 200'	7
	2009	2008	2007	\$	%	\$	%
			(Dollars in '	Thousands)			
Fee-Earning Assets Under Management							
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$25,509,163	\$25,040,513	\$21,122,326	\$ 468,650	2%	\$ 3,918,187	19%
Inflows, including Commitments	84,202	515,979	5,356,779	(431,777)	-84%	(4,840,800)	-90%
Outflows, including Distributions	(411,459)	(47,329)	(1,438,592)	(364,130)	N/M	1,391,263	97%
Market Appreciation (Depreciation)	(660,512)			(660,512)	N/M		
Balance, End of Period	\$24,521,394	\$25,509,163	\$25,040,513	\$ (987,769)	<u>-4</u> %	\$ 468,650	<u>2</u> %
Assets Under Management							
(End of Period)	\$24,758,992	\$23,933,511	\$31,802,951	\$ 825,481	<u>3</u> %	<u>\$(7,869,440)</u>	<u>-25</u> %
Capital Deployed							
Limited Partner Capital Invested	\$ 1,541,974	\$ 3,760,262	\$ 6,331,304	\$(2,218,288)	<u>-59</u> %	\$(2,571,042)	<u>-41</u> %

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management were \$24.5 billion at December 31, 2009, a decrease of \$987.8 million compared with \$25.5 billion at December 31, 2008. The decrease was driven primarily by market depreciation of \$660.5 million that resulted from a net depreciation in the fair value of certain portfolio investments in BCP IV and BCOM. Inflows were \$84.2 million for the year, a decrease of \$431.8 million from the prior year, primarily due to a reduction in Limited Partner Capital Invested in our funds that charge management fees based on invested capital—BCP II, BCP III, BCP IV, and BCOM. Outflows for the year were \$411.5 million, an increase of \$364.1 million compared to \$47.3 million for the prior year. The outflows were primarily due to realizations of investment gains and return of capital in our funds that charge management fees based on invested capital.

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management were \$25.5 billion at December 31, 2008, an increase of \$468.7 million compared with \$25.0 billion at December 31, 2007. The increase was driven primarily by the limited partner capital invested in funds which charge a fee based on invested capital. Inflows of \$516.0 million for the year were \$4.8 billion lower than inflows for 2007, which included capital raised for BCP V. Outflows were \$47.3 million for the year, a decrease of \$1.4 billion compared to \$1.4 billion for the previous year, primarily related to realizations of investment gains and return of capital of \$1.4 billion in 2007.

Assets Under Management

Assets Under Management were \$24.8 billion at December 31, 2009, an increase of \$825.5 million, or 3%, compared with \$23.9 billion at December 31, 2008. The increase was primarily due to net appreciation of \$2.0 billion in the fair value of our portfolio investments and inflows of \$490.1 million, partially offset by realizations of \$1.6 billion.

Assets Under Management of \$23.9 billion at December 31, 2008 declined by \$7.9 billion from December 31, 2007, a decrease of 25%. The decrease was primarily due to net depreciation in the fair value of our portfolio investments of \$7.0 billion and investment gains and return of capital associated with realizations of \$456.9 million.

Limited Partner Capital Invested

Limited Partner Capital Invested was \$1.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2009, a decrease of \$2.2 billion, or 59%, compared to \$3.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease was primarily attributed to a decrease in transaction sizes. Investments during the year ended December 31, 2009 were primarily made by BCP V.

Limited Partner Capital Invested was \$3.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decline of 41% compared to \$6.3 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007. This decrease reflected a reduction in the number and size of investments closed during 2008 due to deterioration in the macroeconomic environment. During the years ended December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008, BCP V generated substantially all of the Limited Partner Capital Invested, with 2007 including an investment in Hilton Hotels Corporation of \$1.5 billion.

Fund Returns

Fund returns information for our significant funds is included throughout this discussion and analysis to facilitate an understanding of our results of operations for the periods presented. The fund returns information reflected in this discussion and analysis is not indicative of the financial performance of The Blackstone Group L.P. and is also not necessarily indicative of the future performance of any particular fund. An investment in The Blackstone Group L.P. is not an investment in any of our funds. There can be no assurance that any of our funds or our other existing and future funds will achieve similar returns.

The following table presents the internal rates of return of our significant BCP funds:

Net Total Change in Carrying Value
(Realized and Unrealized) (a)

		(Re	anzeu and Unrea	nizea) (a)		
	Year	Ended December	· 31,	Inception to Date		
<u>Fund</u>	2009	2008	2007	Total	Realized (b)	
BCP IV	35%	-17%	21%	40%	72%	
BCP V	1%	-35%	-1%	-12%	21%	

The returns presented herein represent those of the applicable Blackstone Funds and not those of The Blackstone Group L.P.

- (a) Net total change in carrying value (realized and unrealized) is after management fees, expenses and carried interest allocations.
- (b) Includes partially realized investments. Investments are considered partially realized when distributed proceeds, excluding current income (dividends, interest, etc.), are a material portion of invested capital.

The Private Equity funds' net internal rates of return for the year ended December 31, 2009 were positive for BCP IV and BCP V compared to the negative returns for each of these funds for the previous year. Generally, the fund's portfolio companies saw increasing stabilization over the course of 2009 in their revenues and improvement in margins and Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization ("EBITDA"), an important valuation metric in Private Equity. The funds accepted offers for the sale of some portfolio companies at attractive prices from strategic buyers, resulting in an increase in the valuations of those portfolio companies. Please refer to the "Revenues" section above for more details.

The following table presents the investment record of the Private Equity funds from inception through December 31, 2009 for funds with closed investment periods:

	Fully Invested Funds									
	Total Investments					zed / l	Partially Re	alized Investm	ents (a)	
	Total				Total					
	Invested				Invested					
		Carrying	Net			C	arrying	Net		
Fund (Investment Period)	Capital	Value (b)	IRR (c)	MOIC (d)	Capital	_	ue (b) (e)	IRR (c)	MOIC (d)	
	(Dollars i	in Millions)			(Dollars	in M	illions)			
BCP I (Oct 1987 / Oct 1993)	\$ 679	\$ 1,742	19%	2.6	\$ 679	\$	1,742	19%	2.6	
BCP II (Oct 1993 / Aug 1997)	1,292	3,245	32%	2.5	1,201		3,123	37%	2.6	
BCP III (Aug 1997 / Nov 2002)	4,026	7,722	12%	1.9	3,402		6,939	18%	2.0	
BCOM (June 2000 / Jun 2006)	2,132	2,904	8%	1.4	1,004		2,139	25%	2.1	
BCP IV (Nov 2002 / Dec 2005)	7,088	16,834	40%	2.4	3,765		12,444	72%	3.3	

The returns presented herein represent those of the applicable Blackstone Funds and not those of The Blackstone Group L.P.

- (a) Investments are considered partially realized when distributed proceeds, excluding current income (dividends, interest, etc.), are a material portion of invested capital.
- (b) Carrying value includes realized proceeds and unrealized fair value.
- (c) The internal rate of return ("IRR") represents the annualized inception to date IRR on total invested capital based on realized proceeds and unrealized fair value. Net IRR is after management fees, expenses and carried interest.
- (d) Multiple of Invested Capital ("MOIC") represents total realized and unrealized value, before management fees, expenses and carried interest, divided by total invested capital.
- (e) The Realized / Partially Realized Carrying Value includes remaining unrealized value of \$1.2 billion.

The following table presents the investment record of the Private Equity funds from inception through December 31, 2009 for funds with open investment periods:

			Funds in the Investment Period								
						Rea	lized	Partially 1	Realized Invest	ments	
			Total Investments (a)								
		To	Total				Total				
						Invested					
	Available	Invested	Carrying	Net			C	arrying	Net		
Fund (Investment Period)	Capital (b)	Capital	Value (c)	IRR (d)	MOIC (e)	Capital	Va	lue (c) (f)	IRR (d)	MOIC (e)	
	(Do	llars in Millio	ars in Millions)					illions)			
BCP V (Dec 2005 / Dec 2011)	\$ 4,550	\$16,769	\$13,529	-12%	0.8	\$1,504	\$	2,385	21%	1.6	

The returns presented herein represent those of the applicable Blackstone Funds and not those of The Blackstone Group L.P.

- (a) Investments are considered partially realized when distributed proceeds, excluding current income (dividends, interest, etc.) are a material portion of invested capital.
- (b) Available Capital represents total capital commitments less invested capital and includes \$1.4 billion committed to deals but not yet invested. Additionally, the segment has \$1.0 billion of Available Capital that has been reserved for add-on investments in funds that are fully invested.
- (c) Carrying value includes realized proceeds and unrealized fair value.
- (d) The internal rate of return ("IRR") represents the annualized inception to date IRR on total invested capital based on realized proceeds and unrealized fair value. Net IRR is after management fees, expenses and carried interest.
- (e) Multiple of Invested Capital ("MOIC") represents total realized and unrealized value, before management fees, expenses and carried interest, divided by total invested capital.
- (f) The Realized / Partially Realized Carrying Value includes remaining unrealized value of \$1.0 billion.

As of December 31, 2009, all fully invested Private Equity funds (BCOM, BCP IV) were above their respective carried interest thresholds. As of December 31, 2009, BCP IV was above its carried interest preferred return threshold even if all remaining investments were deemed worthless.

The following table presents the carried interest status of our Private Equity funds in their investment period which are currently not generating performance fees as of December 31, 2009:

	Gain to Cross Carried						
		Interes	t Threshold (a)				
			% Change in				
			Total Enterprise				
	Available		_				
Funds in the Investment Period	Capital	Amount	Value (b)				
	(Dollars in Mil	lions)					
BCP V (Dec 2005 / Dec 2011)	\$ 4,550	\$ 6,734	16%				

- (a) The general partner of each fund is allocated carried interest when the annualized returns, net of management fees and expenses, exceed the preferred return as dictated by the fund agreements. The preferred return is calculated for each limited partner individually. The Gain to Cross Carried Interest Threshold represents the increase in equity at the fund level (excluding our side-by-side investments) that is required for the general partner to begin accruing carried interest, assuming the gain is earned pro-rata across the fund's investments and is achieved at the reporting date.
- (b) Total Enterprise Value is the respective fund's pro rata ownership of the privately held portfolio companies' Enterprise Value and the Equity Value of the public portfolio companies based on fair values at the reporting date.

Real Estate

The following table presents our results of operations for our Real Estate segment:

	Yea	er 31,	2009 vs. 2	008	2008 vs. 2007		
	2009	2008	2007	\$	%	\$	%
Sagment Davinuas			(Dollars i	in Thousands)			
Segment Revenues Management Fees							
Base Management Fees	\$ 328,447	\$ 295,921	\$ 233,072	\$ 32,526	11%	\$ 62,849	27%
Transaction and Other Fees, Net	25,838	36,046	348,410	(10,208)	-28%	(312,364)	-90%
Management Fee Offsets	(2,467)	(4,969)	(11,717)	2,502	50%	6,748	58%
Total Management Fees	351,818	326,998	569,765	24,820	8%	(242,767)	-43%
Performance Fees and Allocations	331,010	320,770	307,703	24,020		(2+2,707)	 /0
Realized	(3,039)	24,681	326,514	(27,720)	N/M	(301,833)	-92%
Unrealized	(252,180)	(843,704)	297,437	591,524	70%	(1,141,141)	N/M
Total Performance Fees and	((0.10,10.1)				(=,= :=,= :=)	
Allocations	(255,219)	(819,023)	623,951	563,804	69%	(1,442,974)	N/M
Investment Income (Loss)		(002,000)					
Realized	6,164	3,778	68,996	2,386	63%	(65,218)	-95%
Unrealized	(125,624)	(238,650)	65,472	113,026	47%	(304,122)	N/M
Total Investment Income (Loss)	(119,460)	(234,872)	134,468	115,412	49%	(369,340)	N/M
Interest and Dividend Revenue	6,030	5,880	1,321	150	3%	4,559	N/M
Other	3,261	3,008	38	253	_	2,970	_
Total Revenues	(13,570)	(718,009)	1,329,543	704,439	98%	(2,047,552)	N/M
Expenses							
Compensation and Benefits							
Base Compensation	158,115	150,684	147,829	7,431	5%	2,855	2%
Performance Fee Related							
Realized	3,506	1,090	8,560	2,416	N/M	(7,470)	-87%
Unrealized	(113,981)	(74,981)	(11,243)	(39,000)	-52%	(63,738)	N/M
Total Compensation and							
Benefits	47,640	76,793	145,146	(29,153)	-38%	(68,353)	-47%
Other Operating Expenses	56,325	55,782	54,829	543	1%	953	2%
Total Expenses	103,965	132,575	199,975	(28,610)	-22%	(67,400)	-34%
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$(117,535)	\$(850,584)	\$1,129,568	\$733,049	86%	\$(1,980,152)	N/M

Revenues

Revenues were \$(13.6) million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an improvement of \$704.4 million compared to \$(718.0) million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The increase in revenues was primarily attributed to an improvement of \$563.8 million in Performance Fees and Allocations, an improvement of \$115.4 million in Investment Income (Loss) and an increase of \$24.8 million in Total Management Fees.

Performance Fees and Allocations, which are determined on a fund by fund basis, were \$(255.2) million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an improvement of \$563.8 million compared to \$(819.0) million for the prior year. In 2008, the funds experienced significant unrealized valuation reductions. As a result, prior period performance fees were reversed, primarily in BREP IV, V and VI, resulting in a loss of \$819.0 million for the year. Specifically, the declines in these funds were due to decreased operating projections across our investments and increased capitalization rates across the real estate sector. For the first half of 2009, the funds continued to

experience unrealized valuation reductions; however, the losses were limited to prior period performance fees not yet reversed in BREP IV and BREP V. During the second half of 2009 the funds experienced a general stabilization of fair value, which resulted in an overall 2009 loss of \$255.2 million.

Investment Income (Loss) was \$(119.5) million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an improvement of \$115.4 million compared to \$(234.9) million for the year ended December 31, 2008. For the year ended December 31, 2009, valuation reductions in BREP V ((\$27.1) million) and BREP VI ((\$83.5) million) had the largest impact on investment income, primarily driven by the decline in valuations on our holdings in Trizec Properties Inc., CarrAmerica Realty Corporation, Equity Office Properties Trust and Hilton Hotels Corporation. The improvement was driven by better performance of our BREP funds which had a net IRR of (35)% in 2009 compared to (38)% in 2008, while the real estate debt investment hedge funds' net returns were 21% and (9%), respectively. Despite significant unrealized markdowns over the last 18 months, the December 31, 2009, unrealized value and cumulative realized proceeds, before carried interest, fees and expenses, of our contributed Real Estate carry funds represented 0.9 times investors' original investments.

The Realized Performance Fees and Allocations and Investment Income (Loss) for 2009 of \$(3.0) million and \$6.2 million, respectively, were primarily attributable to our realized loss in a residential home-building investment (BREP IV), which was partially offset by realized gains in our debt investment funds.

Total Management Fees were \$351.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of \$24.8 million compared to \$327.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Base Management Fees were \$328.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of \$32.5 million compared to the prior year, driven by a full year of management fees from our European focused real estate fund and an increase in Fee-Earning Assets Under Management of 3% from the prior year, which was primarily from capital raised for our new debt investment funds. Transaction and Other Fees decreased \$10.2 million, primarily due to a reduction in the number and size of closed fee-earning transactions in 2009.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, revenues were \$(718.0) million, a decrease of \$2.0 billion compared to \$1.3 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007. The decrease (as described below) in revenues was primarily attributed to a decrease of \$1.4 billion in Performance Fees and Allocations, a decrease of \$369.3 million in Investment Income (Loss) and a decrease of \$242.8 million in Total Management Fees.

Performance Fees and Allocations were \$(819.0) million for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decrease of \$1.4 billion compared to \$624.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, while Investment Income (Loss) was \$(234.9) million for the 2008 year. The negative performance in 2008 was primarily the result of unrealized valuation reductions which reflected decreased operating projections across our investments as well as an increase in capitalization rates across the real estate sector. Performance fees and investment income were primarily impacted by the results of our domestic funds—BREP IV, BREP V, and BREP VI. Specifically, the decline in these funds was primarily driven by unrealized valuation reductions for Boca Resorts, Inc., Wyndham International, Inc., Equity Office Properties Trust, Trizec Properties, Inc. and Hilton Hotels Corporation. In 2008, our Realized Performance Fees and Allocations of \$24.7 million and Investment Income of \$3.8 million were primarily driven by current income from our investment in La Quinta Corporation (BREP IV and BREP V).

Total Management Fees were \$327.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decrease of \$242.8 million compared to \$569.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Base Management Fees were \$295.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of \$62.8 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2007, due to a full twelve months of management fees from BREP VI, which commenced in February 2007, as well as an increase in Fee-Earning Assets Under Management of 23% due to \$5.1 billion of inflows, primarily related to capital raised for our European focused real estate fund. Transaction and Other Fees decreased \$312.4 million primarily due to a reduction in the number and size of closed fee-earning transactions in 2008, as well as the absence of the substantial transaction fees earned in 2007 in connection with our funds' acquisition of Hilton Hotels Corporation and Equity Office Properties Trust. The \$6.7 million decrease in Management Fee Offsets was due to placement fees incurred in 2007 as a result of the initial fund-raising for BREP VI.

The positive Performance Fees and Allocations of \$624.0 million and the Investment Income (Loss) of \$134.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 were driven by BREP V and BREP VI. Total Management Fees were \$569.8 million. The positive Investment Income (Loss) for 2007 was primarily driven by our investments in BREP V and BREP VI primarily due to accretive sales within our office portfolio, primarily Equity Office Properties Trust and CarrAmerica Realty Corp.

In 2007, we had numerous realizations contributing to Realized Performance Fees and Allocations of \$326.5 million and Investment Income (Loss) of \$69.0 million, with Extended Stay America and CarrAmerica Realty Corp. being the largest (BREP IV and BREP V).

Expenses

Expenses were \$104.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, a decrease of \$28.6 million, or 22%, compared to \$132.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Compensation and Benefits—Base Compensation rose 5%, or \$7.4 million, to \$158.1 million for the year. The increase was primarily due to an increase in compensation of senior personnel which is calculated based on segment profitability. Compensation and Benefits—Performance Fee Related was \$(110.5) million for the year, a decrease of \$36.6 million, or 50%, compared to \$(73.9) million for the prior year. The decrease resulted principally from the reversal of prior period performance fee allocations to certain personnel of \$70.6 million in 2008, compared to \$113.1 million in 2009, as a result of unrealized valuation reductions of certain portfolio investments. Other Operating Expenses remained relatively unchanged year over year.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, Expenses were \$132.6 million, a decrease of \$67.4 million, or 34%, compared to \$200.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Compensation and Benefits – Base Compensation were \$150.7 million for the year, an increase of \$2.9 million, compared to \$147.8 million for the previous year. The increase was primarily due to the impact of performance payment arrangements associated with our senior managing directors and other selected employees which were accounted for as partnership distributions prior to our IPO. Compensation and Benefits – Performance Fee Related was \$(73.9) million for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decrease of \$71.2 million compared to the prior year. The decrease resulted principally from the reversal of prior period performance fee allocations to certain personnel of \$70.6 million in 2008, primarily due to unrealized valuation reductions of certain portfolio investments. Other Operating Expenses remained relatively unchanged year over year. Increases in occupancy costs and foreign exchange losses were offset by decreases in professional fees and business development.

Realized Compensation and Benefits—Performance Fee Related for all periods is a direct result of the Realized Revenue items described above and is determined on a deal by deal basis.

Operating Metrics

The following operating metrics are used in the management of this business segment:

	Year	Ended Decembe	r 31,	2009 vs. 20	008	2008 vs. 2007	
	2009	2008	2007	\$	%	\$	%
	<u> </u>		(Dollars in	Thousands)			
Fee-Earning Assets Under Management							
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$22,970,438	\$18,637,673	\$ 9,084,168	\$ 4,332,765	23%	\$ 9,553,505	105%
Inflows, including Commitments	1,009,216	5,140,183	11,785,125	(4,130,967)	-80%	(6,644,942)	-56%
Outflows, including Distributions	(428,092)	(582,652)	(2,301,158)	154,560	27%	1,718,506	75%
Market Appreciation (Depreciation)	156,495	(224,766)	69,538	381,261	N/M	(294,304)	N/M
Balance, End of Period	\$23,708,057	\$22,970,438	\$18,637,673	\$ 737,619	3%	\$ 4,332,765	23%
Assets Under Management							
(End of Period)	\$20,391,334	\$24,154,642	\$26,128,049	\$(3,763,308)	-16%	\$(1,973,407)	-8%
Capital Deployed				<u></u>			
Limited Partner Capital Invested	\$ 884,151	\$ 968,684	\$ 8,171,854	\$ (84,533)	<u>-9</u> %	\$(7,203,170)	<u>-88</u> %

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management were \$23.7 billion at December 31, 2009, an increase of \$737.6 million, or 3%, compared with \$23.0 billion at December 31, 2008. The increase was primarily driven by capital raised and deployed by our debt investment funds, since the end of 2008. As discussed above, current year inflows were primarily related to capital deployed by our debt investment funds whereas the prior year inflows included \$4.6 billion of capital raised for our European focused real estate fund. Current year outflows were \$428.1 million, primarily due to realizations in BREP IV and the end of the fund's term for BREP III, whereas the prior year outflows of \$582.7 million were primarily driven by unused capital commitments at the end of the BREP International II investment period in 2008 being earmarked for fund reserves and no longer earning fees until drawn. Additional increases in the current year of \$156.5 million were due to the impact of favorable foreign exchange fluctuations on committed capital for our European focused real estate fund and net valuation increases for certain of our debt investment funds. Prior year additional decreases to fee-earning assets of \$224.8 million were primarily due to the unfavorable foreign exchange impact on commitments from our European focused real estate fund.

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management were \$23.0 billion at December 31, 2008, an increase of \$4.3 billion, or 23%, compared with \$18.6 billion at December 31, 2007, primarily driven by additional capital raised for our European focused real estate fund during 2008. Inflows of \$5.1 billion, as discussed above, were primarily related to capital raised for our European focused real estate fund, whereas the 2007 inflows of \$11.8 billion were primarily related to capital raised for BREP VI during 2007. Outflows in 2008 were \$582.7 million, due to unused capital commitments at the end of the BREP International II investment period in 2008 being earmarked for fund reserves and no longer earning fees until drawn. Additionally, 2007 outflows of \$2.3 billion were driven by unused capital commitments at the end of the BREP V investment period in 2007 being earmarked for fund reserves and no longer earning fees until drawn and distributions in BREP IV and BREP V. Additional decreases in fee-earning assets in 2008 were \$224.8 million due to an unfavorable foreign exchange impact on commitments from our European focused real estate fund. Fee-earning assets under management in 2007 increased \$69.5 million primarily due to a favorable foreign exchange impact on commitments from BREP International II.

Assets Under Management

At December 31, 2009, Assets Under Management were \$20.4 billion, a decrease of \$3.8 billion, or 16%, compared with \$24.2 billion at December 31, 2008. The change was primarily due to net reductions in the fair value of underlying portfolio investments of \$3.8 billion, which are substantially all unrealized.

At December 31, 2008, Assets Under Management were \$24.2 billion, a decrease of \$2.0 billion, or 8%, compared with \$26.1 billion at December 31, 2007. The change was primarily due to net reductions in the fair value of underlying portfolio investments of \$7.1 billion, which are substantially all unrealized, partially offset by \$5.6 billion of inflows, primarily related to additional capital raised for our European focused real estate fund during 2008.

Limited Partner Capital Invested

For the year ended December 31, 2009, Limited Partner Capital Invested was \$884.2 million, a decrease of \$84.5 million, or 9%, from \$968.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. This decrease reflected a reduction in the volume and size of closed transactions as a result of the continued difficult market conditions in 2009. During the year ended December 31, 2009, Limited Partner Capital Invested was predominantly in our BREP VI and debt investment funds.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, Limited Partner Capital Invested was \$968.7 million, a decrease of \$7.2 billion, or 88%, from \$8.2 billion for the year ended December 31, 2007. During 2008, Limited Partner

Capital Invested was driven by BREP IV, V and VI. The decrease in Limited Partner Capital Invested from 2007 reflected a reduction in the volume and size of closed transactions as a result of the market conditions in 2008. The Limited Partner Capital Invested for the year ended December 31, 2007 for BREP V, BREP VI and BREP International II included Hilton Hotels Corporation (\$3.7 billion), which includes fee-earning co-investments, and Equity Office Properties Trust (\$3.3 billion).

Fund Returns

Fund return information for our significant funds is included throughout this discussion and analysis to facilitate an understanding of our results of operations for the periods presented. The fund returns information reflected in this discussion and analysis is not indicative of the performance of The Blackstone Group L.P. and is also not necessarily indicative of the future performance of any particular fund. An investment in The Blackstone Group L.P. is not an investment in any of our funds. There can be no assurance that any of our funds or our other existing and future funds will achieve similar returns.

The following table presents the Internal Rates of Return of our significant Real Estate funds:

		Net Total Change in Carrying Value (Realized and Unrealized) (a)							
		Year Ended December 31,		Incept	tion to Date				
Fund	2009	2008	2007	Total	Realized (b)				
BREP IV	-32%	-39%	8%	14%	69%				
BREP V	-35%	-31%	36%	-6%	77%				
BREP International	10%	-36%	57%	28%	36%				
BREP International II	-31%	-42%	19%	-27%	5%				
BREP VI	-40%	-43%	44%	-33%	95%				
BSSF I (c)	21%	-9%	N/A	17%	N/M				
BSSF II (c)	23%	N/A	N/A	23%	140%				
CMBS (c)	17%	N/A	N/A	17%	N/M				

The returns presented herein represent those of the applicable Blackstone Funds and not those of The Blackstone Group L.P.

- (a) Net total change in carrying value (realized and unrealized) is after management fees, expenses and performance fee allocations.
- (b) Includes partially realized investments. Investments are considered partially realized when distributed proceeds, excluding current income (dividends, interest, etc.), are a material portion of invested capital.
- (c) Represents returns for a partial year of investing which commenced for the CMBS fund in May 2009, BSSF II in July 2009, and BSSF in August 2008.

The Real Estate funds' net internal rates of return for the year ended December 31, 2009 were improved for all funds except BREP V compared to the negative returns for each of these funds for the year ended December 31, 2008. Generally, beginning in the second half of 2009, the fund's portfolio company operations have seen relative stabilization in the fundamentals of the BREP funds' hotels and improved leasing in the BREP funds' office investments, which therefore limited the valuation reductions of our investments.

The following table presents the investment record of the Real Estate funds from inception through December 31, 2009 for funds with closed investment periods:

	Fully Invested Funds									
	-	Total In	vestments	•	Reali	zed / Partially R	ealized Investn	nents (a)		
	To	otal			-	Гotal				
Fund (Investment Period)	Invested Capital (Dollars i	Carrying Value (b) Millions)	Net IRR (c)	MOIC (d)	Invested Capital (Dollars	Carrying Value (b) (e) in Millions)	Net IRR (c)	MOIC (d)		
Pre-BREP	\$ 141	\$ 345	33%	2.5	\$ 141	\$ 345	33%	2.5		
BREP I (Sep 1994 / Oct 1996)	467	1,328	40%	2.8	467	1,328	40%	2.8		
BREP II (Oct 1996 / Mar 1999)	1,219	2,525	19%	2.1	1,219	2,525	19%	2.1		
BREP III (Apr 1999 / Apr 2003)	1,415	3,330	21%	2.4	1,338	3,300	23%	2.5		
BREP Int'1 (Jan 2001 / Sep 2005)	757	1,580	28%	2.1	658	1,521	36%	2.3		
BREP IV (Apr 2003 / Dec 2005)	2,737	3,575	14%	1.3	1,058	2,501	69%	2.4		
BREP V (Dec 2005 / Feb 2007)	5,183	4,750	-6%	0.9	951	1,748	77%	1.8		
BREP Int'l II (Sep 2005 / Jun 2008)	1,739	972	-27%	0.6	208	256	5%	1.2		

The returns presented herein represent those of the applicable Blackstone Funds and not those of The Blackstone Group L.P.

- (a) Investments are considered partially realized when distributed proceeds, excluding current income (rent, dividends, interest, etc.), are a material portion of invested capital.
- (b) Carrying value includes realized proceeds and unrealized fair value.
- (c) The internal rate of return ("IRR") represents the annualized inception to date IRR on total invested capital based on realized proceeds and unrealized fair value. Net IRR is after management fees, expenses and carried interest.
- (d) Multiple of Invested Capital ("MOIC") represents total realized and unrealized value, before management fees, expenses and carried interest, divided by total invested capital.
- (e) The Total Realized / Partially Realized Carrying Value includes remaining unrealized value of \$692.2 million.

The following table presents the investment record of the Real Estate funds from inception through December 31, 2009 for funds with open investment periods:

	Funds in	Funds in the Investment Period					
<u> </u>		Total Investment					
	Tota	ıl					
	Invested	Carrying					
Available			Net				
Capital (a)	Capital	Value (b)	IRR (c)	MOIC (d)			
	(Dollars in Millions)						
\$ 6,208	\$4,817	\$ 2,374	-33%	0.5			
4,414	118	115	N/M	1.0			
147	358	401	23%	1.1			
	Capital (a) \$ 6,208 4,414	Tota	Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total Total	Total Investment Total			

The returns presented herein represent those of the applicable Blackstone Funds and not those of The Blackstone Group L.P.

⁽a) Available Capital represents total capital commitments less invested capital. It includes \$276.0 million committed to deals but not yet invested. Additionally, the segment has \$1.2 billion of Available Capital that has been reserved for add-on investments in funds that are fully invested.

⁽b) Carrying value includes realized proceeds and unrealized fair value.

- (c) The internal rate of return ("IRR") represents the annualized inception to date IRR on total invested capital based on realized proceeds and unrealized fair value. Net IRR is after management fees, expenses and carried interest.
- (d) Multiple of Invested Capital ("MOIC") represents total realized and unrealized value, before management fees, expenses and carried interest, divided by total invested capital.

The following table presents the carried interest status of our Real Estate funds with closed investment periods which are currently not generating performance fees as of December 31, 2009:

	Gain to C Carried Interest T	
		% Change in Total Enterprise
Fully Invested Funds (a)	Amount (Dollars in Millions)	Value (c)
BREP V (Dec 2005 / Feb 2007)	1,464	10%
BREP Int'1 II (Sep 2005 / Jun 2008)	1,376	24%

- (a) As of December 31, 2009: (a) BREP International was above its carried interest preferred return threshold even if all remaining investments were deemed worthless, and (b) BREP IV was above its carried interest preferred return threshold.
- (b) The general partner of each fund is allocated carried interest when the annualized returns, net of management fees and expenses, exceed the preferred return as dictated by the fund agreements. The preferred return is calculated for each limited partner individually. The Gain to Cross Carried Interest Threshold represents the increase in equity at the fund level (excluding our side-by-side investments) that is required for the general partner to begin accruing carried interest, assuming the gain is earned pro-rata across the fund's investments and is achieved at the reporting date.
- (c) Total Enterprise Value is the respective fund's pro rata ownership of the privately held portfolio companies' Enterprise Value and the Equity Value of the public portfolio companies based on fair values at the reporting date.

The following table presents the carried interest status of our Real Estate funds in their investment period as of December 31, 2009:

		Gain to Cross			
		Carried	Interest Threshold (b)		
	Available		% Change in		
			Total Enterprise		
Fund in the Investment Period (a)	_Capital_	Amount	Value (c)		
	(Dollars in Mil	llions)			
BREP VI (Feb 2007 / Aug 2012)	\$ 6,208	\$ 3,741	25%		
BREP EU III (Jun 2008 / Dec 2013)	4,414	120	N/M		

- (a) As of December 31, 2009, BSSF II was above its carried interest preferred return threshold.
- (b) The general partner of each fund is allocated carried interest when the annualized returns, net of management fees and expenses, exceed the preferred return as dictated by the fund agreements. The preferred return is calculated for each limited partner individually. The Gain to Cross Carried Interest Threshold represents the increase in equity at the fund level (excluding our side-by-side investments) that is required for the general partner to begin accruing carried interest, assuming the gain is earned pro-rata across the fund's investments and is achieved at the reporting date.
- (c) Total Enterprise Value is the respective fund's pro rata ownership of the privately held portfolio companies' Enterprise Value and the Equity Value of the public portfolio companies based on fair values at the reporting date.

Credit and Marketable Alternatives

The following table presents our results of operations for our Credit and Marketable Alternatives segment:

	Year Ended December 31,			2009 vs. 2008		2008 vs. 20	
	2009	2008	2007	\$	<u>%</u>	\$	<u>%</u>
Segment Revenues			(Dollars in	Thousands)			
Management Fees							
Base Management Fees	\$400.873	\$ 476.836	\$316.337	\$ (75,963)	-16%	\$ 160.499	51%
Transaction and Other Fees, Net	2,866	8,516	6,630	(5,650)	-66%	1,886	28%
Management Fee Offsets	(14,694)	(6,606)	(33)	(8,088)	-122%	(6,573)	N/M
Total Management Fees	389,045	478,746	322,934	(89,701)	-19%	155,812	48%
Performance Fees and Allocations							
Realized	43,282	15,081	154,028	28,201	187%	(138,947)	-90%
Unrealized	114,556	(12,822)	2,952	127,378	N/M	(15,774)	N/M
Total Performance Fees and							
Allocations	157,838	2,259	156,980	155,579	N/M	(154,721)	-99%
Investment Income (Loss)							
Realized	(15,031)	(82,142)	62,363	67,111	82%	(144,505)	N/M
Unrealized	96,016	(257,084)	81,439	353,100	N/M	(338,523)	N/M
Total Investment Income (Loss)	80,985	(339,226)(a)	143,802	420,211	N/M	(483,028)	N/M
Interest and Dividend Revenue	3,452	8,527	4,249	(5,075)	-60%	4,278	101%
Other	1,025	1,214	31	(189)		1,183	
Total Revenues	632,345	151,520	627,996	480,825	N/M	(476,476)	-76%
Expenses			'				
Compensation and Benefits							
Base Compensation	198,117	239,436	82,594	(41,319)	-17%	156,842	190%
Performance Fee Related							
Realized	20,854	8,162	68,109	12,692	156%	(59,947)	-88%
Unrealized	67,493	(6,643)	(373)	74,136	N/M	(6,270)	<u>N/M</u> %
Total Compensation and							
Benefits	286,464	240,955	150,330	45,509	19%	90,625	60%
Other Operating Expenses	80,661	106,027	74,728	(25,366)	<u>-24</u> %	31,299	<u>42</u> %
Total Expenses	367,125	346,982	225,058	20,143	6%	121,924	54%
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$265,220	\$(195,462)	\$402,938	\$460,682	N/M	\$(598,400)	N/M

⁽a) \$(322.2) million of this loss was related to Blackstone's equity invested in liquid Credit and Marketable Alternatives funds.

Revenues

Revenues were \$632.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of \$480.8 million, compared to \$151.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Total Management Fees were \$389.0 million, a decline of \$89.7 million from the prior year. This decline was primarily attributable to a reduction of \$76.0 million in Base Management Fees to \$400.9 million. This reduction was primarily the result of the absence of fees earned in 2008 from certain of our proprietary hedge funds which were liquidated at the end of 2008 as well as lower Fee-Earning Assets Under Management at the beginning of 2009 than the beginning of 2008 for our funds of hedge funds business.

Performance Fees and Allocations increased \$155.6 million for the year to \$157.8 million. The increase in Performance Fees and Allocations was attributable to net appreciation of the investment portfolios in addition to

fee-earning inflows of \$6.3 billion, principally in certain of our funds of hedge funds and credit-oriented funds, compared to the year ended December 31, 2008 which included minimal Performance Fees and Allocations. The net composite returns in our funds of hedge funds was 16% in 2009 compared to (20)% in 2008. As a result, the Fee-Earning Assets Under Management above their respective high-water marks and/or hurdle, and therefore eligible for Performance Fees and Allocations, increased during 2009 compared to 2008 (see table below). The increase of \$420.2 million in Investment Income (Loss) to \$81.0 million was primarily related to improved returns on our investments in our funds of hedge funds, proprietary hedge funds and certain of our credit-oriented funds. Additionally, 2008 included a loss of \$60.1 million on our investments in certain of our proprietary hedge funds which were liquidated at the end of 2008. Both Investment Income and Performance Fees and Allocations benefited from favorable conditions in equity and credit markets for most of 2009.

For the year ended 2009, Realized Performance Fees and Allocations of \$43.3 million were driven primarily by incentive fees earned by our funds of hedge funds business of \$30.7 million. The Realized Investment Income (Loss) was \$(15.1) million.

Revenues were \$151.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, a decrease of \$476.5 million, or 76%, compared to \$628.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Total Management Fees were \$478.7 million, an increase of \$155.8 million from the prior year. The increase was primarily due to an increase in Base Management Fees of \$160.5 million which resulted from an increase in Fee-Earning Assets Under Management in 2008 compared with 2007. Additionally, our acquisition of GSO in the first quarter of 2008 contributed \$102.5 million of the overall increase.

Investment Income (Loss) was \$(339.2) million, a decline of \$(483.0) million from 2007. The decrease in Investment Income (Loss) was due to difficult market conditions in 2008 which resulted in composite net returns of (20)% in our funds of hedge funds. Additionally, 2008 included the previously mentioned loss of \$60.1 million on our investments in certain of our proprietary hedge funds which have since been liquidated. The decline of \$154.7 million in Performance Fees and Allocations, to \$2.3 million, was attributable to net depreciation of the investment portfolios, principally in certain of our funds of hedge funds, then-existing proprietary hedge funds and credit-oriented funds compared to the year ended December 31, 2007.

In 2008, the Realized Performance Fees and Allocations of \$15.1 million were driven primarily by incentive fees and carried interest earned by our credit platform. The Realized Investment Income (Loss) of \$(82.1) million was primarily a result of losses of \$30.7 million and \$42.1 million from redemptions of our investments in our funds of hedge funds and our proprietary hedge funds.

In 2007, the Realized Performance Fees and Allocations of \$154.0 million was driven primarily by incentive fees earned by our funds of hedge funds business of \$97.2 million and one of our then existing proprietary hedge funds of \$35.9 million. The Realized Investment Income (Loss) of \$62.3 million was primarily a result of a gain of \$41.5 million from a redemption of our investment in our funds of hedge funds.

Expenses

Expenses were \$367.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of \$20.1 million, or 6%, compared to \$347.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Compensation and Benefits – Base Compensation was \$198.1 million for the year, a decrease of \$41.3 million, compared to \$239.4 million for the prior year. The decreases were primarily due to a decrease in management fee revenues, as a portion of compensation is directly related to the profitability of each of the businesses of the segment, and the impact of headcount reductions as a result of the restructuring of two of our single manager proprietary hedge funds and our credit-oriented funds. Compensation and Benefits—Performance Fee Related were \$88.3 million for the year, an increase of \$86.8 million, compared to \$1.5 million for the previous year. The increase resulted principally from the accrual of carried interest allocations to certain personnel due to the positive adjustments in fair value of certain portfolio investments.

Realized Compensation and Benefits—Performance Fee Related is directly attributable to the Realized Performance Fees and Allocations described above.

Other Operating Expenses decreased \$25.4 million, to \$80.7 million, primarily due to a decrease in professional fees and interest expense as a result of decreased investment activity. Included in our 2008 expenses were \$10.3 million of accruals related to the restructuring of two of our single manager proprietary hedge funds and our credit-oriented funds.

Expenses were \$347.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of \$121.9 million, or 54%, compared to \$225.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Compensation and Benefits – Base Compensation was \$239.4 million for the year, an increase of \$156.8 million, compared to \$82.6 million for the prior year. The increase was principally related to the acquisition of GSO, which contributed \$70.9 million of the overall increase. Additionally, 2008 compensation, included a full year of performance payment arrangements associated with our senior managing directors and other selected employees, which were accounted for as partnership distributions prior to our IPO in 2007. To a lesser extent, headcount additions due to expansion into Asia and the launch of new funds contributed to the increase in Compensation and Benefits. Compensation and Benefits – Performance Fee Related were \$1.5 million for the year, a decrease of \$66.2 million, compared to \$67.7 million for the previous year.

The amount of Compensation and Benefits—Performance Fee Related—Realized is directly attributable to the Performance Fees and Allocations—Realized described above.

Other Operating Expenses increased \$31.3 million, to \$106.0 million, primarily due to the acquisition of GSO, partially offset by a decrease in interest expense as a result of decreased investment activity. Included in our 2008 expenses were the previously mentioned \$10.3 million of accruals related to the restructuring of two of our single manager proprietary hedge funds and our credit-oriented funds.

Operating Metrics

The following operating metrics are used in the management of this business segment:

	Year Ended December 31,			2009 vs. 2008	8	2008 vs. 2007		
	2009	2008	2007	\$	%	\$	%	
			(Dollars in	Thousands)				
Fee-Earning Assets Under Management								
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$42,561,456	\$ 39,474,067	\$24,588,966	\$ 3,087,389	8%	\$ 14,885,101	61%	
Inflows, including Commitments	6,314,387	21,758,442	12,405,856	(15,444,055)	-71%	9,352,586	75%	
Outflows, including Distributions	(6,326,174)	(7,079,434)	(1,622,877)	753,260	11%	(5,456,557)	N/M	
Market Appreciation (Depreciation)	5,317,877	(11,591,619)	4,102,122	16,909,496	N/M	(15,693,741)	N/M	
Balance, End of Period	\$47,867,546	\$ 42,561,456	\$39,474,067	\$ 5,306,090	12%	\$ 3,087,389	8%	
Assets Under Management								
(End of Period)	\$53,032,802	\$ 46,471,064	\$44,496,372	\$ 6,561,738	14%	\$ 1,974,692	4%	
Capital Deployed								
Limited Partner Capital Invested	<u>\$ 721,401</u>	<u>\$ 1,819,705</u>	\$ 268,201	<u>\$ (1,098,304</u>)	<u>-60</u> %	<u>\$ 1,551,504</u>	N/M	

The following table presents information regarding our Fee-Earning Assets Under Management:

	Fee	Fee-Earning Assets Under			Estimated % Above		
	Ma	Management Eligible for			High Water Mark		
		Incentive Fees			and/or Hurdle (a)		
	-	As of December 31,			As of December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007	2009	2008	2007	
Funds of Hedge Funds	\$13,695,111	\$11,349,475	\$12,610,855	40%	_	91%	

(a) Estimated % Above High Water Mark and / or Hurdle represents the percentage of Fee-Earning Assets Under Management Eligible for Incentive Fees that as of the dates presented would earn incentive fees when the applicable Blackstone Fund has positive investment performance. Incremental positive performance in the applicable Blackstone Funds may cause additional assets to reach their respective High Water Mark / or Hurdle, thereby resulting in an increase in Estimated % Above High Water Mark and/or Hurdle. For our funds of hedge funds, at December 31, 2009, 31% of the estimated assets that were below their respective High Water Mark were within 5% of reaching their respective High Water Mark.

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management were \$47.9 billion at December 31, 2009, an increase of \$5.3 billion, or 12%, compared to \$42.6 billion at December 31, 2008. The increase was primarily driven by market appreciation of \$3.7 billion in our funds of hedge funds, \$908.0 million in our credit platform funds and \$698.5 million in our closed-end mutual funds. Additionally, \$6.3 billion of outflows (generally a result of liquidity needs of limited partners), were offset by inflows.

The inflows of \$6.3 billion for the current year were \$15.4 billion less than the \$21.8 billion of inflows for the prior year. The decrease was primarily due to the acquisition of GSO, which contributed \$10.9 billion of inflows, being included in the 2008 inflows. Outflows were \$6.3 billion for the year, a decrease of \$753.3 million compared to \$7.1 billion for the previous year. The decrease was primarily related to the liquidation of certain proprietary hedge funds at the end of 2008. Market appreciation was \$5.3 billion for the year, an increase of \$16.9 billion, and was primarily a result of more favorable market conditions which resulted in significantly improved returns for virtually all of our funds in 2009.

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management were \$42.6 billion at December 31, 2008, an increase of \$3.1 billion, or 8%, compared to \$39.5 billion at December 31, 2007. The increase was primarily driven by inflows of \$21.8 billion, which were primarily driven by the acquisition of GSO in 2008 and capital raised in our funds of hedge funds, partially offset by outflows of \$7.1 billion which were generally a result of liquidity needs of limited partners. Market depreciation was \$11.6 billion for the year, a decrease of \$15.7 billion compared to market appreciation of \$4.1 billion for the previous year.

Fee-Earning Assets Under Management had net inflows of \$1.0 billion from January 1 through February 2010 from our funds of hedge funds.

Assets Under Management

Assets Under Management were \$53.0 billion at December 31, 2009, an increase of \$6.6 billion, or 14%, compared to \$46.5 billion at December 31, 2008. The change was driven by \$4.0 billion of net market appreciation in our funds of hedge funds and \$2.4 billion in our credit platform funds. Additionally, \$7.7 billion of outflows were mostly offset by \$7.2 billion of inflows.

Assets Under Management were \$46.5 billion at December 31, 2008, an increase of \$2.0 billion, compared to \$44.5 billion at December 31, 2007. The change was driven by the acquisition of GSO, which contributed \$12.3 billion to Assets Under Management, as well as capital raised in our funds of hedge funds of \$7.7 billion.

These increases were substantially offset by reductions in the fair value of portfolio investments of \$12.7 billion and total outflows of \$9.8 billion, primarily comprised of redemptions and realizations.

Limited Partner Capital Invested

Limited Partner Capital Invested in carry funds was \$721.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, a decrease of \$1.1 billion compared to \$1.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008. The prior year included investments made by certain of our credit-oriented funds launched in 2008.

Limited Partner Capital Invested in carry funds was \$1.8 billion for the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of \$1.6 billion compared to \$268.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. This increase principally reflected investments made by certain of our creditoriented funds launched in 2008.

Composite and Fund Returns

Composite and fund return information for our significant businesses is included throughout this discussion and analysis to facilitate an understanding of our results of operations for the periods presented. The composite and fund returns information reflected in this discussion and analysis is not indicative of the performance of The Blackstone Group L.P. and is also not necessarily indicative of the future results of any particular fund. An investment in The Blackstone Group L.P. is not an investment in any of our funds or composites. There can be no assurance that any of our funds or composites or our other existing and future funds or composites will achieve similar returns.

	Average Annual Net Returns (a)					
	Period	Inception				
Composite	One Year	Three Year	Five Year	to Date		
Funds of Hedge Funds, Core Funds Composite	16%	2%	5%	10%		

The returns presented represent those of the applicable Blackstone Funds and not those of The Blackstone Group L.P.

⁽a) Composite returns present a summarized asset weighted return measure to evaluate the overall performance of the applicable class of Blackstone Funds.

Financial Advisory

The following table presents our results of operations for our Financial Advisory segment:

	Year Ended December 31,			2009 vs. 2008		2008 vs. 20	07
	2009	2008	2007	\$	%	\$	%
			(Dollars	in Thousands)			
Segment Revenues							
Advisory Fees	\$390,718	\$397,519	\$360,284	\$ (6,801)	-2%	\$ 37,235	10%
Investment Income (Loss)							
Realized	1,443	_	_	1,443	_	_	_
Unrealized	219			219			
Total Investment Income (Loss)	1,662	_		1,662	_	_	_
Interest and Dividend Revenue	5,254	8,148	7,385	(2,894)	-36%	763	10%
Other	(35)	4,899	(11)	(4,934)	N/M	4,910	
Total Revenues	397,599	410,566	367,658	(12,967)	<u>-3</u> %	42,908	12%
Expenses							
Compensation and Benefits—Base Compensation	232,359	234,755	132,633	(2,396)	-1%	102,122	77%
Other Operating Expenses	79,572	67,277	39,037	12,295	18%	28,240	72%
Total Expenses	311,931	302,032	171,670	9,899	3%	130,362	<u>76</u> %
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 85,668	\$108,534	\$195,988	\$(22,866)	<u>-21</u> %	\$ (87,454)	<u>-45</u> %

Revenues

Revenues were \$397.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, a decrease of \$13.0 million, or 3%, compared to \$410.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Our restructuring and reorganization advisory services business generated \$74.7 million in increased fees, a 66% increase, as continued credit market turmoil and low levels of available liquidity led to increased debt defaults, debt restructurings and bankruptcies. Additionally, fees earned from our corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory services business increased \$10.1 million, or 7%, as clients increasingly looked to us for independent advice in complicated transactions. These increases were offset by a decrease of \$91.6 million in fees generated from our fund placement business compared to 2008.

Revenues were \$410.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of \$42.9 million, or 12%, compared to \$367.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. The change was driven by an increase in fees of \$50.8 million, or 81%, generated by our restructuring and reorganization advisory services business. Additionally, fees earned from our corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory services business increased \$22.2 million, or 17%. The revenues earned by our restructuring and reorganization advisory services and our corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory services businesses were influenced by the same factors as in 2009. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of \$35.7 million in fees generated from our fund placement business compared to 2007, which included a substantial fee earned from one transaction in the first quarter of the year.

The revenues generated by each of the businesses in our financial advisory segment are transactional in nature and therefore results can fluctuate significantly from period to period.

Expenses

Expenses were \$311.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of \$9.9 million, or 3%, compared to \$302.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Compensation and Benefits—Base Compensation decreased \$2.4 million, principally related to a decrease in Advisory Fees revenues from our Fund

Placement business, as a portion of compensation is directly related to the profitability of each of the service businesses of the segment. Other Operating Expenses increased \$12.3 million, principally due to costs related to the full year impact of the expansion of our London and Hong Kong-based corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory services business.

Expenses were \$302.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of \$130.3 million, or 76%, compared to \$171.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Compensation and Benefits—Base Compensation increased \$102.1 million, principally related to compensation associated with our senior managing directors which was accounted for as partnership distributions prior to our IPO. Additionally, the change in Compensation and Benefits was due to an increase in Advisory Fees revenues, as a portion of compensation is directly related to the profitability of each of the service businesses. Other Operating Expenses increased \$28.2 million, principally due to costs related to the expansion of our London and Hong Kong-based corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory services business and an increase in bad debt expense.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Blackstone's business model derives revenue primarily from third party assets under management and from advisory businesses. Blackstone is not a capital or balance sheet intensive business and targets operating expense levels such that total management and advisory fees exceed total operating expenses each period. As a result, we require limited capital resources to support the working capital or operating needs of our businesses. We draw primarily on the long term committed capital of our limited partner investors to fund the investment requirements of the Blackstone Funds and use our own realizations and cash flows to invest in growth initiatives, make commitments to our own funds, which are typically less than 5% of the assets under management of a fund, or pay distributions to unitholders.

Fluctuations in our balance sheet result primarily from activities of the Blackstone Funds which are consolidated as well as business transactions, such as the issuance of senior notes described below. The majority economic ownership interests of the Blackstone Funds are reflected as Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities in the consolidated and combined financial statements. The consolidation of these Blackstone Funds has no net effect on the Partnership's Net Income or Partners' Capital. Additionally, fluctuations in our balance sheet also include appreciation or depreciation in Blackstone investments in the Blackstone Funds, additional investments and redemptions of such interests in the Blackstone Funds and the collection of receivables related to management and advisory fees. For the year ended December 31, 2009, we had total management and advisory fees and interest income of \$1.5 billion and total expenses of \$1.1 billion, generating Net Fee Related Earnings from Operations of \$410.4 million for the year.

We have multiple sources of liquidity to meet our capital needs, including annual cash flows, accumulated earnings in the businesses, investments in our own liquid funds and access to our debt capacity, including our \$850 million committed revolving credit facility and the proceeds from our issuance of senior notes. On August 20, 2009, we issued \$600 million of senior notes at a rate of 6.625% per annum due August 15, 2019. The interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing on February 15, 2010. We plan to use the proceeds for general corporate purposes. As of December 31, 2009, Blackstone had \$952.1 million in cash, \$626.2 million invested in cash management strategies and \$495.2 million invested in liquid Blackstone Funds, against \$652.0 million in outstanding borrowings.

We use Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations as a supplemental non-GAAP measure to assess our cash flows and amounts available for distribution to unitholders. In accordance with GAAP, certain of the Blackstone Funds are consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of Blackstone, notwithstanding the fact that Blackstone has only a minor economic interest in these funds. Consequently, Blackstone's consolidated and combined financial statements reflect the cash flows of the consolidated Blackstone Funds on a gross basis rather

than the cash flows attributable to Blackstone. Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations is therefore intended to reflect the cash flows attributable to Blackstone and is equal to operating activities presented in accordance with GAAP, adjusted for cash flows relating to changes in our operating assets and liabilities, Blackstone Funds' related investment activity, differences in the timing of realized gains between Blackstone and Blackstone Funds, non-controlling interests related to departed employees and non-controlling interests in income of consolidated entities and other non-cash adjustments. Management assesses Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations, which is derived from our segment reported results, by monitoring its key components, defined by management to be (a) Net Fee Related Earnings from Operations, (b) Performance Fees and Allocations net of related profit sharing interests that are included in compensation and (c) Blackstone investment income related to its investments in liquid funds and its net realized investment income on its illiquid investments.

The following table is a reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities presented on a GAAP basis to Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations:

		Year Ended December 31,	
	2009	2008	2007
		(Dollars in Thousands)	
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities	\$ 411,509	\$ 1,890,435	\$ (850,296)
Unrealized Depreciation on Hedge Activities	6,975	_	_
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities	(70,200)	(757,084)	166,867
Short Term Investment Activity	553,288	_	_
Blackstone Funds Related Investment Activities	(446,233)	(469,693)	1,699,433
Net Realized Gains (Losses) on Investments	(135,243)	(164,726)	3,800,137
Non-controlling Interests in Income of Consolidated Entities	1,942,838	3,523,697	(1,499,587)
Realized Gains (Losses)—Blackstone Funds	13,227	(197,426)	87,373
			Pro Forma
Cash Flows from Operations—Adjustments (a)			
Elimination of Non-Contributed Entities (b)	_	_	(46,523)
Increase in Compensation Expense (c)	_	_	(255,426)
Interests Held by Blackstone Holdings Limited Partners (d)	(1,792,173)	(3,638,799)	(1,101,730)
Eliminate Interest Expense (e)	_	_	26,302
Realized Gains (Losses)—Blackstone Funds	_	_	(275,333)
Incremental Cash Tax Effect (f)	42,250	(57,603)	(234,613)
Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations	\$ 526,238	\$ 128,801	\$ 1,516,604

The following table provides the details of the components of Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations. Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations is the principal factor in determining the amount of distributions to unitholders.

	Year Ended December 31,				
	2009	2008	2007		
		(Dollars in Thousands)			
Fee Related Earnings					
Total Management and Advisory Fees (g)	\$1,530,382	\$1,561,766	\$1,638,947		
Total Expenses (h)	1,119,972	1,134,098	1,252,250		
Net Fee Related Earnings from Operations	410,410	427,668	386,697		
Performance Fees and Allocations Net of Related Compensation (i)	32,092	33,210	829,568		
Blackstone Investment Income (j)	·				
Liquid	58,362	(327,453)	138,203		
Illiquid	25,374	(4,624)	162,136		
	83,736	(332,077)	300,339		
Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations	\$ 526,238	<u>\$ 128,801</u>	\$1,516,604		
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes and Depreciation and Amortization from Net					
Fee Related Earnings from Operations (k)	\$ 495,484	\$ 510,760	\$ 686,169		

- (a) Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations is based upon historical results of operations and gives effect to the pre-initial public offering reorganization and the initial public offering as if they were completed as of January 1, 2007. These pro forma adjustments are consistent with Rule 11-01 of Regulation S–X at the time of the IPO.
- (b) Represent adjustments to eliminate from Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations the cash flows of the businesses that were not contributed as part of the reorganization.
- Represent adjustments to reflect in Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations the cash portion of expenses related to employee compensation that were not effective prior to the IPO as well as vested carried interest for departed partners.
- (d) Represents an adjustment to add back net income (loss) allocable to interest holders of Blackstone Holdings Limited Partners after the Reorganization recorded as Non-Controlling Interests.
- (e) Represent adjustments to eliminate interest expense in Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations for 2007 on the assumption that the revolving credit facility was repaid in full from the proceeds of the IPO.
- (f) Represent the provisions for and/or adjustments to income taxes that were calculated using the same methodology applied in calculating such amounts for the period after the reorganization.
- (g) Comprised of total segment Management and Advisory Fees plus Interest Income.
- (h) Comprised of total segment compensation expense (excluding compensation expense related to Performance Fees and Allocations pursuant to Blackstone's profit sharing plans related to carried interest and incentive fees which are included in (i) below), other operating expenses and Blackstone's estimate of cash taxes currently due.
- (i) Represents realized Performance Fees and Allocations net of corresponding actual amounts due under Blackstone's profit sharing plans related thereto.
- (j) Comprised of Blackstone's investment income (realized and unrealized) from its liquid investments in its Credit and Marketable Alternatives segment as well as its net realized investment income from its illiquid investments, principally in its Private Equity and Real Estate Segments and permanent impairment charges on certain illiquid investments.
- (k) Earnings Before Interest, Taxes and Depreciation and Amortization from Net Fee Related Earnings from Operations represents Net Fee Related Earnings from Operations adding back the implied cash taxes

payable component from the Adjusted Cash Flows from Operations reconciliation presented above, which is included in (f), and segment interest and segment depreciation and amortization. The cash taxes payable component of (f) was \$56.9 million, \$43.5 million and \$282.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Interest and depreciation and amortization was \$34.0 million, \$39.6 million and \$17.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Our Sources of Cash and Liquidity Needs

We expect that our primary liquidity needs will be cash to (1) provide capital to facilitate the growth of our existing businesses which principally includes funding our general partner and co-investment commitments to our funds, (2) provide capital to facilitate our expansion into new businesses that are complementary, (3) pay operating expenses, including cash compensation to our employees and other obligations as they arise, (4) fund modest capital expenditures, (5) repay borrowings and related interest costs, (6) pay income taxes and (7) make distributions to our unitholders and the holders of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units. Our own capital commitments to our funds and funds we invest in as of December 31, 2009, consisted of the following:

Fund			Original nmitment		emaining mmitment
runu	Private Equity	Con	(Dollars in		
	BCP VI	\$	500,000	\$	500,000
	BCP V		629,356		175,391
	BCP IV		150,000		14,614
	BCOM		50,000		5,074
Real	Estate Funds				
	BREP VI		750,000		423,770
	BREP V		52,545		7,747
	BREP International II		28,666		3,667
	BREP IV		50,000		_
	BREP International		20,000		3,293
	BREP Europe III		100,000		97,078
	BSSF I		6,992		_
	BSSF II		43,008		13,276
	CMBS Fund		4,010		_
Cred	lit and Marketable Alternatives				
	BMEZZ II		17,692		2,725
	BMEZZ		41,000		2,590
	Strategic Alliance		50,000		16,185
	Blackstone Credit Liquidity Partners		32,244		7,428
	Value Recovery		25,000		2,631
	Blackstone / GSO Capital Solutions		50,125		44,682
	Other (a)		42,451		28,941
Tota	1	\$ 2,	,643,089	\$ 1	1,349,092

⁽a) Represents capital commitments to a number of other Credit and Marketable Alternatives funds.

For some of the general partner commitments shown in the table above we require our senior managing directors and certain other professionals to fund a portion of the commitment even though the ultimate obligation to fund the aggregate commitment is ours pursuant to the governing agreements of the respective funds. For BCP VI, BREP VI and BREP Europe III it is intended that our senior managing directors and certain other professionals will fund \$250 million, \$150 million and \$35 million of the aggregate applicable general partner commitment shown above, respectively. In addition, certain senior managing directors and other professionals are required to fund a de minimis amount of the commitment in the other private equity and real estate funds. We

expect our commitments to be drawn down over time and to be funded by available cash and cash generated from operations and realizations. Taking into account prevailing market conditions and both the liquidity and cash or liquid investment balances, we believe that the sources of liquidity described below will be more than sufficient to fund our working capital requirements.

In May 2009, Blackstone Holdings Finance Co. L.L.C., our indirect subsidiary, entered into an \$850 million guaranteed revolving credit facility with a bank group arranged by Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Banc of America Securities LLC that expires in May 2010, unless otherwise extended. The revolving credit facility contains customary covenants and financial restrictions that, among other things, limit the ability of substantially all of our subsidiaries (other than investment funds and portfolio companies), subject to certain exceptions, to incur indebtedness, make restricted payments, create liens, merge, consolidate or sell, transfer or lease assets, or engage in certain other activities. The revolving credit facility also contains financial covenants and customary events of default.

In August 2009, Blackstone Holdings Finance Co. L.L.C. issued \$600 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.625% Senior Notes which will mature on August 15, 2019, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased. The notes are unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of Blackstone Holdings Finance Co. L.L.C. and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by The Blackstone Group L.P. and each of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships. The notes contain customary covenants and financial restrictions that among other things limit Blackstone Holdings Finance Co. L.L.C. and the guarantors' ability, subject to certain exceptions, to incur indebtedness secured by liens on voting stock or profit participating equity interests of their subsidiaries or merge, consolidate or sell, transfer or lease assets. The notes also contain customary events of default. All or a portion of the notes may be redeemed at our option in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time, prior to their stated maturity, at the make-whole redemption price set forth in the notes. If a change of control repurchase event occurs, the notes are subject to repurchase at the repurchase price as set forth in the notes.

In addition to the cash we received in connection with our IPO, debt offering and our borrowing facilities, we expect to receive (1) cash generated from operating activities, (2) carried interest and incentive income realizations, and (3) realizations on the carry fund investments that we make. The amounts received from these three sources in particular may vary substantially from year to year and quarter to quarter depending on the frequency and size of realization events or net returns experienced by our investment funds. Blackstone's investment income from our liquid investments (whether or not realized) in our Credit and Marketable Alternatives segment is also included in our Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations. Our available capital could be adversely affected if there are prolonged periods of few substantial realizations from our investment funds accompanied by substantial capital calls for new investments from those investment funds. Therefore, Blackstone's commitments to our funds are taken into consideration when managing our overall liquidity and cash position.

For distributions related to fiscal 2010 and thereafter, our current intention is to distribute to our common unitholders substantially all of The Blackstone Group L.P.'s net after-tax share of our annual Distributable Earnings in excess of amounts determined by our general partner to be necessary or appropriate to provide for the conduct of our business, to make appropriate investments in our business and our funds, to comply with applicable law, any of our debt instruments or other agreements, or to provide for future distributions to our unitholders for any ensuing quarter. Because we will not know what our Distributable Earnings will be for any fiscal year until the end of such year, we expect that our first three quarterly distributions in respect of any given year will be based on our anticipated annualized Net Fee Related Earnings. As such, the distributions for the first three quarters will likely be smaller than the final quarterly distribution in respect of such year, which is expected to also include realized Performance Fees and Allocations net of related compensation and realized net investment income.

In most years the aggregate amounts of our distributions to unitholders will not equal our Distributable Earnings for that year. Distributable Earnings will only be a starting point for our determination of the amount to

be distributed to unitholders because as noted above, in determining the amount to be distributed we will subtract from Distributable Earnings any amounts determined by our general partner to be necessary or appropriate to provide for the conduct of our business, to make appropriate investments in our business and our funds, to comply with applicable law, any of our debt instruments or other agreements, or to provide for future distributions to our unitholders for any ensuing quarter.

All of the foregoing is subject to the qualification that the declaration and payment of any distributions are at the sole discretion of our general partner and our general partner may change our distribution policy at any time.

With respect to fiscal year 2009, we have paid distributions of \$0.90 per common unit to record holders of common units and we have declared an additional distribution of \$0.30 per common unit to common unitholders in respect of the fourth quarter of 2009 payable on March 31, 2010 to holders of record of common units at the close of business on March 15, 2010. We have also declared a distribution of \$0.22 per unit in respect of 2009 to be paid to the Blackstone personnel and others who are limited partners of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships, payable on March 31, 2010 to holders of record of Blackstone Holdings partnership units at the close of business on December 31, 2009. These distributions related to fiscal year 2009 represented our net after-tax share of our annual Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations in excess of amounts determined by our general partner to be necessary or appropriate to provide for the conduct of our business, to make appropriate investments in our business and our funds, to comply with applicable law, any of our debt instruments or other agreements, or to provide for future distributions to our common unitholders for any ensuing quarter.

As previously disclosed, public common unitholders were entitled to a priority distribution of up to \$1.20 per common unit per year ahead of Blackstone personnel and others regarding distributions made in respect of fiscal periods from July 1, 2007 through December 31, 2009. On December 31, 2009 that distribution priority ended and therefore all future distributions after the distributions referred to in the preceding paragraph will be made on the same basis among all holders of Blackstone Holdings partnership units (held by Blackstone personnel and others) and all holders of Blackstone common units (held by public unitholders and others). Had the distribution priority not been in effect in 2009 so that 2009 cash distributions were made to all unitholders on the same basis, the distributions to common unitholders in respect of fiscal 2009 would have been \$0.48 per unit instead of \$1.20 per unit.

In January 2008, the Board of Directors of our general partner, Blackstone Group Management L.L.C., authorized the repurchase of up to \$500 million of our common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units. Under this unit repurchase program, units may be repurchased from time to time in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The timing and the actual number of Blackstone common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including legal requirements, price and economic and market conditions. This unit repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time and does not have a specified expiration date. During the year ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased a combination of 4,689,101 vested and unvested Blackstone Common Units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units apart of the unit repurchase program for a total cost of \$30.5 million. There were no repurchases of Blackstone Common Units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units for the three months ended December 31, 2009. As of December 31, 2009, the amount remaining available for repurchases was \$339.5 million under this program.

We may under certain circumstances use leverage opportunistically and over time to create the most efficient capital structure for Blackstone and our public common unitholders, including through the issuance of debt securities. As of December 31, 2009, we had partners' capital of \$6.0 billion, including \$952.1 million in cash, \$626.2 million invested in cash management strategies and \$495.2 million invested in liquid Blackstone Funds, against \$652.0 million in outstanding borrowings.

Our private equity funds, real estate funds and funds of hedge funds have not historically utilized substantial leverage at the fund level other than for short-term borrowings between the date of an investment and the receipt

of capital from the investing fund's investors. Our carry funds make direct or indirect investments in companies that utilize leverage in their capital structure. The degree of leverage employed varies among portfolio companies.

Certain of our Credit and Marketable Alternatives funds use leverage in order to obtain additional market exposure, enhance returns on invested capital and/or to bridge short-term cash needs. The forms of leverage primarily employed by these funds include purchasing securities on margin, utilizing collateralized financing and using derivative instruments.

Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare our consolidated and combined financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. In applying many of these accounting principles, we need to make assumptions, estimates and/or judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in our consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. These assumptions, estimates and/or judgments, however, are often subjective. Actual results may be affected negatively based on changing circumstances. If actual amounts are ultimately different from our estimates, the revisions are included in our results of operations for the period in which the actual amounts become known. We believe the following critical accounting policies could potentially produce materially different results if we were to change underlying assumptions, estimates and/or judgments. (See Note 2. "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" in the "Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements" in "Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing.)

Principles of Consolidation

The Partnership consolidates all entities that it controls through a majority voting interest or otherwise, including those Blackstone Funds in which the general partner is presumed to have control. Although the Partnership has a minority interest in the Blackstone Holding partnerships, the limited partners do not have the right to dissolve the partnerships or have substantive kick out rights or participating rights that would overcome the presumption of control by the Partnership. Accordingly, the Partnership consolidates Blackstone Holdings and records non-controlling interests to reflect the economic interests of the limited partners of Blackstone Holdings.

In addition, the Partnership consolidates all variable interest entities ("VIE") in which it is the primary beneficiary. An enterprise is determined to be the primary beneficiary if it absorbs the majority of the VIE's expected losses, receives the majority of the VIE's expected returns, or both.

GAAP requires an analysis to (a) determine whether an entity in which the Partnership holds a variable interest is a variable interest entity, and (b) whether the Partnership's involvement, through holding interests directly or indirectly in the entity or contractually through other variable interests (e.g., management and performance related fees), would be expected to absorb a majority of the variability of the entity. Performance of that analysis requires the exercise of judgment. The Partnership determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the time it becomes involved with a variable interest entity and reconsiders that conclusion based on certain reconsideration events. In evaluating whether the Partnership is the primary beneficiary, Blackstone evaluates its economic interests in the fund held either directly by the Partnership or indirectly through employees. The consolidation analysis can generally be performed qualitatively; however, if it is not readily apparent that the Partnership is not the primary beneficiary, a quantitative expected losses and expected residual returns calculation is performed. Investments and redemptions (either by the Partnership, affiliates of the Partnership or third parties) or amendments to the governing documents of the respective Blackstone Fund could affect an entity's status as a VIE or the determination of the primary beneficiary. At each reporting date and on the occurrence of reconsideration events, the Partnership assesses whether it is the primary beneficiary and will consolidate or deconsolidate accordingly.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues primarily consist of management and advisory fees, performance fees and allocations, investment income, interest and dividend revenue and other.

Please refer to "Part I. Item 1. Business, Incentive Arrangements / Fee Structure" for additional information regarding the manner in which Base Management Fees and Performance Fees and Allocations are generated.

Management and Advisory Fees — Management and Advisory Fees are comprised of management fees, including base management fees, transaction and other fees, management fee reductions and offsets, and advisory fees.

The Partnership earns base management fees from limited partners of funds in each of its managed funds, at a fixed percentage of assets under management, net asset value, total assets, committed capital or invested capital. Base management fees are based on contractual terms specified in the underlying investment advisory agreements. The range of management fee rates and the calculation base from which they are earned are as follows:

On private equity, real estate, and certain credit-oriented funds:

- 1-2% of committed capital during the commitment period,
- 0.75–1.5% of invested capital subsequent to the investment period for private equity and real estate funds, and
- 1-1.5% of invested capital for certain credit oriented funds

On credit-oriented funds structured like hedge funds:

• 1.5 - 2% of net asset value

On funds of hedge funds and separately managed accounts invested in hedge funds:

• 0.65% to 1.5% of assets under management

On CLO vehicles:

• 0.50% to 1.25% of total assets

On closed-end mutual funds:

• 0.75% to 1.1% of fund assets.

Transaction and other fees (including monitoring fees) are fees charged directly to funds and portfolio companies. The investment advisory agreements generally require that the investment adviser reduce the amount of management fees payable by the limited partners to the Partnership ("management fee reductions") by an amount equal to a portion of the transaction and other fees directly paid to the Partnership by the portfolio companies. The amount of the reduction varies by fund, the type of fee paid by the portfolio company and the previously incurred expenses of the fund.

Management fee offsets are reductions to management fees payable by our limited partners, which are granted based on the amount they reimburse us for placement fees.

Advisory fees consist of advisory retainer and transaction-based fee arrangements related to merger, acquisition, restructuring and divestiture activities and fund placement services for alternative investment funds. Advisory retainer fees are recognized when services for the transactions are complete, in accordance with terms

set forth in individual agreements. Transaction-based fees are recognized when (a) there is evidence of an arrangement with a client, (b) agreed upon services have been provided, (c) fees are fixed or determinable and (d) collection is reasonably assured. Fund placement fees are recognized as earned upon the acceptance by a fund of capital or capital commitments.

Accrued but unpaid Management and Advisory Fees, net of management fee reductions, as of the reporting date, are included in Accounts Receivable or Due From Affiliates in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

Performance Fees and Allocations —performance fees earned on the performance of Blackstone's hedge fund structures are recognized based on fund performance during the period, subject to the achievement of minimum return levels, or high water marks, in accordance with the respective terms set out in each hedge fund investment advisory agreement. Performance Fees range between 5% and 20%. Accrued but unpaid performance fees charged directly to limited partners in Blackstone's offshore hedge funds as of the reporting date are recorded within Due from Affiliates in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition. Performance fees arising on Blackstone's onshore hedge funds are allocated to the general partner. Accrued but unpaid performance fees on onshore funds as of the reporting date are reflected in Investments in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

In certain fund structures, specifically in private equity, real estate and certain credit-oriented funds ("Carry Funds"), performance fees ("Carried Interest") are allocated to the general partner based on cumulative fund performance to date, subject to a preferred return to limited partners. Carried Interest allocations range between 10% and 20% of fund appreciation. At the end of each reporting period, the Partnership calculates the Carried Interest that would be due to the Partnership for each fund, pursuant to the fund agreements, as if the fair value of the underlying investments were realized as of such date, irrespective of whether such amounts have been realized. As the fair value of underlying investments varies between reporting periods, it is necessary to make adjustments to amounts recorded as Carried Interest to reflect either (a) positive performance resulting in an increase in the Carried Interest allocated to the general partner or (b) negative performance that would cause the amount due to the Partnership to be less than the amount previously recognized as revenue, resulting in a negative adjustment to Carried Interest allocated to the general partner. In each scenario, it is necessary to calculate the Carried Interest on cumulative results compared to the Carried Interest recorded to date and make the required positive or negative adjustments. The Partnership ceases to record negative Carried Interest allocations once previously recognized Carried Interest allocations for such fund have been fully reversed. The Partnership is not obligated to pay guaranteed returns or hurdles, and therefore cannot have negative Carried Interest over the life of a fund. Accrued but unpaid Carried Interest as of the reporting date is reflected in Investments in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

Carried interest is realized when an underlying investment is profitably disposed of and the fund's cumulative returns are in excess of the preferred return. Performance fees earned on hedge fund structures are realized at the end of each fund's measurement period.

Carried Interest is subject to clawback to the extent that the Carried Interest actually distributed to date exceeds the amount due to Blackstone based on cumulative results. As such, the accrual for potential repayment of previously received performance fees and allocations, which is a component of Due to Affiliates, represents all amounts previously distributed to Blackstone Holdings and non-controlling interest holders that would need to be repaid to the Blackstone Funds if the Blackstone Carry Funds were to be liquidated based on the current fair value of the underlying funds' investments as of the reporting date. The actual clawback liability, however, does not become realized until the end of a fund's life or one year after a realized loss is incurred, depending on the fund.

Investment Income (Loss) —Investment Income (Loss) represents the unrealized and realized gains and losses on the Partnership's principal investments, including its investments in Blackstone Funds that are not consolidated, its equity method investments, and other principal investments.

Interest and Dividend Revenue —Interest and Dividend Revenue comprises primarily interest and dividend income earned on principal investments held by Blackstone.

Other Revenue —Other Revenue comprises primarily foreign exchange gains and losses arising on transactions denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars.

Expenses

Our expenses include compensation and benefits expense and general and administrative expenses. Our accounting policies related thereto are as follows:

Compensation and Benefits –Base Compensation —Base compensation and benefits consists of (a) employee compensation, comprising salary and bonus, and benefits paid and payable to employees, including senior managing directors and (b) equity-based compensation associated with the grants of equity-based awards to employees, including senior managing directors.

Equity-Based Compensation— Compensation cost relating to the issuance of share-based awards to senior management and employees is measured at fair value at the grant date, taking into consideration expected forfeitures, and expensed over the vesting period on a straight line basis. Equity-based awards that do not require future service are expensed immediately. Cash settled equity-based awards are classified as liabilities and are re-measured at the end of each reporting period.

Compensation and Benefits—Performance Fee Related —Performance fee related compensation and benefits consists of Carried Interest and performance fee allocations to employees, including senior managing directors, participating in certain profit sharing initiatives. Employees participating in such initiatives are allocated a certain portion of Carried Interest and performance fees allocated to the general partner under performance fee allocations (see "Revenue Recognition"). Such compensation expense is recognized in the same manner as Carried Interest and performance fee allocations and is subject to both positive and negative adjustments as a result of changes in underlying fund performance.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

GAAP establishes a hierarchal disclosure framework which prioritizes and ranks the level of market price observability used in measuring financial instruments at fair value. Market price observability is affected by a number of factors, including the type of financial instrument, the characteristics specific to the financial instrument and the state of the marketplace, including the existence and transparency of transactions between market participants. Financial instruments with readily available quoted prices in active markets generally will have a higher degree of market price observability and a lesser degree of judgment used in measuring fair value.

Financial instruments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed based on the observability of inputs used in the determination of fair values, as follows:

- Level I—Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical financial instruments as of the reporting date. The type of financial instruments in Level I include listed equities and listed derivatives. The Partnership does not adjust the quoted price for these investments, even in situations where Blackstone holds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.
- Level II—Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date, and fair value is determined through the use of models or other valuation methodologies. Financial instruments which are generally included in this category include corporate bonds and loans, less liquid and restricted equity securities, certain over-the-counter derivatives where the fair value is based on observable inputs, and certain fund of hedge funds investments in which Blackstone has the ability to redeem its investment at net asset value at, or within three months of, the reporting date.

• Level III—Pricing inputs are unobservable for the financial instruments and includes situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the financial instrument. The inputs into the determination of fair value require significant management judgment or estimation. Financial instruments that are included in this category generally include general and limited partnership interests in private equity and real estate funds, credit-oriented funds, distressed debt and non-investment grade residual interests in securitizations, collateralized loan obligations, certain over the counter derivatives where the fair value is based on unobservable inputs and certain funds of hedge funds which use net asset value per share to determine fair value in which Blackstone may not have the ability to redeem its investment at net asset value at, or within three months of, the reporting date. Blackstone may not have the ability to redeem its investment at net asset value at, or within three months of, the reporting date if an investee fund manager has the ability to limit the amount of redemptions, and/or the ability to side-pocket investments, irrespective of whether such ability has been exercised.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the determination of which category within the fair value hierarchy is appropriate for any given financial instrument is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Partnership's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the financial instrument.

In certain cases, debt and equity securities are valued on the basis of prices from an orderly transaction between market participants provided by reputable dealers or pricing services. In determining the value of a particular investment, pricing services may use certain information with respect to transactions in such investments, quotations from dealers, pricing matrices, market transactions in comparable investments and various relationships between investments.

In the absence of observable market prices, Blackstone values its investments using valuation methodologies applied on a consistent basis. For some investments little market activity may exist; management's determination of fair value is then based on the best information available in the circumstances, and may incorporate management's own assumptions and involves a significant degree of judgment, taking into consideration a combination of internal and external factors, including the appropriate risk adjustments for non-performance and liquidity risks. Investments for which market prices are not observable include private investments in the equity of operating companies, real estate properties or certain funds of hedge funds. The valuation technique for each of these investments is described below:

Private Equity Investments – The fair values of private equity investments are determined by reference to projected net earnings, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA"), the discounted cash flow method, public market or private transactions, valuations for comparable companies and other measures which, in many cases, are unaudited at the time received. Valuations may be derived by reference to observable valuation measures for comparable companies or transactions (e.g., multiplying a key performance metric of the investee company such as EBITDA by a relevant valuation multiple observed in the range of comparable companies or transactions), adjusted by management for differences between the investment and the referenced comparables, and in some instances by reference to option pricing models or other similar methods. Private equity investments may also be valued at cost for a period of time after an acquisition as the best indicator of fair value.

Real Estate Investments – The fair values of real estate investments are determined by considering projected operating cash flows, sales of comparable assets, if any, and replacement costs among other measures. The methods used to estimate the fair value of real estate investments include the discounted cash flow method and/or capitalization rates ("cap rates") analysis. Valuations may be derived by reference to observable valuation measures for comparable companies or assets (e.g., multiplying a key performance metric of the investee company or asset, such as EBITDA, by a relevant valuation multiple observed in the range of comparable companies or transactions), adjusted by management for differences between the investment and the referenced

comparables, and in some instances by reference to option pricing models or other similar methods. Additionally, where applicable, projected distributable cash flow through debt maturity will also be considered in support of the investment's carrying value.

Funds of Hedge Funds – Blackstone Funds' direct investments in funds of hedge funds ("Investee Funds") are valued at net asset value ("NAV") per share of the Investee Fund. If the Partnership determines, based on its own due diligence and investment procedures, that NAV per share does not represent fair value, the Partnership will estimate the fair value in good faith and in a manner that it reasonably chooses, in accordance with its valuation policies.

Credit-Oriented Investments – The fair values of credit-oriented investments are generally determined on the basis of prices between market participants provided by reputable dealers or pricing services. In some instances, Blackstone may utilize other valuation techniques, including the discounted cash flow method.

Investments, at Fair Value

The Blackstone Funds are accounted for as investment companies under the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, *Investment Companies*, and reflect their investments, including majority-owned and controlled investments (the "Portfolio Companies"), at fair value. Blackstone has retained the specialized accounting for the consolidated Blackstone Funds. Thus, such consolidated funds' investments are reflected in Investments on the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value reflected as a component of Net Gains (Losses) from Fund Investment Activities in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations. Fair value is the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (i.e., the exit price).

Blackstone's principal investments are presented at fair value with unrealized appreciation or depreciation and realized gains and losses recognized in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations within Investment Income (Loss).

For certain instruments, the Partnership has elected the fair value option. Such election is irrevocable and is applied on an investment by investment basis at initial recognition. The Partnership has applied the fair value option for certain loans and receivables and certain investments in private debt and equity securities. Loans extended to third parties are recorded within Accounts Receivable within the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition. Debt and equity securities for which the fair value option has been elected are recorded within Investments. The methodology for measuring the fair value of such investments is consistent with the methodology applied to private equity, real estate and fund of hedge funds investments. Changes in the fair value of such instruments are recognized in Investment Income (Loss) in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations. Interest income on interest bearing loans and receivables and debt securities on which the fair value option has been elected is based on stated coupon rates adjusted for the accretion of purchase discounts and the amortization of purchase premiums. This interest income is recorded within Interest and Dividend Revenue. Further disclosure on instruments for which the fair value option has been elected is presented in Note 7. "Fair Value Option" in the "Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements" in "Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing.

Intangibles and Goodwill

Blackstone's intangible assets consist of contractual rights to earn future fee income, including management and advisory fees and Carried Interest from its Carry Funds. Identifiable finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives, ranging from 5 to 20 years, reflecting the contractual lives of such funds. The Partnership does not hold any indefinite-lived intangible assets.

Goodwill comprises goodwill arising from the Reorganization of the Partnership in 2007 and the acquisition of GSO in 2008.

Intangibles and goodwill are reviewed for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred.

We test goodwill for impairment at the operating segment level (the same as our reportable segments). Management has organized the firm into four operating segments. All of the components in each segment have similar economic characteristics and management makes key operating decisions based on the performance of each segment. Therefore, we believe that operating segment is the appropriate reporting level for testing the impairment of goodwill. In determining fair value for each of our segments, we utilize a discounted cash flow methodology based on the adjusted cash flows from operations for each segment. We believe this method provides the best approximation of fair value. In calculating the discounted cash flows, we begin with the adjusted cash flows from operations of each segment. We then determine the most likely growth rate by operating segment for each of the next five years and keep the growth rates for years six through twenty the same as the growth rate used in year five. We assume no terminal value for any segment, nor do we apply a control premium. The discounted cash flow analysis assumes no borrowings, but includes an allocation of interest expense for the assumed unused commitment fee on Blackstone's revolving credit facility, which is allocated to each segment. We use a discount rate that reflects the weighted average cost of capital adjusted for the risks inherent in the future cash flows.

In 2009 and 2008, Blackstone utilized the discounted cash flow model, described above, to approximate the fair value of each of its segments.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In the normal course of business, we enter into various off-balance sheet arrangements including sponsoring and owning limited or general partner interests in consolidated and non-consolidated funds, entering into derivative transactions, entering into operating leases, and entering into guarantee arrangements. We also have ongoing capital commitment arrangements with certain of our consolidated and non-consolidated drawdown funds. We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that would require us to fund losses or guarantee target returns to investors in our funds.

Further disclosure on our off-balance sheet arrangements is presented in the "Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements" in "Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing as follows:

- Note 6 "Derivative Financial Instruments",
- Note 9 "Variable Interest Entities", and
- Note 16 "Commitments and Contingencies—Commitments, Operating Leases;—Commitments, Investment Commitments; and—Contingencies, Guarantees".

Recent Accounting Developments

During 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance issued by the FASB on the Accounting Standards Codification and the hierarchy of generally accepted accounting principles which established the FASB Standards Accounting Codification ("Codification") as the source of authoritative GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied to nongovernmental entities, and rules and interpretive releases of the SEC as authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. The Codification supersedes all the existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards and subsequently, the FASB will not issue new standards in the form of Statements, FASB Staff Positions or Emerging Issues Task Force Abstracts. This guidance also replaces the prior guidance regarding the

GAAP hierarchy, given that once in effect, the guidance within the Codification will carry the same level of authority. As the guidance is limited to disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the manner in which the Partnership refers to GAAP authoritative literature, adoption did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Partnership adopted accounting guidance issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") on business combinations. The guidance requires the acquiring entity in a business combination, for which the acquisition date is on or after January 1, 2009, to recognize the full fair value of assets, liabilities, contingencies and contingent consideration obtained in the transaction (whether for a full or partial acquisition); establishes the acquisition date fair value as the measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed; requires expensing of most transaction and restructuring costs; and requires the acquirer to disclose to investors and other users all of the information needed to evaluate and understand the nature and financial effect of the business combination. The guidance applies to all transactions or other events in which the Partnership obtains control of one or more businesses, including those sometimes referred to as "true mergers" or "mergers of equals" and combinations achieved without the transfer of consideration, for example, by contract alone or through the lapse of minority veto rights. The Partnership did not enter into any business combination transactions during the year ended December 31, 2009.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance on the accounting and financial statement presentation of non-controlling (minority) interests. The guidance requires reporting entities to present non-redeemable non-controlling (minority) interests as equity (as opposed to a liability or mezzanine equity) and provides guidance on the accounting for transactions between an entity and non-controlling interests. As a result of adoption, (a) with respect to the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition, the Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities was renamed as such and remained classified as mezzanine equity, and the non-redeemable Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities and Non-Controlling Interests in Blackstone Holdings have been reclassified as components of Partners' Capital, (b) with respect to the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations, Net Income (Loss) is now presented before non-controlling interests, the Net Income (Loss) attributable to the three categories of non-controlling interests discussed in (a) above are now presented separately, and the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations now net to Net Income (Loss) Attributable to The Blackstone Group L.P., and (c) with respect to the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Changes in Partners' Capital, roll forward columns have now been added for each component of non-controlling interests discussed in (a) above. The presentation and disclosure requirements have been applied retrospectively for all periods presented in accordance with the issued guidance. The guidance also clarifies the scope of accounting and reporting for decreases in ownership of a subsidiary to include groups of assets that constitute a business. The scope clarification did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance issued by the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") on the application of the two-class share method of earnings per share as applied to master limited partnerships. The guidance applies to master limited partnerships that make incentive equity distributions. The Partnership has applied the guidance on a retrospective basis and has presented earnings per share-based on the two-class share method for all periods presented. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance issued by the FASB regarding disclosures about derivative instruments and hedging activities. The purpose of the guidance is to improve financial reporting of derivative instruments and hedging activities. The guidance requires enhanced disclosures to enable investors to better understand how those instruments and activities are accounted for, how and why they are used and their effects on an entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The adoption resulted in additional required disclosures relating to derivative instruments as presented in Note 6. "Derivative Financial Instruments" in the "Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements" in "Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance on the determination of the useful life of intangible assets. The guidance amends the factors an entity should consider in developing renewal or extension assumptions used in determining the useful life of recognized intangible assets. The new guidance applies prospectively to (a) intangible assets that are acquired individually or with a group of other assets and (b) both intangible assets acquired in business combinations and asset acquisitions. The adoption of the guidance did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance issued by the FASB on determining whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are participating securities. The guidance addresses whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are participating securities prior to vesting and therefore need to be included in the earnings allocation in calculating earnings per share under the two-class method of calculation. The guidance requires entities to treat unvested share-based payment awards that have non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents as a separate class of securities in calculating earnings per share. As a result of adoption, the Partnership includes unvested participating Blackstone Common Units as a component of Common Units Entitled to Priority Distributions – Basic in the calculation of earnings per common unit for all periods presented, due to their equivalent distribution rights as Blackstone Common Units. The impact of the adoption and retroactive application on 2008 was as follows:

	Year E December		June 19, 2007 through December 31, 2007		
	Originally Upon		Originally	Upon	
	Reported	Adoption	Reported	Adoption	
Net Loss Per Common Unit—Basic and Diluted					
Common Units Entitled to Priority Distributions	<u>\$ (4.36)</u>	\$ (4.32)	\$ (1.29)	\$ (1.28)	
Common Units Not Entitled to Priority Distributions	<u>\$ (3.09)</u>	<u>\$ (3.06)</u>	N/A	N/A	

During 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance issued by the FASB on determining fair value when the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability has significantly decreased and identifying transactions that are not orderly. Adoption did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

During 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance on interim disclosures about fair value of financial instruments. Such disclosures were previously required only in annual financial statements. The adoption of the guidance resulted in the inclusion of interim financial statement disclosures which had previously been annual.

During 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance on subsequent events. The guidance is intended to establish general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. The adoption resulted in additional disclosure regarding subsequent events as presented in Note 20 "Subsequent Events" in the "Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements" in "Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing.

During 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance issued by the FASB on the measurement of the fair value of liabilities. The guidance provides clarification that in circumstances in which a quoted price in an active market for the identical liability is not available, fair value must be measured using valuation techniques that use the quoted price of the identical liability when traded as an asset, quoted prices for similar liabilities or similar liabilities when traded as assets or alternative valuation techniques including an income approach or a market approach. In addition, guidance is provided on the classification of liabilities measured at fair value within the fair value hierarchy. Where the fair value of a liability is based on a quoted price in an active market for the identical liability or on the quoted price for an identical liability when traded as an asset in an active market

without adjustment to the quoted price, the fair value measurement shall be classified as Level 1. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

During 2009, the Partnership adopted implementation guidance issued by the FASB on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. The updated guidance considers an entity's assertion that it is a tax-exempt not for profit or a pass through entity as a tax position that requires evaluation. In addition, the guidance provided implementation guidance on the attribution of income taxes to entities and owners. The adoption of the guidance did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

In September 2009, the FASB issued guidance on fair value measurements and disclosures relating to investments in certain entities that calculate net asset value ("NAV") per share (or its equivalent). The guidance permits, as a practical expedient, an entity holding investments in certain entities that either are investment companies as defined by the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, *Investment Companies*, or have attributes similar to an investment company, and calculate net asset value per share or its equivalent for which the fair value is not readily determinable, to measure the fair value of such investments on the basis of that NAV per share, or its equivalent, without adjustment. The guidance also requires disclosure of the attributes of investments within the scope of the guidance by major category of investment. Such disclosures include the nature of any restrictions on an investor's ability to redeem its investments at the measurement date, any unfunded commitments and the investment strategies of the investee. Additional guidance is provided on the classification of investments for which NAV is used to measure fair value within the fair value hierarchy. If an entity has the ability to redeem its investment at net asset value at the measurement date or within the near term, the fair value measurement of the investment shall be categorized as a Level II fair value measurement of the investment shall be categorized as a Level III fair value measurement. The guidance is effective for interim and annual periods ending after December 15, 2009. The Partnership has adopted the guidance effective with the issuance of its December 31, 2009 financial statements with additional disclosure requirements presented in Note 5. "Net Asset Value as Fair Value" in the "Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements" in "Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing.

In June 2009, the FASB issued amended guidance on issues related to variable interest entities ("VIEs"). The amendments will significantly affect the overall consolidation analysis, changing the approach taken by companies in identifying which entities are VIEs and in determining which party is the primary beneficiary. The guidance requires continuous assessment of the reporting entity's involvement with such VIEs. The revised guidance also enhances the disclosure requirements for a reporting entity's involvement with VIEs, irrespective of whether they qualify for deferral, as noted below. The guidance is effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2009 and early adoption is prohibited. In February 2010, the FASB issued further guidance which provided a limited scope deferral for a reporting entity's interest in an entity that met all of the following conditions: (a) the entity has all the attributes of an investment company as defined under AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Investment Companies, or does not have all the attributes of an investment company but is an entity for which it is acceptable based on industry practice to apply measurement principles that are consistent with the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Investment Companies, (b) the reporting entity does not have explicit or implicit obligations to fund any losses of the entity that could potentially be significant to the entity, and (c) the entity is not a securitization entity, asset-backed financing entity or an entity that was formerly considered a qualifying special-purpose entity. The reporting entity is required to perform a consolidation analysis for entities that qualify for the deferral in accordance with previously issued guidance on variable interest entities. Blackstone's involvement with its funds is such that all three of the above conditions are met with the exception of certain CLO vehicles which fail condition (c) above and certain funds in which leveraged employee interests in dedicated funds are financed by third parties with Blackstone acting as an intermediary which fail condition (b) above. Such employee funds are currently consolidated as it is concluded that Blackstone is the primary beneficiary based on its implicit interest. The incremental impact of the revised consolidation rules will result in the consolidation of certain CLO vehicles managed by Blackstone. The impact of consolidation of such vehicles is expected to have a material impact on the Consolidated and Combined

Statements of Financial Condition. Based on the fair value of CLO assets and liabilities of impacted CLO vehicles managed by Blackstone as of January 1, 2010, the assets and liabilities of Blackstone would have increased by approximately \$3.7 billion and \$3.3 billion, respectively.

In January 2010, the FASB issued guidance on improving disclosures about fair value measurements. The guidance requires additional disclosure on transfers in and out of Levels I and II fair value measurements in the fair value hierarchy and the reasons for such transfers. In addition, for fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level III), the reconciliation of beginning and ending balances shall be presented on a gross basis, with separate disclosure of gross purchases, sales, issuances and settlements and transfers in and transfers out of Level III. The new guidance also requires enhanced disclosures on the fair value hierarchy to disaggregate disclosures by each asset class of assets and liabilities. In addition, an entity is required to provide further disclosures on valuation techniques and inputs used to measure fair value for fair value measurements that fall in either Level II or Level III. The guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements in the roll forward of activity in Level III fair value measurements, which are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010. As the guidance is limited to enhanced disclosure, the impact of adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Contingencies

The following table sets forth information relating to our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2009 on a consolidated basis and on a basis deconsolidating the Blackstone funds:

Contractual Obligations	2010	2011–2012	2013-2014	Thereafter	Total
		(Dol	llars in Thousan	ids)	
Operating Lease Obligations (a)	\$ 54,669	\$ 97,638	\$ 92,572	\$ 298,352	\$ 543,231
Purchase Obligations	12,665	4,924		_	17,589
Blackstone Issued Notes and Revolving Credit Facility (b)	_	_	_	600,000	600,000
Interest on Blackstone Issued Notes and Revolving Credit Facility (c)	39,750	79,500	79,500	183,844	382,594
Blackstone Operating Entities Loan and Credit Facilities Payable (d)	23,821	32,263	7,285	_	63,369
Interest on Blackstone Operating Entities Loan and Credit Facilities					
Payable (e)	515	437	92	_	1,044
Blackstone Funds Debt Obligations Payable (f)	992	4,638	_	_	5,630
Interest on Blackstone Funds Debt Obligations Payable (g)	102	182	_	_	284
Blackstone Fund Capital Commitments to Investee Funds (h)	24,226	_	_	_	24,226
Due to Certain Non-Controlling Interest Holders in Connection with Tax					
Receivable Agreement (i)	4,076	66,442	57,095	764,310	891,923
Blackstone Operating Entities Capital Commitments to Blackstone Funds					
(j)	1,349,092	_	_	_	1,349,092
Consolidated Contractual Obligations	1,509,908	286,024	236,544	1,846,506	3,878,982
Blackstone Funds Debt Obligations Payable (f)	(992)	(4,638)	_	_	(5,630)
Interest on Blackstone Funds Debt Obligations Payable (g)	(102)	(182)	_	_	(284)
Blackstone Fund Capital Commitments to Investee Funds (h)	(24,226)	<u> </u>			(24,226)
Blackstone Operating Entities Contractual Obligations	\$1,484,588	\$281,204	\$236,544	\$1,846,506	\$3,848,842

- (a) We lease our primary office space under agreements that expire through 2024. In connection with certain lease agreements, we are responsible for escalation payments. The contractual obligation table above includes only guaranteed minimum lease payments for such leases and does not project potential escalation or other lease-related payments. These leases are classified as operating leases for financial statement purposes and as such are not recorded as liabilities on the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition. The amounts are presented net of contractual sublease commitments.
- (b) Represents borrowings from the 6.625% senior notes we issued. As of December 31, 2009 we had no outstanding borrowings under our revolver.
- (c) Represents interest to be paid over the maturity of our 6.625% senior notes and borrowings under our revolving credit facility which has been calculated assuming no prepayments are made and debt is held until its final maturity date. These amounts exclude commitment fees for unutilized borrowings under our revolver.
- (d) Represents borrowings for employee term facilities program and a capital asset facility.
- (e) Represents interest to be paid over the maturity of the related debt obligation which has been calculated assuming no prepayments are made and debt is held until its final maturity date. The future interest payments are calculated using variable rates in effect as of December 31, 2009, at spreads to market rates pursuant to the financing agreements, and range from 1.09% to 1.50%.
- (f) These obligations are those of the Blackstone Funds.
- (g) Represents interest to be paid over the maturity of the related Blackstone Funds' debt obligations which has been calculated assuming no prepayments will be made and debt will be held until its final maturity date. The future interest payments are calculated using variable rates in effect as of December 31, 2009, at spreads to market rates pursuant to the financing agreements, and range from 1.98% to 4.64%. The majority of the borrowings are due on demand and for purposes of this schedule are assumed to mature within one year. Interest on the majority of these borrowings rolls over into the principal balance at each reset date.
- (h) These obligations represent commitments of the consolidated Blackstone Funds to make capital contributions to investee funds and portfolio companies. These amounts are generally due on demand and are therefore presented in the less than one year category.
- (i) Represents obligations by the Partnership's corporate subsidiaries' to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement to certain non-controlling interest holders for the tax savings realized from the taxable purchases of their interests in connection with the reorganization at the time of Blackstone's initial public offering in 2007 and subsequent purchases. The obligation represents the amount of the payments currently expected to be made, which are dependent on the tax savings actually realized as determined annually without discounting for the timing of the payments. As required by GAAP, the amount of the obligation included in the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements and shown in Note 15. "Related Party Transactions" (see "Part II—Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data") differs to reflect the net present value of the payments due to certain non-controlling interest holders.
- (j) These obligations represent commitments by us to provide general partner capital funding to the Blackstone Funds, limited partner capital funding to other funds and Blackstone principal investment commitments. These amounts are generally due on demand and are therefore presented in the less than one year category; however, the capital commitments are expected to be called substantially over the next three years. We expect to continue to make these general partner capital commitments as we raise additional amounts for our investment funds over time.

Guarantees

Certain of Blackstone's consolidated real estate funds guarantee payments to third parties in connection with the on-going business activities and/or acquisitions of their Portfolio Companies. There is no direct recourse to the Partnership to fulfill such obligations. To the extent that underlying funds are required to fulfill guarantee obligations, the Partnership's invested capital in such funds is at risk. Total investments at risk in respect of guarantees extended by real estate funds were \$6.4 million as of December 31, 2009.

Indemnifications

In many of its service contracts, Blackstone agrees to indemnify the third party service provider under certain circumstances. The terms of the indemnities vary from contract to contract and the amount of indemnification liability, if any, cannot be determined and has not been included in the table above or recorded in our Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements as of December 31, 2009.

Clawback Obligations

At December 31, 2009, none of the general partners of our private equity, real estate or credit-oriented funds had an actual cash clawback obligation to any limited partners of the funds. For financial reporting purposes at period end, the general partner has reflected a clawback obligation to the limited partners of certain funds due to changes in unrealized value of a fund on which there have been previously distributed carried interest realizations; however, the settlement of a potential obligation is not due until the end of the life of the respective fund except in the case of our real estate funds, which have a provision for interim clawback. Since the inception of the funds, the general partners have not been required to make a cash clawback payment. (See Note 15. "Related Party Transactions" and Note 16. "Commitments and Contingencies" in the "Notes to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements" in "Part II. Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this filing.)

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our predominant exposure to market risk is related to our role as general partner or investment advisor to the Blackstone Funds and the sensitivities to movements in the fair value of their investments, including the effect on management fees, performance fees and allocations and investment income.

Although the Blackstone Funds share many common themes, each of our alternative asset management operations runs its own investment and risk management processes, subject to our overall risk tolerance and philosophy:

- The investment process of our carry funds involves a detailed analysis of potential investments, and asset management teams are
 assigned to oversee the operations, strategic development, financing and capital deployment decisions of each portfolio investment.
 Key investment decisions are subject to approval by the applicable investment committee, which is comprised of Blackstone senior
 managing directors and senior management.
- In our capacity as advisor to certain of our credit and marketable alternatives funds, we continuously monitor a variety of markets for attractive trading opportunities, applying a number of traditional and customized risk management metrics to analyze risk related to specific assets or portfolios. In addition, we perform extensive credit and cash-flow analyses of borrowers, credit-based assets and underlying hedge fund managers, and have extensive asset management teams that monitor covenant compliance by, and relevant financial data of, borrowers and other obligors, asset pool performance statistics, tracking of cash payments relating to investments and ongoing analysis of the credit status of investments.

Effect on Fund Management Fees

Our management fees are based on (a) third parties' capital commitments to a Blackstone Fund, (b) third parties' capital invested in a Blackstone Fund or (c) the net asset value, or NAV, of a Blackstone Fund, as described in our consolidated and combined financial statements. Management fees will only be directly affected by short-term changes in market conditions to the extent they are based on NAV or represent permanent impairments of value. These management fees will be increased (or reduced) in direct proportion to the effect of changes in the market value of our investments in the related funds. The proportion of our management fees that

are based on NAV is dependent on the number and types of Blackstone Funds in existence and the current stage of each fund's life cycle. For the year ended December 31, 2009 approximately 29% of our fund management fees were based on the NAV of the applicable funds. For the year ended December 31, 2008 approximately 36% of our fund management fees were based on the NAV of the applicable funds.

Market Risk

The Blackstone Funds hold investments which are reported at fair value. Based on the fair value as of December 31, 2009, we estimate that a 10% decline in fair value of the investments would have the following effects: (a) management fees would decrease by \$34.7 million on an annual basis, (b) performance fees and allocations, net of the related compensation expense, would decrease by \$151.8 million, and (c) investment income, net of the related compensation expense, would decrease by \$126.6 million. Based on the fair value as of December 31, 2008, we estimated that a 10% decline in fair value of the investments would have the following effects: (a) management fees would decrease by \$33.4 million on an annual basis, (b) performance fees and allocations, net of the related compensation expense would decrease by \$169.1 million, and (c) investment income, net of the related compensation expense, would decrease by \$118.2 million.

Total assets under management, excluding undrawn capital commitments and the amount of capital raised for our CLO's, by segment, and the percentage amount classified as Level III investments as defined within the fair value standards of GAAP, are: Private Equity \$19.2 billion (88% Level III), Real Estate \$8.4 billion (91% Level III), and Credit and Marketable Alternatives \$35.9 billion (79% Level III), respectively. The fair value of our investments and securities can vary significantly based on a number of factors that take into consideration the diversity of the Blackstone Funds' investment portfolio and on a number of factors and inputs such as similar transactions, financial metrics, and industry comparatives, among others. (See "Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors" above. Also see "Part II, Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Policies—Investments, at Fair Value.") We believe these estimated fair value amounts should be utilized with caution as our intent and strategy is to hold investments and securities until prevailing market conditions are beneficial for investment sales.

Investors in all of our carry funds (and certain of our credit-oriented funds) make capital commitments to those funds that we are entitled to call from those investors at any time during prescribed periods. We depend on investors fulfilling their commitments when we call capital from them in order for those funds to consummate investments and otherwise pay all their related obligations when due, including management fees. We have not had investors fail to honor capital calls to any meaningful extent and any investor that did not fund a capital call would be subject to having a significant amount of its existing investment forfeited in that fund. But if investors were to fail to satisfy a significant amount of capital calls for any particular fund or funds, those funds could be materially and adversely affected.

Exchange Rate Risk

The Blackstone Funds hold investments that are denominated in non-U.S. dollar currencies that may be affected by movements in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and non-U.S. dollar currencies. Additionally, a portion of our management fees are denominated in non-U.S. dollar currencies. We estimate that as of December 31, 2009, a 10% decline in the rate of exchange of all foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar would have the following effects: (a) management fees would decrease by \$9.3 million on an annual basis, (b) performance fees and allocations would decrease by \$29.8 million, after allocations to non-controlling interest holders and (c) investment income would decrease by \$19.2 million.

As of December 31, 2008, we estimated that a 10% decline in the rate of exchange against the U.S. dollar would have the following effects: (a) management fees would decrease by \$6.9 million on an annual basis, (b) performance fees and allocations would decrease by \$37.3 million, after allocations to non-controlling interest holders and (c) investment income would decrease by \$17.2 million.

Interest Rate Risk

Blackstone has debt obligations payable that accrue interest at variable rates. Additionally, we have swapped a portion of our recent debt offering into a variable rate instrument. Interest rate changes may therefore affect the amount of interest payments, future earnings and cash flows. Based on our debt obligations payable as of December 31, 2009 and our outstanding interest rate swaps, we estimate that interest expense relating to variable rates would increase by \$5.2 million on an annual basis, in the event interest rates were to increase by one percentage point.

Blackstone maintains a diversified portfolio of highly liquid assets to meet the liquidity needs of various businesses (the "Treasury Liquidity Portfolio"). This portfolio includes cash, open-ended money market mutual funds, open-ended bond mutual funds and marketable investment securities. We estimate that our investment income would decrease by \$9.3 million, or 0.6% of the Treasury Liquidity Portfolio, if interest rates were to increase by one percentage point.

Based on our debt obligations payable as of December 31, 2008, we estimated that interest expense relating to variable rate debt obligations payable would increase by \$3.9 million on an annual basis, in the event interest rates were to increase by one percentage point.

Credit Risk

Certain Blackstone Funds and the Investee Funds are subject to certain inherent risks through their investments.

The Treasury Liquidity Portfolio contains certain credit risks including, but not limited to, exposure to uninsured deposits with financial institutions, unsecured corporate bonds and mortgage-backed securities. These exposures are actively monitored on a continuous basis and positions are reallocated based on changes in risk profile, market or economic conditions.

Certain of our entities hold derivative instruments that contain an element of risk in the event that the counterparties may be unable to meet the terms of such agreements. We minimize our risk exposure by limiting the counterparties with which we enter into contracts to banks and investment banks who meet established credit and capital guidelines. We do not expect any counterparty to default on its obligations and therefore do not expect to incur any loss due to counterparty default.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED AND COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	117
Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition as of December 31, 2009 and 2008	118
Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007	119
Consolidated and Combined Statements of Changes in Partners' Capital for the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007	120
Consolidated and Combined Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007	123
Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements	125

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the General Partner and Unitholders of The Blackstone Group L.P.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated and combined statements of financial condition of The Blackstone Group, L.P. and subsidiaries ("Blackstone") as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated and combined statements of operations, changes in partners' capital, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009. We also have audited Blackstone's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Blackstone's management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and an opinion on Blackstone's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated and combined financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Blackstone Group L.P. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, Blackstone maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on the criteria established in *Internal Control—Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission .

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York February 26, 2010

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition (Dollars in Thousands, Except Unit Data)

	December 31,	December 31,
	2009	2008
Assets		
Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$ 952,096	\$ 503,737
Cash Held by Blackstone Funds and Other	86,084	907,324
Investments	3,565,483	2,830,942
Accounts Receivable	306,307	312,067
Due from Affiliates	759,907	1,088,304
Intangible Assets, Net	919,477	1,077,526
Goodwill	1,703,602	1,703,602
Other Assets	172,556	219,977
Deferred Tax Assets	943,512	845,578
Total Assets	\$9,409,024	\$9,489,057
Liabilities and Partners' Capital		
Loans Payable	\$ 657,623	\$ 387,000
Due to Affiliates	1,410,066	1,285,577
Accrued Compensation and Benefits	488,945	413,459
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities	308,857	1,284,576
Total Liabilities	2,865,491	3,370,612
Commitments and Contingencies		
Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	526,311	362,462
Partners' Capital		
Partners' Capital (common units: 319,939,772 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2009;		
273,891,358 issued and 272,998,484 outstanding as of December 31, 2008)	3,376,707	3,509,448
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)	2,420	(291)
Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	540,283	425,067
Non-Controlling Interests in Blackstone Holdings	2,097,812	1,821,759
Total Partners' Capital	6,017,222	5,755,983
Total Liabilities and Partners' Capital	\$9,409,024	\$9,489,057

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations (Dollars in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data)

	Year Ended December 31,			
n	2009	2008	2007	
Revenues Management and Advisory Fees	¢ 1.492.226	¢ 1.476.257	\$ 1,566,047	
Performance Fees and Allocations	\$ 1,482,226	\$ 1,476,357	\$ 1,300,047	
Realized	70,492	38,941	1,024,566	
Unrealized	150,598	(1,286,261)	102,074	
Total Performance Fees and Allocations	221,090	(1,247,320)	1,126,640	
	221,090	(1,247,320)	1,120,040	
Investment Income (Loss) Realized	44,320	(16,425)	223,147	
Unrealized	(3,716)	(606,452)	110,615	
Total Investment Income (Loss)	40,604	(622,877)	333,762	
Interest and Dividend Revenue				
Other	22,680	30,879	23,174	
	7,099	13,600	525	
Total Revenues	1,773,699	(349,361)	3,050,148	
Expenses				
Compensation and Benefits Base Compensation	3,778,686	4,062,238	2 227 210	
Performance Fee Related	3,770,000	4,002,236	2,227,310	
Realized	25,102	4,997	91,203	
Unrealized	(26,182)	(207,448)	(61,866)	
Total Compensation and Benefits	3,777,606	3,859,787	2,256,647	
General, Administrative and Other	443,573	440,776	324,200	
Interest Expense	13,384	23,008	32,080	
Fund Expenses	7,296	63,031	151,917	
Total Expenses	4,241,859	4,386,602	2,764,844	
Other Income (Loss)				
Net Gains (Losses) from Fund Investment Activities	176,694	(872,336)	5,423,132	
Income (Loss) Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	(2,291,466)	(5,608,299)	5,708,436	
Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	99,230	(14,145)	47,693	
Net Income (Loss)	(2,390,696)	(5,594,154)	5,660,743	
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests in	(2,370,070)	(5,5) 1,15 1)	2,000,713	
Consolidated Entities	131,097	(632,495)	628,354	
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated		` ' '	ĺ	
Entities	(14,328)	(159,828)	4,510,881	
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests in Blackstone				
Holdings	(1,792,174)	(3,638,799)	857,022	
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to The Blackstone Group L.P.	\$ (715,291)	\$ (1,163,032)	\$ (335,514)	
Net Loss Attributable to The Blackstone Group L.P.				
Per Common Unit – Basic and Diluted				
Common Units Entitled to Priority Distributions	\$ (2.46)	\$ (4.32)	\$ (1.28)	
Common Units Not Entitled to Priority Distributions	\$ (3.71)	\$ (3.06)	N/A	
Weighted-Average Common Units Outstanding – Basic and Diluted				
Common Units Entitled to Priority Distributions	285,163,954	266,876,031	262,810,720	
Common Units Not Entitled to Priority Distributions	3,826,233	1,501,373	N/A	
•	3,020,233	1,501,575	1N/A	
Revenues Earned from Affiliates	¢ 124.204	¢ 100.076	¢ 504067	
Management and Advisory Fees	<u>\$ 134,284</u>	\$ 188,276	\$ 594,967	

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Consolidated and Combined Statements of Changes in Partners' Capital (Dollars in Thousands, Except Unit Data)

	Common Units	Partners' Capital	Other Compre- hensive Income (Loss)	Non- Controlling Interests in Consolidated	Non- Controlling Interests in Blackstone Holdings	Total Partners' Capital	Redeemable Non- Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Balance at December 31, 2006	_	\$ —	\$ 10,274	\$ 22,734,450	\$ 2,712,604	\$ 25,457,328	\$ 6,060,444	\$ 8,126,628
Net Income	_	_		4,533,944	1,958,751	6,492,695	644,103	\$ 7,136,798
Currency Translation Adjustment	_	_	(191)	13,635	_	13,444	_	13,444
Net Unrealized Loss on Cash Flow Hedges	_	_	(6,930)	_	_	(6,930)		(6,930)
Capital Contributions	_	_	_	5,740,798	233,659	5,974,457	1,419,261	_
Capital Distributions	_	_	_	(5,209,141)	(2,492,352)	(7,701,493)	(429,311)	_
Relinquished in Deconsolidation of								
Partnership	_	_	_	(26,782,715)	_	(26,782,715)	_	_
Elimination of Non- Contributed Entities	_	_	(2,803)	_	(161,103)	(163,906)	_	_
Transfer of Non-Controlling Interests in								
Consolidated Entities		35,276		(506,186)	(35,276)	(506,186)	(139,241)	
Balance at June 18, 2007	_	35,276	350	524,785	2,216,283	2,776,694	7,555,256	7,143,312
Balance at June 19, 2007	_	35,276	350	524,785	2,216,283	2,776,694	7,555,256	7,143,312
Net Loss	_	(335,514)	_	(23,063)	(1,101,729)	(1,460,306)	(15,749)	(1,476,055)
Currency Translation Adjustment	_	_	(5)	551	_	546	_	546
Capital Contributions	_	_	_	128,361	_	128,361	223,336	_
Capital Distributions	_	(78,794)	_	(96,455)	(49,906)	(225,155)	91,133	_
Relinquished in Deconsolidation of								
Partnership	_	_	_	_	_	_	(5,415,730)	_
Elimination of Non- Contributed Entities	_	_	_	140,167	_	140,167	_	_
Transfer of Non-Controlling Interests in								
Consolidated Entities	_	1,174,367	_	(158,460)	(1,549,865)	(533,958)	20	_
Issuance of Units in Initial Public								
Offering, Net of Issuance Costs	153,333,334	4,501,240	_	_	_	4,501,240	_	_
Issuance of Units to Beijing Wonderful								
Investments	101,334,234	3,000,000	_	_	_	3,000,000	_	_
Purchase of Interests from Certain Non-								
Controlling Interest Holders	_	(4,570,756)	_	_	_	(4,570,756)	_	_
Purchase Price due to the Reorganization								
of the Partnership	_	_	_	_	2,255,803	2,255,803	_	_
Deferred Tax Effects Resulting from								
Acquisition of Ownership Interests	_	111,876	_	_	_	111,876	_	_
Equity-based Compensation	_	404,850	_	_	1,332,702	1,737,552	_	
Net Delivery of Vested Common Units	5,804,294	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Repurchase of Common Units	(645,162)	(16,045)				(16,045)		
Balance at December 31, 2007	259,826,700	\$ 4,226,500	\$ 345	\$ 515,886	\$ 3,103,288	\$ 7,846,019	\$ 2,438,266	\$ 5,667,803

continued...

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Consolidated and Combined Statements of Changes in Partners' Capital (Dollars in Thousands, Except Unit Data)

	Common Units	Partners' Capital	Of Com her Inc (L	cher cher cher cher cher cher cher cher	In Cor	Non- ontrolling terests in nsolidated Entities	Non- Controlling Interests in Blackstone Holdings	Total Partners' Capital	Co In Co	deemable Non- ontrolling terests in asolidated Entities	Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Balance at December 31, 2007	259,826,700	\$ 4,226,500	\$	345	\$	515,886	\$ 3,103,288	\$ 7,846,019	\$	2,438,266	\$ 5,667,803
Net Loss	_	(1,163,032)		_		(159,828)	(3,638,799)	(4,961,659)		(632,495)	\$(5,594,153)
Currency Translation Adjustment	_	_		(636)		(532)	_	(1,168)		_	(1,168)
Capital Contributions	_			_		76,884		76,884		317,884	
Capital Distributions	_	(319,897)		_		(128,217)	(410,104)	(858,218)		(749,233)	_
Relinquished in Deconsolidation of Partnership	_	_		_		_	_	_		(612,088)	_
Issuance of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units for GSO Acquisition	_	14,307		_		_	266,092	280,399		_	_
Purchase of Interests from Certain Non- Controlling Interest Holders	_	(74,278)		_		_	(19,511)	(93,789)		_	_
Deferred Tax Effects Resulting from		(, , , , , ,					(- ,- ,	(,,			
Acquisition of Ownership Interests	_	5,164		_		_	_	5,164		_	_
Equity-based Compensation	_	818,076		_		_	2,473,236	3,291,312		_	_
Net Delivery of Vested Common Units	4,601,493	(26,525)		_		_	_	(26,525)		_	_
Repurchase of Common Units	(902,874)	(5,338)		_		_	_	(5,338)		_	_
Conversion of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units to Blackstone Common Units	9,473,165	34,471		_		_	(34,471)	_		_	_
Adjustment to Pre-IPO Reorganization	2,110,200	21,112					(= 1,112)				
Purchase Price	_	_		_		_	82,028	82,028		_	
Consolidation of Partnership	_	_		_		_				159,031	_
Payable to Non-Controlling Interest Holders due to Consolidated Blackstone Funds in Liquidation										(649,091)	
Acquisition of Consolidated Blackstone				_			_	-		(047,071)	_
Funds	_	_		_		120,874	_	120,874		90,188	_
Balance at December 31, 2008	272,998,484	\$ 3,509,448	\$	(291)	\$	425,067	\$ 1,821,759	\$ 5,755,983	\$	362,462	\$(5,595,321)

continued...

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Consolidated and Combined Statements of Changes in Partners' Capital (Dollars in Thousands, Except Unit Data)

		Common Units	Partners' Capital	Co he Ir	Other ompre- ensive oncome Loss)	In Co:	Non- ontrolling iterests in nsolidated	Non- Controlling Interests in Blackstone Holdings	Total Partners' Capital	Co In Co	deemable Non- ontrolling terests in asolidated Entities	Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Balaı	nce at December 31, 2008	272,998,484	\$3,509,448	\$	(291)	\$	425,067	\$ 1,821,759	\$ 5,755,983	\$	362,462	\$(5,595,321)
	Net Loss	_	(715,291)		_		(14,328)	(1,792,174)	(2,521,793)		131,097	\$(2,390,696)
	Currency Translation Adjustment	_	_		2,711		_	_	2,711		_	2,711
	Capital Contributions	_	_		_		61,862	549	62,411		138,255	_
	Capital Distributions	_	(260,629)		_		(34,806)	(1)	(295,436)		(63,349)	_
	Transfer of Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	_	_		_		1,991	(1,991)	_		_	_
	Transfer Due to Reorganization	_	_		_		100,497	_	100,496		_	_
	Purchase of Interests from Certain Non- Controlling Interest Holders	_	(10,020)		_		_	(13)	(10,033)		_	
	Deferred Tax Effects Resulting from Acquisition of Ownership Interests from Non-Controlling Interest Holders	_	21,447		_		_	_	21,447		_	_
	Equity-Based Compensation	_	777,986		_		_	2,180,134	2,958,120		_	_
	Net Delivery of Vested Common Units	3,117,774	(28,974)		_		_	_	(28,974)		_	_
	Repurchase of Common Units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units	(4,375,094)	(27,008)		_		_	(703)	(27,711)		_	
	Conversion of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units to Blackstone Common Units	48,198,608	109,748		_		_	(109,748)	_		_	_
	Loss Attributable to Consolidated Blackstone Funds in Liquidation										(42,153)	
Balaı	nce at December 31, 2009	319,939,772	\$3,376,707	\$	2,420	\$	540,283	\$ 2,097,812	\$ 6,017,222	\$	526,311	\$(2,387,985)

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Consolidated and Combined Statements of Cash Flows (Dollars in Thousands)

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007
Operating Activities			
Net Income (Loss)	\$(2,390,696)	\$ (5,594,154)	\$ 5,660,743
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income (Loss) to Net Cash Provided by (Used			
in) Operating Activities:			
Blackstone Funds Related:			
Unrealized Depreciation (Appreciation) on Investments Allocable			
to Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	(267,433)	907,425	(2,537,918
Net Realized (Gains) Losses on Investments	135,243	164,726	(3,800,13
Changes in Unrealized (Gains) Losses on Investments Allocable to			
Blackstone Group	15,978	624,061	(13,630
Unrealized Depreciation on Hedge Activities	(6,975)	_	_
Non-Cash Performance Fees and Allocations	(269,152)	1,086,058	(187,070
Equity-Based Compensation Expense	3,048,108	3,302,617	1,765,188
Amortization of Intangibles	158,048	153,237	117,60
Other Non-Cash Amounts Included in Net Income	25,243	19,688	11,22
Cash Flows Due to Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:			
Cash Held by Blackstone Funds and Other	821,240	(743,628)	643,410
Cash Relinquished with Deconsolidation of Partnership	_	(1,092)	(884,48)
Accounts Receivable	35,050	45,281	337,82
Due from Affiliates	385,941	(412,184)	(969,05
Other Assets	91,397	732,192	(468,700
Accrued Compensation and Benefits	(14,502)	157,528	95,059
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities	(987,241)	796,897	273,388
Due to Affiliates	(261,685)	182,090	805,68
Investments Purchased	(1,196,636)	_	
Cash Proceeds from Sale of Investments	643,348	_	_
Blackstone Funds Related:			
Investments Purchased	(421,974)	(30,242,498)	(33,655,862
Cash Proceeds from Sale of Investments	868,207	30,712,191	31,956,429
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities	411,509	1,890,435	(850,290
nvesting Activities			
Purchase of Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements	(23,627)	(50,113)	(32,307
Elimination of Cash for Non-Contributed Entities	(==,==,) —	_	(23,292
Cash Paid for Acquisitions, Net of Cash Acquired	_	(336,571)	(
Changes in Restricted Cash	4,801	5,004	_
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities	(18,826)	(381,680)	(55,599
Sinancing Activities	(10,020)	(301,000)	(33,37)
			7,501,240
Issuance of Common Units in Initial Public Offering	(02.521)	(2.124.621)	
Distributions to Non-Controlling Interest Holders in Consolidated Entities	(92,531)	(2,124,621)	(5,731,800
Contributions from Non-Controlling Interest Holders in Consolidated Entities Contributions from Predecessor Owners	205,558	520,494	7,132,074
			583,773

See notes to consolidated and combined financial statements.

continued...

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Consolidated and Combined Statements of Cash Flows (Dollars in Thousands)

	Y	31,	
	2009	2008	2007
Distributions to Predecessor Owners	\$ —	\$ —	\$(2,932,918)
Purchase of Interests from Certain Non-Controlling Interest Holders	(10,033)	(109,834)	(4,570,756)
Net Settlement of Vested Common Units and Repurchase of Common Units	(56,685)	(31,863)	(16,045)
Proceeds from Loans Payable	593,989	1,172,236	5,254,787
Repayment of Loans Payable	(323,993)	(980,162)	(5,497,113)
Distributions to Common Unitholders	(260,629)	(319,897)	(78,794)
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities	55,676	(1,873,647)	1,644,442
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents			639
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents	448,359	(364,892)	739,186
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period	503,737	868,629	129,443
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period	<u>\$ 952,096</u>	\$ 503,737	\$ 868,629
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flows Information			
Payments for Interest	\$ 5,097	\$ 22,038	\$ 60,326
Payments for Income Taxes	\$ 52,035	\$ 46,880	\$ 75,899
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Financing Activities			
Non-Cash Distributions to Non-Controlling Interest Holders	\$	\$	\$ (22,169)
Non-Cash Distributions to Partners	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 49,763
Elimination of Capital of Non-Contributed Entities	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 118,947
Elimination of Non-Controlling Interests of Non-Contributed Entities	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 163,906
Transfer of Partners' Capital to Non-Controlling Interests	\$ 1,991	\$	\$ 2,216,284
Transfer Due to Reorganization	\$ 100,497	<u> </u>	\$
Distribution Payable to Predecessor Owners	<u>\$</u>	<u> </u>	\$ 65,995
Reduction of Due to Limited Partners Account to Fund Sidepocket Investment	\$ 6,261	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$</u>
Notes Issuance Costs	\$ 4,761	\$	\$
Settlement of Vested Common Units	\$ 199,447	\$ 170,626	<u> </u>
Conversion of Blackstone Holdings Units to Common Units	\$ 109,748	\$ 34,471	<u> </u>
Reorganization of the Partnership:			
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities	<u>\$</u>	\$ (82,028)	\$(2,255,804)
Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	\$ —	\$ 82,028	\$ 2,255,804
Exchange of Founders and Senior Managing Directors' Interests in Blackstone Holdings:			
Deferred Tax Asset	\$(142,982)	\$ (34,427)	\$ (745,837)
Due to Affiliates	\$ 121,535	\$ 29,263	\$ 633,961
Partners' Capital	\$ 21,447	\$ 5,164	\$ 111,876
Acquisition of GSO Capital Partners LP – Units Issued	\$	\$ 280,400	\$

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

1. ORGANIZATION

The Blackstone Group L.P., together with its subsidiaries, ("Blackstone" or the "Partnership") is a leading global manager of private capital and provider of financial advisory services. The alternative asset management businesses includes the management of private equity funds, real estate funds, funds of hedge funds, credit-oriented funds, collateralized loan obligation ("CLO") vehicles, separately managed accounts and publicly traded closed-end mutual funds (collectively referred to as the "Blackstone Funds"). Blackstone also provides various financial advisory services, including corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory, restructuring and reorganization advisory and fund placement services. Blackstone's business is organized into four segments: private equity; real estate; credit and marketable alternatives; and financial advisory.

The Partnership was formed as a Delaware limited partnership on March 12, 2007. The Partnership is managed and operated by its general partner, Blackstone Group Management L.L.C., which is in turn wholly-owned and controlled by one of Blackstone's founders, Stephen A. Schwarzman, and Blackstone's other senior managing directors.

The activities of the Partnership are conducted through its holding partnerships: Blackstone Holdings I L.P.; Blackstone Holdings II L.P.; Blackstone Holdings IV L.P.; and Blackstone Holdings V L.P (collectively, the "Holding Partnerships"). On June 18, 2007, in preparation for an initial public offering, the predecessor owners of the Blackstone business completed a reorganization (the "Reorganization") whereby, with certain limited exceptions, the operating entities of the predecessor organization and the intellectual property rights associated with the Blackstone name were contributed ("Contributed Businesses") to these five holding partnerships either directly or indirectly via a sale to certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Partnership and then a contribution to the Holding Partnerships. The Partnership, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, is the sole general partner in each of these Holding Partnerships. The reorganization was accounted for as an exchange of entities under common control for the component of interests contributed by the Founders and the other senior managing directors (collectively, the "Control Group") and as an acquisition of non-controlling interests using the purchase method of accounting for all the predecessor owners other than the Control Group.

Undistributed earnings of the Contributed Businesses through the date of the Reorganization inured to the benefit of predecessor owners.

On January 1, 2009, the number of Holding Partnerships was reduced from five to four through the transfer of assets and liabilities of Blackstone Holdings III L.P to Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. In connection therewith, Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. was renamed Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and Blackstone Holdings V L.P. was renamed Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. Blackstone Holdings refers to the five holding partnerships prior to the January 2009 reorganization and the four holding partnerships subsequent to the January 2009 reorganization.

Holders of the limited partner interests in the four Holding Partnerships may, up to four times each year, exchange their limited partnership interests ("Partnership Units") for Blackstone Common Units, on a one-to-one basis, exchanging one Partnership Unit in each of the four Holding Partnerships for one Blackstone Common Unit. Until the Blackstone Common Units issued in such exchanges were sold to third parties, they were required to forego any priority distributions under the cash distribution policy as described in Note 13 "Net Loss Per Common Unit".

Initial Public Offering

On June 27, 2007, the Partnership completed an initial public offering ("IPO") of its Common Units representing limited partner interests in the Partnership. Upon the completion of the IPO, public investors indirectly owned approximately 14.1% of the equity in Blackstone. Concurrently with the IPO, the Partnership

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

completed the sale of non-voting common units, representing approximately 9.3% of the equity in Blackstone, to Beijing Wonderful Investments, an investment vehicle subsequently transferred to China Investment Corporation. On October 28, 2008, the agreement with Beijing Wonderful Investments was amended whereby it, and certain of its affiliates, are restricted in the future from engaging in the purchase of Blackstone common units that would result in its aggregate beneficial ownership in Blackstone on a fully-diluted (as-converted) basis exceeding 12.5%, an increase from 10% at the date of the IPO. In addition, Blackstone common units owned by Beijing Wonderful Investments or its affiliates in excess of 10% aggregate beneficial ownership in Blackstone on a fully-diluted (as-converted) basis are not subject to any restrictions on transfer but are non-voting while held by Beijing Wonderful Investments or its affiliates.

The Partnership contributed the proceeds from the IPO and the sale of non-voting common units to Beijing Wonderful Investments to its wholly-owned subsidiaries, which in turn used these proceeds to (a) purchase interests in the Contributed Businesses from the predecessor owners (which interests were then contributed to Blackstone Holdings in exchange for newly-issued Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units) and (b) purchase additional newly-issued Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units from Blackstone Holdings.

Consolidation and Deconsolidation of Blackstone Funds

Concurrently with the Reorganization, the Contributed Businesses that act as a general partner of a consolidated Blackstone Fund (with the exception of Blackstone's then existing proprietary hedge funds and four of the funds of hedge funds) took the necessary steps to grant rights to the unaffiliated investors in each respective fund to provide that a simple majority of the fund's unaffiliated investors will have the right, without cause, to remove the general partner of that fund or to accelerate the liquidation date of that fund in accordance with certain procedures. The granting of these rights resulted in the deconsolidation of such investment funds from the Partnership's consolidated financial statements and the accounting of Blackstone's interest in these funds under the equity method. With the exception of certain funds of hedge funds, hedge funds and credit-oriented funds, these rights became effective on June 27, 2007 for all Blackstone Funds where these rights were granted. The effective date of these rights for the applicable funds of hedge funds was July 1, 2007. The consolidated results of these funds have been reflected in the Partnership's consolidated and combined financial statements up to the effective date of these rights.

Acquisitions

On March 3, 2008, the Partnership acquired GSO Capital Partners LP and certain of its affiliates ("GSO"). GSO is an alternative asset manager specializing in the credit markets. GSO manages various multi-strategy credit hedge funds, mezzanine funds, senior debt funds, separately managed accounts and various CLO vehicles.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated and combined financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"). The consolidated and combined financial statements prior to the Reorganization described in Note 1 include the entities engaged in the above businesses under the common ownership of the two founders of Blackstone, Stephen A. Schwarzman and Peter G. Peterson (the "Founders"), Blackstone's other senior managing directors and selected other individuals engaged in some of Blackstone's businesses, personal planning vehicles beneficially owned by the families of these individuals and a subsidiary of American International Group, Inc. ("AIG"), collectively, together with the Founders, referred to as the "predecessor owners".

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Subsequent to the Reorganization, the consolidated and combined financial statements include the accounts of the Partnership, its wholly-owned subsidiaries, the consolidated funds which are considered to be variable interest entities and for which the Partnership is considered the primary beneficiary, and certain partnerships or similar entities which are not considered variable interest entities but in which the Partnership has a controlling financial interest.

The December 31, 2008 Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition reflect a restatement to correct the classification of the portion of net gains (losses) from Blackstone Investment Funds attributable to departed participants in Blackstone's profit sharing plans. At December 31, 2008, cumulative distributions to such departed participants exceeded net gains attributable to them such that Blackstone had an accrued clawback due from the departed participants totaling \$226.9 million. This amount was previously classified as Non-Controlling Interests but should properly be, and has been reclassified as, a component within Due from Affiliates. The immaterial restatement had no impact on the Consolidated and Combined Statement of Operations or the Consolidated and Combined Statement of Cash Flows.

All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform to the current year presentation as follows:

- During the year ended December 31, 2008, Blackstone elected to classify Management and Advisory Fees in a single line item and reclassify amounts relating to Performance Fees and Allocations from Management and Advisory Fees and into Performance Fees and Allocations to reflect the underlying nature of the fee arrangements. In the second quarter of 2009, Blackstone elected to disaggregate Investment Income and Other between Investment Income (Loss) and Interest Income and Other. Investment Income (Loss) represents the income (loss) from Blackstone's proprietary and equity method investments, and Interest Income and Other represents primarily interest and dividend income.
- In the fourth quarter of 2009, Blackstone elected to disaggregate Compensation and Benefits into Base Compensation and Performance Fee Related Compensation. Blackstone then disaggregated Investment Income (Loss), Performance Fees and Allocations, and Compensation and Benefits—Performance Fee Related into their realized and unrealized components. Blackstone also disaggregated Interest Income and Other between Interest and Dividend Revenue and Other. Interest and Dividend Revenue includes income earned in the form of interest and dividends and Other includes foreign currency exchange gains (losses) and other income. As of December 31, 2009, Blackstone elected to aggregate certain financial statement captions on the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition into Other Assets and Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities as such individual items no longer meet the materiality thresholds for separate presentation. Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities includes amounts due to non-controlling interest holders.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated and combined financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated and combined financial statements and accompanying notes. Management believes that estimates utilized in the preparation of the consolidated and combined financial statements are prudent and reasonable and that it has made all necessary adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring items) so that the consolidated and combined financial statements are presented fairly. Actual results could differ from those estimates and such differences could be material.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Consolidation

The Partnership consolidates all entities that it controls through a majority voting interest or otherwise, including those Blackstone Funds in which the general partner is presumed to have control. Although the Partnership has a non-controlling interest in the Blackstone Holding Partnerships, the limited partners do not have the right to dissolve the partnerships or have substantive kick out rights or participating rights that would overcome the presumption of control by the Partnership. Accordingly, the Partnership consolidates Blackstone Holdings and records non-controlling interests to reflect the economic interests of the limited partners of Blackstone Holdings.

In addition, the Partnership consolidates all variable interest entities ("VIE") in which it is the primary beneficiary. An enterprise is determined to be the primary beneficiary if it absorbs the majority of the VIE's expected losses, receives the majority of the VIE's expected returns, or both.

GAAP requires an analysis to (a) determine whether an entity in which the Partnership holds a variable interest is a variable interest entity, and (b) whether the Partnership's involvement, through holding interests directly or indirectly in the entity or contractually through other variable interests (e.g., management and performance related fees), would be expected to absorb a majority of the variability of the entity. Performance of that analysis requires the exercise of judgment. The Partnership determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the time it becomes involved with a variable interest entity and reconsiders that conclusion based on certain reconsideration events. In evaluating whether the Partnership is the primary beneficiary, Blackstone evaluates its economic interests in the fund held either directly by the Partnership or indirectly through employees. The consolidation analysis can generally be performed qualitatively; however, if it is not readily apparent that the Partnership is not the primary beneficiary, a quantitative expected losses and expected residual returns calculation is performed. Investments and redemptions (either by the Partnership, affiliates of the Partnership or third parties) or amendments to the governing documents of the respective Blackstone Funds could affect an entity's status as a VIE or the determination of the primary beneficiary. At each reporting date and on the occurrence of reconsideration events, the Partnership assesses whether it is the primary beneficiary and will consolidate or deconsolidate accordingly.

Blackstone's other disclosures regarding VIEs are discussed in Note 9 "Variable Interest Entities".

Business Combinations

The Partnership accounts for acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting, under which the purchase price of the acquisition is allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed using the fair values determined by management as of the acquisition date.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues primarily consist of management and advisory fees, performance fees and allocations, investment income, interest and dividend revenue and other.

Management and Advisory Fees – Management and Advisory Fees are comprised of management fees, including base management fees, transaction and other fees, management fee reductions and offsets, and advisory fees.

The Partnership earns base management fees from limited partners of funds in each of its managed funds, at a fixed percentage of assets under management, net asset value, total assets, committed capital or invested capital. Base management fees are based on contractual terms specified in the underlying investment advisory agreements.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Transaction and other fees (including monitoring fees) are fees charged directly to funds and portfolio companies. The investment advisory agreements generally require that the investment advisor reduce the amount of management fees payable by the limited partners to the Partnership ("management fee reductions") by an amount equal to a portion of the transaction and other fees directly paid to the Partnership by the portfolio companies. The amount of the reduction varies by fund, the type of fee paid by the portfolio company and the previously incurred expenses of the fund.

Management fee offsets are reductions to management fees payable by limited partners, which are granted based on the amount they reimburse Blackstone for placement fees.

Advisory fees consist of advisory retainer and transaction-based fee arrangements related to merger, acquisition, restructuring and divestiture activities and fund placement services for alternative investment funds. Advisory retainer fees are recognized when services for the transactions are complete, in accordance with terms set forth in individual agreements. Transaction-based fees are recognized when (a) there is evidence of an arrangement with a client, (b) agreed upon services have been provided, (c) fees are fixed or determinable and (d) collection is reasonably assured. Fund placement fees are recognized as earned upon the acceptance by a fund of capital or capital commitments.

Accrued but unpaid Management and Advisory Fees, net of management fee reductions and management fee offsets, as of the reporting date, are included in Accounts Receivable or Due From Affiliates in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

Performance Fees and Allocations – Performance fees earned on the performance of Blackstone's hedge fund structures are recognized based on fund performance during the period, subject to the achievement of minimum return levels, or high water marks, in accordance with the respective terms set out in each hedge fund investment advisory agreement. Accrued but unpaid performance fees charged directly to investors in Blackstone's offshore hedge funds as of the reporting date are recorded within Due from Affiliates in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition. Performance fees arising on Blackstone's onshore hedge funds are allocated to the general partner. Accrued but unpaid performance fees on onshore funds as of the reporting date are reflected in Investments in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

In certain fund structures, specifically in private equity, real estate and certain credit-oriented funds ("Carry Funds"), performance fees ("Carried Interest") are allocated to the general partner based on cumulative fund performance to date, subject to a preferred return to limited partners. At the end of each reporting period, the Partnership calculates the Carried Interest that would be due to the Partnership for each fund, pursuant to the fund agreements, as if the fair value of the underlying investments were realized as of such date, irrespective of whether such amounts have been realized. As the fair value of underlying investments varies between reporting periods, it is necessary to make adjustments to amounts recorded as Carried Interest to reflect either (a) positive performance resulting in an increase in the Carried Interest allocated to the general partner or (b) negative performance that would cause the amount due to the Partnership to be less than the amount previously recognized as revenue resulting in a negative adjustment to Carried Interest allocated to the general partner. In each scenario, it is necessary to calculate the Carried Interest on cumulative results compared to the Carried Interest recorded to date and make the required positive or negative adjustments. The Partnership ceases to record negative Carried Interest allocations once previously recognized Carried Interest allocations for such fund have been fully reversed. The Partnership is not obligated to pay guaranteed returns or hurdles, and therefore, cannot have negative Carried Interest over the life of a fund. Accrued but unpaid Carried Interest as of the reporting date is reflected in Investments in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Carried interest is realized when an underlying investment is profitably disposed of and the fund's cumulative returns are in excess of the preferred return. Performance fees earned on hedge fund structures are realized at the end of each fund's measurement period.

Carried Interest is subject to clawback to the extent that the Carried Interest actually distributed to date exceeds the amount due to Blackstone based on cumulative results. As such, the accrual for potential repayment of previously received performance fees and allocations, which is a component of Due to Affiliates, represents all amounts previously distributed to Blackstone Holdings and non-controlling interest holders that would need to be repaid to the Blackstone Funds if the Blackstone Carry Funds were to be liquidated based on the current fair value of the underlying funds' investments as of the reporting date. The actual clawback liability, however, does not become realized until the end of a fund's life or one year after a realized loss is incurred, depending on the fund.

Investment Income (Loss) – Investment Income (Loss) represents the unrealized and realized gains and losses on the Partnership's principal investments, including its investments in Blackstone Funds that are not consolidated, its equity method investments, and other principal investments. Investment Income (Loss) is realized when the Partnership redeems all or a portion of its investment or when the Partnership receives cash income, such as dividends or distributions, from its non-consolidated funds. Unrealized Investment Income (Loss) results from changes in the fair value of the underlying investment as well as the reversal of unrealized gain (loss) at the time an investment is realized.

Interest and Dividend Revenue – Interest and Dividend Revenue comprises primarily interest and dividend income earned on principal investments held by Blackstone.

Other Revenue – Other Revenue comprises primarily foreign exchange gains and losses arising on transactions denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

GAAP establishes a hierarchal disclosure framework which prioritizes and ranks the level of market price observability used in measuring financial instruments at fair value. Market price observability is affected by a number of factors, including the type of financial instrument, the characteristics specific to the financial instrument and the state of the marketplace, including the existence and transparency of transactions between market participants. Financial instruments with readily available quoted prices in active markets generally will have a higher degree of market price observability and a lesser degree of judgment used in measuring fair value.

Financial instruments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed based on the observability of inputs used in the determination of fair values, as follows:

- Level I Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical financial instruments as of the reporting date. The type of financial instruments in Level I include listed equities and listed derivatives. The Partnership does not adjust the quoted price for these investments, even in situations where Blackstone holds a large position and a sale could reasonably impact the quoted price.
- Level II Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reporting date, and fair value is determined through the use of models or other valuation methodologies. Financial instruments which are generally included in this category include corporate bonds and loans, less liquid and restricted equity securities, certain over-the-counter derivatives

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

where the fair value is based on observable inputs, and certain fund of hedge funds investments in which Blackstone has the ability to redeem its investment at net asset value at, or within three months of, the reporting date.

• Level III – Pricing inputs are unobservable for the financial instruments and includes situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the financial instrument. The inputs into the determination of fair value require significant management judgment or estimation. Financial instruments that are included in this category generally include general and limited partnership interests in private equity and real estate funds, credit-oriented funds, distressed debt and non-investment grade residual interests in securitizations, collateralized loan obligations, certain over the counter derivatives where the fair value is based on unobservable inputs and certain funds of hedge funds which use net asset value per share to determine fair value in which Blackstone may not have the ability to redeem its investment at net asset value at, or within three months of, the reporting date. Blackstone may not have the ability to redeem its investment at net asset value at, or within three months of, the reporting date if an investee fund manager has the ability to limit the amount of redemptions, and/or the ability to side-pocket investments, irrespective of whether such ability has been exercised.

In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, the determination of which category within the fair value hierarchy is appropriate for any given financial instrument is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Partnership's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the financial instrument.

In certain cases, debt and equity securities are valued on the basis of prices from an orderly transaction between market participants provided by reputable dealers or pricing services. In determining the value of a particular investment, pricing services may use certain information with respect to transactions in such investments, quotations from dealers, pricing matrices, market transactions in comparable investments and various relationships between investments.

In the absence of observable market prices, Blackstone values its investments using valuation methodologies applied on a consistent basis. For some investments little market activity may exist; management's determination of fair value is then based on the best information available in the circumstances, and may incorporate management's own assumptions and involves a significant degree of judgment, taking into consideration a combination of internal and external factors, including the appropriate risk adjustments for non-performance and liquidity risks. Investments for which market prices are not observable include private investments in the equity of operating companies, real estate properties or certain funds of hedge funds. The valuation technique for each of these investments is described below:

Private Equity Investments – The fair values of private equity investments are determined by reference to projected net earnings, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA"), the discounted cash flow method, public market or private transactions, valuations for comparable companies and other measures which, in many cases, are unaudited at the time received. Valuations may be derived by reference to observable valuation measures for comparable companies or transactions (e.g., multiplying a key performance metric of the investee company such as EBITDA by a relevant valuation multiple observed in the range of comparable companies or transactions), adjusted by management for differences between the investment and the referenced comparables, and in some instances by reference to option pricing models or other similar methods. Private equity investments may also be valued at cost for a period of time after an acquisition as the best indicator of fair value.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Real Estate Investments – The fair values of real estate investments, are determined by considering projected operating cash flows, sales of comparable assets, if any, and replacement costs among other measures. The methods used to estimate the fair value of real estate investments include the discounted cash flow method and/or capitalization rates ("cap rates") analysis. Valuations may be derived by reference to observable valuation measures for comparable companies or assets (e.g., multiplying a key performance metric of the investee company or asset, such as EBITDA, by a relevant valuation multiple observed in the range of comparable companies or transactions), adjusted by management for differences between the investment and the referenced comparables, and in some instances by reference to option pricing models or other similar methods. Additionally, where applicable, projected distributable cash flow through debt maturity will also be considered in support of the investment's carrying value.

Funds of Hedge Funds – Blackstone Funds' direct investments in funds of hedge funds ("Investee Funds") are valued at net asset value ("NAV") per share of the Investee Fund. If the Partnership determines, based on its own due diligence and investment procedures, that NAV per share does not represent fair value, the Partnership will estimate the fair value in good faith and in a manner that it reasonably chooses, in accordance with its valuation policies.

Credit-Oriented Investments – The fair values of credit-oriented investments are generally determined on the basis of prices between market participants provided by reputable dealers or pricing services. In some instances, Blackstone may utilize other valuation techniques, including the discounted cash flow method.

Investments, at Fair Value

The Blackstone Funds are accounted for as investment companies under the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, *Investment Companies*, and reflect their investments, including majority-owned and controlled investments (the "Portfolio Companies"), at fair value. Blackstone has retained the specialized accounting for the consolidated Blackstone Funds. Thus, such consolidated funds' investments are reflected in Investments on the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value reflected as a component of Net Gains (Losses) from Fund Investment Activities in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations. Fair value is the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (i.e., the exit price).

Blackstone's principal investments are presented at fair value with unrealized appreciation or depreciation and realized gains and losses recognized in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations within Investment Income (Loss).

For certain instruments, the Partnership has elected the fair value option. Such election is irrevocable and is applied on an investment by investment basis at initial recognition. The Partnership has applied the fair value option for certain loans and receivables and certain investments in private debt and equity securities, that otherwise would not have been carried at fair value with gains and losses recorded in net income to consistently account for principal investments held by the Partnership. Loans extended to third parties are recorded within Accounts Receivable within the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition. Debt and equity securities for which the fair value option has been elected are recorded within Investments. The methodology for measuring the fair value of such investments is consistent with the methodology applied to private equity, real estate, credit-oriented and funds of hedge funds investments. Changes in the fair value of such instruments are recognized in Investment Income (Loss) in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations. Interest

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

income on interest bearing loans and receivables and debt securities on which the fair value option has been elected is based on stated coupon rates adjusted for the accretion of purchase discounts and the amortization of purchase premiums. This interest income is recorded within Interest and Dividend Revenue. Further disclosure on instruments for which the fair value option has been elected is presented in Note 7 "Fair Value Option" to the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

Securities transactions are recorded on a trade date basis.

Equity Method Investments

Investments where the Partnership is deemed to exert significant influence, but not control, are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the Partnership's share of earnings (losses) from equity method investments is included in Investment Income in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations. The carrying amounts of equity method investments are reflected in Investments in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

The Partnership evaluates its equity method investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of such investments may not be recoverable. The difference between the carrying value and its estimated fair value is recognized as impairment when the loss is deemed other than temporary.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represents cash on hand, cash held in banks and liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Interest income from cash and cash equivalents is recorded in Interest and Dividend Revenue in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations.

Cash Held By Blackstone Funds and Other

Cash held by Blackstone Funds and Other represents cash and cash equivalents held by consolidated Blackstone Funds and other consolidated entities. Such amounts are not available to fund the general liquidity needs of Blackstone.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable includes management fees receivable from limited partners, receivables related to the redemption of Partnership interests from underlying funds in the fund of hedge funds business, placement and advisory fees receivables, and loans extended to unaffiliated third parties. Accounts Receivable, excluding those for which the fair value option has been elected, are assessed periodically for collectibility. Amounts determined to be uncollectible are charged directly to General, Administrative and Other Expenses in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations.

Intangibles and Goodwill

Blackstone's intangible assets consist of contractual rights to earn future fee income, including management and advisory fees and Carried Interest from its Carry Funds. Identifiable finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives, ranging from 5 to 20 years, reflecting the contractual lives of such funds. The Partnership does not hold any indefinite-lived intangible assets.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Goodwill comprises goodwill arising from the Reorganization of the Partnership in 2007 and the acquisition of GSO in 2008 (see Note 1 "Organization").

Intangibles and goodwill are reviewed for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred.

Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements consist primarily of leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment, computer hardware and software and are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight line method over the assets' estimated useful economic lives, which for leasehold improvements are the lesser of the lease terms or the life of the asset, generally fifteen years, and three to seven years for other fixed assets. The Partnership evaluates long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

Derivative Instruments

The Partnership recognizes all derivatives as assets or liabilities on its Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition at fair value. On the date the Partnership enters into a derivative contract, it designates and documents each derivative contract as one of the following: (a) a hedge of a recognized asset or liability ("fair value hedge"), (b) a hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability ("cash flow hedge"); (c) a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation; or (d) a derivative instrument not designated as a hedging instrument ("free standing derivative"). For a fair value hedge, Blackstone records changes in the fair value of the derivative and, to the extent that it is highly effective, changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability attributable to the hedged risk, in current period earnings in the same caption in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations as the hedged item. Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as hedging instruments caused by factors other than changes in the risk being hedged, which are excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness, are recognized in current period earnings. For free standing derivative contracts, the Partnership presents changes in fair value in current period earnings.

The Partnership formally documents at inception its hedge relationships, including identification of the hedging instruments and the hedged items, its risk management objectives, strategy for undertaking the hedge transaction and the Partnership's evaluation of effectiveness of its hedged transaction. On a monthly basis, the Partnership also formally assesses whether the derivative it designated in each hedging relationship is expected to be, and has been, highly effective in offsetting changes in estimated fair values or cash flows of the hedged items using either the regression analysis or the dollar offset method. If it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective at hedging the designated exposure, hedge accounting is discontinued.

Foreign Currency

In the normal course of business, the Partnership may enter into transactions not denominated in United States dollars. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising on such transactions are recorded as Other in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations. In addition, the Partnership consolidates a number of entities that have a non-U.S. dollar functional currency. Non-U.S. denominated assets and liabilities are translated to U.S. dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date and income, expenses, gains and

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

losses are translated at the prevailing exchange rate on the dates that they were recorded. Cumulative translation adjustments arising from the translation of non-U.S. denominated operations are recorded in Other Comprehensive Income.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive Income consists of Net Income and Other Comprehensive Income. The Partnership's Other Comprehensive Income is comprised of unrealized gains and losses on cash flow hedges and foreign currency cumulative translation adjustments.

Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities

Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities represent the component of Partner's Capital in consolidated entities held by third party investors. Such interests are adjusted for general partner allocations and by subscriptions and redemptions in funds of hedge funds and certain credit-oriented funds which occur during the reporting period. Non-controlling interests related to funds of hedge funds and certain other credit-oriented funds are subject to annual, semi-annual or quarterly redemption by investors in these funds following the expiration of a specified period of time (typically between one and three years), or may be withdrawn subject to a redemption fee in the funds of hedge funds and certain credit-oriented funds during the period when capital may not be withdrawn. As limited partners in these types of funds have been granted redemption rights, amounts relating to third party interests in such consolidated funds are presented as Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities within the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition. When redeemable amounts become legally payable to investors, they are classified as a liability and included in Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition as Non-controlling interests are presented within Partner's Capital in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition as Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities. When funds are restructured, they are reflected as a cash distribution for cash flow purposes.

Compensation and Benefits

Compensation and Benefits –Base Compensation – Base compensation and benefits consists of (a) employee compensation, comprising salary and bonus, and benefits paid and payable to employees, including senior managing directors, and (b) equity-based compensation associated with the grants of equity-based awards to employees, including senior managing directors.

Equity-Based Compensation – Compensation cost relating to the issuance of share-based awards to senior managing directors and employees is measured at fair value at the grant date, taking into consideration expected forfeitures, and expensed over the vesting period on a straight line basis. Equity-based awards that do not require future service are expensed immediately. Cash settled equity-based awards are classified as liabilities and are re-measured at the end of each reporting period.

Compensation and Benefits – Performance Fee Related – Performance fee related compensation and benefits consists of Carried Interest and performance fee allocations to employees, including senior managing directors, participating in certain profit sharing initiatives. Employees participating in such initiatives are allocated a portion of Carried Interest and performance fees allocated to the general partner under performance fee allocations (see "Revenue Recognition"). Such compensation expense is recognized in the same manner as Carried Interest and performance fee allocations and is subject to both positive and negative adjustments as a result of changes in underlying fund performance.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Income Taxes

The Blackstone Holdings partnerships and certain of their subsidiaries operate in the U.S. as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes and generally as corporate entities in non-U.S. jurisdictions. Accordingly, these entities in some cases are subject to New York City unincorporated business taxes or non-U.S. income taxes. In addition, certain of the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Partnership and the Blackstone Holdings partnerships will be subject to federal, state and local corporate income taxes at the entity level and the related tax provision attributable to the Partnership's share of this income is reflected in the consolidated and combined financial statements.

Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method of accounting. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis, using currently enacted tax rates. The effect on deferred assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period when the change is enacted. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Blackstone analyzes its tax filing positions in all of the U.S. federal, state and foreign tax jurisdictions where it is required to file income tax returns, as well as for all open tax years in these jurisdictions. If, based on this analysis, the Partnership determines that uncertainties in tax positions exist, a reserve is established. Blackstone recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in General, Administrative, and Other expenses within the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations.

Tax laws are complex and subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer and respective governmental taxing authorities. Significant judgment is required in determining tax expense and in evaluating tax positions, including evaluating uncertainties under GAAP. Blackstone reviews its tax positions quarterly and adjusts its tax balances as new information becomes available.

Earnings Per Unit

Blackstone calculates basic and diluted earnings per unit using the two class method, which requires an entity to include non-vested share-based payment awards that have non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents as a separate class of securities in such calculation. Basic earnings per unit are calculated by dividing total undistributed loss by the weighted-average number of common units outstanding, including unvested equity awards. Diluted earnings per unit exclude the anti-dilutive effect of unvested deferred restricted common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units.

Recent Accounting Developments

Effective January 1, 2009, the Partnership adopted accounting guidance issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") on business combinations. The guidance requires the acquiring entity in a business combination, for which the acquisition date is on or after January 1, 2009, to recognize the full fair value of assets, liabilities, contingencies and contingent consideration obtained in the transaction (whether for a full or partial acquisition); establishes the acquisition date fair value as the measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed; requires expensing of most transaction and restructuring costs; and requires the acquirer to disclose to investors and other users all of the information needed to evaluate and understand the nature and financial effect of the business combination. The guidance applies to all transactions or other events in which the Partnership obtains control of one or more businesses, including those sometimes referred to as "true mergers" or

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

"mergers of equals" and combinations achieved without the transfer of consideration, for example, by contract alone or through the lapse of minority veto rights. The Partnership did not enter into any business combination transactions during the year ended December 31, 2009.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance on the accounting and financial statement presentation of non-controlling (minority) interests. The guidance requires reporting entities to present non-redeemable non-controlling (minority) interests as equity (as opposed to a liability or mezzanine equity) and provides guidance on the accounting for transactions between an entity and non-controlling interest holders. As a result of adoption, (a) with respect to the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition, the Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities was renamed as such and remained classified as mezzanine equity, and the non-redeemable Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities and Non-Controlling Interests in Blackstone Holdings have been reclassified as components of Partners' Capital, (b) with respect to the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations, Net Income (Loss) is now presented before non-controlling interests, the Net Income (Loss) attributable to the three categories of non-controlling interests discussed in (a) above are now presented separately, and the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations now net to Net Income (Loss) Attributable to The Blackstone Group L.P., and (c) with respect to the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Changes in Partners' Capital, roll forward columns have now been added for each component of non-controlling interests discussed in (a) above. The presentation and disclosure requirements have been applied retrospectively for all periods presented in accordance with the issued guidance. The guidance also clarifies the scope of accounting and reporting for decreases in ownership of a subsidiary to include groups of assets that constitute a business. The scope clarification did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance issued by the Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") on the application of the two-class share method of earnings per share as applied to master limited partnerships. The guidance applies to master limited partnerships that make incentive equity distributions. The Partnership has applied the guidance on a retrospective basis and has presented earnings per unit based on the two-class share method for all periods presented. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance issued by the FASB regarding disclosures about derivative instruments and hedging activities. The purpose of the guidance is to improve financial reporting of derivative instruments and hedging activities. The guidance requires enhanced disclosures to enable investors to better understand how those instruments and activities are accounted for, how and why they are used and their effects on an entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The adoption resulted in additional required disclosures relating to derivative instruments as presented in Note 6 "Derivative Financial Instruments" of the Partnership's financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance on the determination of the useful life of intangible assets. The guidance amends the factors an entity should consider in developing renewal or extension assumptions used in determining the useful life of recognized intangible assets. The new guidance applies prospectively to (a) intangible assets that are acquired individually or with a group of other assets and (b) both intangible assets acquired in business combinations and asset acquisitions. The adoption of the guidance did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Effective January 1, 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance issued by the FASB on determining whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are participating securities. The guidance addresses whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are participating securities prior to vesting and therefore need to be included in the earnings allocation in calculating earnings per share under the two-class method of calculation. The guidance requires entities to treat unvested share-based payment awards that have non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents as a separate class of securities in calculating earnings per share. As a result of adoption, the Partnership includes unvested participating Blackstone Common Units as a component of Common Units Entitled to Priority Distributions—Basic in the calculation of earnings per common unit for all periods presented, due to their equivalent distribution rights as Blackstone Common Units. The impact of the adoption and retroactive application on 2008 and 2007 was as follows:

	Year F December		June 19, 2007 through December 31, 2007		
	Originally Upon		Originally	Upon	
Net Loss Per Common Unit—Basic and Diluted	Reported	Adoption	Reported	Adoption	
Common Units Entitled to Priority Distributions	\$ (4.36)	\$ (4.32)	<u>\$ (1.29)</u>	\$ (1.28)	
Common Units Not Entitled to Priority Distributions	\$ (3.09)	\$ (3.06)	N/A	N/A	

During 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance issued by the FASB on determining fair value when the volume and level of activity for the asset or liability has significantly decreased and identifying transactions that are not orderly. Adoption did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

During 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance on interim disclosures about fair value of financial instruments. Such disclosures were previously required only in annual financial statements. The adoption of the guidance resulted in the inclusion of interim financial statement disclosures which had previously been annual.

During 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance on subsequent events. The guidance is intended to establish general standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. The adoption resulted in additional disclosure regarding subsequent events as presented in Note 20 "Subsequent Events" of the Partnership's financial statements.

During 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance issued by the FASB on the Accounting Standards Codification and the hierarchy of generally accepted accounting principles which established the FASB Standards Accounting Codification ("Codification") as the source of authoritative GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied to nongovernmental entities, and rules and interpretive releases of the SEC as authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. The Codification supersedes all the existing non-SEC accounting and reporting standards and subsequently, the FASB will not issue new standards in the form of Statements, FASB Staff Positions or Emerging Issues Task Force Abstracts. This guidance also replaces the prior guidance regarding the GAAP hierarchy, given that once in effect, the guidance within the Codification will carry the same level of authority. As the guidance is limited to disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the manner in which the Partnership refers to GAAP authoritative literature, adoption did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

During 2009, the Partnership adopted guidance issued by the FASB on the measurement of the fair value of liabilities. The guidance provides clarification that in circumstances in which a quoted price in an active market for the identical liability is not available, fair value must be measured using valuation techniques that use the quoted price of the identical liability when traded as an asset, quoted prices for similar liabilities or similar liabilities when traded as assets or alternative valuation techniques including an income approach or a market approach. In addition, guidance is provided on the classification of liabilities measured at fair value within the fair value hierarchy. Where the fair value of a liability is based on a quoted price in an active market for the identical liability or on the quoted price for an identical liability when traded as an asset in an active market without adjustment to the quoted price, the fair value measurement shall be classified as Level I. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

During 2009, the Partnership adopted implementation guidance issued by the FASB on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. The updated guidance considers an entity's assertion that it is a tax-exempt not for profit or a pass through entity as a tax position that requires evaluation. In addition, the guidance provided implementation guidance on the attribution of income taxes to entities and owners. The adoption of the guidance did not have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

In September 2009, the FASB issued guidance on fair value measurements and disclosures relating to investments in certain entities that calculate net asset value ("NAV") per share (or its equivalent). The guidance permits, as a practical expedient, an entity holding investments in certain entities that either are investment companies as defined by the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, *Investment Companies*, or have attributes similar to an investment company, and calculate net asset value per share or its equivalent for which the fair value is not readily determinable, to measure the fair value of such investments on the basis of that NAV per share, or its equivalent, without adjustment. The guidance also requires disclosure of the attributes of investments within the scope of the guidance by major category of investment. Such disclosures include the nature of any restrictions on an investor's ability to redeem its investments at the measurement date, any unfunded commitments and the investment strategies of the investee. Additional guidance is provided on the classification of investments for which NAV is used to measure fair value within the fair value hierarchy. If an entity has the ability to redeem its investment at net asset value at the measurement date or within the near term, the fair value measurement of the investment shall be categorized as a Level II fair value measurement of the investment shall be categorized as a Level III fair value measurement. The guidance is effective for interim and annual periods ending after December 15, 2009. The Partnership has adopted the guidance effective with the issuance of its December 31, 2009 financial statements with additional disclosure requirements presented in Note 5 "Net Asset Value as Fair Value" of the Partnership's financial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued amended guidance on issues related to variable interest entities ("VIEs"). The amendments will significantly affect the overall consolidation analysis, changing the approach taken by companies in identifying which entities are VIEs and in determining which party is the primary beneficiary. The guidance requires continuous assessment of the reporting entity's involvement with such VIEs. The revised guidance also enhances the disclosure requirements for a reporting entity's involvement with VIEs, irrespective of whether they qualify for deferral, as noted below. The guidance is effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2009 and early adoption is prohibited. In February 2010, the FASB issued further guidance which provided a limited scope deferral for a reporting entity's interest in an entity that met all of the following conditions: (a) the entity has all the attributes of an investment company as defined under AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, *Investment Companies*, or does not have all the attributes of an investment company but is an entity for which it is acceptable based on industry practice to apply measurement principles

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

that are consistent with the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, *Investment Companies*, (b) the reporting entity does not have explicit or implicit obligations to fund any losses of the entity that could potentially be significant to the entity, and (c) the entity is not a securitization entity, asset-backed financing entity or an entity that was formerly considered a qualifying special-purpose entity. The reporting entity is required to perform a consolidation analysis for entities that qualify for the deferral in accordance with previously issued guidance on variable interest entities. Blackstone's involvement with its funds is such that all three of the above conditions are met with the exception of certain CLO vehicles which fail condition (c) above and certain funds in which leveraged employee interests in dedicated funds are financed by third parties with Blackstone acting as an intermediary which fail condition (b) above. Such employee funds are currently consolidated as it is concluded that Blackstone is the primary beneficiary based on its implicit interest. The incremental impact of the revised consolidation rules will result in the consolidation of certain CLO vehicles managed by Blackstone. The impact of consolidation of such vehicles is expected to have a material impact on the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition. Based on the fair value of CLO assets and liabilities of impacted CLO vehicles managed by Blackstone as of January 1, 2010, the assets and liabilities of Blackstone would have increased by approximately \$3.7 billion and \$3.3 billion, respectively.

In January 2010, the FASB issued guidance on improving disclosures about fair value measurements. The guidance requires additional disclosure on transfers in and out of Levels I and II fair value measurements in the fair value hierarchy and the reasons for such transfers. In addition, for fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level III), the reconciliation of beginning and ending balances shall be presented on a gross basis, with separate disclosure of gross purchases, sales, issuances and settlements and transfers in and transfers out of Level III. The new guidance also requires enhanced disclosures on the fair value hierarchy to disaggregate disclosures by each class of assets and liabilities. In addition, an entity is required to provide further disclosures on valuation techniques and inputs used to measure fair value for fair value measurements that fall in either Level II or Level III. The guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements in the roll forward of activity in Level III fair value measurements, which are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010. As the guidance is limited to enhanced disclosures, the impact of adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the Partnership's financial statements.

3. ACQUISITIONS, GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Acquisition of Non-Controlling Interests at Reorganization

Pursuant to the Reorganization transaction described in Note 1, the Partnership acquired interests in the predecessor businesses from the predecessor owners. These interests were acquired, in part, through an exchange of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units and, in part, through the payment of cash.

This transaction has been accounted for partially as a transfer of interests under common control and, partially, as an acquisition of non-controlling interests. The vested Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by the Control Group in the Reorganization are reflected in the consolidated and combined financial statements as non-controlling interests at the historical cost of the interests they contributed, as they are considered to be the Control Group of the predecessor organization. The vested Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by holders not included in the Control Group in the Reorganization are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and reflected as non-controlling interests in the consolidated and combined financial statements at the fair value of the interests contributed as these holders are not considered to have been in the group controlling Blackstone prior to the Reorganization. Additionally, ownership interests were purchased with proceeds from the IPO. The cash paid in excess of the cost basis of the interests acquired from members of the Control Group has been charged to equity. Cash payments related to the acquisition of interests from holders outside of the Control Group has been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

The total consideration paid to holders outside of the Control Group was \$2.79 billion and reflected (a) 69,093,969 Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units issued in the exchange, the fair value of which was \$2.14 billion based on the initial public offering price of \$31.00 per common unit and (b) cash of \$647.6 million. Accordingly, the Partnership has reflected the acquired tangible assets at the fair value of the consideration paid. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the tangible assets acquired approximated \$2.34 billion, the remaining balance of which has been reported in Goodwill and Intangible Assets in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition as of December 31, 2009. The finite-lived intangible assets of \$876.3 million reflect the value ascribed for the future fee income relating to contractual rights and client or investor relationships for management, advisory and incentive fee arrangements as well as for those rights and relationships associated with the future carried interest income from the carry funds. The residual amount representing the purchase price in excess of tangible and intangible assets (including other liabilities of \$55.2 million) is \$1.52 billion and has been recorded as Goodwill.

During the quarter ended March 31, 2008, the Partnership finalized the purchase price allocation, including the determination of goodwill attributable to the reporting segments, as provided in the table below, for the acquisition of non-controlling interests at Reorganization.

Purchase Price	\$2,789,469
Goodwill	\$1,516,720
Finite-Lived Intangible Assets/Contractual Rights	876,270
Other Liabilities	(55,158)
Increase to Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	2,337,832
Net Assets Acquired, at Fair Value	451,637
Purchase Price Allocation	\$2,789,469

Acquisition of GSO Capital Partners LP

In March 2008, the Partnership completed the acquisition of GSO Capital Partners LP and certain of its affiliates ("GSO"). The purchase consideration for GSO was \$635 million, comprised of \$355 million in cash and \$280 million in Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units, plus up to an additional targeted \$310 million to be paid over the next five years, contingent upon the realization of specified earnings targets over that period. The Partnership also incurred \$6.9 million of acquisition costs. Additionally, performance and other compensatory payments subject to performance and vesting may be paid to GSO personnel.

During November 2008, in settlement of the Partnership's obligation for the purchase of GSO to deliver Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units valued at closing of \$280 million, the Partnership delivered to certain predecessor owners of GSO 15.79 million Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units with a value at settlement of \$118.6 million. The difference between the value at closing and the value at settlement resulted in a \$14.3 million credit to the Partnership's capital, reflecting the dilution of the Partnership's interest in Holdings from approximately 25% to approximately 24.6%.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

The final purchase price allocation for the GSO acquisition was as follows:

Purchase Price	\$641,894
Finite-Lived Intangible Assets/Contractual Rights	\$472,100
Goodwill	186,882
Other Liabilities	(17,650)
Net Assets Acquired, at Fair Value	562
Purchase Price Allocation	\$641,894

The Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2008 includes the results of GSO's operations from the date of acquisition, March 3, 2008, through December 31, 2008.

Supplemental information on an unaudited pro forma basis, as if the GSO acquisition had been consummated as of January 1, 2008 and January 1, 2007, respectively, is as follows:

	Years Ended December 31,	
	2008	2007
	(Unaudited)	
Total Revenues	\$ (324,010)	\$3,213,056
Net Income (Loss)	\$(1,168,836)	\$ (468,232)
Net Loss per Common Unit—Basic and Diluted Common Units Entitled to		
Priority Distributions	\$ (4.34)	\$ (1.78)
Common Units Not Entitled to Priority Distributions	\$ (3.06)	

The unaudited pro forma supplemental information is based on estimates and assumptions, which the Partnership believes are reasonable; it is not necessarily indicative of the Partnership's Consolidated and Combined Financial Condition or Statements of Operations in future periods or the results that actually would have been realized had the Partnership and GSO been a combined entity during the periods presented.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The carrying value of goodwill was \$1.7 billion as of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008. Total goodwill has been allocated to each of the Partnership's segments as follows: Private Equity (\$694.5 million); Real Estate (\$421.7 million); Credit and Marketable Alternatives (\$518.5 million); and Financial Advisory (\$68.9 million). Goodwill has been tested for impairment. No impairment has been identified.

The following table outlines changes to the carrying amount of Intangible Assets, as of December 31, 2009 and 2008:

	Decemb	December 31,	
	2009	2008	
Finite-Lived Intangible Assets / Contractual Rights	\$1,348,370	\$1,348,370	
Accumulated Amortization	(428,893)	(270,844)	
Intangible Assets, Net	\$ 919,477	\$1,077,526	

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Amortization expense associated with Blackstone's intangible assets was \$158.0 million, \$153.2 million and \$117.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and is included in General, Administrative and Other in the accompanying Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations.

Amortization of intangible assets held at December 31, 2009 is expected to be approximately \$158.0 million in the years ending December 31, 2010 and 2011 and \$103.2 million, \$51.7 million, and \$50.3 million in the years ending December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively. Blackstone's intangible assets as of December 31, 2009 are expected to amortize over a weighted-average period of 10 years.

4. INVESTMENTS

Investments

Investments consists of the following:

	December 31, 2009	December 31, 2008
Investments of Consolidated Blackstone Funds	\$ 1,306,445	\$ 1,556,261
Equity Method Investments	1,104,701	1,063,615
High Grade Liquid Debt Strategies	534,777	_
Performance Fees and Allocations	554,463	147,421
Other Investments	65,097	63,645
	\$ 3,565,483	\$ 2,830,942

Blackstone's share of Investments of Consolidated Blackstone Funds totaled \$407.1 million and \$409.2 million at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively.

At December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008, consideration was given as to whether any individual investment, including derivative instruments, had a fair value which exceeded 5% of Blackstone's net assets. At December 31, 2009, no investments exceeded the 5% threshold. At December 31, 2008, Blackport Capital Fund Ltd. had a fair value of \$594.5 million and was the sole investment to exceed the 5% threshold. Blackport Capital Fund Ltd. is held by a consolidated Blackstone Feeder Fund and represents its investment into a master fund.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Investments of Consolidated Blackstone Funds

The following table presents a condensed summary of the investments held by the consolidated Blackstone Funds that are reported at fair value. These investments are presented as a percentage of Investments of Consolidated Blackstone Funds:

	Fain	Value	Percent Investm Consoli Blackston	ents of dated
	December 31,	December 31,	December 31,	December 31,
Geographic Region / Instrument Type / Industry Description or Investment Strategy	2009	2008	2009	2008
United States and Canada				
Investment Funds, principally related to credit and marketable				
alternative funds				
Credit Driven	\$ 277,245	\$ 695,620	21.3%	44.7%
Diversified Investments	300,907	289,817	23.1%	18.6%
Equity	80,956	34,499	6.2%	2.2%
Other	408	648	_	0.1%
Event-Driven	95,760	55,216	<u>7.4</u> %	3.6%
Investment Funds Total				
(Cost: 2009 – \$803,771; 2008 – \$1,283,697)	755,276	1,075,800	58.0%	69.2%
Equity Securities, principally related to credit and marketable alternatives and private equity funds				
Manufacturing	21,491	17,782	1.7%	1.1%
Services	86,600	81,543	6.7%	5.2%
Natural Resources	649	551	_	_
Real Estate Assets	462	1,769	_	0.1%
Equity Securities Total (Cost: 2009 – \$112,364; 2008 –				
\$112,739)	109,202	101,645	8.4%	6.4%
Partnership and LLC Interests, principally related to private	<u> </u>			
equity and real estate funds				
Real Estate Assets	149,523	103,453	11.5%	6.6%
Services	87,406	98,592	6.7%	6.3%
Manufacturing	25,691	23,599	2.0%	1.5%
Natural Resources	357	317	_	_
Credit Driven	143	19,659	_	1.3%
Partnership and LLC Interests Total (Cost: 2009 – \$442,545;		<u> </u>		
2008 – \$294,846)	263,120	245,620	20.2%	15.7%
Debt Instruments, principally related to credit and marketable				
alternatives funds				
Credit Driven	29,330	_	2.2%	_
Manufacturing	3,203	4,251	0.2%	0.3%
Services	7,837	4,093	0.6%	0.3%
Real Estate Assets	2,458	485	0.2%	
Debt Instruments Total (Cost: 2009 – \$37,983; 2008 – \$9,396)	42,828	8,829	3.2%	0.6%
United States and Canada Total (Cost: 2009 – \$1,396,663;	12,020	0,027	3.270	0.0
2008 – \$1,700,678)	1,170,426	1,431,894	89.3%	91.9%

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

	Fair	Value	Percent Investm Consoli Blackstor	ents of idated
Constitution (Indiana of The Alabata)	December 31,	December 31,	December 31,	December 31,
Geographic Region / Instrument Type / Industry Description or Investment Strategy	2009	2008	2009	2008
Europe				
Equity Securities, principally related to credit and				
marketable alternatives and private equity funds				
Manufacturing	\$ 2,681	\$ 9,105	0.2%	0.6%
Real Estate Assets	365	_	_	_
Services	31,711	29,635	2.4%	1.9%
Equity Securities Total (Cost: 2009 – \$40,353; 2008 – \$45,295)	34,757	38,740	2.6%	2.5%
Partnership and LLC Interests, principally related to private equity and real estate funds				
Services	29,270	31,572	2.2%	2.0%
Real Estate Assets	10,741	13,674	0.8%	0.9%
Partnership and LLC Interests Total (Cost: 2009 – \$48,334; 2008 – \$46,104)	40,011	45,246	3.0%	2.9%
Debt Instruments, principally related to credit and marketable alternatives funds	-,-	,		
Manufacturing	544	187		
Services	1,259	107	0.1%	
Debt Instruments Total (Cost: 2009 – \$1,624; 2008 –	1,237		0.1 /0	 _
\$1,256)	1,803	187	0.1%	
Europe Total (Cost: 2009 – \$90,311; 2008 – \$92,655)	76,571	84,173	5.7%	5.4%
Asia	70,371	04,173	<u> </u>	<u>J.4</u> 70
Equity Securities, principally related to credit and marketable alternatives and private equity funds				
Services	8,031	11,201	0.6%	0.8%
Manufacturing	10,501	8,654	0.8%	0.6%
Natural Resources	<u></u>	442	_	_
Real Estate Assets	_	368	_	_
Diversified Investments	6,262	_	0.5%	_
Equity Securities Total (Cost: 2009 – \$20,794; 2008 – \$22,155)	24,794	20,665	1.9%	1.4%
Partnership and LLC Interests, principally related to	,	,		
private equity and real estate funds				
Manufacturing	1,183	1,184	0.1%	0.1%
Real Estate Assets	457	707	_	
Services	82	45		
Partnership and LLC Interests Total (Cost: 2009 – \$1,833; 2008 – \$1,811)	1,722	1,936	0.1%	0.1%
Debt Instruments, principally related to credit and marketable alternatives funds (Cost: 2009 – \$114;	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		
2008 – \$256)	111	151		
Asia Total (Cost: 2009 – \$22,741; 2008 – \$24,222)			2.00/	1 50/
Asia 10tai (Cust: 2009 – \$22,741; 2005 – \$24,222)	26,627	22,752	2.0%	<u> </u>

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Percentage of

	To to 1	17-1	Consoli	Investments of Consolidated Blackstone Funds		
	Fair Value December 31, December 31,		December 31,	December 31,		
Geographic Region / Instrument Type / Industry Description or Investment Strategy	2009	2008	2009	2008		
Other						
Equity Securities, principally related to private equity funds						
Natural Resources	\$ 1,583	\$ 1,022	0.1%	0.1%		
Services	4,560	2,737	0.3%	0.3%		
Equity Securities Total (Cost: 2009 – \$2,777; 2008 – \$2,606)	6,143	3,759	0.4%	0.4%		
Partnership and LLC Interests, principally related to private equity and real estate funds						
Natural Resources	26,586	13,599	2.0%	0.9%		
Services	92	84	_	0.1%		
Partnership and LLC Interests Total (Cost: 2009 – \$9,249; 2008 – \$5,063)	26,678	13,683	2.0%	1.0%		
Other Total			'			
(Cost: 2009 – \$12,026; 2008 – \$7,669)	32,821	17,442	2.5%	1.2%		
Total Investments of Consolidated Blackstone Funds (Cost: 2009 – \$1,521,741; 2008 – \$1,825,224)	\$1,306,445	\$1,556,261	100.0%	100.0%		

Net Gains (Losses) from Fund Investment Activities on the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations include net realized gains (losses) from realizations and sales of investments and the net change in unrealized gains (losses) resulting from changes in the fair value of the consolidated Blackstone Funds' investments. The following table presents the realized and net change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments held by the consolidated Blackstone Funds:

		Year Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007	
Realized Gains (Losses)	\$(200,291)	\$ (281,408)	\$3,509,318	
Net Change in Unrealized Gains (Losses)	342,870	(740,019)	2,796,235	
	\$ 142,579	\$(1,021,427)	\$6,305,553	

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

The following reconciles the Realized and Net Change in Unrealized Gains (Losses) from Blackstone Funds presented above to Other Income (Loss) – Net Gains (Losses) from Fund Investment Activities in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations:

		Year Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007	
Realized and Net Change in Unrealized Gains (Losses) from Blackstone				
Funds	\$142,579	\$(1,021,427)	\$ 6,305,553	
Reclassification to Investment Income (Loss) and Other Attributable to				
Blackstone Side-by-Side Investment Vehicles	(1,327)	52,975	(52,142)	
Reclassification to Performance Fees and Allocations and Investment				
Income (Loss) and Other Attributable to Blackstone Funds Prior to				
Deconsolidation	_	_	(1,184,457)	
Interest and Dividend Income and Other Attributable to Consolidated				
Blackstone Funds	35,442	96,116	354,178	
Other Income – Net Gains (Losses) from Fund Investment Activities	\$176,694	\$ (872,336)	\$ 5,423,132	

Equity Method Investments

The Partnership recognized net gains (losses) related to its equity method investments of \$4.0 million, \$(551.8) million, and \$163.5 million for the years ending December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.

Blackstone's equity method investments include its investments in private equity funds, real estate funds, funds of hedge funds and creditoriented funds, which are not consolidated but in which the Partnership exerts significant influence. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, no single equity method investment held by Blackstone exceeded 20% of its total consolidated assets. As such, Blackstone is not required to present separate financial statements for any of its equity method investees.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

The summarized financial information of the funds in which the Partnership has an equity method investment is as follows:

	December 31, 2009 and the Year Then Ended				
	Private Equity	Real Estate	Credit and Marketable Alternatives	Total	
Statement of Financial Condition					
Assets					
Investments	\$18,237,938	\$ 7,862,872	\$15,857,948	\$41,958,758	
Other Assets	169,200	528,337	3,124,038	3,821,575	
Total Assets	\$18,407,138	\$ 8,391,209	\$18,981,986	\$45,780,333	
Liabilities and Partners' Capital					
Debt	\$ 455,862	\$ 224,389	\$ 1,312,893	\$ 1,993,144	
Other Liabilities	56,957	115,059	2,053,134	2,225,150	
Total Liabilities	512,819	339,448	3,366,027	4,218,294	
Partners' Capital	17,894,319	8,051,761	15,615,959	41,562,039	
Total Liabilities and Partners' Capital	\$18,407,138	\$ 8,391,209	\$18,981,986	\$45,780,333	
Statement of Income					
Interest Income	\$ 19,480	\$ 12,704	\$ 580,188	\$ 612,372	
Other Income	26,828	133,599	68,472	228,899	
Interest Expense	(5,590)	(5,391)	(59,537)	(70,518)	
Other Expenses	(38,419)	(36,794)	(158,635)	(233,848)	
Net Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss) from					
Investments	1,775,403	(3,813,103)	3,118,916	1,081,216	
Net Income (Loss)	\$ 1,777,702	\$(3,708,985)	\$ 3,549,404	\$ 1,618,121	

High Grade Liquid Debt Strategies

High Grade Liquid Debt Strategies represents the Partnership's liquid investments in government and other investment grade securities, managed by third party institutions. The Partnership has managed its credit risk through diversification of its investments among major financial institutions, all of which have investment grade ratings.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Partnership recognized realized gains of \$10.1 million and the net change in unrealized gains was \$1.8 million.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Performance Fees and Allocations

Performance Fees and Allocations to the general partner in respect of performance of certain Carry Funds, funds of hedge funds and creditoriented funds are as follows:

	Dece	mber 31,
	2009	2008
Performance Fees and Allocations		
Private Equity	\$425,615	\$ 92,109
Real Estate	7,900	55,478
Credit and Marketable Alternatives	120,948	(166)
	\$554,463	\$147,421

Other Investments

Other Investments consist primarily of investment securities held by Blackstone for its own account. The following table presents Blackstone's realized and net change in unrealized gains (losses) in other investments:

	,	Year Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007	
Realized Gains	\$2,032	\$ (1,432)	\$10,050	
Net Change in Unrealized Gains (Losses)	6,164	(9,159)	2,803	
	\$8,196	\$(10,591)	\$12,853	

5. NET ASSET VALUE AS FAIR VALUE

Certain of the consolidated Blackstone funds of hedge funds and credit-oriented funds measure their investments in underlying funds at fair value using NAV per share without adjustment. The terms of the investees' partnership agreements and offering memoranda generally provide for minimum holding periods or lock-ups, the institution of gates on redemptions or the suspension of redemptions, at the discretion of the investee's fund manager, and as a result, investments may not be redeemable at, or within three months of, the reporting date. A summary of fair value by strategy type alongside the consolidated funds of hedge funds' remaining unfunded commitments and ability to redeem such investments as of December 31, 2009 is presented below:

			Redemption	
			Frequency (if currently	Redemption
		Unfunded	•	Notice
Strategy	Fair Value	Commitments	eligible)	Period
Credit Driven	\$274,153	\$ 30,336	(a)	(a)
Diversified Instruments	300,908	13,040	(b)	(b)
Equity	80,956	_	(c)	(c)
Other	95,759		(d)	(d)
	\$751,776	\$ 43,376		
	1			

⁽a) The Credit Driven category includes investments in hedge funds that invest primarily in domestic and international bonds. Investments representing 34% of the value of the investments in this category may not be redeemed at, or within three months of, the reporting date. Of this balance, 9% of investments are

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

redeemable after July 1, 2010, on an annual basis, subject to a 60-day notice period. 36% of the value of the investments in the credit driven category are subject to redemption restrictions at the discretion of the investee fund manager who may choose to (but may not have exercised such ability) side-pocket such investments. As of the reporting date, the investee fund manager had not elected to side-pocket Blackstone's investments. 29% of investments within this category represent an investment in a fund of hedge funds that is in the process of liquidating. Distributions from this fund will be received as underlying investments are liquidated. The remaining 1% of investments within this category are redeemable as of the reporting date.

- (b) Diversified Instruments includes investments in hedge funds that invest across multiple strategies. Investments representing 98% of the value of the investments in this category are subject to redemption restrictions at the discretion of the investee fund manager who may choose to (but may not have exercised such ability) side-pocket such investments. As of the reporting date, the investee fund manager had elected to side-pocket 12% of Blackstone's investments. The time at which this redemption restriction may lapse cannot be estimated. The remaining 2% of investments within this category represent investments in hedge funds that are in the process of liquidating. Distributions from these funds will be received as underlying investments are liquidated.
- (c) The Equity category includes investments in hedge funds that invest primarily in domestic and international equity securities. Investments representing 46% of the total value of investments in this category may not be redeemed at, or within three months of, the reporting date. The remaining 54% are subject to redemption restrictions at the discretion of the investee fund manager who may choose to (but may not have elected such ability) side-pocket such investments. As of the reporting date, the investee fund manager had not elected to side-pocket Blackstone's investments.
- (d) Included within the Other category are investments in hedge funds whose primary investing strategy is to identify certain event-driven investments. Withdrawals are not permitted in this category. Distributions will be received as the underlying investments are liquidated.

6. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Blackstone enters into derivative instruments in order to hedge its interest rate risk exposure against the effects of interest rate changes. Additionally, Blackstone and the Blackstone Funds enter into derivative instruments in the normal course of business to achieve certain other risk management objectives and for general investment purposes. As a result of the use of derivative contracts, Blackstone and the consolidated Blackstone Funds are exposed to the risk that counterparties will fail to fulfill their contractual obligations. To mitigate such counterparty risk, Blackstone and the consolidated Blackstone Funds enter into contracts with certain major financial institutions, all of which have investment grade ratings. Counterparty credit risk is evaluated in determining the fair value of derivative instruments.

Fair Value Hedges

The Partnership uses interest rate swaps to hedge all or a portion of the interest rate risk associated with its fixed rate borrowings. The Partnership has designated these financial instruments as fair value hedges. Changes in fair value of the derivative and, to the extent that it is highly effective, changes in the fair value of the hedged liability, are recorded within General, Administrative and Other in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations. The fair value of the derivative instrument is reflected within Other Assets in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Free Standing Derivatives

Free standing derivatives are instruments that Blackstone and certain of the consolidated Blackstone Funds have entered into as part of their overall risk management and investment strategies. These derivative contracts are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes. Such contracts may include foreign exchange contracts, equity swaps, options and other derivative contracts. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments held by Blackstone funds are reflected in Net Gains (Losses) from Funds Investment Activities or, where derivative instruments are held by the Partnership, within Investment Income, in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations. The fair value of free standing derivative assets are recorded within Investments and free standing derivative liabilities are recorded within Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

The table below summarizes the aggregate notional amount and fair value of the derivative instruments as of December 31, 2009:

	As of December 31, 2009				
	A	ssets	Liabil	ities	
	Notional	Fair Value	Notional	Fair Value	
Fair Value Hedges					
Interest Rate Swaps	\$ —	\$ —	\$450,000	\$ 19	
Free Standing Derivatives					
Free Standing Derivatives	2,039	653	656	4	
Total	\$2,039	\$ 653	\$450,656	\$ 23	

The Partnership had no material derivative contracts as of December 31, 2008.

Where hedge accounting is applied, hedge effectiveness testing is performed at least monthly to monitor ongoing effectiveness of the hedge relationships. During the year ended December 31, 2009, the amount of ineffectiveness related to the interest rate swap hedges was a loss of \$1.7 million. During the year ended December 31, 2009, the portion of hedging instruments' gain or loss excluded from the assessment of effectiveness for its fair value hedges was a loss of \$8.7 million. The Partnership had no derivatives designated as fair value hedges in 2008 and 2007.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Partnership recognized an immaterial amount of realized and unrealized gains (losses) related to free standing derivative instruments. Amounts recognized in the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were not material.

7. FAIR VALUE OPTION

The following table summarizes the financial instruments for which the fair value option has been elected:

		Year Ended December 31,
	As of December 31,	2009 Net Change in Unrealized
	2009	Gains
Loans and Receivables	\$ 68,550	\$ 101
Debt Securities	26,466	364
Equity Securities	1,905	_
	\$ 96,921	\$ 465

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

The Partnership did not dispose of any investments for which the fair value option was elected during the year ending December 31, 2009. The Partnership did not hold material financial instruments on which the fair value option was elected during 2008 and 2007.

As of December 31, 2009, the fair value of Loans and Receivables and Debt Securities for which the fair value option was elected exceeded the principal amount due by \$0.5 million. No loans and receivables on which the fair value option was elected are past due or in non-accrual status.

December 31, 2009

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table summarizes the valuation of the Partnership's financial assets and liabilities by the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively:

	Level I	Level II	Level III	Total
Assets				
Investments of Consolidated Blackstone Funds	\$ 80,610	\$ 33,355	\$ 1,192,463	\$ 1,306,428
High Grade Liquid Debt Strategies	398,487	136,290	_	534,777
Loans and Receivables		_	68,550	68,550
Free Standing Derivative Instruments, Net	2	279	368	649
Other Investments (a)	8,711	10,176	46,210	65,097
	\$ 487,810	\$ 180,100	\$ 1,307,591	\$ 1,975,501
Liabilities				
Derivative Instruments Used for Fair Value Hedges	\$ —	\$ 19	\$ —	\$ 19
Securities Sold, Not Yet Purchased	357			357
	\$ 357	\$ 19	<u>\$</u>	\$ 376
			mber 31, 2008	
	Level I	Level II	Level III	Total
Assets				
Investments of Consolidated Blackstone Funds	\$58,406		\$1,496,861	\$1,556,261
Other Investments	22,499		41,146	63,645
	\$80,905	\$ 994	\$1,538,007	\$1,619,906
Liabilities				
Securities Sold, Not Yet Purchased	\$ 894	\$ —	\$	\$ 894
	\$ 894	<u>\$ —</u>	<u>\$</u>	\$ 894

⁽a) Included within Level III of Other Investments are investments in debt and equity securities of \$26.5 million and \$1.9 million, respectively, for which the fair value option has been elected.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

The following table summarizes the valuation methodology used in the determination of the fair value of financial instruments for which Level III inputs were used as of December 31, 2009.

	Private		Credit and Marketable	Financial	
Valuation Methodology	Equity	Real Estate	Alternatives	Advisory	<u>Total</u>
Third-Party Fund Managers	_	_	57%	_	57%
Specific Valuation Metrics	<u>20</u> %	<u>15</u> %	<u> </u>	<u>3</u> %	<u>43</u> %
	20%	<u>15</u> %	<u>62</u> %	3%	100%

The following table summarizes the changes in financial instruments measured at fair value for which the Partnership has used Level III inputs to determine fair value and does not include gains or losses that were reported in Level III in prior years or for instruments that were transferred out of Level III prior to the end of the current reporting period.

	Year Ended I	December 31,
	2009	2008
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$1,538,007	\$2,362,542
Transfer In (Out) of Level III, Net	81,640	(323,422)
Purchases (Sales), Net	(429,760)	108,838
Realized Gains (Losses), Net	(194,495)	2,630
Changes in Unrealized Gains (Losses) Included in Earnings Related to Investments Still Held at		
the Reporting Date	312,199	(612,581)
Balance, End of Period	\$1,307,591	\$1,538,007

Total realized and unrealized gains and losses recorded for Level III investments are reported in Net Gains (Losses) from Fund Investment Activities in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, the transfer in of Level III investments, net, was principally due to an asset transfer from a non-consolidated Blackstone Fund to a consolidated Blackstone Fund. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the transfer out of Level III investments, net, was principally due to the deconsolidation of three Blackstone Funds.

9. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

The Partnership consolidates certain VIEs in which it is determined that the Partnership is the primary beneficiary either directly or indirectly, through a consolidated entity or affiliate. VIEs include certain private equity, real estate, credit oriented or funds of hedge fund entities. The purpose of such VIEs is to provide strategy specific investment opportunities for investors in exchange for management and performance based fees. The investment strategies of the Blackstone Funds differ by product; however, the fundamental risks of the Blackstone Funds have similar characteristics, including loss of invested capital and loss of management fees and performance based fees. Accordingly, disaggregation of Blackstone's involvement with VIEs would not provide more useful information. In Blackstone's role as general partner or investment advisor, it generally considers itself the sponsor of the applicable Blackstone Fund. The Partnership does not provide performance guarantees and has no other financial obligation to provide funding to consolidated VIEs other than its own capital commitments.

The gross assets and liabilities of consolidated VIEs reflected in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition as of December 31, 2009 were \$741.0 million and \$38.0 million, respectively. As of

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

December 31, 2008, gross assets and liabilities of consolidated VIEs were \$861.3 million and \$28.7 million, respectively. There is no recourse to the Partnership for the consolidated VIEs' liabilities. The assets of consolidated VIEs comprise primarily investments and are included within Investments in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition.

The Partnership holds significant variable interests or acts as the sponsor for certain VIEs which are not consolidated as it is determined that the Partnership is not the primary beneficiary. The Partnership's involvement with such entities is in the form of direct equity interests and fee arrangements. As of December 31, 2009, assets and liabilities recognized in the Partnership's Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Condition related to the Partnership's interest in these non-consolidated VIEs were \$133.9 million and \$0.1 million, respectively. Assets consisted of \$21.7 million of investments and \$112.2 million of receivables. As of December 31, 2008, assets and liabilities recognized in the Partnership's financial statements were \$140.0 million and \$0.2 million, respectively. Assets recognized as of December 31, 2008 were comprised of investments of \$81.1 million and receivables of \$58.9 million. The Partnership's maximum exposure to loss relating to non-consolidated VIEs as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 was \$98.9 million and \$140.0 million, respectively.

10. OTHER ASSETS AND ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Other Assets consists of the following:

	December 31,	
	2009	2008
Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements	\$210,189	\$194,576
Less: Accumulated Depreciation	(92,774)	(75,610)
Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net	117,415	118,966
Prepaid Expenses	31,232	36,533
Other Assets	23,909	64,478
	\$172,556	\$219,977

Depreciation expense of \$17.2 million, \$18.2 million and \$11.2 million related to furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, is included in General, Administrative and Other in the accompanying Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations. The 2009 depreciation expense is net of \$6.6 million of accumulated depreciation reversed during the year due to the disposal of assets.

Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities includes \$144.0 million and \$1,103.4 million as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, relating to redemptions that were legally payable to investors as of the balance sheet dates.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

11. BORROWINGS

The Partnership enters into credit agreements for its general operating and investment purposes and certain Blackstone Funds borrow to meet financing needs of their operating and investing activities. Borrowing facilities have been established for the benefit of selected funds within those business units. When a Blackstone Fund borrows from the facility in which it participates, the proceeds from the borrowing are strictly limited for its intended use by the borrowing fund and not available for other Partnership purposes. The Partnership's credit facilities consist of the following:

	December 31,					
		2009			2008	
			Weighted			Weighted
	Credit Available	Borrowing Outstanding	Average Interest Rate	Credit Available	Borrowing Outstanding	Average Interest Rate
Revolving Credit Facility (a)	\$ 850,000	\$ —		\$1,000,000	\$ 250,000	1.97%
Blackstone Issued 6.625% Notes Due 8/15/2019 (b)	600,000	600,000	6.63%	_	_	_
Operating Entities Facilities (c)	63,369	63,369	1.50%	116,750	109,618	2.08%
Corporate Debt Credit Facilites (d)			_	90,000	25,000	3.25%
	1,513,369	663,369	6.13%	1,206,750	384,618	2.08%
Blackstone Fund Facilities (e)	38,809	5,630	2.3%	77,566	2,382	3.28%
	\$1,552,178	\$ 668,999	6.10%	\$1,284,316	\$ 387,000	2.09%

- (a) Represents short-term borrowings under a revolving credit facility that were used to fund the operating and investing activities of entities of the Partnership. Borrowings bear interest at an adjusted LIBOR rate or adjusted prime rate. Any outstanding borrowings at May 11, 2010, the maturity date of the facility, are payable at that time. The facility is unsecured and unguaranteed. There is a commitment fee of 0.5% per annum, as defined, on the unused portion of this facility. As of December 31, 2009, the Partnership had no outstanding borrowings under this revolving credit facility.
- (b) Represents long term borrowings in the form of senior notes (the "Notes") issued by Blackstone Holdings Finance Co. L.L.C. (the "Issuer"), an indirect subsidiary of the Partnership, on August 20, 2009. Such notes have a contractual maturity of August 15, 2019. The Notes, which were issued at a discount, have an interest rate of 6.625% per annum, accruing from August 20, 2009. Interest is paid semiannually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing on February 15, 2010. The Notes are unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer. The Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, by the Partnership, Blackstone Holdings, and the Issuer (the "Guarantors"). The guarantees are unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantors. Interest expense on the Notes was \$14.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. Transaction costs related to the issuance of the Notes have been capitalized and are being amortized over the life of the Notes. As of December 31, 2009, the fair value of the Notes was \$588.6 million.

The indenture includes covenants, including limitations on the Issuer's and the Guarantor's ability to, subject to exceptions, incur indebtedness secured by liens on voting stock or profit participating equity interests of their subsidiaries or merge, consolidate or sell, transfer or lease assets. The indenture also provides for events of default. In the case of specified events of bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or reorganization, the principal amount of the Notes and any accrued and unpaid interest on the Notes automatically becomes due and payable. All or a portion of the Notes may be redeemed at the Issuer's option in whole or in part, at any time, and from time to time, prior to their stated maturity, at the make-

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

whole redemption price set forth in the Notes. If a change of control repurchase event occurs, the holders of the Notes may require the Issuer to repurchase the Notes at a repurchase price in cash equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes repurchased plus any accrued and unpaid interest on the Notes repurchased to, but not including, the repurchase date.

- (c) Represents borrowings under a loan and security agreement as well as a capital asset purchase facility. The loan and security agreement facility bears interest at an adjusted rate below the lending bank's prime commercial rate. Borrowings are available for the Partnership to provide partial financing to certain Blackstone employees to finance the purchase of their equity investments in certain Blackstone Funds. The advances to Blackstone employees are secured by investor notes, generally paid back over a five-year period, and the related underlying investment, as well as full recourse to the employees' bonuses and returns from other Partnership investments. The capital asset purchase facility is secured by the purchased asset and borrowings bear interest at a spread to LIBOR. The borrowings are paid down through the termination date of the facility in 2014.
- (d) Represents short-term borrowings under credit facilities established to finance investments in debt securities. Borrowings were made at the time of each investment and are required to be repaid at the earlier of (a) the investment's disposition or (b) 120 days after the date of the borrowing. Borrowings under the facilities bear interest at an adjusted LIBOR rate. Borrowings are secured by the investments acquired with the proceeds of such borrowings. In addition, such credit facilities are supported by letters of credit. One of the facilities, with available credit of \$50.0 million, carries a commitment fee of 0.15% per annum on the unused portion of the facility. As of December 31, 2009, these facilities have been terminated.
- (e) Represents borrowing facilities for the various consolidated Blackstone Funds used to meet liquidity and investing needs. Certain borrowings under these facilities were used for bridge financing and general liquidity purposes. Other borrowings were used to finance the purchase of investments with the borrowing remaining in place until the disposition or refinancing event. Such borrowings have varying maturities and are rolled over until the disposition or a refinancing event. Due to the fact that the timing of such events is unknown and may occur in the near term, these borrowings are considered short-term in nature. Borrowings bear interest at spreads to market rates. Borrowings were secured according to the terms of each facility and are generally secured by the investment purchased with the proceeds of the borrowing and/or the uncalled capital commitment of each respective fund. Certain facilities have commitment fees. When a fund borrows, the proceeds are available only for use by that fund and are not available for the benefit of other funds. Collateral within each fund is also available only against the borrowings by that fund and not against the borrowings of other funds.

As part of Blackstone's long term borrowing arrangements, the Partnership is subject to certain financial and operating covenants. The Partnership was in compliance with all of its loan covenants as of December 31, 2009.

Scheduled principal payments for long-term borrowings at December 31, 2009 are as follows:

2010	\$ 23,820
2011	22,278
2012	9,985
2013	2,245
2014	5,040
Thereafter	_600,000
Total	\$ 663,369

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

12. INCOME TAXES

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007
Current			
Federal Income Tax	\$ 8,027	\$ 3,936	\$ 11,938
Foreign Income Tax	4,517	8,304	5,630
State and Local Income Tax	41,219	25,114	47,346
	53,763	37,354	64,914
Deferred		·	
Federal Income Tax	30,581	(34,090)	(10,287)
Foreign Income Tax	(597)	_	_
State and Local Income Tax	15,483	(17,409)	(6,934)
	45,467	(51,499)	(17,221)
Total Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	\$99,230	\$(14,145)	\$ 47,693

The Partnership's effective income tax rate was approximately (4.33%), 0.25%, and 0.84% for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences that may exist between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. A summary of the tax effects of the temporary differences is as follows:

	Decem	ber 31,
	2009	2008
Deferred Tax Assets		
Fund Management Fees	\$ 12,804	\$ 5,860
Equity-based Compensation	36,087	33,224
Unrealized Loss from Investments	38,937	22,464
Depreciation and Amortization	841,086	731,064
Net Operating Loss Carry Forward	7,729	49,292
Other	6,869	3,674
Total Deferred Tax Assets	\$943,512	\$845,578
Deferred Tax Liabilities		
Depreciation and Amortization	\$ 18,251	\$ 16,705
Total Deferred Tax Liabilities	\$ 18,251	\$ 16,705

Deferred tax liabilities are included within Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated and Combined Statements of Financial Position.

Future realization of tax benefits depends on the expectation of taxable income within a period of time that the tax benefits will reverse. While the Partnership expects to record significant net losses from a financial

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

reporting perspective, it does not expect to record comparable losses on a tax basis. Whereas the amortization of non-cash equity compensation results in a significant charge to net income and is a significant contributor to the expected financial reporting losses, these charges are largely not tax deductible and, as a result, do not decrease taxable income or contribute to a taxable loss.

The Partnership has recorded a significant deferred tax asset for the future amortization of tax basis intangibles acquired from the predecessor owners and current owners. The amortization period for these tax basis intangibles is 15 years; accordingly, the related deferred tax assets will reverse over the same period. The Partnership had taxable income in 2007 and 2009 and thus fully utilized the tax benefit from the amortization of the tax basis intangibles for all years since the IPO. The Partnership had a taxable loss of \$21.3 million at the end of 2009 that will be carried back and utilized against prior year taxable income. The Partnership has considered the 15 year amortization period for the tax basis intangibles and the 20 year carryforward period for its taxable loss in evaluating whether it should establish a valuation allowance. In addition, at this time, the Partnership's projections of future taxable income that include the effects of originating and reversing temporary differences, including those for the tax basis intangibles, indicate that it is more likely than not that the benefits from the deferred tax asset will be realized. Therefore, the Partnership has determined that no valuation allowance is needed at December 31, 2009.

The following table reconciles the Provision (Benefit) for Taxes to the U.S. federal statutory tax rate:

	Year Ended December 31,		
	2009	2008	2007
Statutory U.S. Federal Income Tax Rate	35.00%	35.00%	35.00%
Income Passed Through to Common Unitholders and Non-Controlling Interest Holders (a)	(33.00%)	(32.68%)	(35.92%)
Interest Expense	1.84%	0.75%	(0.09%)
Foreign Income Taxes	(0.15%)	(0.15%)	0.10%
State and Local Income Taxes	(1.97%)	(0.19%)	0.69%
Equity-based Compensation	(6.45%)	(2.48%)	1.06%
Other	0.40%		
Effective Income Tax Rate (b)	(4.33%)	0.25%	0.84%

⁽a) Includes income that is not taxable to the Partnership and its subsidiaries. Such income is directly taxable to the Partnership's unitholders and the non-controlling interest holders.

Currently, the Partnership does not believe it meets the indefinite reversal criteria that would cause the Partnership to not recognize a deferred tax liability with respect to its foreign subsidiaries. Where applicable, Blackstone will record a deferred tax liability for any outside basis difference of an investment in a foreign subsidiary.

Blackstone files its tax returns as prescribed by the tax laws of the jurisdictions in which it operates. In the normal course of business, Blackstone is subject to examination by federal and certain state, local and foreign tax regulators. As of December 31, 2009, Blackstone's and the predecessor entities' U.S. federal income tax returns for the years 2006 through 2008 are open under the normal three-year statute of limitations and therefore subject to examination. State and local tax returns are generally subject to audit from 2005 through 2008. Currently, the

⁽b) The effective tax rate is calculated on Income (Loss) Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

City of New York is examining certain subsidiaries' tax returns for the years 2003 through 2006. In addition, HM Revenue and Customs in the U.K. is examining certain U.K. subsidiaries' tax returns for the years 2004 through 2007. Blackstone does not believe that the outcome of these examinations will require it to record reserves for uncertain tax positions or that the outcome will have a material impact on the consolidated and combined financial statements. Blackstone does not believe that it has any tax positions for which it is reasonably possible that it will be required to record significant amounts of unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months.

13. NET LOSS PER COMMON UNIT

Basic and diluted net loss per common unit entitled to priority distributions and per common unit not entitled to priority distributions for the years ending December 31, 2009 and 2008 is calculated as follows:

	Basic and Diluted			
	Year Ended December 31,			31,
	<u></u>	2009		2008
Total Undistributed Loss				
Net Loss Allocable to Common Unitholders	\$	(715,291)	\$ (1	,163,032)
Less: Distributions to Common Unitholders		(356,958)		(240,402)
Total Undistributed Loss	\$ (1	,072,249)	\$ (1	,403,434)
Allocation of Total Undistributed Loss				
Undistributed Loss - Common Unitholders Entitled to Priority Distributions	\$ (1	,058,052)	\$ (1	,394,271)
Undistributed Loss - Common Unitholders Not Entitled to Priority Distributions		(14,197)		(9,164)
Total Undistributed Loss	\$ (1	,072,249)	\$ (1	,403,434)
Net Loss Per Common Unit – Common Units Entitled to Priority Distributions				
Undistributed Loss per Common Unit	\$	(3.71)	\$	(5.22)
Priority Distributions (a)		1.25		0.90
Net Loss Per Common Unit - Common Units Entitled to Priority Distributions	\$	(2.46)	\$	(4.32)
Net Loss Per Common Unit – Common Units Not Entitled to Priority Distributions				
Undistributed Loss per Common Unit	\$	(3.71)	\$	(3.06)
Priority Distributions		<u> </u>		
Net Loss Per Common Unit - Common Units Not Entitled to Priority Distributions	\$	(3.71)	\$	(3.06)
Weighted-Average Common Units Outstanding – Common Units Entitled to Priority Distributions	285	,163,954	266	5,876,031
Common Units Not Entitled to Priority Distributions	3	,826,233	1	,501,373
Total Weighted-Average Common Units Outstanding	288	,990,187	268	3,377,404

⁽a) Undistributed Loss per Common Unit – Priority Distributions is based on common units outstanding at the end of the reporting period and will differ from actual distributions paid to common unitholders which are based on common units outstanding at the time priority distributions are made.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, a total of 22,453,412 and 29,117,068 unvested deferred restricted common units and 812,377,553 and 831,549,761 Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units were anti-dilutive and as such have been excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per unit, respectively.

Basic and diluted net loss per common unit for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 are calculated as follows:

	Basic and Diluted June 19, 2007 through
	December 31, 2007
Net Loss Allocable to Common Unitholders	\$ (335,514)
Weighted-Average Common Units Outstanding	262,810,720
Net Loss per Common Unit	\$ (1.28)

For the year ended December 31, 2007, a total of 31,249,103 unvested deferred restricted common units and 827,151,349 Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units were anti-dilutive and as such have been excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per unit.

Cash Distribution Policy

Blackstone's current intention is to distribute to its common unitholders substantially all of The Blackstone Group L.P.'s net after-tax share of annual Distributable Earnings in excess of amounts determined by Blackstone's general partner to be necessary or appropriate to provide for the conduct of the Partnership's business, to make appropriate investments in the business and funds, to comply with applicable law, any of Blackstone's debt instruments or other agreements, or to provide for future distributions to Blackstone's common unitholders for any ensuing quarter. Because Blackstone will not know what the Distributable Earnings will be for any fiscal year until the end of such year, the Partnership expects that the first three quarterly distributions in respect of any given year will be based on the anticipated annualized Net Fee Related Earnings only. As such, the distribution for the first three quarters will likely be smaller than the final quarterly distribution in respect of such year, which Blackstone expects to also include realized Performance Fees and Allocations net of related compensation and realized net investment income.

In most years the aggregate amounts of distributions to unitholders will not equal Distributable Earnings for that year. Distributable Earnings will only be a starting point for the determination of the amount to be distributed to unitholders because as noted above, in determining the amount to be distributed Blackstone will subtract from Distributable Earnings any amounts determined by its general partner to be necessary or appropriate to provide for the conduct of its business, to make appropriate investments in its business and its funds, to comply with applicable law, any of its debt instruments or other agreements, or to provide for future distributions to its unitholders for any ensuing quarter.

All of the foregoing is subject to the qualification that the declaration and payment of any distributions are at the sole discretion of the general partner and the general partner may change the distribution policy at any time.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Because The Blackstone Group L.P. is a holding partnership and has no material assets other than its ownership of partnership units in Blackstone Holdings held through wholly-owned subsidiaries, distributions are funded by The Blackstone Group L.P., if any, in three steps:

- First, Blackstone Holdings makes distributions to partners, including The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries. If Blackstone Holdings makes such distributions, the limited partners of Blackstone Holdings will be entitled to receive equivalent distributions pro rata based on their partnership interests in Blackstone Holdings (except as set forth in the following paragraph);
- Second, The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries distributes to The Blackstone Group L.P. the share of such distributions, net of the taxes and amounts payable under the tax receivable agreement by such wholly-owned subsidiaries; and
- Third, The Blackstone Group L.P. distributes the net share of such distributions to the common unitholders on a pro rata basis.

Because the wholly-owned subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group L.P. must pay taxes and make payments under the tax receivable agreements described in the Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements, Footnote 15 – Related Party Transactions, the amounts ultimately distributed by The Blackstone Group L.P. to common unitholders in respect of fiscal 2010 and subsequent years are expected to be different, and in many years likely less, on a per unit basis, than the amounts distributed by the Blackstone Holdings partnerships to the Blackstone personnel and others who are limited partners of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships in respect of their Blackstone Holdings partnership units.

In addition, the partnership agreements of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships provide for cash distributions, which are referred to as "tax distributions," to the partners of such partnerships if the wholly-owned subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group L.P. which are the general partners of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships determine that the taxable income of the relevant partnership will give rise to taxable income for the partners. Generally, these tax distributions will be computed based on the Partnership's estimate of the net taxable income of the relevant partnership allocable to a partner multiplied by an assumed tax rate equal to the highest effective marginal combined U.S. federal, state and local income tax rate prescribed for an individual or corporate resident in New York, New York (taking into account the nondeductibility of certain expenses and the character of the Partnership's income). The Blackstone Holdings partnerships will make tax distributions only to the extent distributions from such partnerships for the relevant year were otherwise insufficient to cover such tax liabilities.

Unit Repurchase Program

In January 2008, Blackstone announced that the Board of Directors of its general partner, Blackstone Group Management L.L.C., had authorized the repurchase by Blackstone of up to \$500 million of Blackstone Common Units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units. Under this unit repurchase program, units may be repurchased from time to time in open market transactions, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. The timing and the actual number of Blackstone Common Units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, including legal requirements, price and economic and market conditions. This unit repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time and does not have a specified expiration date. During the year ended December 31, 2009, Blackstone repurchased a combination of 4,689,101 vested and unvested Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units and Blackstone Common Units as part of the unit repurchase program for a total cost of \$30.5 million. As of December 31, 2009, the amount remaining available for repurchases was \$339.5 million under this program.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

14. EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION

The Partnership has granted equity-based compensation awards to Blackstone's senior managing directors, non-partner professionals, non-professionals and selected external advisors under the Partnership's 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Equity Plan"), the majority of which to date were granted in connection with the IPO. The Equity Plan allows for the granting of options, unit appreciation rights or other unit-based awards (units, restricted units, restricted common units, deferred restricted common units, phantom restricted common units or other unit-based awards based in whole or in part on the fair value of the Blackstone Common Units or Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units) which may contain certain service or performance requirements. As of January 1, 2009, the Partnership had the ability to grant 163,041,206 units under the Equity Plan for the year ended December 31, 2009.

The Partnership recorded total compensation expense in relation to its equity-based awards of \$3.0 billion and \$3.3 billion for the years ending December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively with corresponding tax benefits of \$13.7 million and \$16.4 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2009, there was \$6.3 billion of estimated unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested awards. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 4.3 years.

Total vested and unvested outstanding units, including Blackstone Common Units, Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units and deferred restricted common units, were 1,126,974,312 as of December 31, 2009. Total outstanding unvested phantom units were 208,592 as of December 31, 2009.

A summary of the status of the Partnership's unvested equity-based awards as of December 31, 2009 and a summary of changes during the period January 1, 2009 through December 31, 2009, are presented below:

	Blackstone Holdings			Group L.P.		
	Equity Settled Awards		d Awards	Cash Settl	ed Awards	
		Weighted- Average Grant Date	Deferred Restricted Common	Weighted- Average Grant Date		Weighted- Average Grant Date
Unvested Units	Partnership Units	Fair Value	Units and Options	Fair Value	Phantom Units	Fair Value
Balance, December 31, 2008	354,311,432	\$ 30.89	28,569,608	\$ 25.90	532,794	\$ 26.09
Granted	3,019,136	7.53	7,527,485	12.71	7,380	12.05
Vested	(77,736,791)	30.89	(9,634,609)	20.70	(294,130)	26.26
Exchanged	(1,186,174)	6.59	1,182,852	6.59	3,322	5.80
Forfeited	(7,948,878)	30.16	(3,902,643)	25.47	(40,774)	26.19
Balance, December 31, 2009	270,458,725	\$ 30.76	23,742,693	\$ 23.10	208,592	\$ 25.07

During 2008, the Partnership modified certain senior managing directors' Blackstone Holdings Partnership Unit award agreements and subsequently repurchased under the unit repurchase program both vested and unvested units in conjunction with the modifications. A percentage of the cash settlement was paid up front to the senior managing directors and the remaining percentage of the settlement will be held in escrow and in certain cases earned over a specified service period. At the date of such modifications, the Partnership recognized total compensation expense of \$185.5 million, which is included in the total equity-based compensation expense of \$3.3 billion, related to the modifications and cash settlement. Additional compensation expense related to the portion of the settlement held in escrow will be recognized over the specified service period which ranges from approximately 18 to 50 months.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Units Expected to Vest

The following unvested units, as of December 31, 2009, are expected to vest:

	Units	Weighted-Average Service Period in Years
Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units	256,757,930	3.9
Deferred Restricted Blackstone Common Units and Options	19,670,258	4.1
Total Equity-Based Awards	276,428,188	3.9
Phantom Units	191,128	0.6

Deferred Restricted Common Units and Phantom Units

The Partnership has granted deferred restricted common units to some senior and non-senior managing director professionals, analysts and senior finance and administrative personnel and selected external advisors and phantom units (cash settled equity-based awards) to other non-senior managing director employees. Holders of deferred restricted common units and phantom units are not entitled to any voting rights. Only phantom units are to be settled in cash.

The fair values of deferred restricted common units have been derived based on the closing price of Blackstone's Common Units on the date of the grant, multiplied by the number of unvested awards and expensed over the assumed service period, which ranges from 1 to 10 years. Additionally, the calculation of the compensation expense assumes forfeiture rates based upon historical turnover rates, ranging from 1% to 16% annually by employee class, and a per unit discount, ranging from \$0.01 to \$14.89 as a majority of these unvested awards do not contain distribution participation rights. In most cases, the Partnership will not make any distributions with respect to unvested deferred restricted common units. However, there are certain grantees who receive distributions on both vested and unvested deferred restricted common units.

Subject to a non-senior managing director employee's continued employment with Blackstone, the phantom units will vest in equal installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the IPO or, in the case of certain term analysts, in a single installment on the date that the employee completes his or her current contract period with Blackstone. On each such vesting date, Blackstone will deliver cash to the holder in an amount equal to the number of phantom units held multiplied by the then fair market value of the Blackstone common units on such date. Additionally, the calculation of the compensation expense assumes forfeiture rates based upon historical turnover rates, ranging from 7% to 16% annually by employee class. Blackstone is accounting for these cash settled awards as a liability.

Blackstone paid \$3.5 million, \$6.7 million and \$0.5 million to non-senior managing director employees in settlement of phantom units for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and for the period June 19 through December 31, 2007, respectively.

Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units

At the time of the Reorganization, Blackstone's predecessor owners and selected advisors received 827,516,625 Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units, of which 387,805,088 were vested and 439,711,537 were to vest over a period of up to 8 years from the IPO date. Subsequent to the Reorganization, the Partnership has

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

granted Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units to newly hired senior managing directors. The Partnership has accounted for the unvested Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units as compensation expense. The fair values have been derived based on the closing price of Blackstone's Common Units on the date of the grant, or \$31 (based on the initial public offering price per Blackstone Common Unit) for those units issued at the time of the Reorganization, multiplied by the number of unvested awards and expensed over the assumed service period which ranges from 1 to 8 years. Additionally, the calculation of the compensation expense assumes a forfeiture rate of up to 16%, based on historical experience.

In November 2009, the Partnership modified equity awards issued in connection with a deferred compensation plan to, among other things: (a) provide that deferred compensation payments to participating employees and senior managing directors generally would be satisfied by delivery of Blackstone common units instead of delivery of Partnership Units; (b) delay the delivery of common units (following the applicable vesting dates) until anticipated trading window periods, to better facilitate participants' liquidity to meet tax obligations; and (c) ensure compliance with deferred compensation taxation rules. As the fair value of Partnership Units on grant date is based on the closing price of Blackstone Common Units, there was no change in the fair value of these awards as a result of the modification. As a result, there was no additional impact to compensation expense.

Equity-Based Awards with Performance Conditions

The Partnership has also granted certain equity-based awards with performance requirements. These awards are based on the performance of certain businesses over the five-year period beginning January 2008, relative to a predetermined threshold. As of December 31, 2009, the thresholds for 2009 were not met and the Partnership has determined that there is too much uncertainty in the probability that the threshold will be exceeded in future periods. As such, the Partnership has not recorded any expense related to these awards for the year ended December 31, 2009. The Partnership will continue to review the performance of these businesses, and, if necessary, will record an expense over the corresponding service period based on the most probable level of anticipated performance. This award is accounted for as a liability as required by GAAP as the number of units to be granted in 2012 is dependent upon variations in something other than the fair value of the issuer's equity shares, specifically, the businesses' five-year profitability.

Acquisition of GSO Capital Partners LP

In conjunction with the acquisition of GSO, the Partnership entered into equity-based compensation arrangements with certain GSO senior managing directors and other personnel. The arrangements stipulate that the recipient receive cash, equity instruments or a combination of cash and equity instruments to be earned over service periods ranging from three to five years or based upon the realization of specified earnings targets over the period 2008 through 2012. For the non-performance dependent compensation arrangements, the Partnership will recognize the estimated expense on a straight-line basis over the service period. For the performance-based compensation arrangements tied to specified earnings targets, the Partnership estimates compensation expense based upon whether it is probable that forecasted earnings will meet or exceed the required earnings targets and if so, recognizes the expense over the earnings period.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Affiliate Receivables and Payables

Blackstone considers its Founders, senior managing directors, employees, the Blackstone Funds and the Portfolio Companies to be affiliates. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, Due from Affiliates and Due to Affiliates comprised the following:

	December 31, 2009	December 31, 2008
Due from Affiliates		
Accrual for Potential Clawback of Previously Distributed Interest	\$ 308,378	\$ 226,870
Primarily Interest Bearing Advances Made on Behalf of Certain Non-Controlling Interest		
Holders and Blackstone Employees for Investments in Blackstone Funds	127,669	175,268
Amounts Due from Portfolio Companies and Funds	115,441	72,376
Investments Redeemed in Non-Consolidated Funds of Funds	77,600	496,350
Management and Performance Fees Due from Non-Consolidated Funds of Funds	68,649	50,774
Payments Made on Behalf of Non-Consolidated Entities	53,581	58,536
Advances Made to Certain Non-Controlling Interest Holders and Blackstone Employees	8,589	8,130
	\$ 759,907	\$ 1,088,304
Due to Affiliates		
Due to Certain Non-Controlling Interest Holders in Connection with the Tax Receivable		
Agreement	\$ 830,517	\$ 722,449
Accrual for Potential Repayment of Previously Received Performance Fees and		
Allocations	485,253	260,018
Distributions Received on Behalf of Certain Non-Controlling Interest Holders and		
Blackstone Employees	58,083	262,737
Distributions Received on Behalf of Non-Consolidated Entities	31,692	22,938
Payments Made by Non-Consolidated Entities	4,521	17,435
	\$ 1,410,066	\$ 1,285,577

Interests of the Co-Founder, Senior Managing Directors and Employees

The Co-Founder, senior managing directors and employees invest on a discretionary basis in the Blackstone Funds both directly and through consolidated entities. Their investments may be subject to preferential management fee and performance fee and allocation arrangements. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Co-Founder's, other senior managing directors' and employees' investments aggregated \$649.4 million and \$507.2 million, respectively, and the Co-Founder's, other senior managing directors' and employees' share of the Non-Controlling Interests in Income (Loss) of Consolidated Entities aggregated \$31.2 million, \$(281.7) million and \$279.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Revenues Earned from Affiliates

Management and Advisory Fees earned from affiliates totaled \$134.3 million, \$188.3 million and \$595.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Fees relate primarily to transaction and monitoring fees which are made in the ordinary course of business and under terms that would have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties.

Loans to Affiliates

Loans to affiliates consist of interest-bearing advances to certain Blackstone individuals to finance their investments in certain Blackstone Funds. These loans earn interest at Blackstone's cost of borrowing and such interest totaled \$2.2 million, \$6.0 million, and \$6.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. No such loans to any director or executive officer of Blackstone have been made or were outstanding since March 22, 2007, the date of Blackstone's initial filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission of a registration statement relating to its initial public offering.

Contingent Repayment Guarantee

Blackstone and its personnel who have received Carried Interest distributions have guaranteed payment on a several basis (subject to a cap), to the Carry Funds of any clawback obligation with respect to the excess Carried Interest allocated to the general partners of such funds and indirectly received thereby to the extent that either Blackstone or its personnel fails to fulfill its clawback obligation, if any. The Accrual for Possible Repayment of Previously Received Performance Fees and Allocations represents amounts previously paid to Blackstone Holdings and non-controlling interest holders that would need to be repaid to the Blackstone funds if the Carry Funds were to be liquidated based on the fair value of their underlying investments as of December 31, 2009. See Note 16 "Contingent Obligations (Clawback)".

Aircraft and Other Services

In the normal course of business, Blackstone personnel have made use of aircraft owned as personal assets by Stephen A. Schwarzman ("Personal Aircraft"). In addition, on occasion, Mr. Schwarzman and his family have made use of an aircraft in which Blackstone owns a fractional interest, as well as other assets of Blackstone. Mr. Schwarzman paid for his purchases of the aircraft himself and bears all operating, personnel and maintenance costs associated with their operation. In addition, Mr. Schwarzman is charged for his and his family's personal use of Blackstone assets based on market rates and usage. Payment by Blackstone for the use of the Personal Aircraft by other Blackstone employees are made at market rates. Personal use of Blackstone resources are also reimbursed to Blackstone at market rates. The transactions described herein are not material to the consolidated and combined financial statements.

Tax Receivable Agreement

Blackstone used a portion of the proceeds from the IPO and the sale of non-voting common units to Beijing Wonderful Investments to purchase interests in the predecessor businesses from the predecessor owners. In addition, holders of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units may exchange their Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units for Blackstone Common Units on a one-for-one basis. The purchase and subsequent exchanges are expected to result in increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of Blackstone Holdings and therefore reduce the amount of tax that Blackstone's wholly-owned subsidiaries would otherwise be required to pay in the future.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Certain subsidiaries of the Partnership which are corporate taxpayers have entered into tax receivable agreements with each of the predecessor owners and additional tax receivable agreements have been executed, and will continue to be executed, with newly-admitted senior managing directors and others who acquire Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units. The agreements provide for the payment by the corporate taxpayers to such owners of 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax that the corporate taxpayers actually realize as result of the aforementioned increases in tax basis and of certain other tax benefits related to entering into these tax receivable agreements. For purposes of the tax receivable agreements, cash savings in income tax will be computed by comparing the actual income tax liability of the corporate taxpayers to the amount of such taxes that the corporate taxpayers would have been required to pay had there been no increase to the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of Blackstone Holdings as a result of the exchanges and had the corporate taxpayers not entered into the tax receivable agreements.

Assuming no material changes in the relevant tax law and that the corporate taxpayers earn sufficient taxable income to realize the full tax benefit of the increased amortization of the assets, the expected future payments under the tax receivable agreements (which are taxable to the recipients) will aggregate \$830.5 million over the next 15 years. The after-tax present value of these estimated payments totals \$228.6 million assuming a 15% discount rate and using Blackstone's most recent projections relating to the estimated timing of the benefit to be received. Future payments under the tax receivable agreements in respect of subsequent exchanges would be in addition to these amounts. The payments under the tax receivable agreement are not conditioned upon continued ownership of Blackstone equity interests by the pre-IPO owners and the others mentioned above. Subsequent to December 31, 2009, payments totaling \$4,076,382 were made to certain pre-IPO owners in accordance with the tax receivable agreement and related to tax benefits the Partnership received for the 2008 taxable year.

Other

Blackstone does business with and on behalf of some of its Portfolio Companies; all such arrangements are on a negotiated basis.

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments

Operating Leases

The Partnership leases office space under non-cancelable lease and sublease agreements, which expire on various dates through 2024. Occupancy lease agreements, in addition to base rentals, generally are subject to escalation provisions based on certain costs incurred by the landlord, and are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease agreement. Rent expense includes base contractual rent and variable costs such as building expenses, utilities, taxes and insurance. Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, was \$63.1 million, \$40.7 million and \$30.2 million, respectively. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Partnership maintained irrevocable standby letters of credit and cash deposits as security for the leases of \$9.9 million and \$10.4 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2009, the approximate aggregate minimum future payments, net of sublease income, required on the operating leases are as follows:

2010	\$ 54,669
2011	49,929
2012	47,709
2013	47,593
2014	44,979
Thereafter	298,352
	\$543,231

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

Investment Commitments

The consolidated Blackstone Funds had signed investment commitments of \$24.2 million as of December 31, 2009. Included in this is \$0.4 million of signed investment commitments for portfolio company acquisitions in the process of closing. In addition, the general partners of the Blackstone Funds had unfunded commitments to each of their respective funds of \$1.3 billion as of December 31, 2009.

Contingencies

Guarantees

Certain of Blackstone's consolidated real estate funds guarantee payments to third parties in connection with the on-going business activities and/or acquisitions of their Portfolio Companies. There is no direct recourse to the Partnership to fulfill such obligations. To the extent that underlying funds are required to fulfill guarantee obligations, the Partnership's invested capital in such funds is at risk. Total investments at risk in respect of guarantees extended by real estate funds was \$6.4 million as of December 31, 2009.

Contingent Performance Fees and Allocations

There were \$46.7 million of performance fees and allocations related to the hedge funds in the credit and marketable alternatives segment for the year ended December 31, 2009 attributable to arrangements where the measurement period had not ended.

Litigation

From time to time, Blackstone is named as a defendant in legal actions relating to transactions conducted in the ordinary course of business. Although there can be no assurance of the outcome of such legal actions, in the opinion of management, Blackstone does not have a potential liability related to any current legal proceeding or claim that would individually or in the aggregate materially adversely affect its results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

Contingent Obligations (Clawback)

Included within Net Gains (Losses) from Fund Investment Activities in the Consolidated Statements of Operations are gains from Blackstone Fund investments. The portion of net gains (losses) attributable to non-controlling interest holders is included within Non-Controlling Interests in Income of Consolidated Entities. Net gains (losses) attributable to non-controlling interest holders are net of Carried Interest earned by Blackstone. Carried interest is subject to clawback to the extent that the carried interest received to date exceeds the amount due to Blackstone based on cumulative results.

The actual clawback liability, however, does not become realized until the end of a fund's life except for Blackstone's real estate funds which may have a clawback liability come due one year after a realized loss is incurred, depending on the fund. The lives of the carry funds with a potential clawback obligation, including available contemplated extensions, are currently anticipated to expire at various points beginning toward the end of 2012 and extending through 2018. Further extensions of such terms may be implemented under given circumstances.

As of December 31, 2009, the current cash clawback obligation of the Blackstone general partners to the limited partner investors of the private equity, real estate and credit-oriented funds is zero. For financial reporting purposes, however, the general partners have recorded a liability for potential clawback obligations to the limited

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

partners of some of the carry funds due to changes in the unrealized value of a fund's remaining investments and where the fund's general partner has previously received Carried Interest distributions with respect to such fund's realized investments.

As of December 31, 2009, the clawback obligations, which are not currently due, were \$485.3 million, of which \$217.4 million related to Blackstone Holdings and \$267.9 million related to current and former Blackstone personnel. As of December 31, 2008, such obligations were \$260.0 million, of which \$109.8 million related to Blackstone Holdings and \$150.2 million related to current and former Blackstone personnel. The Accrual for Potential Repayment of Previously Received Performance Fees and Allocations is included in Due to Affiliates.

The following table presents the clawback obligations by segment:

	December 31, 2009			I	December 31, 200	08
					Current	
		Current and			and	
	Blackstone	Former		Blackstone	Former	
Segment	Holdings	Personnel	Total	Holdings	Personnel	Total
Private Equity	\$ 65,237	\$ 120,208	\$ 185,445	\$ 63,643	\$ 118,928	\$ 182,571
Real Estate	152,142	147,666	299,808	46,014	31,145	77,159
Credit and Marketable Alternatives				183	105	288
Total	\$ 217,379	\$ 267,874	\$ 485,253	\$ 109,840	\$ 150,178	\$ 260,018

A portion of the carried interest paid to current and former Blackstone personnel is held in segregated accounts in the event of a cash clawback obligation. These segregated accounts are not included in the consolidated and combined financial statements of the Partnership, except to the extent a portion of the assets held in the segregated accounts may be allocated to a consolidated Blackstone fund of hedge funds. At December 31, 2009, \$474.4 million was held in segregated accounts for the purpose of meeting any clawback obligations of current and former personnel if such payments are required.

17. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Partnership provides a 401(k) plan (the "Plan") for eligible employees in the United States. For certain finance and administrative professionals who are participants in the Plan, the Partnership contributes 2% of such professional's pretax annual compensation up to a maximum of one thousand six hundred dollars. In addition, the Partnership will contribute 50% of the first 4% of pretax annual compensation contributed by such professional participants with a maximum matching contribution of one thousand six hundred dollars. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the Partnership incurred expenses of \$1.5 million, \$1.3 million and \$0.9 million in connection with such Plan.

The Partnership provides a defined contribution plan for eligible employees in the United Kingdom ("UK Plan"). All United Kingdom employees are eligible to contribute to the UK Plan after three months of qualifying service. The Partnership contributes a percentage of an employee's annual salary, subject to United Kingdom statutory restrictions, on a monthly basis for administrative employees of the Partnership based upon the age of the employee. For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, the Partnership incurred expenses of \$0.3 million, \$0.3 million, respectively, in connection with the UK Plan.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

18. REGULATED ENTITIES

The Partnership has certain entities that are registered broker-dealers which are subject to the minimum net capital requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). The Partnership has continuously operated in excess of these requirements. The Partnership also has two entities based in London which are subject to the capital requirements of the U.K. Financial Services Authority. These entities have continuously operated in excess of their regulatory capital requirements.

Certain other U.S. and non-U.S. entities are subject to various securities commodity pool and trader regulations. This includes a number of U.S. entities which are Registered Investment Advisors under the rules and authority of the SEC.

The regulatory capital requirements referred to above may restrict the Partnership's ability to withdraw capital from its entities. At December 31, 2009, approximately \$25.3 million of net assets of consolidated entities may be restricted as to the payment of cash dividends and advances to the Partnership.

19. SEGMENT REPORTING

Blackstone transacts its primary business in the United States and substantially all of its revenues are generated domestically.

Blackstone conducts its alternative asset management and financial advisory businesses through four reportable segments:

- Private Equity Blackstone's Private Equity segment comprises its management of private equity funds.
- Real Estate Blackstone's Real Estate segment comprises its management of general real estate funds and internationally focused real estate funds.
- Credit and Marketable Alternatives Blackstone's Credit and Marketable Alternatives segment, whose consistent focus is current earnings, comprises its management of funds of hedge funds, credit-oriented funds, CLO vehicles, separately managed accounts and publicly-traded closed-end mutual funds. This segment was formerly known as Marketable Alternative Asset Management and has been renamed to better reflect the product mix in this segment. This does not reflect a change to the underlying businesses or how they are reflected in Blackstone's results of operation.
- Financial Advisory Blackstone's Financial Advisory segment comprises its corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory services, restructuring and reorganization advisory services and Park Hill Group, which provides fund placement services for alternative investment funds.

These business segments are differentiated by their various sources of income, with the Private Equity, Real Estate and Credit and Marketable Alternatives segments primarily earning their income from management fees and investment returns on assets under management, while the Financial Advisory segment primarily earns its income from fees related to investment banking services and advice and fund placement services.

Economic Net Income ("ENI") is a key performance measure used by management. ENI represents segment income before taxes excluding transaction-related charges. Transaction-related charges include principally charges associated with equity-based compensation, the amortization of intangibles and corporate actions including acquisitions. Blackstone's historical combined financial statements for periods prior to the IPO do not include these transaction-related charges nor do such financial statements reflect certain compensation expenses including performance payment arrangements associated with senior managing directors, departed partners and

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

other selected employees. Those compensation expenses were accounted for as partnership distributions prior to the IPO but are included in the financial statements for the periods following the IPO as a component of compensation and benefits expense. The aggregate of ENI for all reportable segments equals Total Reportable Segment ENI. ENI is used by management primarily in making resource deployment and compensation decisions across Blackstone's four segments.

Management makes operating decisions and assesses the performance of each of Blackstone's business segments based on financial and operating metrics and data that is presented without the consolidation of any of the Blackstone Funds that are consolidated into the consolidated and combined financial statements. Consequently, all segment data excludes the assets, liabilities and operating results related to the Blackstone Funds.

The following table presents the financial data for Blackstone's four reportable segments as of and for the year ended December 31, 2009:

	December 31, 2009 and the Year then Ended				
	Private Equity	Real Estate	Credit and Marketable Alternatives	Financial Advisory	Total Reportable Segments
Segment Revenues					
Management Fees and Advisory Fees					
Base Management Fees	\$ 270,509	\$ 328,447	\$ 400,873	\$ —	\$ 999,829
Advisory Fees				390,718	390,718
Transaction and Other Fees, Net	86,336	25,838	2,866	_	115,040
Management Fee Offsets		(2,467)	(14,694)		(17,161)
Total Management and Advisory Fees	356,845	351,818	389,045	390,718	1,488,426
Performance Fees and Allocations					
Realized	34,021	(3,039)	43,282	_	74,264
Unrealized	303,491	(252,180)	114,556		165,867
Total Performance Fees and Allocations	337,512	(255,219)	157,838		240,131
Investment Income (Loss)					
Realized	36,968	6,164	(15,031)	1,443	29,544
Unrealized	33,269	(125,624)	96,016	219	3,880
Total Investment Income (Loss)	70,237	(119,460)	80,985	1,662	33,424
Interest and Dividend Revenue	7,756	6,030	3,452	5,254	22,492
Other	2,845	3,261	1,025	(35)	7,096
Total Revenues	775,195	(13,570)	632,345	397,599	1,791,569
Expenses					
Compensation and Benefits					
Base Compensation	181,266	158,115	198,117	232,359	769,857
Performance Fee Related					
Realized	741	3,506	20,854	_	25,101
Unrealized	20,307	(113,981)	67,493		(26,181)
Total Compensation and Benefits	202,314	47,640	286,464	232,359	768,777
Other Operating Expenses	82,471	56,325	80,661	79,572	299,029
Total Expenses	284,785	103,965	367,125	311,931	1,067,806
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 490,410	\$ (117,535)	\$ 265,220	\$ 85,668	\$ 723,763
Segment Assets	\$2,870,238	\$1,940,925	\$2,706,169	\$986,624	\$8,503,956

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

The following table reconciles the Total Reportable Segments to Blackstone's Income (Loss) Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes and Total Assets as of and for the year ended December 31, 2009:

	Decembe	December 31, 2009 and the Year then Ended				
		Consolidation				
		Adjustments				
		and Reconciling				
	Total	_	Blackstone			
	Segments	Items	Consolidated			
Revenues	\$1,791,569	\$ (17,870)(a)	\$ 1,773,699			
Expenses	\$1,067,806	\$ 3,174,053(b)	\$ 4,241,859			
Other Income	\$ —	\$ 176,694(c)	\$ 176,694			
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 723,763	\$ (3,015,229)(d)	\$(2,291,466)			
Total Assets	\$8,503,956	\$ 905,068(e)	\$ 9,409,024			

⁽a) The Revenues adjustment principally represents management and performance fees and allocations earned from Blackstone Funds to arrive at Blackstone consolidated revenues which were eliminated in consolidation.

(c) The Other Income adjustment results from the following:

	ar Ended aber 31, 2009
Fund Management Fees and Performance Fees and Allocations Eliminated in Consolidation	\$ 14,870
Fund Expenses Added in Consolidation	10,441
Non-Controlling Interests in Income of Consolidated Entities	 151,383
Total Consolidation Adjustments	\$ 176,694

⁽d) The reconciliation of Economic Net Income (Loss) to Income (Loss) Before Benefit for Taxes as reported in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations consists of the following:

	ear Ended mber 31, 2009
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ 723,763
Adjustments:	
Amortization of Intangibles	(158,048)
IPO and Acquisition-Related Charges	(2,973,950)
Income (Loss) Associated with Non-Controlling Interests in Income (Loss) of	
Consolidated Entities	 116,769
Total Adjustments	 (3,015,229)
Income (Loss) Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	\$ (2,291,466)

⁽e) The Total Assets adjustment represents the addition of assets of the consolidated Blackstone Funds to the Blackstone unconsolidated assets to arrive at Blackstone consolidated and combined assets.

⁽b) The Expenses adjustment represents the addition of expenses of the consolidated Blackstone Funds to the Blackstone unconsolidated expenses, amortization of intangibles and expenses related to transaction-related equity-based compensation to arrive at Blackstone consolidated and combined expenses.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

The following table presents financial data for Blackstone's four reportable segments as of and for the year ended December 31, 2008:

	December 31, 2008 and the Year then Ended				
	Private Equity	Real Estate	Credit and Marketable Alternatives	Financial Advisory	Total Reportable Segments
Segment Revenues					
Management Fees and Advisory Fees					
Base Management Fees	\$ 268,961	\$ 295,921	\$ 476,836	\$ —	\$ 1,041,718
Advisory Fees	_		_	397,519	397,519
Transaction and Other Fees, Net	51,796	36,046	8,516	_	96,358
Management Fee Offsets	(4,862)	(4,969)	(6,606)		(16,437)
Total Management and Advisory Fees	315,895	326,998	478,746	397,519	1,519,158
Performance Fees and Allocations					
Realized	(749)	24,681	15,081	_	39,013
Unrealized	(429,736)	(843,704)	(12,822)	_	(1,286,262)
Total Performance Fees and Allocations	(430,485)	(819,023)	2,259	_	(1,247,249)
Investment Income (Loss)					
Realized	13,687	3,778	(82,142)	_	(64,677)
Unrealized	(196,200)	(238,650)	(257,084)	_	(691,934)
Total Investment Income (Loss)	(182,513)	(234,872)	(339,226)		(756,611)
Interest and Dividend Revenue	6,459	5,880	8,527	8,148	29,014
Other	4,474	3,008	1,214	4,899	13,595
Total Revenues	(286,170)	(718,009)	151,520	410,566	(442,093)
Expenses					
Compensation and Benefits					
Base Compensation	146,551	150,684	239,436	234,755	771,426
Performance Fee Related	•	·	,	,	,
Realized	(4,255)	1,090	8,162	_	4,997
Unrealized	(126,090)	(74,981)	(6,643)	_	(207,714)
Total Compensation and Benefits	16,206	76,793	240,955	234,755	568,709
Other Operating Expenses	90,130	55,782	106,027	67,277	319,216
Total Expenses	106,336	132,575	346,982	302,032	887,925
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ (392,506)	\$ (850,584)	\$ (195,462)	\$108,534	\$(1,330,018)
Segment Assets	\$2,688,398	\$1,753,009	\$2,615,891	\$550,215	\$ 7,607,513

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

The following table reconciles the Total Reportable Segments to Blackstone's Income Before Provision for Taxes as of and for the year ended December 31, 2008:

	Decemb	December 31, 2008 and the Year then Ended			
	_	Consolidation			
		Adjustments			
	Total	and Reconciling	Blackstone		
	Segments	Items	Consolidated		
Revenues	\$ (442,093)	\$ 92,732(a)	\$ (349,361)		
Expenses	\$ 887,925	\$ 3,498,677(b)	\$ 4,386,602		
Other Loss	\$ —	\$ (872,336)(c)	\$ (872,336)		
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$(1,330,018)	\$ (4,278,281)(d)	\$(5,608,299)		
Total Assets	\$ 7,607,513	\$ 1,881,544(e)	\$ 9,489,057		

- (a) The Revenues adjustment principally represents management and performance fees and allocations earned from Blackstone Funds to arrive at Blackstone consolidated revenues which were eliminated in consolidation.
- (b) The Expenses adjustment represents the addition of expenses of the consolidated Blackstone Funds to the Blackstone unconsolidated expenses, amortization of intangibles and expenses related to transaction-related equity-based compensation to arrive at Blackstone consolidated and combined expenses.
- (c) The Other Income adjustment results from the following:

	ear Ended nber 31, 2008
Fund Management Fees and Performance Fees and Allocations Eliminated in Consolidation	\$ (105,418)
Fund Expenses Added in Consolidation	66,046
Non-Controlling Interests in Income (Loss) of Consolidated Entities	 (832,964)
Total Consolidation Adjustments	\$ (872,336)

(d) The reconciliation of Economic Net Income to Income Before Provision for Taxes as reported in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations consists of the following:

	y ear Ended
	December 31, 2008
Economic Net Income (Loss)	\$ (1,330,018)
Adjustments:	
Amortization of Intangibles	(153,237)
IPO and Acquisition-Related Charges	(3,331,722)
Other Adjustments	(999)
Income (Loss) Associated with Non-Controlling Interests in Income (Loss) of Consolidated Entities	(792,323)
Total Adjustments	(4,278,281)
Income (Loss) Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	\$ (5,608,299)

Voor Ended

(e) The Total Assets adjustment represents the addition of assets of the consolidated Blackstone Funds to the Blackstone unconsolidated assets to arrive at Blackstone consolidated and combined assets.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

The following table presents financial data for Blackstone's four reportable segments for the year ended December 31, 2007:

		December 31, 2007 and the Year then Ended				
	Private Equity	Real Estate	Credit and Marketable Alternatives	Financial Advisory	Total Reportable Segments	
Segment Revenues			<u></u>			
Management and Advisory Fees						
Base Management Fees	\$ 254,843	\$ 233,072	\$ 316,337	\$ —	\$ 804,252	
Advisory Fees	_	_	_	360,284	360,284	
Transaction and Other Fees, Net	123,770	348,410	6,630	_	478,810	
Management Fee Offsets	(10,734)	(11,717)	(33)		(22,484)	
Total Management and Advisory Fees	367,879	569,765	322,934	360,284	1,620,862	
Performance Fees and Allocations						
Realized	574,274	326,514	154,028	_	1,054,816	
Unrealized	(194,357)	297,437	2,952		106,032	
Total Performance Fees and Allocations	379,917	623,951	156,980	_	1,160,848	
Investment Income (Loss)						
Realized	131,498	68,996	62,363	_	262,857	
Unrealized	(16,166)	65,472	81,439	_	130,745	
Total Investment Income (Loss)	115,332	134,468	143,802		393,602	
Interest and Dividend Revenue	1,731	1,321	4,249	7,385	14,686	
Other	470	38	31	(11)	528	
Total Revenues	865,329	1,329,543	627,996	367,658	3,190,526	
Expenses						
Compensation and Benefits						
Base Compensation	132,119	147,829	82,594	132,633	495,175	
Performance Fee Related						
Realized	14,534	8,560	68,109	_	91,203	
Unrealized	(50,251)	(11,243)	(373)		(61,867)	
Total Compensation and Benefits	96,402	145,146	150,330	132,633	524,511	
Other Operating Expenses	78,473	54,829	74,728	39,037	247,067	
Total Expenses	174,875	199,975	225,058	171,670	771,578	
Economic Net Income	\$ 690,454	\$1,129,568	\$402,938	\$195,988	\$2,418,948	

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

The following table reconciles the Total Reportable Segments to Blackstone's Income Before Provision for Taxes for the year ended December 31, 2007:

		Year Ended December 31, 2007 Consolidation Adjustments and Reconciling Blackstone		
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
	Total		Consolidated	
	Segments	Items	and Combined	
Revenues	\$3,190,526	\$ (140,378)(a)	\$ 3,050,148	
Expenses	\$ 771,578	\$ 1,993,266(b)	\$ 2,764,844	
Other Income	\$ —	\$ 5,423,132(c)	\$ 5,423,132	
Economic Net Income	\$2,418,948	\$ 3,289,488(d)	\$ 5,708,436	

⁽a) The Revenues adjustment principally represents management and performance fees and allocations earned from Blackstone Funds to arrive at Blackstone consolidated and combined revenues which were eliminated in consolidation.

(c) The Other Income adjustment results from the following:

	Y	Year Ended	
	Dece	mber 31, 2007	
Fund Management Fees and Performance Fees and Allocations Eliminated in Consolidation	\$	131,978	
Fund Expenses Added in Consolidation		151,919	
Non-Controlling Interests in Income of Consolidated Entities		5,139,235	
Total Consolidation Adjustments	\$	5,423,132	

(d) The reconciliation of Economic Net Income to Income Before Provision for Taxes as reported in the Consolidated and Combined Statements of Operations consists of the following:

	Year Ended December 31, 2007
Economic Net Income and other	\$ 2,418,948
Adjustments:	
Amortization of Intangibles	(117,607)
IPO and Acquisition-Related Charges	(1,732,134)
Other Adjustments	(6)
Income Associated with Non-Controlling Interests in Income of Consolidated Entities	5,139,235
Total Adjustments	3,289,488
Income (Loss) Before Provision (Benefit) for Taxes	\$ 5,708,436

20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There have been no events since December 31, 2009 that require recognition or disclosure in the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements.

⁽b) The Expenses adjustment represents the addition of expenses of the consolidated Blackstone Funds to the Blackstone unconsolidated expenses, amortization of intangibles and expenses related to transaction-related equity-based compensation to arrive at Blackstone consolidated and combined expenses.

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements (All Dollars Are in Thousands, Except Unit and Per Unit Data, Except Where Noted)

21. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

	Three Months Ended				
	March 31, 2009	June 30, 2009	September 30, 2009	December 31, 2009	
Revenues	\$ 44,914	\$ 406,416	\$ 597,023	\$ 725,346	
Expenses	922,358	1,051,706	1,097,794	1,170,001	
Other Income (Loss)	(34,763)	58,304	73,812	79,341	
Income (Loss) Before Provision for Taxes	<u>\$ (912,207)</u>	\$ (586,986)	\$ (426,959)	\$ (365,314)	
Net Income (Loss)	\$ (929,938)	\$ (597,871)	\$ (479,510)	\$ (383,377)	
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to The Blackstone Group L.P.	\$ (231,574)	\$ (164,284)	\$ (176,183)	\$ (143,250)	
Net Loss Per Common Unit – Basic and Diluted					
Common Units Entitled to Priority Distributions	\$ (0.84)	\$ (0.59)	\$ (0.59)	\$ (0.45)	
Common Units Not Entitled to Priority Distributions	\$ (1.14)	\$ (0.90)	\$ (0.92)	\$ (0.76)	
Priority Distributions Declared (a)	\$	\$ 0.30	\$ 0.30	\$ 0.30	
		·			
	Three Months Ended				
	March 31, 2008	June 30, 2008	September 30, 2008	December 31, 2008	
Revenues	\$ 68,523	\$ 353,652	\$ (160,254)	\$ (611,282)	
Expenses	1,098,063	1,163,808	1,132,698	992,033	
Other Income	(215,636)	189,678	(550,755)	(295,623)	
Income (Loss) Before Provision for Taxes	(1,245,176)	(620,478)	(1,843,707)	(1,898,938)	
Net Income (Loss)	\$(1,254,157)	\$ (594,627)	\$(1,822,345)	\$(1,923,025)	
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to The Blackstone Group L.P.	\$ (250,993)	\$ (156,531)	\$ (340,331)	\$ (415,177)	
Net Loss Per Common Unit – Basic and Diluted					
Common Units Entitled to Priority Distributions	\$ (0.95)	\$ (0.60)	\$ (1.26)	\$ (1.51)	
Common Units Not Entitled to Priority Distributions			\$ (1.56)	\$ (1.51)	

⁽a) Distributions declared reflects the calendar date of the declaration of each distribution.

Priority Distributions Declared (a)

0.30

0.30

0.30

0.30

ITEM 8A. UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTAL PRESENTATION OF STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

THE BLACKSTONE GROUP L.P.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition (Dollars in Thousands)

	December 31, 2009			
	Consolidated Operating Partnerships	Consolidated Blackstone Funds (a)	Reclasses and Eliminations	Consolidated
Assets				
Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$ 952,096	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 952,096
Cash Held by Blackstone Funds and Other	_	86,084	_	86,084
Investments	2,772,489	999,792	(206,798)	3,565,483
Accounts Receivable	305,846	461	_	306,307
Due from Affiliates	735,471	64,384	(39,948)	759,907
Intangible Assets, Net	919,477	_	_	919,477
Goodwill	1,703,602	_		1,703,602
Other Assets	171,463	1,141	(48)	172,556
Deferred Tax Assets	943,512			943,512
Total Assets	\$8,503,956	\$ 1,151,862	<u>\$ (246,794)</u>	\$9,409,024
Liabilities and Partners' Capital				
Loans Payable	\$ 651,993	\$ 5,630	\$ —	\$ 657,623
Due to Affiliates	1,362,781	65,776	(18,491)	1,410,066
Accrued Compensation and Benefits	486,951	1,994	_	488,945
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities	235,673	94,688	(21,504)	308,857
Total Liabilities	2,737,398	168,088	(39,995)	2,865,491
Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities			526,311	526,311
Partners' Capital				
Partners' Capital	3,376,707	733,110	(733,110)	3,376,707
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income	2,420	_	_	2,420
Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	289,619	250,664	_	540,283
Non-Controlling Interests in Blackstone Holdings	2,097,812			2,097,812
Total Partners' Capital	5,766,558	983,774	(733,110)	6,017,222
Total Liabilities and Partners' Capital	\$8,503,956	\$ 1,151,862	\$ (246,794)	\$9,409,024

	December 31, 2008			
	Consolidated Operating	Consolidated	Reclasses and	
	Partnerships	Blackstone Funds (a)	Eliminations	Consolidated
Assets				
Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$ 503,737	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 503,737
Cash Held by Blackstone Funds and Other	57,536	849,788	_	907,324
Investments	1,650,071	1,385,132	(204,261)	2,830,942
Accounts Receivable	309,201	2,866	_	312,067
Due from Affiliates	1,284,232	216	(196,144)	1,088,304
Intangible Assets, Net	1,077,526	_	_	1,077,526
Goodwill	1,703,602			1,703,602
Other Assets	176,030	48,728	(4,781)	219,977
Deferred Tax Assets	845,578	_	_	845,578
Total Assets	\$7,607,513	\$ 2,286,730	\$ (405,186)	\$9,489,057
Liabilities and Partners' Capital				
Loans Payable	\$ 387,000	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 387,000
Due to Affiliates	1,064,980	362,526	(141,929)	1,285,577
Accrued Compensation and Benefits	410,593	2,866	_	413,459
Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities	282,360	1,123,373	(121,157)	1,284,576
Total Liabilities	2,144,933	1,488,765	(263,086)	3,370,612
Redeemable Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated				
Entities			362,462	362,462
Partners' Capital				
Partners' Capital	3,509,448	504,562	(504,562)	3,509,448
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income	(291)	_	_	(291)
Non-Controlling Interests in Consolidated Entities	131,664	293,403	_	425,067
Non-Controlling Interests in Blackstone Holdings	1,821,759	_	_	1,821,759
Total Partners' Capital	5,462,580	797,965	(504,562)	5,755,983
Total Liabilities and Partners' Capital	\$7,607,513	\$ 2,286,730	\$ (405,186)	\$9,489,057

⁽a) The consolidated Blackstone Funds consisted of the following:

Blackstone Corporate Opportunities Master Fund L.P. *

Blackstone Distressed Securities Fund L.P.

Blackstone Employee Fund L.P. *

Blackstone Kailix Fund L.P. *

Blackstone Market Opportunities Fund L.P.
Blackstone Strategic Alliance Fund L.P.
Blackstone Strategic Equity Fund L.P.
Blackstone Value Recovery Fund L.P.

BTD CP Holdings, LP **

GSO Co-Investment Partners LLC **

GSO Legacy Associates 2 LLC GSO Legacy Associates LLC The Asia Opportunities Fund L.P.

Private equity side-by-side, general partners' and affiliated limited partners' investment vehicles Real estate side-by-side, general partners' and affiliated limited partners' investment vehicles Mezzanine side-by-side, general partners' and affiliated limited partners' investment vehicles

* Consolidated as of December 31, 2008 only.

^{**} Consolidated as of December 31, 2009 only.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

We maintain "disclosure controls and procedures," as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. The design of any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report, our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are effective to ensure that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

No changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a–15(f) and 15d–15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act) occurred during our most recent quarter, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of The Blackstone Group L.P. and subsidiaries ("Blackstone") is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Blackstone's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of its principal executive and principal financial officers to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of its consolidated financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Blackstone's internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets; provide reasonable assurances that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the directors; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of Blackstone's assets that could have a material effect on its financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of Blackstone's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009 based on the framework established in *Internal Control – Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management has determined that Blackstone's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009 was effective.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited Blackstone's financial statements included in this report on Form 10-K and issued its report on the effectiveness of Blackstone's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, which is included herein.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors and Executive Officers of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C.

The directors and executive officers of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. as of the date of this filing, are:

Name	Age	Position
Stephen A. Schwarzman	63	Founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Director
Hamilton E. James	59	President, Chief Operating Officer and Director
J. Tomilson Hill	61	Vice Chairman and Director
Laurence A. Tosi	42	Chief Financial Officer
Robert L. Friedman	66	Chief Legal Officer
Sylvia F. Moss	67	Senior Managing Director—Administration
Joan Solotar	45	Senior Managing Director—Public Markets
Richard H. Jenrette	80	Director
Jay O. Light	68	Director
The Right Honorable Brian Mulroney	70	Director
William G. Parrett	64	Director

Stephen A. Schwarzman is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Blackstone and the Chairman of the board of directors of our general partner. Mr. Schwarzman was elected Chairman of the board of directors of our general partner effective March 20, 2007. Mr. Schwarzman is a founder of The Blackstone Group and has been involved in all phases of the firm's development since its founding in 1985. Mr. Schwarzman began his career at Lehman Brothers, where he was elected Managing Director in 1978. He was engaged principally in the firm's mergers and acquisitions business from 1977 to 1984, and served as Chairman of the firm's Mergers & Acquisitions Committee in 1983 and 1984. Mr. Schwarzman is Chairman of the Board of The John F. Kennedy Center for the Performing Arts. He is also a member of the Council on Foreign Relations, The Business Council and The Asia Society and is on the boards of various organizations, including The New York Public Library, The Frick Collection, the JPMorgan Chase National Advisory Board, The Partnership for New York City Board of Directors and the Advisory Board of the School of Economics and Management, Tsinghua University, Beijing.

Hamilton E. James is President, Chief Operating Officer of Blackstone and a member of the board of directors of our general partner. Mr. James was elected to the board of directors of our general partner effective March 20, 2007. Prior to joining Blackstone in 2002, Mr. James was Chairman of Global Investment Banking and Private Equity at Credit Suisse First Boston and a member of its Executive Board since the acquisition of Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, or "DLJ," by Credit Suisse First Boston in 2000. Prior to the acquisition of DLJ, Mr. James was the Chairman of DLJ's Banking Group, responsible for all the firm's investment banking and merchant banking activities and a member of its Board of Directors. Mr. James joined DLJ in 1975 as an Investment Banking associate. He became head of DLJ's global mergers and acquisitions group in 1982, founded DLJ Merchant Banking, Inc. in 1985, and was named Chairman of the Banking Group in 1995 with responsibility for all of the firm's investment banking, alternative asset management and emerging market sales and trading activities. Mr. James is a Director of Costco Wholesale Corporation and Swift River Investments, Inc., and has served on a number of other corporate boards. Mr. James is Chairman Emeritus of the Board of Trustees of American Ballet Theatre, Trustee and member of The Executive Committee of the Second Stage Theatre, Vice Chairman of Coldwater Conservations Fund, a Trustee of Woods Hole Oceanographic Institute and a Trustee of the Wildlife Conservation Society.

J. Tomilson Hill is President and Chief Executive Officer of Blackstone Alternative Asset Management ("BAAM"), a Vice Chairman of The Blackstone Group and a member of the board of directors of our general partner, Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. Mr. Hill previously served as Co-Head of the Corporate and Mergers and Acquisitions Advisory group before assuming his role as CEO of BAAM. In his current capacity,

Mr. Hill is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day activities of the group, including investment management, client relationships, marketing, operations and administration. Before joining Blackstone in 1993, Mr. Hill began his career at First Boston, later becoming one of the Co-Founders of its Mergers & Acquisitions Department. After running the Mergers & Acquisitions Department at Smith Barney, he joined Lehman Brothers as a partner in 1982, serving as Co-Head and subsequently Head of Investment Banking. Later, he served as Co-Chief Executive Officer of Lehman Brothers and Co-President and Co-COO of Shearson Lehman Brothers Holding Inc. Mr. Hill is a graduate of Harvard College and the Harvard Business School. He is a member of the Council on Foreign Relations where he chairs the Investment Committee and serves on the Council's Board of Directors, and is a member of the Board of Directors of Lincoln Center Theater, where he is President and Chairman elect. Mr. Hill is Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the Smithsonian's Hirshhorn Museum and Sculpture Garden. He serves on the Board of the Telluride Foundation, the Advantage Testing Foundation, and of Our Lady Queen of Angels School, a parochial school (K-8th grade) in Spanish Harlem. He is a member of the Board of Directors of OpenPeak Inc. and Advantage Testing, Inc.

Laurence A. Tosi is Chief Financial Officer of Blackstone. Before joining Blackstone in 2008, Mr. Tosi was a Managing Partner and the Chief Operating Officer for the Global Markets and Investment Banking Group of Merrill Lynch & Co., a position which he held since 2007. Mr. Tosi joined Merrill Lynch in 1999 and from 2004 through 2007 he was Senior Vice President, Finance Director and Principal Accounting Officer responsible for Merrill Lynch's global finance organization, including worldwide accounting, regulatory reporting, budgeting and corporate business development. Mr. Tosi received a BA, a JD and an MBA from Georgetown University.

Robert L. Friedman is Chief Legal Officer of Blackstone. On joining Blackstone in 1999, Mr. Friedman worked primarily in our Private Equity segment and also participated in the work of our corporate and mergers and acquisitions advisory operation. In early 2003 he was appointed Chief Administrative Officer and Chief Legal Officer and he continues to participate in the work of our Private Equity segment and Financial Advisory segment. Before joining Blackstone, Mr. Friedman had been a partner with Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP for 25 years, where he was a senior member of that law firm's mergers and acquisitions practice. At Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, Mr. Friedman advised The Blackstone Group since we were founded in 1985. Mr. Friedman currently serves as a director of Axis Capital Holdings Limited, FGIC Corporation, TRW Automotive Holdings Corp. and The India Fund, Inc., and has served on a number of other boards. He is a member of the Board of Advisers of the Institute for Law and Economics of the University of Pennsylvania, a member of the Board of Visitors of Columbia College and a Trustee of The Nantucket Land Council, Chess-in-the-Schools and New Alternatives for Children, Inc.

Sylvia F. Moss is Senior Managing Director—Administration at Blackstone. Ms. Moss has firm wide responsibility for our human resources, information technology, research, facilities and general administrative matters. Before joining Blackstone in 1997, she was the Director of Administration at Schulte, Roth & Zabel and the Director of Operations at Chadbourne & Parke. Prior to that, Ms. Moss was the Executive Director at Kramer, Levin, Naftalis, Nessen, Kamin & Frankel, and a Director at Booz Allen Hamilton.

Joan Solotar is Senior Managing Director—Public Markets at Blackstone. Ms. Solotar has management responsibility for shareholder relations and public affairs. She also guides the firm on analyzing strategic development opportunities and advises Blackstone fund portfolio companies on their positioning in the public equity markets. Before joining Blackstone in 2007, Ms Solotar was with Banc of America Securities where she was a Managing Director and Head of Equity Research. She started her career in equity research at The First Boston Corporation and prior to joining Bank of America was part of the financial services team at Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette and later with CSFB as a Managing Director. Ms. Solotar was ranked each year from 1995 to 2002 in the Brokers and Asset Management category on the Institutional Investor All-America Research Team, and consistently ranked highly in the Greenwich Survey of portfolio managers. She also served as Chairperson of the Research Committee for the Securities Industry Association. Ms. Solotar received a BS in Management Information Systems at the State University of New York at Albany and an MBA in Finance at New York University. She is currently on the Board of Directors of the East Harlem Tutorial Program.

Richard H. Jenrette is a member of the board of directors of our general partner. Mr. Jenrette was elected to the board of directors of our general partner effective July 14, 2008. Mr. Jenrette is the retired former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of The Equitable Companies Incorporated and the co-founder and retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, Inc. He is also a former Chairman of The Securities Industry Association and has served in the past as a director or trustee of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Advanced Micro Devices Inc., the American Stock Exchange, The Rockefeller Foundation, The Duke Endowment, the University of North Carolina, New York University and The National Trust for Historic Preservation.

Jay O. Light is a member of the board of directors of our general partner. Mr. Light was elected to the board of directors of our general partner effective September 18, 2008. Mr. Light is the Dean of Harvard Business School. Prior to becoming Dean in April 2006, Mr. Light was Senior Associate Dean, Chairman of the Finance Area, and a professor teaching Investment Management, Capital Markets, and Entrepreneurial Finance for 30 years. Mr. Light is a director of the Harvard Management Company, a director of Partners HealthCare (the Mass General and Brigham & Women's Hospitals) and chairman of its Investment Committee, a member of the Investment Committee of several endowments, a director of several private firms, and an advisor/trustee to several corporate and institutional pools of capital. In prior years until 2008, Mr. Light was a Trustee of the GMO Trusts, a family of mutual funds for institutional investors.

The Right Honorable Brian Mulroney is a member of the board of directors of our general partner. Mr. Mulroney was elected to the board of directors of our general partner effective June 21, 2007. Mr. Mulroney is a senior partner and international business consultant for the Montreal law firm, Ogilvy Renault LLP/ S.E.N.C.R.C., s.r.l. Prior to joining Ogilvy Renault, Mr. Mulroney was the eighteenth Prime Minister of Canada from 1984 to 1993 and leader of the Progressive Conservative Party of Canada from 1983 to 1993. He served as the Executive Vice President of the Iron Ore Company of Canada and President beginning in 1977. Prior to that, Mr. Mulroney served on the Cliché Commission of Inquiry in 1974. Mr. Mulroney is a member of the Board of Directors of Barrick Gold Corporation, Quebecor Inc., Independent News and Media, PLL, Said Holdings Limited; Quebecor Media Inc., the World Trade Center Memorial Foundation and Wyndham Worldwide Corporation. In prior years until 2009, Mr. Mulroney was a member of the Board of Directors of Archer Daniels Midland Company and Quebecor World Inc.

William G. Parrett is a member of the board of directors of our general partner. Mr. Parrett was elected to the board of directors of our general partner effective November 9, 2007. Until May 31, 2007, Mr. Parrett served as the Chief Executive Officer of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. Certain of the member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu or their subsidiaries and affiliates provide professional services to The Blackstone Group L.P. or its affiliates. Mr. Parrett co-founded the Global Financial Services Industry practice of Deloitte and served as its first Chairman. Currently, Mr. Parrett is Chairman of the United States Council for International Business and on the executive committee of the International Chamber of Commerce. He is also Chairman of the Board of Trustees of United Way Worldwide and on the Board of Trustees of Carnegie Hall. Mr. Parrett also serves as a trustee of The Catholic University of America. Mr. Parrett is a member of the board of directors of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Eastman Kodak Company and UBS AG, and is on the audit committee of each of these companies as well as the compensation committee of Kodak and public policy committee of Thermo.

Board Composition

Our general partner seeks to ensure that the board of directors of our general partner is composed of members whose particular experience, qualifications, attributes and skills, when taken together, will allow the board to satisfy its oversight responsibilities effectively. In identifying candidates for membership on the board of directors of our general partner, Mr. Schwarzman takes into account (a) minimum individual qualifications, such as strength of character, mature judgment, industry knowledge or experience and an ability to work collegially with the other members of the board of directors, and (b) all other factors he considers appropriate.

After conducting an initial evaluation of a candidate, Mr. Schwarzman will interview that candidate if he believes the candidate might be suitable to be a director and may also ask the candidate to meet with other directors and senior management. If, following such interview and any consultations with senior management, Mr. Schwarzman believes a candidate would be a valuable addition to the board of directors, he will appoint that individual to the board of directors of our general partner.

When considering whether the board's directors have the experience, qualifications, attributes and skills, taken as a whole, to enable the board to satisfy its oversight responsibilities effectively in light of the Partnership's business and structure, Mr. Schwarzman focused on the information described in each of the board members' biographical information set forth above. In particular, with regard to Mr. Jenrette, Mr. Schwarzman considered his extensive financial background and experience in a variety of senior leadership roles, including his roles at Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, Inc. and The Equitable Companies Incorporated. With regard to Mr. Light, Mr. Schwarzman considered his distinguished career as a professor and dean at Harvard Business School with extensive knowledge and expertise of the investment management and capital markets industries. With regard to Mr. Mulroney, Mr. Schwarzman considered his distinguished career of government service, especially his service as the Prime Minister of Canada. With regard to Mr. Parrett, Mr. Schwarzman considered his significant experience, expertise and background with regard to accounting matters and his leadership role at Deloitte.

Partnership Management and Governance

Our general partner, Blackstone Group Management L.L.C., manages all of our operations and activities. Our general partner is authorized in general to perform all acts that it determines to be necessary or appropriate to carry out our purposes and to conduct our business. Our partnership agreement provides that our general partner in managing our operations and activities is entitled to consider only such interests and factors as it desires, including its own interests, and will have no duty or obligation (fiduciary or otherwise) to give any consideration to any interest of or factors affecting us or any limited partners, and will not be subject to any different standards imposed by the partnership agreement, the Delaware Limited Partnership Act or under any other law, rule or regulation or in equity. Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. is whollyowned by our senior managing directors and controlled by our founder, Mr. Schwarzman. Our common unitholders have only limited voting rights on matters affecting our business and therefore have limited ability to influence management's decisions regarding our business. The voting rights of our common unitholders are limited as set forth in our partnership agreement and in the Delaware Limited Partnership Act.

Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. does not receive any compensation from us for services rendered to us as our general partner. Our general partner is reimbursed by us for all expenses it incurs in carrying out its activities as general partner of the Partnership, including compensation paid by the general partner to its directors and the cost of directors and officers liability insurance obtained by the general partner.

The limited liability company agreement of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. establishes a board of directors that is responsible for the oversight of our business and operations. Our general partner's board of directors is elected in accordance with its limited liability company agreement, where our senior managing directors have agreed that our founder, Mr. Schwarzman will have the power to appoint and remove the directors of our general partner. The limited liability company agreement of our general partner provides that at such time as Mr. Schwarzman should cease to be a founder, Hamilton E. James will thereupon succeed Mr. Schwarzman as the sole founding member of our general partner, and thereafter such power will revert to the members of our general partner holding a majority in interest in our general partner. We refer to the board of directors of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C as the "board of directors of our general partner." The board of directors of our general partner has a total of seven members including four members who are not officers or employees, and are otherwise independent, of Blackstone and its affiliates, including our general partner. These directors, namely Messrs. Jenrette, Light, Mulroney and Parrett, to whom we refer as independent directors, meet the independence standards established by the New York Stock Exchange and SEC rules.

The board of directors of our general partner has three standing committees: the audit committee, the conflicts committee and the executive committee.

Audit Committee . The audit committee consists of Messrs. Parrett (Chairman), Jenrette, Light and Mulroney. The purpose of the audit committee is to assist the board of directors of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. in overseeing and monitoring (1) the quality and integrity of our financial statements, (2) our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (3) our independent registered public accounting firm's qualifications and independence and (4) the performance of our independent registered public accounting firm. The members of the audit committee meet the independence standards and financial literacy requirements for service on an audit committee of a board of directors pursuant to the New York Stock Exchange listing standards applicable to audit committees. The board of directors of our general partner has determined that Mr. Parrett is an "audit committee financial expert" within the meaning of Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K. Mr. Parrett serves on the audit committees of four public companies, including Blackstone. The board of directors of our general partner determined at its November 2008 meeting that upon consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances known to the board of directors, Mr. Parrett's simultaneous service on the audit committees of four public companies does not impair his ability to effectively serve on the audit committee of the board of directors of our general partner. The audit committee has a charter which is available on our internet website at http://ir.blackstone.com/governance.cfm.

Conflicts Committee . The conflicts committee consists of Messrs. Parrett, Jenrette, Light and Mulroney. The conflicts committee reviews specific matters that our general partner's board of directors believes may involve conflicts of interest. The conflicts committee determines if the resolution of any conflict of interest submitted to it is fair and reasonable to the Partnership. Any matters approved by the conflicts committee are conclusively deemed to be fair and reasonable to us and not a breach by us of any duties we may owe to our common unitholders. In addition, the conflicts committee may review and approve any related person transactions, other than those that are approved pursuant to our related person policy, as described under "Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions; and Director Independence", and may establish guidelines or rules to cover specific categories of transactions. The members of the conflicts committee meet the independence standards for service on an audit committee of a board of directors pursuant to federal and New York Stock Exchange rules relating to corporate governance matters.

Executive Committee. The executive committee of the board of directors of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. consists of Messrs. Schwarzman, James and Hill. The board of directors has delegated all of the power and authority of the full board of directors to the executive committee to act when the board of directors is not in session.

Meetings

During 2009, our board of directors had four regularly scheduled and special meetings, and our audit committee had eight meetings. None of our directors attended fewer than 75% of the aggregate number of meetings of the board of directors and committees of the board on which the director served.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and a Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals, which apply to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. Each of these codes is available on our internet website at http://ir.blackstone.com/governance.cfm. We intend to disclose any amendment to or waiver of the Code of Ethics for Financial Professionals and any waiver of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics on behalf of an executive officer or director either on our Internet website or in an 8-K filing.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

The board of directors of our general partner has a governance policy, which addresses matters such as the board of directors' responsibilities and duties and the board of directors' composition and compensation. The governance policy is available on our internet website at http://ir.blackstone.com/governance.cfm.

Communications to the Board of Directors

The non-management members of our general partner's board of directors meet at least quarterly. The presiding director at these non-management board member meetings is Mr. Parrett. All interested parties, including any employee or unitholder, may send communications to the non-management members of our general partner's board of directors by writing to: The Blackstone Group L.P., Attn: Audit Committee, 345 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10154.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, requires the executive officers and directors of our general partner, and persons who own more than ten percent of a registered class of the Partnership's equity securities to file initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership with the SEC and furnish the Partnership with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file. To our knowledge, based solely on our review of the copies of such reports furnished to us or written representations from such persons that they were not required to file a Form 5 to report previously unreported ownership or changes in ownership, we believe that, with respect to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, such persons complied with all such filing requirements, with the exception of a Form 4 filing on behalf of Ms. Sylvia F. Moss, Senior Managing Director—Administration of Blackstone, which reported late, due to administrative oversight, sales of our common units pursuant to a sales plan that was effectuated on each of 45 consecutive trading days.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Overview of Compensation Philosophy and Program

The intellectual capital collectively possessed by our senior managing directors (including our named executive officers) and other employees is the most important asset of our firm. We invest in people. We hire qualified people, train them, encourage them to provide their best thinking to the firm for the benefit of the investors in our funds and our advisory clients, and compensate them in a manner designed to retain and motivate them and align their interests with those of the investors in the funds we manage and the clients we advise.

Our overriding compensation philosophy for our senior managing directors and certain other employees is that compensation should be composed primarily of (1) annual cash payments tied to the performance of the applicable business unit(s) in which such employee works; (2) long-term carried interest tied to the performance of the investments made by the funds in the business unit in which such employee works or for which he or she has responsibility; (3) deferred equity awards reflecting the value of our common units; and (4) additional cash payments tied to extraordinary performance of such employee or other circumstances (for example, if there has been a change of role or responsibility). We believe base salary should represent a significantly lesser component of total compensation. We believe the appropriate combination of annual cash payments and long-term carried interest or deferred equity awards encourages our senior managing directors and other employees to focus on the underlying performance of our investment funds and objectives of our advisory clients, as well as the overall performance of the firm and interests of our common unitholders. To that end, the primary form of compensation to our senior managing directors and other employees who work in our carry fund operations is generally a combination of annual cash payments related to the performance of those carry fund operations and carried interest awards, while the primary form of compensation to our senior managing directors and other employees who do not work in our carry fund operations is generally a combination of annual cash payments tied to the performance of the applicable business unit in which such employee works and deferred equity awards which are a prescribed percentage of their annual cash payments under our Deferred Compensation Plan.

Employees at higher total compensation levels are generally targeted to receive a greater percentage of their total compensation payable in participation in carried interest or deferred equity awards and a lesser percentage in cash compared to employees who are paid less. We believe that the proportion of compensation that is "at risk" (that is, carried interest and deferred equity awards) should increase as an employee's level of responsibility rises. In general, our named executive officers with the highest level of responsibility have the lowest percentage of their compensation fixed in the form of base salary and the highest percentage of their compensation at risk.

Our compensation program includes significant elements that discourage excessive risk taking and aligns the compensation of our employees with the long-term performance of the firm. For example, notwithstanding the fact that we accrue compensation for our Carry Plans (as defined below) as increases in the carrying value of the portfolio investments are recorded in our carry funds, we only actually make cash payments of carried interest to our employees when profitable investments have been realized and cash is distributed first to the investors in our funds, followed by the firm and only then to employees of the firm. Moreover, if a carry fund fails to achieve specified investment returns due to diminished performance of later investments, our Carry Plans entitle us to claw back carried interest payments previously made to an employee for the benefit of the limited partner investors in that fund, and we escrow a portion of all carried interest payments made to employees to fund their potential future clawback obligations, all of which further discourages excessive risk-taking by our employees. In addition, and as noted below with respect to our named executive officers, the requirement that we have many of our professional employees invest in certain of the funds they manage directly aligns the interests of our professionals and our investors. Lastly, because our deferred equity awards have significant vesting provisions, the actual amount of compensation realized by the recipient will be tied directly to the long-term performance of our common units.

We believe our current compensation and benefit allocations are best in class and are consistent with companies in the alternative asset management and financial advisory industries. We do not generally rely on compensation surveys or compensation consultants. Our senior management periodically reviews the effectiveness and competitiveness of our compensation program, which reviews may in the future involve the assistance of independent consultants.

Personal Investment Obligations . As part of our compensation philosophy and program, we require our named executive officers to personally invest their own capital in and alongside the funds that we manage as we believe that it strengthens the alignment of interests among our executive officers and the investors in those investment funds. (See Item 13. "Certain Relationships, Related Person Transactions and Director Independence—Side-By-Side and Other Investment Transactions.") In determining compensation for our named executive officers, we do not take into account the gains or losses attributable to the personal investments by our named executive officers in our investment funds.

We also require each of our named executive officers to hold at least 25% of their vested units through their employment with the firm and thereafter until the expiration of the covenants included in their respective non-competition and non-solicitation agreements, which are described below. We believe the continued ownership by our named executive officers of significant amounts of our equity through their direct and indirect interests in the Blackstone Holdings partnerships affords significant alignment of interests with our common unitholders.

Compensation Elements for Named Executive Officers

The key elements of the compensation of the executive officers listed in the table below ("named executive officers") for 2009 were base compensation, which is comprised of salary, bonus and equity-based compensation, and performance fee compensation, which is comprised of carried interest and performance fee allocations:

- 1. Base Salary. Each named executive officer received a \$350,000 annual base salary in 2009, which equals the total yearly partnership draws that were received by each of our senior managing directors prior to our initial public offering in 2007. In keeping with historical practice, we continue to pay this amount as a base salary.
- 2. Annual Cash Payments / Deferred Equity Awards . Since our initial public offering, Mr. Schwarzman has not received any compensation other than the \$350,000 annual salary described above and the actual realized carried interest gain distributions he may receive in respect of his participation in the carried interest earned from our carry funds through our Carry Plans described below. We believe that having Mr. Schwarzman's compensation largely based on ownership of a portion of the carried interest earned from our carry funds aligns his interests with those of the investors in our carry funds and our common unitholders.

Each of our named executive officers other than Mr. Schwarzman received annual cash payments in 2009 beyond their base salary. With the exception of Mr. Hill these cash payments include participation interests in the earnings of the firm's various investment and advisory businesses. Indicative participation interests were disclosed to a named executive officer at the beginning of the relevant year and represent estimates of the expected percentage participation that such named executive officer may have in the relevant business unit(s)' earnings. However, the ultimate cash payments paid to the named executive officer at the end of the year in respect of his participation interests were determined in the discretion of Mr. Schwarzman, in consultation with Mr. James, as described below. Mr. Hill, who has primary responsibility for BAAM, our funds of hedge funds operation, received cash payments that were based upon the performance of that business. We make annual cash payments in the first quarter of the ensuing year to reward individual performance for the prior year. Earnings are calculated based on the annual operating income of a business unit and are generally a function of the performance of such business unit, which is evaluated by Mr. Schwarzman and subject to modification by Mr. Schwarzman in his sole discretion. The ultimate cash payment amounts were based on (1) the prior and

anticipated performance of the named executive officer; (2) the prior and anticipated performance of the segments and product lines in which the officer serves and for which he has responsibility; and (3) the estimated participation interests given to the officer at the beginning of the year. The ultimate cash payments that are made are fully discretionary as further discussed below under "—Determination of Incentive Compensation".

Certain key personnel participate in our Deferred Compensation Plan. For 2009, Mr. Hill was the only named executive officer to participate in our Deferred Compensation Plan. The Deferred Compensation Plan provides for the automatic, mandatory deferral of a portion of each participant's annual cash payment. The portion deferred is prescribed under the Deferred Compensation Plan. By deferring a portion of a participant's compensation for up to three years, the Deferred Compensation Plan acts as an employment retention mechanism and thereby enhances the alignment of interests between such participant and the firm. (See "—Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2009—Deferred Compensation Plan".) Many asset managers that are public companies utilize deferred compensation plans as a means of retaining and motivating their professionals, and we believe that it is in the interest of our unitholders to do the same for our personnel. Mr. Hill received an equity award of 357,820 deferred restricted common units on January 14, 2010 in respect of his service in 2009 under the Deferred Compensation Plan, which was approximately equal to (and paid in lieu of) 40% of the annual cash payment that he would have otherwise been paid, as prescribed under the Deferred Compensation Plan described below. This award will be reflected in next year's Grants of Plan-Based Awards table.

In addition, Mr. Tosi received a discretionary equity award of 50,000 deferred restricted Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units under our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. (See "—Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2009—Deferred Compensation Plan".) This award will also be reflected in next year's Grants of Plan-Based Awards table.

3. Participation in Carried Interest. During 2009 all of our named executive officers other than Mr. Hill participated in the carried interest of our carry funds through their participation interests in the carry pools generated by the general partners of these funds. We refer to these carry pools and employee participation therein as our "Carry Plans". Because the aggregate amount of carried interest payable through our Carry Plans is directly tied to the realized performance of the carry funds, we believe this fosters a strong alignment of interests among the investors in those funds and these named executive officers, and therefore benefits our unitholders. In addition, most alternative asset managers, including several of our competitors, use participation in carried interest as a central means of compensating and motivating their professionals, and we believe that we must do the same in order to attract and retain the most qualified personnel. For purposes of our financial statements, we are treating the income allocated to all our personnel who have participation interests in the carried interest generated by our carry funds as compensation and accruals of this compensation expense are reflected as "All Other Compensation" in the Summary Compensation Table. To the extent there is a reduction of previously allocated and accrued carried interest, then such accruals are reversed and the compensation expense is decreased by the same amount. Actual carried interest cash distributions to our named executive officers and other employees who participate in our Carry Plans depends on the actual performance and timing of the cash realizations of the investments owned by the carry funds in which they participate.

The percentage participation of named executive officers in the carried interest varies by year, investment fund and, with respect to each carry fund, may vary by investment. For our carry funds, carried interest distributions for the named executive officer's participation interests are generally made to the named executive officer following the actual realization of the investment, although a portion of such carried interest is held back by the firm in respect of any future "clawback" obligation related to the fund. In allocating participation interests in the carry pools, we have not historically taken into account or based such allocations on any prior or projected triggering of any "clawback" obligation related to any fund. To the extent any "clawback" obligation was triggered, carried interest previously distributed to a named executive officer would have to be returned to the limited partners of such fund, thereby reducing the named executive officer's overall compensation for any such

year. Moreover, because a carried interest recipient (including Blackstone itself) may have to fund more than his or her respective share of a "clawback" obligation under the governing documents (generally, up to an additional 50%), there is the possibility that the compensation paid to a named executive officer for any given year could be significantly reduced in the event a "clawback" obligation arises.

Participation in carried interest generated by our carry funds for all participating named executive officers other than Mr. Schwarzman is subject to vesting. Vesting serves as an employment retention mechanism and thereby enhances the alignment of interests between a participant in our Carry Plans and the firm. Each participating named executive officer (other than Mr. Schwarzman) vests in 25% of the carried interest related to an investment immediately upon the closing of the investment by a carry fund with the remainder vesting in equal installments on the first through third anniversary of the closing of that investment (unless an investment is realized prior to the expiration of such three-year anniversary, in which case such executive officer is deemed 100% vested in the proceeds of such realizations). We believe that vesting of carried interest participation enhances the stability of our senior management team and provides greater incentives for our named executive officers to remain at the firm. Due to his unique status as a founder and the long-time chief executive officer of our firm, Mr. Schwarzman vests in 100% of his carried interest participation related to any investment by a carry fund upon the closing of that investment.

4. Other Benefits . Upon the consummation of our initial public offering in June 2007, we entered into a founding member agreement with our original co-founder, Mr. Schwarzman, which provides specified benefits to him following his retirement. (See "—Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table—Schwarzman Founding Member Agreement".)

Determination of Incentive Compensation

As one of our original co-founders, Mr. Schwarzman sets his own compensation and makes all final determinations regarding each named executive officer's compensation, based in large part on recommendations from Mr. James. For 2009, these decisions were based primarily on Mr. Schwarzman's assessment of such named executive officer's individual performance, operational performance for the segments or product lines in which the officer serves or for which he has responsibility, and the officer's potential to enhance investment returns for the investors in our funds and service to our advisory clients, and contribute to long-term unitholder value. In evaluating these factors, Mr. Schwarzman, in consultation with Mr. James, relied upon his judgment to determine the ultimate amount of a named executive officer's annual cash payment and participation in carried interest that was necessary to properly induce the named executive officer to seek to achieve our objectives and reward a named executive officer in achieving those objectives over the course of the prior year. Key factors that Mr. Schwarzman, in consultation with Mr. James, considered in making such determinations include: prior and anticipated performance compared to the operational and strategic goals established for the named executive officer; nature, scope and level of responsibilities; the compensation of individuals with similar responsibilities at comparable firms; and contribution to the firm's commitment to create and maintain a fiduciary culture in which the interests of the investors in our funds and the objectives of our advisory clients are paramount. For 2009, Mr. Schwarzman, in consultation with Mr. James, also considered each named executive officer's prior-year annual cash payments, indicative participation interests disclosed to the named executive officer at the beginning of the year, his allocated share of carried interest through participation in our Carry Plans, the appropriate balance between incentives for long-term and short-term performance, and the compensation paid to the named executive officer's peers within the firm.

Minimum Retained Ownership Requirements

The minimum retained ownership requirements for our named executive officers are described below under "—Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table in 2009—Minimum Retained Ownership Requirements and Transfer Restrictions for Named Executive Officers."

Compensation Committee Report

The board of directors of our general partner does not have a compensation committee. The executive committee of the board of directors identified below has reviewed and discussed with management the foregoing Compensation Discussion and Analysis and, based on such review and discussion, has determined that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis should be included in this annual report.

Stephen A. Schwarzman, Chairman Hamilton E. James J. Tomilson Hill

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

As described above, we do not have a compensation committee. Our co-founder Mr. Schwarzman makes all such compensation determinations in consultation with Mr. James. For a description of certain transactions between us and Mr. Schwarzman, see "Item 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence."

Summary Compensation Table

The following table provides summary information concerning the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and each of our three other most highly compensated employees who served as executive officers at December 31, 2009, for services rendered to us during 2009, 2008 and 2007. These individuals are referred to as our named executive officers in this annual report.

Prior to our June 2007 initial public offering, our named executive officers and our other senior managing directors did not receive any salary or "bonus" and instead received only distributions in respect of their ownership interests in our businesses, which distributions were based on their respective percentage interests in the profits of our firm and in respect of their allocated shares of the carried interest or incentive fees payable in respect of our investment funds. These distributions are not reflected as compensation in the table below. Accordingly, because our initial public offering was in June 2007, the amounts indicated in the table below for 2007 only reflect paid salary for the approximate six-month period following our initial public offering.

As part of the reorganization we effected prior to our June 2007 initial public offering (our "IPO"), each of the named executive officers (other than Mr. Tosi, who joined us in September 2008) contributed to Blackstone Holdings their interests in the entities comprising our business and in return received Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units. The aggregate grant date fair value of the total amount of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units that each of those named executive officers received in 2007 has been recognized as an expense for financial statement reporting purposes in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation ("ASC Topic 718"). There are additional contractual arrangements we entered into with our named executive officers at the time of our IPO and thereafter, including a Tax Receivable Agreement, that relate to payments to our named executive officers that are not compensatory and are described in "Item 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence."

				Stock	All Other Compensation	
Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary (1)	Bonus	Awards (2)	(3)	Total
Stephen A. Schwarzman, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	2009	\$350,000	\$ —	\$ —	\$ (759,217)	\$ (409,217)
	2008	\$350,000	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 2,297,632	\$ 2,647,632
	2007	\$175,000	\$ —	\$ 7,813,092,936	\$ 179,482	\$ 7,813,447,418
Hamilton E. James, President and Chief Operating Officer	2009	\$350,000	\$ 19,450,000	\$ —	\$ (784,768)	\$ 19,015,232
	2008	\$350,000	\$ 15,376,960	\$ —	\$ 1,683,619	\$ 17,410,579
	2007	\$175,000	\$ 16,382,911	\$ 1,630,508,922	\$ 56,778(4)	\$ 1,647,123,611
J. Tomilson Hill, Vice Chairman	2009	\$350,000	\$ 6,057,500*	\$ 4,499,392	\$ —	\$ 10,906,892
	2008	\$350,000	\$ 5,350,000**	\$ 3,213,475	\$ —	\$ 8,913,475
	2007	\$175,000	\$ 15,825,000	\$ 556,603,047	\$ —	\$ 572,603,047
Laurence A. Tosi,	2009	\$350,000	\$ 3,650,000	\$ 608,064	\$ 46,425	\$ 4,654,489
Chief Financial Officer	2008	\$116,666	\$ 3,383,334	\$ 12,379,768	\$ —	\$ 15,879,768
Robert L. Friedman Chief Legal Officer	2009 2008 2007	\$350,000 \$350,000 \$175,000	\$ 3,150,000 \$ 4,006,766 \$ 3,599,525	\$ — \$ — \$ 235,546,308	\$ (172,494) \$ 309,316 \$ 13,498	\$ 3,327,506 \$ 4,666,082 \$ 239,334,331

^{*} Amount of bonus after deferral of \$4,092,500 pursuant to the Deferred Compensation Plan.

^{**} Amount of bonus after deferral of \$3,800,000 pursuant to the Deferred Compensation Plan.

⁽¹⁾ The salaries for 2007 shown represent payments of base salary for the period following the initial public offering.

⁽²⁾ The reference to "stock" in this table refers to Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units or deferred restricted common units. Amounts for 2009, 2008 and 2007 represent the grant date fair value of stock awards granted in a given year, computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718. The stock awards reported in 2007 represent

- the aggregate grant date fair value of unvested Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by the named executive officers as part of the reorganization prior to our IPO computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718. The grant date fair value of each of those Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units granted in 2007 was \$31 per unit (as required for GAAP reporting purposes) in contrast to the much lower trading prices for such units in 2009 (\$13.12 per unit at December 31, 2009).
- Amounts included for 2009, 2008 and 2007 represent an amount of compensation expense (positive or negative) recorded by us on an accrual basis in respect of carried interest allocations relating to our Carry Plans to the named executive officers in 2009, 2008 and, in 2007, for the period subsequent to our June 2007 initial public offering. These amounts do not reflect actual cash carried interest distributions to the named executive officers during such periods relating to our Carry Plans. For GAAP reporting purposes, these amounts are classified as compensation expense due to the accrual of carried interest related to unrealized investments as of the last day of the relevant period as if the investments in the funds generating such carried interest were realized as of the last day of the relevant period. Compensation expense may also be negative in the event of a reversal of previously allocated carried interest to certain personnel due to negative adjustments in the fair value of certain portfolio investments. The ultimate amount of actual carried interest distributions that may be generated in connection with such investments and subsequently distributed to our named executive officers may be more or less than the amounts indicated and is not knowable at this time. For the periods presented, perquisites and other personal benefits to the named executive officers were less than \$10,000 and therefore information regarding perquisites and other personal benefits has not been included. Mr. Schwarzman makes business and personal use of a car and driver and he and members of his family also make business and personal use of an airplane in which we have a fractional interest and in each case he bears the full cost of such personal usage. In addition, certain Blackstone personnel administer personal matters for Mr. Schwarzman and he bears the full incremental cost to us of such personnel. Mr. James makes occasional personal use of an airplane in which we have a fractional interest and he bears the full cost of such personal usage. There is no compensation expense incurred by us in connection with the use of any car and driver, airplane or personnel by either of Messrs. Schwarzman or James, as described above, and accordingly the amounts reflected as "All Other Compensation" in the table above solely reflect compensation expense recorded by us in respect of carried interest allocations for these named executive officers in 2009, 2008 and, in 2007, for the period subsequent to our June 2007 initial public offering.

During 2009, cash distributions to our named executive officers in respect of Blackstone legacy funds and investments that were not contributed to Blackstone Holdings pursuant to the reorganization were \$7.8 million to Mr. Schwarzman, \$0.2 million to Mr. James, \$0.8 million to Mr. Hill, \$0.0 million to Mr. Friedman, and \$0.0 million to Mr. Tosi. Cash distributions to our named executive officers during 2008 in respect of Blackstone legacy funds and investments that were not contributed to Blackstone Holdings pursuant to the reorganization were \$0.3 million to Mr. Schwarzman, \$0.1 million to Mr. James, \$0.0 million to Mr. Hill, and \$0.0 million to Mr. Friedman. Cash distributions to our named executive officers in respect of the period January 1 through June 21, 2007 were \$309.6 million to Mr. Schwarzman, \$74.2 million to Mr. James, \$25.7 million to Mr. Hill and \$16.6 million to Mr. Friedman. During the period from June 22, 2007 through December 31, 2007, cash distributions to our named executive officers in respect of Blackstone legacy funds and investments that were not contributed to Blackstone Holdings pursuant to the reorganization were \$40.6 million to Mr. Schwarzman, \$7.7 million to Mr. James, \$4.4 million to Mr. Hill, and \$2.6 million to Mr. Friedman.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2009

The following table provides information concerning unit awards granted in 2009 to our named executive officers.

	Grant	All Other Stock Awards: Number of Shares of Stock	Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option
Name	Date	or Units (1)	Awards (1)
Stephen A. Schwarzman		_	\$ —
Hamilton E. James		_	\$ —
J. Tomilson Hill	1/15/2009	109,039	\$ 518,399
Laurence A. Tosi (2)	1/15/2009	699,845	\$3,737,172
Robert L. Friedman		_	\$ —

⁽¹⁾ The references to "stock" or "shares" in this table refer to deferred Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units or our deferred restricted common units.

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2009

Terms of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units

Our pre-IPO owners, including our named executive officers, received Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units in the reorganization in exchange for the contribution of their equity interests in our operating subsidiaries to Blackstone Holdings. Subject to the vesting and minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions set forth in the partnership agreements of the Blackstone Holdings Partnerships, these partnership units may be exchanged for our common units as described under "Item 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence—Exchange Agreement" below.

Vesting Provisions . The Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by our named executive officers (other than Mr. Tosi) in the reorganization have the following vesting provisions:

- 25% of the Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by Mr. Schwarzman in the reorganization in exchange for the contribution of his equity interests in our operating subsidiaries were fully vested, with the remaining 75% vesting, subject to Mr. Schwarzman's continued employment, in equal installments on each anniversary of our initial public offering (June 21, 2007) over four years. All of the Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by Mr. Schwarzman in the reorganization in exchange for his interests in carried interest relating to investments made by our carry funds prior to the date of the contribution were fully vested; and
- 25% of the Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by each of our other named executive officers in the reorganization in exchange for the contribution of his equity interests in our operating subsidiaries were fully vested, with the remaining 75% vesting, subject to the named executive officer's continued employment, in installments on each anniversary of our initial public offering over up to eight years (five years in Mr. Friedman's case). All of the Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by these named executive officers in the reorganization in exchange for their interests in carried interest relating to investments made by our carry funds prior to the date of the contribution were fully vested.

The deferred restricted Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units granted to Mr. Tosi in 2008 under the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan are subject to the following vesting terms: (1) 100% of the Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units underlying the sign-on grant to Mr. Tosi (155,764 units) will vest on the fifth anniversary of the commencement date of his service with the firm and (2) the deferred restricted Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units underlying the make-whole grant (338,381 units) will vest annually in varying increments over

⁽²⁾ Represents deferred restricted Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units granted under The Blackstone Group L.P. 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.

a four-year period. The 50,000 deferred restricted Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units granted to Mr. Tosi in 2010 under the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan will vest ratably over five years on each anniversary of the grant date.

Each named executive officer will forfeit all unvested partnership units once he is no longer in our employ, subject to our retirement provisions which would generally enable a named executive officer to vest in 50% of the then remaining unvested units in respect of a qualifying retirement. See "Item 11. Executive Compensation—Non-Compensated and Non-Solicitation Agreements—Retirement." A named executive officer who leaves our firm to accept specified types of positions in government service after June 30, 2010 will continue to vest in units as if he had not left our firm during the period of government service. In addition, upon the death or permanent disability of a named executive officer, all of his unvested partnership units held at that time will vest immediately. Further, in the event of a change in control (defined in the Blackstone Holdings partnership agreements as the occurrence of any person becoming the general partner of The Blackstone Group L.P. other than a person approved by the current general partner), any Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units that are unvested will automatically be deemed vested as of immediately prior to such change in control.

All vested and unvested Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units (and our common units received in exchange for such Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units) held by a named executive officer will be immediately forfeited in the event he materially breaches any of his restrictive covenants set forth in the non-competition and non-solicitation agreement outlined under "Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreements" or his service is terminated for cause.

All of the Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by our named executive officers that were subject to vesting are reflected as "Stock Awards" in the Summary Compensation Table for the year in which received because we must account for such units as compensation expense for financial statement reporting purposes.

All of our named executive officers are subject to the following minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions in respect of all Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by them as part of the reorganization or deferred restricted Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units or our deferred restricted common units received by them under the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. We refer to these Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units and deferred restricted Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units as "subject units."

Minimum Retained Ownership Requirements. While employed by us and generally for one year following the termination of employment, each of our named executive officers (except as otherwise provided below) will be required to continue to hold (and may not transfer) at least 25% of all vested subject units received by him or her. The requirement that one continue to hold at least 25% of vested units is subject to the qualification in Mr. Schwarzman's case that in no event will he be required to hold units having a market value greater than \$1.5 billion. Subject units held by current and future personal planning vehicles beneficially owned by the families of a named executive officer are not deemed to be owned by these individuals for purposes of such minimum retained ownership requirements. Each of our named executive officers is in compliance with these minimum retained ownership requirements.

Transfer Restrictions . The subject units owned by a named executive officer are subject to the following transfer restrictions, which we may waive in whole or in part from time to time:

- No more than one-third of the vested subject units held by Mr. Schwarzman were permitted to be transferred until June 21, 2009, at which time two-thirds of the vested subject units became transferable (less any vested subject units transferred prior to June 21, 2009) and 100% of the vested subject units will be transferable after June 21, 2010.
- No more than one-third of the vested subject units held by our other named executive officers (other than Mr. Tosi) were permitted to be transferred until June 21, 2009, at which time two-thirds of the vested subject units became transferable (less any vested subject units transferred prior to June 21, 2009) and 100% of the vested subject units will be transferable after June 21, 2010.

• No more than one-third of the vested subject units held by Mr. Tosi were permitted to be transferred until September 2, 2009, at which time two-thirds of the vested subject units became transferable (less any vested subject units transferred prior to September 2, 2009) and 100% of the vested subject units will be transferable after September 2, 2010.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, none of our named executive officers may transfer subject units at any time prior to December 31, 2010 other than pursuant to transactions or programs approved by our general partner.

The foregoing transfer restrictions apply to sales, pledges of subject units, grants of options, rights or warrants to purchase subject units or swaps or other arrangements that transfer to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the subject units other than as approved by our general partner. We expect that our general partner will approve pledges or transfers to personal planning vehicles beneficially owned by the families of our pre-IPO owners and charitable gifts, provided that the pledgee, transfere or donee agrees to be subject to the same transfer restrictions (except as specified above with respect to Mr. Schwarzman). Transfers to Blackstone are also exempt from the transfer restrictions.

The minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions set forth above will continue to apply generally for one year following the termination of employment of a named executive officer other than Mr. Schwarzman for any reason, except that the transfer restrictions set forth above will lapse upon death or permanent disability. All of the foregoing transfer restrictions will lapse in the event of a change in control (as defined above).

The Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by other Blackstone personnel in the reorganization and pursuant to the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan are also generally subject to the vesting and minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions applicable to our named executive officers other than Mr. Schwarzman, although non-senior managing directors are also generally subject to vesting in respect of a portion of the Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by such personnel in the reorganization in exchange for their interests in carried interest and are not subject to the additional restriction on any transfers prior to December 31, 2010 without our consent.

Schwarzman Founding Member Agreement

Upon the consummation of our initial public offering, we entered into a founding member agreement with Mr. Schwarzman. Mr. Schwarzman's agreement provides that he will remain our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer while continuing service with us and requires him to give us six months' prior written notice of intent to terminate service with us. The agreement provides that following retirement, Mr. Schwarzman will be provided with specified retirement benefits, including that he will be permitted until the third anniversary of his retirement date to retain his current office and will be provided with a car and driver. Commencing on the third anniversary of his retirement date and continuing until the tenth anniversary thereof, we will provide him with an appropriate office if he so requests. Additionally, Mr. Schwarzman will be provided with an assistant and access to office services during the ten-year period following his retirement date.

Mr. Schwarzman will also continue to receive health benefits following his retirement until his death, subject to his continuing payment of the related health insurance premiums consistent with current policies. Additionally, before his retirement and during the ten-year period thereafter, Mr. Schwarzman and any foundations he may establish may continue to invest in our investment funds on a basis generally consistent with that of other partners.

Senior Managing Director Agreements

Upon the consummation of our initial public offering, we entered into substantially similar senior managing director agreements with each of our named executive officers and other senior managing directors other than our co-founder and Mr. Tosi. Senior managing directors who have joined the firm after our initial public offering

(including Mr. Tosi) have also entered into senior managing director agreements. The agreements generally provide that each senior managing director will devote substantially all of his or her business time, skill, energies and attention to us in a diligent manner. Each senior managing director will be paid distributions and benefits in amounts determined by Blackstone from time to time in its sole discretion except that Mr. Tosi's agreement provided guaranteed compensation for 2008 which is described below under "—Senior Managing Director Agreement with Mr. Tosi". The agreements require us to provide the senior managing director with 90 days' prior written notice prior to terminating his or her service with us (other than a termination for cause). Additionally, the agreements require each senior managing director to give us 90 days' prior written notice of intent to terminate service with us and require the senior managing director to be placed on a 90-day period of "garden leave" following the senior managing director's termination of service (as further described under the caption "Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreements" below).

Senior Managing Director Agreement with Mr. Tosi

In connection with the commencement of Mr. Tosi's employment with us in September 2008, we entered into a senior managing director agreement with him that included specific compensation terms. Those terms included his entitlement to specified guaranteed compensation in respect of his service for the firm in 2008 if he continued to be a senior managing director with the firm on December 31, 2008. Under the employment agreement he was entitled to a guaranteed minimum aggregate cash compensation of \$3.5 million for 2008 (which included the pro rated amount of his base salary and his annual guaranteed cash payment), which was paid to him in 2009 when annual cash payments were generally made to senior managing directors. In addition, he received three awards of deferred restricted Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units under our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. The first award was a sign-on grant of 155,764 Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units, which was granted soon after the commencement of his employment with us. The second grant was a "make-whole" payment of 338,381 Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units, representing the value of compensation-related items from Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. that Mr. Tosi forfeited as a result of his departure from that firm, which was granted soon after the commencement of his employment with the firm. The third grant of 699,845 Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units was in respect of a guaranteed equity grant for 2008 that was awarded on January 15, 2009. The unvested portion of Mr. Tosi's equity-based awards will be terminated once he is no longer a senior managing director of Blackstone, except that the thenoutstanding but unvested portion of his awards will become fully vested if (1) his service with us is terminated by us without cause or as a result of his death or permanent disability or (2) there is a "change in control" (as defined in the partnership agreements of Blackstone Holdings). Mr. Tosi is generally subject to the same transfer restrictions and forfeiture terms with respect to his Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units as those that apply to the Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units held by the firm's other senior managing directors. The agreement also provides that Mr. Tosi will be permitted to invest in and alongside Blackstone's carry funds and in the firm's hedge funds as long as he serves as a senior managing director, subject to the same limitations on exclusions from management fees or incentive fees that are applicable to the firm's other senior managing directors. Mr. Tosi has also executed a senior managing director non-competition and non-solicitation agreement as part of the agreement. The terms of such non-competition and non-solicitation agreement are substantially the same as the terms included in the noncompetition and non-solicitation agreements signed by the other senior managing directors.

Deferred Compensation Plan

In 2007, we established our Deferred Compensation Plan for certain eligible employees of Blackstone and certain of its affiliates in order to provide such eligible employees with a pre-tax deferred incentive compensation opportunity and to enhance the alignment of interests between such eligible employees and Blackstone and its affiliates. The Deferred Compensation Plan is an unfunded, non-qualified deferred compensation plan which provides for the automatic, mandatory deferral of a portion of each participant's annual cash payment. In respect of the deferred portion of his or her annual cash payment, each participant receives deferral units which represent rights to receive in the future a specified amount of common units or Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units or other equity-based awards under The Blackstone Group L.P. 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, subject to vesting provisions described below. The amount of each participant's annual cash payment which is deferred under the plan depends on the total amount of such participant's annual cash payment and is calculated on the basis set forth in the following table:

Portion of Annual Cash Payment	Marginal Deferral Rate Applicable to Such Portion
\$0 - 100,000	0%
\$100,001 - 200,000	15%
\$200,001 - 500,000	20%
\$500,001 - 750,000	25%
\$750,001 - 2,000,000	35%
\$2,000,001 - 5,000,000	40%
\$5,000,000 +	45%

In addition, each plan participant is eligible to receive a premium award in an amount equal to 20% of his or her deferral amount paid, as detailed below, after a three-year period. The deferral amount plus the premium award yields the total amount of deferral units that a participant is awarded for any given year.

Generally, deferral units are delivered in three equal installments over a three-year period (with no partial-year delivery). The entire premium portion of such deferral units vests at the end of such three-year period. The delivery of the deferral units is subject to the participant not violating any of the provisions of his or her employment agreement, including certain restrictive covenants such as non-competition following termination of employment. The vesting of the premium portion of a participant's deferral units is subject to continued employment of such participant through the end of the three-year vesting date, subject to specified exceptions.

On November 5, 2009, we amended the Deferred Compensation Plan to, among other things: (1) provide that deferred compensation payments to participating employees and senior managing directors generally would be satisfied by a delivery of our common units; (2) delay the delivery of our common units (following the applicable vesting dates) until anticipated trading window periods, to better facilitate participants' liquidity to meet tax obligations; and (3) ensure compliance with deferred compensation taxation rules.

Mr. Hill was our only named executive officer who participated in our Deferred Compensation Plan in 2009, but additional named executive officers may participate in 2010 or subsequent years.

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2009 Fiscal Year End

The following table provides information regarding outstanding unvested equity awards made to our named executive officers as of December 31, 2009.

Stock Awards (1)		
Number of Market Val		
Shares or Units of	Shares or Units of	
	Stock That Have	
Not Vested	Not Vested (2)	
76,984,921	\$ 1,010,042,164	
24,669,198	\$ 323,659,878	
8,833,889	\$ 115,900,624	
1,138,292	\$ 14,934,391	
2,016,382	\$ 26,454,932	
	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested 76,984,921 24,669,198 8,833,889 1,138,292	

⁽¹⁾ The references to "stock" or "shares" in this table refer to Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units and our deferred restricted common units.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2009

The following table provides information regarding the number of outstanding initially unvested equity awards made to our named executive officers that vested during 2009.

	Stock Awards (1)			
		Number of Shares Acquired on		Value Realized
Name_	Vest Date	Vesting		on Vesting (2)
Stephen A. Schwarzman	6/21/2009	38,492,461	\$	458,830,135
Hamilton E. James	6/21/2009	4,111,534	\$	49,009,485
J. Tomilson Hill	6/21/2009	1,363,276	\$	16,250,250
Laurence A. Tosi	1/15/2009	55,698	\$	297,427
Robert L. Friedman	6/21/2009	672,129	\$	8,011,778

⁽¹⁾ The references to "stock" or "shares" in this table refer to Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units and our deferred restricted common units.

Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control

Upon a change of control event where any person (other than a person approved by our general partner) becomes our general partner or a termination of employment because of death or disability, any unvested Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units or our common units held by any of our named executive officers will automatically be deemed vested as of immediately prior to such occurrence of such change of control or such termination of employment. Upon such a change of control or a termination of employment, each of our named executive officers would vest in the following numbers of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units or our common units, having the following values based on our closing market price of \$13.12 per Blackstone common unit on December 31, 2009: Mr. Schwarzman – 76,984,921 units with a value of \$1,010,042,164; Mr. James – 24,669,198 units with a value of \$323,659,878; Mr. Hill – 8,833,889 units with a value of \$115,900,624; Mr. Tosi – 1,138,292 units with a value of \$14,934,391 and Mr. Friedman – 2,016,382 units with a value of \$26,454,932.

⁽²⁾ The dollar amounts shown under this column were calculated by multiplying the number of unvested Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units or our common units held by the named executive officer by the closing market price of \$13.12 per Blackstone common unit on December 31, 2009.

⁽²⁾ The value realized on vesting is based on the closing market prices of our common units of \$5.34 on January 15, 2009 and \$11.92 on June 21, 2009, depending on the day of vesting.

In addition, upon the death or disability of any named executive officer who participates in the carried interest of our carry funds, such named executive officer will be deemed 100% vested in any unvested portion of carried interest in our carry funds. Such unvested portion of carried interest has already been reflected under the column "All Other Compensation" in the Summary Compensation Table included above. In addition, pursuant to Mr. Schwarzman's Founding Member Agreement described above under "Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table in 2009—Schwarzman Founding Member Agreement," following retirement, Mr. Schwarzman will be provided with specified retirement benefits, including an assistant during the ten-year period following his retirement and a car and driver during the three-year period following his retirement. As of December 31, 2009, the aggregate present value of these expected costs were \$0.6 million, for which \$0.3 million, \$0.2 million and \$0.1 million were expensed in each of the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreements

Upon the consummation of our initial public offering, we entered into a non-competition and non-solicitation agreement with each of our co-founders, our other senior managing directors, most of our other professional employees and specified senior administrative personnel to whom we refer collectively as "Contracting Employees". Contracting Employees who have joined the firm after our initial public offering, such as Mr. Tosi, have also executed non-competition and non-solicitation agreements. The following are descriptions of the material terms of each such non-competition and non-solicitation agreement. With the exception of the few differences noted in the description below, the terms of each non-competition and non-solicitation agreement are generally in relevant part similar.

Full-Time Commitment. Each Contracting Employee agrees to devote substantially all of his or her business time, skill, energies and attention to his or her responsibilities at Blackstone in a diligent manner. Our co-founder Mr. Schwarzman has agreed that our business will be his principal business pursuit and that he will devote such time and attention to the business of the firm as may be reasonably requested by us.

Confidentiality. Each Contracting Employee is required, whether during or after his or her employment with us, to protect and only use "confidential information" in accordance with strict restrictions placed by us on its use and disclosure. (Every employee of ours is subject to similar strict confidentiality obligations imposed by our Code of Conduct applicable to all Blackstone personnel.)

Notice of Termination. Each Contracting Employee is required to give us prior written notice of his or her intention to leave our employ—six months in the case of Mr. Schwarzman and 90 days for all of our other senior managing directors and between 30 and 60 days in the case of all other Contracting Employees.

Garden Leave . Upon his or her voluntary departure from our firm, a Contracting Employee is required to take a prescribed period of "garden leave". The period of garden leave is 90 days for our non-founding senior managing directors and between 30 and 60 days for all other Contracting Employees. During this period the Contracting Employee will continue to receive some of his or her Blackstone compensation and benefits, but is prohibited from commencing employment with a new employer until the garden leave period has expired. The period of garden leave for each Contracting Employee will run coterminously with the non-competition Restricted Period that applies to him or her as described below. Our co-founder Mr. Schwarzman is subject to non-competition covenants but not garden leave requirements.

Non-Competition. During the term of employment of each Contracting Employee, and during the Restricted Period (as such term is defined below) immediately thereafter, he or she will not, directly or indirectly:

- engage in any business activity in which we operate, including any competitive business;
- render any services to any competitive business; or
- acquire a financial interest in or become actively involved with any competitive business (other than as a passive investor holding minimal percentages of the stock of public companies).

"Competitive business" means any business that competes, during the term of employment through the date of termination, with our business, including any businesses that we are actively considering conducting at the time of the Contracting Employee's termination of employment, so long as he or she knows or reasonably should have known about such plans, in any geographical or market area where we or our affiliates provide our products or services.

Non-Solicitation. During the term of employment of each Contracting Employee, and during the Restricted Period immediately thereafter, he or she will not, directly or indirectly, in any manner solicit any of our employees to leave their employment with us, or hire any such employee who was employed by us as of the date of his or her termination or who left employment with us within one year prior to or after the date of his or her termination. Additionally, each Contracting Employee may not solicit or encourage to cease to work with us any consultant or senior advisers that he or she knows or should know is under contract with us.

In addition, during the term of employment of each Contracting Employee, and during the Restricted Period immediately thereafter, he or she will not, directly or indirectly, in any manner solicit the business of any client or prospective client of ours with whom he or she, employees reporting to him or her, or anyone whom he or she had direct or indirect responsibility over had personal contact or dealings on our behalf during the three-year period immediately preceding his or her termination. Contracting Employees who are employed in our asset management businesses are subject to a similar non-solicitation covenant with respect to investors and prospective investors in our investment funds.

Non-Interference and Non-Disparagement. During the term of employment of each Contracting Employee, and during the Restricted Period immediately thereafter, he or she may not interfere with business relationships between us and any of our clients, customers, suppliers or partners. Each Contracting Employee is also prohibited from disparaging us in any way.

Restricted Period . For purposes of the foregoing covenants, the "Restricted Period" will be defined to be:

		Other Senior Managing	
Covenant	Stephen A. Schwarzman	Directors	Other Contracting Employees
Non-competition	The later of June 21, 2011 or two years after termination of employment.	The later of June 21, 2009 or one year (six months for senior managing directors who are eligible to retire, as defined below) after termination of employment.	The later of between six months and one year after June 21, 2007 or between 90 days and six months after termination of employment.
Non-solicitation of Blackstone employees	The later of June 21, 2011 or two years after termination of employment.	The later of June 21, 2009 or two years after termination of employment.	Generally the later of between one and two years after June 21, 2007 or between six months and one year after termination of employment.
Non-solicitation of Blackstone clients or investors	The later of June 21, 2011 or two years after termination of employment.	The later of June 21, 2009 or one year after termination of employment.	Generally the later of June 21, 2008 or between six months and one year after termination of employment.
Non-interference with business relationships	The later of June 21, 2011 or two years after termination of employment.	The later of June 21, 2009 or one year after termination of employment.	Generally the later of June 21, 2008 or between six months and one year after termination of employment.

Retirement. Blackstone personnel are eligible to retire if they have satisfied either of the following tests: (1) one has reached the age of 65 and has at least five full years of service with our firm; or (2) one has reached the age of 50 and has at least five full years of service with our firm and the sum of his or her age plus years of service with our firm totals at least 65.

Intellectual Property . Each Contracting Employee is subject to customary intellectual property covenants with respect to works created, invented, designed or developed by him or her that are relevant to or implicated by his or her employment with us.

Specific Performance . In the case of any breach of the confidentiality, non-competition, non-solicitation, non-interference, non-disparagement or intellectual property provisions by a Contracting Employee, the breaching individual agrees that we will be entitled to seek equitable relief in the form of specific performance, restraining orders, injunctions or other equitable remedies.

Director Compensation in 2009

No additional remuneration is paid to our employees for service as a director of our general partner. Each non-employee director received an annual cash retainer of \$100,000 during 2009. For 2010 and each year thereafter we have determined to pay each non-employee director an annual cash retainer of \$150,000 and an additional \$15,000 annual cash retainer to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. In addition, each non-employee director may receive equity awards from time to time. Each of Mr. Mulroney and Mr. Parrett was granted 10,000 of our deferred restricted common units under our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan upon his appointment as a director on varying dates in 2007 and was granted an additional 5,000 deferred restricted common units under our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan on August 6, 2008. In September 2008, each of Messrs. Jenrette and Light was granted 15,000 deferred restricted common units under our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan in respect of his appointment as a director. The amounts of our non-employee directors' compensation were approved by the board of directors of our general partner upon the recommendation of our co-founder following his review of directors' compensation paid by comparable companies.

The following table provides the compensation for our non-employee directors for 2009.

	Fees Earned or	Stock Awards	
Name	Paid in Cash	(1)	Total
The Right Honorable Brian Mulroney	\$ 100,000	_	\$100,000
William G. Parrett	\$ 100,000	_	\$100,000
Richard Jenrette	\$ 100,000	_	\$100,000
Jay O. Light	\$ 100,000	_	\$100,000

⁽¹⁾ The references to "stock" in this table refer to our deferred restricted common units. These deferred restricted common units vest, and the underlying Blackstone common units will be delivered, in equal installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the date of grant, subject to the outside director's continued service on the board of directors of our general partner.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units as of February 19, 2010 by:

- each person known to us to beneficially own 5% of any class of the outstanding voting securities of The Blackstone Group L.P.;
- each member of our general partner's board of directors;
- each of the named executive officers of our general partner; and
- all directors and executive officers of our general partner as a group.

The amounts and percentage of units beneficially owned are reported on the basis of regulations of the SEC governing the determination of beneficial ownership of securities. Under the rules of the SEC, a person is deemed to be a "beneficial owner" of a security if that person has or shares "voting power," which includes the power to vote or to direct the voting of such security, or "investment power," which includes the power to dispose of or to direct the disposition of such security. A person is also deemed to be a beneficial owner of any securities of which that person has a right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days of February 19, 2009. Under these rules, more than one person may be deemed a beneficial owner of the same securities and a person may be deemed a beneficial owner of securities as to which he has no economic interest. Except as indicated by footnote, the persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all units shown as beneficially owned by them, subject to community property laws where applicable. Unless otherwise included, for purposes of this table, the principal business address for each such person is c/o The Blackstone Group L.P. 345 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10154.

	Common Units, Beneficially Owned		Blackstone Hol Partnership U Beneficially Own	nits ned (1)
		% of		% of
Name of Beneficial Owner	Number	Class	Number	Class
5% Unitholders:				
Investment Funds Managed by Affiliates of				
AXA Financial, Inc. (2)	27,876,837	14%	_	_
Directors and Executive Officers:				
Stephen A. Schwarzman (3)(4)	_	_	233,421,689	30%
Hamilton E. James (4)	_	_	47,916,627	6%
J. Tomilson Hill (4)	181,732	*	17,918,320	2%
Laurence A. Tosi	_	_	191,013	*
Robert L. Friedman	_	_	7,585,574	*
The Right Honorable Brian Mulroney	110,000	*	_	_
William G. Parrett	36,001	*	_	_
Richard Jenrette	5,000	*	_	_
Jay O. Light	5,000	*	_	_
All executive officers and directors as a group (11 persons)	357,733	*	307,977,808	40%

^{*} Less than one percent

⁽¹⁾ Subject to certain requirements and restrictions, the partnership units of Blackstone Holdings are exchangeable for common units of The Blackstone Group L.P. on a one-for-one basis. A Blackstone Holdings limited partner must exchange one partnership unit in each of the four Blackstone Holdings partnerships to effect an exchange for a common unit. See "Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence—Exchange Agreement". Beneficial ownership of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units reflected in this table has not been also reflected as beneficial ownership of the common units of The Blackstone Group L.P. for which such units may be exchanged.

⁽²⁾ Reflects units beneficially owned by AXA Assurances I.A.R.D. Mutuelle, AXA Assurances Vie Mutuelle, AXA and AXA Financial, Inc. as of December 31, 2009 based on the Schedule 13G filed by such entities as joint reporting persons. Based on their Schedule 13G, 29,000 of those units are held by AXA Investment Managers Paris solely for investment purposes, 50 of those units are held by AXA Investment Managers UK Ltd solely for investment purposes, 27,405,385 of those units are held by AllianceBernstein L.P. solely for investment purposes on behalf of client discretionary investment advisory accounts, and 442,402 of those units are held by AXA Equitable Life Insurance Company solely for investment purposes. The address of AXA Assurances I.A.R.D. Mutuelle and AXA Assurances Vie Mutuelle is 26, rue Drouot, 75009 Paris, France; the address of AXA is 25, Avenue Matignon, 75008 Paris, France; and the address of AXA Financial, Inc. is 1290 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10104.

- (3) On those few matters that may be submitted for a vote of the limited partners of The Blackstone Group L.P., Blackstone Partners L.L.C., an entity wholly-owned by our senior managing directors, holds a special voting unit in The Blackstone Group L.P. that provides it with an aggregate number of votes on any matter that may be submitted for a vote of our common unitholders that is equal to the aggregate number of vested and unvested Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units held by the limited partners of Blackstone Holdings on the relevant record date and entitles it to participate in the vote on the same basis as our common unitholders. Our senior managing directors have agreed in the limited liability company agreement of Blackstone Partners that our co-founder, Mr. Schwarzman, will have the power to determine how the special voting unit held by Blackstone Partners will be voted. Following the withdrawal, death or disability of Mr. Schwarzman (and any successor founder), this power will revert to the members of Blackstone Partners holding a majority in interest in that entity. The limited liability company agreement of Blackstone Partners provides that at such time as Mr. Schwarzman should cease to be a founding member, Hamilton E. James will thereupon succeed Mr. Schwarzman as the sole founding member of Blackstone Partners. If Blackstone Partners directs us to do so, we will issue special voting units to each of the limited partners of Blackstone Holdings, whereupon each special voting unitholder will be entitled to a number of votes that is equal to the number of vested and unvested Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units held by such special voting unitholder on the relevant record date.
- (4) The Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units shown in the table above for each of the named executive officers include (1) the following units held for the benefit of family members with respect to which the named executive officer disclaims beneficial ownership:

 Mr. Schwarzman 1,666,666 units held in various trusts for which Mr. Schwarzman is the investment trustee; Mr. James 7,723,795 units held in a trust for which Mr. James and his brother are trustees with investment power; Mr. Hill 6,412,296 units held in various trusts for which Mr. Hill's spouse is the investment trustee; and Mr. Friedman 2,130,462 units held in various trusts for which certain members of Mr. Friedman's family are the investment trustees and 532,431 units held in a limited liability company for which Mr. Friedman's spouse is the managing member; and (2) the following units held in grantor retained annuity trusts for which the named executive officer is the investment trustee: Mr. Schwarzman 8,533,332 units; and Mr. Hill 1,500,000 units. In addition, with respect to Mr. Schwarzman, the above table excludes partnership units of Blackstone Holdings held by his children or in trusts for the benefit of his family as to which he has no voting or investment power.

In addition, Beijing Wonderful Investments, an investment vehicle established and controlled by the People's Republic of China, holds 109,083,468 of our non-voting common units.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The table set forth below provides information concerning the awards that may be issued under Blackstone's 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Equity Plan") as of December 31, 2009.

	Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights (1)	Weighted-Average Exercise Price of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights	Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans (excluding securities reflected in column (1)) (2)
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Security Holders	45.220.255	_	153,102,656
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Security Holders		_	
Total	45,220,255	_	153,102,656

⁽¹⁾ Reflects the outstanding number of our deferred restricted common units and deferred restricted Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units granted under the Equity Plan as of December 31, 2009.

The aggregate number of our common units and Blackstone Holdings partnership units covered by the Equity Plan is increased on the first day of each fiscal year during its term by a number of units equal to the positive difference, if any, of (a) 15% of the aggregate number of our common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units outstanding on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year (excluding Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units held by The Blackstone Group L.P. or its wholly-owned subsidiaries) minus (b) the aggregate number of our common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units covered by the Equity Plan as of such date (unless the administrator of the Equity Plan should decide to increase the number of our common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units covered by the plan by a lesser amount). As of January 1, 2010, pursuant to this formula, 162,126,007 units, which is equal to 0.15 times the number of our common units and Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units outstanding on December 31, 2009, were available for issuance under the Equity Plan. We have filed a registration statement and intend to file additional registration statements on Form S-8 under the Securities Act to register common units covered by the Equity Plan (including pursuant to automatic annual increases). Any such Form S-8 registration statement will automatically become effective upon filing. Accordingly, common units registered under such registration statement will be available for sale in the open market.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Transactions with Related Persons

Tax Receivable Agreements

We used a portion of the proceeds from the IPO and the sale of non-voting common units to Beijing Wonderful Investments to purchase interests in the predecessor businesses from the pre-IPO owners. In addition, holders of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units (other than The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries), subject to the vesting and minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions set forth in the partnership agreements of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships, may up to four times each year (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement) exchange their Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units for The Blackstone Group L.P. common units on a one-forone basis. A Blackstone Holdings limited partner must exchange one partnership unit in each of the four Blackstone Holdings partnerships to effect an exchange for a common unit. Blackstone Holdings I L.P. and Blackstone Holdings II L.P. have made an election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code effective for each taxable year in which an exchange of partnership units for common units occurs, which may result in an adjustment to the tax basis of the assets of such Blackstone Holdings partnerships at the time of an exchange of partnership units. The purchase and subsequent exchanges are expected to result in increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of Blackstone Holdings that otherwise would not have been available. These increases in tax basis may increase (for tax purposes) depreciation and amortization and therefore reduce the amount of tax that Blackstone's wholly-owned subsidiaries that are taxable as corporations for U.S. federal income purposes would otherwise be required to pay in the future. Certain subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group L.P. which are corporate taxpayers have entered into a tax receivable agreement with holders of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units that provides for the payment by the corporate taxpayers to such holders of 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax that the corporate taxpayers actually realize (or are deemed to realize in the case of an early termination payment by the corporate taxpayers or a change in control, as discussed below) as a result of these increases in tax basis and of certain other tax benefits related to our entering into tax receivable agreements, including tax benefits attributable to payments under the tax receivable agreement. Additional tax receivable agreements have been executed, and will continue to be executed, with newly admitted Blackstone senior managing directors and certain others who acquire Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units. This payment obligation is an obligation of the corporate taxpayers and not of Blackstone Holdings. The corporate taxpayers expect to benefit from the remaining 15.0% of cash savings, if any, in income tax that they realize. For purposes of the tax receivable agreement, cash savings in income tax will be computed by comparing the actual income tax liability of the corporate taxpayers to the amount of such taxes that the corporate taxpayers would have been required to pay had there been no increase to the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of Blackstone Holdings as a result of the exchanges and had the corporate taxpayers not entered into the tax receivable agreement. A limited partner of Blackstone Holdings may also elect to exchange his or her Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units in a tax-free transaction where the limited partner is making a charitable contribution. In such a case, the exchange will not result in an increase in the tax basis of the assets of Blackstone Holdings and no payments will be made under the tax receivable agreement. The term of the tax receivable agreement commenced upon consummation of our IPO and will continue until all such tax benefits have been utilized or expired, unless the corporate taxpayers exercise their right to terminate the tax receivable agreement for an amount based on the agreed payments remaining to be made under the agreement.

Assuming no material changes in the relevant tax law and that the corporate taxpayers earn sufficient taxable income to realize the full tax benefit of the increased amortization of the assets, the expected future payments under the tax receivable agreement (which are taxable to the recipients) in respect of the purchase will aggregate \$830.5 million over the next 15 years. The present value of these estimated payments totals \$228.6 million assuming a 15% discount rate and using an estimate of timing of the benefit to be received. Future payments under the tax receivable agreement in respect of subsequent exchanges would be in addition to these amounts. The payments under the tax receivable agreement are not conditioned upon continued ownership of

Blackstone equity interests by the pre-IPO owners and the others mentioned above. Subsequent to December 31, 2009, payments totaling \$4,076,382 were made to certain pre-IPO owners in accordance with the tax receivable agreement and related to tax benefits we received for the 2008 taxable year. Those payments included payments of \$1,080,470 to Stephen A. Schwarzman and an investment vehicle controlled by a relative of Mr. Schwarzman; and \$76,013 to J. Tomilson Hill and a trust for which Mr. Hill is the investment trustee.

In addition, the tax receivable agreement provides that upon certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes of control, the corporate taxpayers' (or their successors') obligations with respect to exchanged or acquired units (whether exchanged or acquired before or after such transaction) would be based on certain assumptions, including that the corporate taxpayers would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the benefits arising from the increased tax deductions and tax basis and other similar benefits. Upon a subsequent actual exchange, any additional increase in tax deductions, tax basis and other similar benefits in excess of the amounts assumed at the change in control will also result in payments under the tax receivable agreement.

Decisions we make in the course of running our business, such as with respect to mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes in control, may influence the timing and amount of payments that are received by an exchanging or selling holder of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units, under the tax receivable agreement. For example, the earlier disposition of assets following an exchange or acquisition transaction will generally accelerate payments under a tax receivable agreement and increase the present value of such payments, and the disposition of assets before an exchange or acquisition transaction will increase the tax liability of a holder of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units without giving rise to any rights of a holder of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units to receive payments under any tax receivable agreements.

Although we are not aware of any issue that would cause the IRS to challenge a tax basis increase, the corporate taxpayers will not be reimbursed for any payments previously made under a tax receivable agreement. As a result, in certain circumstances, payments could be made under a tax receivable agreement in excess of the corporate taxpayers' cash tax savings.

Registration Rights Agreement

In connection with the restructuring and IPO, we entered into a registration rights agreement with our pre-IPO owners pursuant to which we granted them, their affiliates and certain of their transferees the right, under certain circumstances and subject to certain restrictions, to require us to register under the Securities Act common units delivered in exchange for Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units or common units (and other securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for our common units) otherwise held by them. In addition, newly admitted Blackstone senior managing directors and certain others who acquire Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units have subsequently become parties to the registration rights agreement. Under the registration rights agreement, we agreed to register the exchange of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units for common units by our holders of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units. In June 2008, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with the Securities and Exchange Commission to cover future issuances from time to time of up to 818,008,105 common units to holders of Blackstone Holdings partnership units upon exchange of up to an equal number of such Blackstone Holdings partnership units. In addition, our founder, Stephen A. Schwarzman, has the right to request that we register the sale of common units held by holders of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units an unlimited number of times and may require us to make available shelf registration statements permitting sales of common units into the market from time to time over an extended period. In addition, Mr. Schwarzman has the ability to exercise certain piggyback registration rights in respect of common units held by holders of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units in connection with registered offerings requested by other registration rights holders or initiated by us.

Blackstone Holdings Partnership Agreements

As a result of the reorganization and the IPO, The Blackstone Group L.P. became a holding partnership and, through wholly-owned subsidiaries, held equity interests in the five holdings partnerships (i.e., Blackstone Holdings I L.P., Blackstone Holdings II L.P., Blackstone Holdings III L.P., Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. and Blackstone Holdings V L.P.). On January 1, 2009, in order to simplify our structure and ease the related administrative burden and costs, we effected an internal restructuring to reduce the number of holding partnerships from five to four by causing Blackstone Holdings III L.P. to transfer all of its assets and liabilities to Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. In connection therewith. Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. was renamed Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and Blackstone Holdings V L.P. was renamed Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. The economic interests of The Blackstone Group L.P. in Blackstone's business remains entirely unaffected. "Blackstone Holdings" refers to the five holding partnerships prior to the January 2009 reorganization and the four holdings partnerships subsequent to the January 2009 reorganization. Wholly-owned subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group L.P. are the sole general partner of each of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships. Accordingly, The Blackstone Group L.P. operates and controls all of the business and affairs of Blackstone Holdings and, through Blackstone Holdings and its operating entity subsidiaries, conducts our business. Through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, The Blackstone Group L.P. has unilateral control over all of the affairs and decision making of Blackstone Holdings. Furthermore, the wholly-owned subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group L.P. cannot be removed as the general partners of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships without their approval. Because our general partner, Blackstone Group Management L.L.C., operates and controls the business of The Blackstone Group L.P., the board of directors and officers of our general partner are accordingly responsible for all operational and administrative decisions of Blackstone Holdings and the day-to-day management of Blackstone Holdings' business. Pursuant to the partnership agreements of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships, the wholly owned subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group L.P. which are the general partners of those partnerships have the right to determine when distributions will be made to the partners of Blackstone Holdings and the amount of any such distributions. If a distribution is authorized, such distribution will be made to the partners of Blackstone Holdings pro rata in accordance with the percentages of their respective partnership interests, except that The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries are entitled to priority allocations of income through December 31, 2009 as described under "Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities—Cash Distribution Policy."

Each of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships has an identical number of partnership units outstanding, and we use the terms "Blackstone Holdings Partnership Unit" or "partnership unit in/of Blackstone Holdings" to refer, collectively, to a partnership unit in each of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships. The holders of partnership units in Blackstone Holdings, including The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries, will incur U.S. federal, state and local income taxes on their proportionate share of any net taxable income of Blackstone Holdings. Net profits and net losses of Blackstone Holdings will generally be allocated to its partners (including The Blackstone Group L.P.'s whollyowned subsidiaries) pro rata in accordance with the percentages of their respective partnership interests, except that The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries will be entitled to priority allocations of income through December 31, 2009 as described under "Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities—Cash Distribution Policy". The partnership agreements of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships provide for cash distributions, which we refer to as "tax distributions," to the partners of such partnerships if the wholly owned subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group L.P. which are the general partners of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships determine that the taxable income of the relevant partnership will give rise to taxable income for its partners. Generally, these tax distributions are computed based on our estimate of the net taxable income of the relevant partnership allocable to a partner multiplied by an assumed tax rate equal to the highest effective marginal combined U.S. federal, state and local income tax rate prescribed for an individual or corporate resident in New York, New York (taking into account the non-deductibility of certain expenses and the character of our income). Tax distributions are made only to the extent all distributions from such partnerships for the relevant year are insufficient to cover such tax liabilities.

Subject to the vesting and minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions set forth in the partnership agreements of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships, Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units may be exchanged for The Blackstone Group L.P. common units as described under "—Exchange Agreement" below. In addition, the Blackstone Holdings partnership agreements authorize the wholly-owned subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group L.P. which are the general partners of those partnerships to issue an unlimited number of additional partnership securities of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships with such designations, preferences, rights, powers and duties that are different from, and may be senior to, those applicable to the Blackstone Holdings partnerships units, and which may be exchangeable for our common units.

See "Item 11. Executive Compensation—Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table and Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2009—Terms of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units—Vesting Provisions" for a discussion of vesting provisions applicable to Blackstone personnel in respect of the Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units received by them in the reorganization and "—Minimum Retained Ownership Requirements and Transfer Restrictions" for a discussion of minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions applicable to the Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units. The generally applicable vesting and minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions are outlined in the sections referenced in the preceding sentence. There may be some different arrangements for some individuals in some instances. In addition, we may waive these requirements and restrictions from time to time.

In addition, substantially all of our expenses, including substantially all expenses solely incurred by or attributable to The Blackstone Group L.P. such as expenses incurred in connection with the IPO but not including obligations incurred under the tax receivable agreement by The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries, income tax expenses of The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries and payments on indebtedness incurred by The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries, are borne by Blackstone Holdings.

Exchange Agreement

In connection with the reorganization and IPO, we entered into an exchange agreement with the holders of partnership units in Blackstone Holdings (other than The Blackstone Group L.P.'s wholly-owned subsidiaries). In addition, newly admitted Blackstone senior managing directors and certain others who acquire Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units have subsequently become parties to the exchange agreement. Under the exchange agreement, subject to the vesting and minimum retained ownership requirements and transfer restrictions set forth in the partnership agreements of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships, each such holder of Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units (and certain transferees thereof) may up to four times each year (subject to the terms of the exchange agreement) exchange these partnership units for The Blackstone Group L.P. common units on a one-for-one basis, subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for splits, unit distributions and reclassifications. Under the exchange agreement, to effect an exchange a holder of partnership units in Blackstone Holdings must simultaneously exchange one partnership unit in each of the Blackstone Holdings partnerships. As a holder exchanges its Blackstone Holdings Partnership Units, The Blackstone Group L.P.'s indirect interest in the Blackstone Holdings partnerships will be correspondingly increased.

Firm Use of Our Co-Founder's Private Aircraft

Certain entities controlled by Mr. Schwarzman wholly-own an airplane and have a partial interest in a helicopter that we use for business purposes in the course of our operations. Mr. Schwarzman paid for the ownership interests in these aircraft himself and bore all operating, personnel and maintenance costs associated with their operation. The hourly payments we made to affiliates of Mr. Schwarzman for such use were based on current market rates for chartering private aircraft. We paid \$2.1 million to Mr. Schwarzman's affiliates in 2009 for the use of his airplane and we paid \$0.3 million to Mr. Schwarzman's affiliates in 2009 for the use of the helicopter.

Expense Reimbursements

Since filing our registration statement relating to our IPO, we have not incurred for or advanced funds to any named executive officer or member of the board of directors for any material personal related expenses.

Side-By-Side and Other Investment Transactions

Our directors and executive officers are permitted to invest their own capital in side-by-side investments with our carry funds. Side-by-side investments are investments in portfolio companies or other assets on generally the same terms and conditions as those investments made by the applicable fund, except that these side-by-side investments are not subject to management fees or carried interest. In addition, our directors and executive officers are permitted to invest their own capital in our funds of hedge funds and credit-oriented funds that are structured as hedge funds, in some instances, not subject to management fees or carried interest. These investment opportunities are available to all of our senior managing directors and to those of our employees whom we have determined to have a status that reasonably permits us to offer them these types of investments in compliance with applicable laws. None of our directors or executive officers received net distributions from Blackstone-managed investment vehicles during the year ended December 31, 2009, except for (1) Mr. Schwarzman (and certain investment trusts controlled by him) who received net distributions of \$13,365,702 relating to his personal investments in Blackstone-managed investment trusts controlled by him) who received net distributions of \$679,469 relating to his personal investment funds; (3) Mr. Hill (and an investment trust controlled by him) who received net distributions of \$86,097 relating to his personal investments in Blackstone-managed investments in Blackstone managed investment funds; and (5) Ms. Solotar who received net distributions of \$18,032 relating to her personal investments in Blackstone managed investment funds.

Statement of Policy Regarding Transactions with Related Persons

The board of directors of our general partner has adopted a written statement of policy regarding transactions with related persons, which we refer to as our "related person policy." Our related person policy requires that a "related person" (as defined as in paragraph (a) of Item 404 of Regulation S-K) must promptly disclose to the Chief Legal Officer of our general partner any "related person transaction" (defined as any transaction that is reportable by us under Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K in which we were or are to be a participant and the amount involved exceeds \$120,000 and in which any related person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest) and all material facts with respect thereto. The Chief Legal Officer will then promptly communicate that information to the board of directors of our general partner. No related person transaction will be consummated without the approval or ratification of the board of directors of our general partner or any committee of the board of directors consisting exclusively of disinterested directors. It is our policy that directors interested in a related person transaction will recuse themselves from any vote of a related person transaction in which they have an interest.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Under our partnership agreement, in most circumstances we will indemnify the following persons, to the fullest extent permitted by law, from and against all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, joint or several, expenses (including legal fees and expenses), judgments, fines, penalties, interest, settlements or other amounts: our general partner; any departing general partner; any person who is or was an affiliate of a general partner or any departing general partner, tax matters partner, officer, director, employee, agent, fiduciary or trustee of us or our subsidiaries, the general partner or any departing general partner or any affiliate of ours or our subsidiaries, the general partner or any departing general partner or any affiliate of a general partner or any departing general partner as an officer, director, employee, member, partner, agent, fiduciary or trustee of another person; or any person designated by our general partner. We have agreed to

provide this indemnification to the extent such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the partnership, and with respect to any alleged conduct resulting in a criminal proceeding against such person, to deny indemnification if such person had reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was unlawful. We have also agreed to provide this indemnification for criminal proceedings. Any indemnification under these provisions will only be out of our assets. Unless it otherwise agrees, the general partner will not be personally liable for, or have any obligation to contribute or loan funds or assets to us to enable it to effectuate indemnification. We may purchase insurance against liabilities asserted against and expenses incurred by persons for our activities, regardless of whether we would have the power to indemnify the person against liabilities under our partnership agreement.

We will also indemnify any of our employees who personally becomes subject to a "clawback" obligation to one of our investment funds in respect of carried interest that we have received. See "Item 1. Business—Incentive Arrangements / Fee Structure".

Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreements

We have entered into a non-competition and non-solicitation agreement with each of our professionals and other senior employees, including each of our executive officers. See "Item 11. Executive Compensation—Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreements" for a description of the material terms of such agreements.

Director Independence

Because we are a publicly traded limited partnership, the NYSE rules do not require our general partner's board to be made up of a majority of independent directors. However, four of the seven members of our general partner's board of directors satisfy the independence and financial literacy requirements of the NYSE and the SEC. These directors are Messrs. Jenrette, Light, Mulroney and Parrett. Based on all relevant facts and circumstances, our general partner's board of directors affirmatively determined on February 22, 2010 that the independent directors have no material relationship with us or our general partner. To assist it in making its independence determinations, the board of directors of our general partner has adopted the following categorical standards for relationships that are deemed not to impair a director's independence:

Under any circumstances, a director is not independent if:

- the director is, or has been within the preceding three years, employed by our general partner or us;
- an immediate family member of the director was employed as an executive officer of our general partner or us within the preceding three years;
- the director, or an immediate family member of that director, received within the preceding three years more than \$120,000 in any twelve-month period in direct compensation from us, other than director and committee fees and pension or other forms of deferred compensation for prior service (provided such compensation is not contingent in any way on continued service);
- the director is a current partner or employee of a firm that is our internal or external auditor; the director has an immediate family member who is a current partner of such a firm; the director has an immediate family member who is a current employee of such a firm and personally works on our audit; or the director or an immediate family member of that director was within the last three years a partner or employee of such a firm and personally worked on our or a predecessor's audit within that time;
- the director or an immediate family member is, or has been within the preceding three years, employed as an executive officer of another company where any of our general partner's present executive officers at the same time serves or served on such other company's compensation committee; or

• the director is a current employee, or an immediate family member is a current executive officer, of a company that has made payments to, or received payments from, us for property or services in an amount which, in any of the preceding three fiscal years, exceeds the greater of \$1,000,000 or two percent (2%) of the consolidated gross revenues of the other company.

The following commercial or charitable relationships will not be considered to be material relationships that would impair a director's independence:

- if the director or an immediate family member of that director serves as an executive officer, director or trustee of a charitable organization, and our annual charitable contributions to that organization (excluding contributions by us under any established matching gift program) are less than the greater of \$1,000,000 or two percent (2%) of that organization's consolidated gross revenues in its most recent fiscal year; and
- if the director or an immediate family member of that director (or a company for which the director serves as a director or executive officer) invests in or alongside of one or more investment funds or investment companies managed by us or any of our subsidiaries, whether or not fees or other incentive arrangements for us or our subsidiaries are borne by the investing person.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The following table summarizes the aggregate fees for professional services provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP, the member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and their respective affiliates (collectively, the "Deloitte Entities") for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.

	Year Ended December 31, 2009			
			Blackstone	
		Blackstone	Private Equity and	
	Blackstone	Entities (Dollars in Thousands)	Real Estate	
Audit Fees	\$ 14,747(a)	\$ 16,293(c)	\$ —	
Audit-Related Fees	\$ —	\$ 100(c)	\$ 7,615(d)	
Tax Fees	\$ 1,000(b)	\$ 25,776(c)	\$ 3,077(d)	
Other	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 650(e)	
	Y	ear Ended December 31, 2008		
			Blackstone	
		Blackstone	Private Equity and	
	Blackstone	Entities (Dollars in Thousands)	Real Estate	
Audit Fees	\$ 18,673(a)	\$ 17,095(c)	\$ —	
Audit-Related Fees	\$ —	\$ 40(c)	\$ 28,154(d)	
Tax Fees	\$ 1,000(b)	\$ 24,205(c)	\$ 13,316(d)	

⁽a) Audit Fees consisted of fees for (a) the audits of our consolidated and combined financial statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and services attendant to, or required by, statute or regulation; (b) reviews of the interim condensed consolidated and combined financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q; (c) comfort letters, consents and other services related to SEC and other regulatory filings.

⁽b) Tax Fees consisted of fees for services rendered for tax compliance and tax planning and advisory services.

The Deloitte Entities also provide audit and tax services to certain private equity and real estate investment funds and other entities managed by Blackstone in its capacity as the general partner. The tax services provided consist primarily of tax compliance and related services.

- (d) Audit-Related Fees included assurances, merger and acquisition due diligence services provided in connection with acquisitions of portfolio companies for investment purposes primarily to certain private equity and real estate funds managed by Blackstone in its capacity as the general partner. In addition, the Deloitte Entities provide audit, audit-related, tax and other services to the portfolio companies, which are approved directly by the portfolio company's management and are not included in the amounts presented here.
- (e) Consists of certain project management and readiness services provided in connection with the acquisition of portfolio companies for investment purposes.

Our audit committee charter, which is available on our website at www.blackstone.com under "Investor Relations", requires the audit committee to approve in advance all audit and non-audit related services to be provided by our independent registered public accounting firm in accordance with the audit and non-audit related services pre-approval policy. All services reported in the Audit, Audit-Related, Tax and Other categories above were approved by the audit committee.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

- (a) The following documents are filed as part of this annual report.
- 1. Financial Statements
 - See Item 8 above.
- 2. Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not required under the related instructions or are not applicable, and therefore have been omitted.

3. *Exhibits*:

Exhibit

Number	Exhibit Description
3.1 Certificate of Limited Partnership of The Blackstone Group L.P. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3	
	Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-141504) filed with the SEC on March 22, 2007).
2.2	

- 3.2 Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of The Blackstone Group L.P. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 27, 2007).
- 3.2.1 Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of The Blackstone Group L.P. dated as of November 3, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on November 6, 2009).
- 4.1 Indenture dated as of August 20, 2009 among Blackstone Holdings Finance Co. L.L.C., The Blackstone Group L.P., Blackstone Holdings II L.P., Blackstone Holdings III L.P., Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 20, 2009).
- 4.2 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 20, 2009 among Blackstone Holdings Finance Co. L.L.C., The Blackstone Group L.P., Blackstone Holdings I L.P., Blackstone Holdings II L.P., Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 20, 2009).
- Form of 6.625% Senior Note due 2019 (included in Exhibit 4.2 and incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 20, 2009).
- Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Blackstone Holdings I L.P., dated as of June 18, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings I/II GP Inc. and the limited partners of Blackstone Holdings I L.P. party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).
- Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Blackstone Holdings I L.P. dated as of November 3, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on November 6, 2009).

Exhibit Number 10.2 Exhibit Description Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Blackstone Holdings II L.P., dated as of June 18, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings I/II GP Inc. and the limited partners of Blackstone Holdings II L.P. party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).

- Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Blackstone Holdings II L.P. dated as of November 3, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on November 6, 2009).
- Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Blackstone Holdings III L.P., dated as of January 1, 2009, by and among Blackstone Holdings III GP L.L.C. and the limited partners of Blackstone Holdings III L.P. party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009).
- Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Blackstone Holdings III L.P. dated as of November 3, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on November 6, 2009).
- Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Blackstone Holdings IV L.P., dated as of January 1, 2009, by and among Blackstone Holdings IV GP L.P. and the limited partners of Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009).
- Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. dated as of November 3, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on November 6, 2009).
- Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings I/II GP Inc., Blackstone Holdings I L.P., Blackstone Holdings II L.P. and the limited partners of Blackstone Holdings I L.P. and Blackstone Holdings II L.P. party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).
- Exchange Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2007, among The Blackstone Group L.P., Blackstone Holdings I L.P., Blackstone Holdings IV L.P., Blackstone Holdings V L.P. and the Blackstone Holdings Limited Partners party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).
- Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2007 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).
- 10.8+ 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).

Exhibit Description

Exhibit

Number

10.9+	The Blackstone Group L.P. Bonus Deferral Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on March 11, 2008).
10.10+	Founding Member Agreement of Stephen A. Schwarzman, dated as of June 18, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings I L.P. and Stephen A. Schwarzman (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).
10.12+	Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2008, between Blackstone Holdings I L.P. and Laurence A. Tosi (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 12, 2008).
10.13+	Form of Senior Managing Director Agreement by and among Blackstone Holdings I L.P. and each of the Senior Managing Directors from time to time party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-141504) filed with the SEC on June 14, 2007). (Applicable to all executive officers other than Messrs. Schwarzman and Peterson).

- 10.14+ Form of Deferred Restricted Common Unit Award Agreement (Directors) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 8, 2008).
- 10.15+ Form of Deferred Restricted Blackstone Holdings Unit Award Agreement for Executive Officers (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on November 7, 2008).
- 10.16 Credit Agreement dated as of May 12, 2008 among Blackstone Holdings I L.P., Blackstone Holdings II L.P., Blackstone Holdings III L.P., Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. and Blackstone Holdings V L.P., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the Lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on May 15, 2008).
- Letter Agreement between The Blackstone Group L.P. and the Beijing Wonderful Investments Ltd dated May 22, 2007 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (File No. 333-141504) filed with the SEC on June 4, 2007).
- Letter Agreement, dated October 16, 2008, between The Blackstone Group L.P. and Beijing Wonderful Investment Ltd., amending the Letter Agreement, dated May 22, 2007, between The Blackstone Group L.P. and Beijing Wonderful Investments Ltd (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16.1 to the Registrants' Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 16, 2008).
- 10.19+ Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of BMA V L.L.C., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and certain members of BMA V L.L.C (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).
- Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Blackstone Real Estate Management Associates International L.P., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among BREA International (Cayman) Ltd. and certain limited partners (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).

Exhibit Number

Exhibit Description

- Amendment No. 1 dated as of January 1, 2008 to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Blackstone Real Estate Management Associates International L.P., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among BREA International (Cayman) Ltd. and certain limited partners (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on May 15, 2008).
- 10.21+ Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Blackstone Real Estate Management Associates International II L.P., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among BREA International (Cayman) II Ltd. and certain limited partners (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).
- Amendment No. 1 dated as of January 1, 2008 to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Blackstone Real Estate Management Associates International II L.P., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among BREA International (Cayman) II Ltd. and certain limited partners (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on May 15, 2008).
- Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Blackstone Management Associates IV L.L.C., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and certain members of Blackstone Management Associates IV L.L.C. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).
- Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Blackstone Mezzanine Management Associates L.L.C., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and certain members of Blackstone Mezzanine Management Associates L.L.C. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).
- 10.24+ Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Blackstone Mezzanine Management Associates II L.L.C., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and certain members of Blackstone Mezzanine Management Associates II L.L.C. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).
- Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of BREA IV L.L.C., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and certain members of BREA IV L.L.C. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).
- Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of BREA V L.L.C., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and certain members of BREA V L.L.C. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).
- 10.27+ Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of BREA VI L.L.C., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and certain members of BREA VI L.L.C. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13, 2007).

Exhibit Description

2007).

May 15, 2008).

Exhibit

Number 10.27.1+

10.28

10.29 +

10.30 +

10.31 +

10.36 +

	Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 8, 2008).
10.32+	BMA VI L.L.C. Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement Dated as of July 31, 2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on November 7, 2008).
10.33+	Fourth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of GSO Associates LLC, dated as of March 3, 2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009).
10.34+	Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of GSO Overseas Associates LLC, dated as of March 3, 2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009).
10.35+	Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of GSO Origination Associates LLC, dated as of March 3, 2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009).

10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 8, 2008).

Amendment No. 1 dated as of January 1, 2008 to the Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of BREA VI L.L.C., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and certain members of BREA VI L.L.C. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.26.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter

Associates I L.L.C., dated as of May 31, 2007, by and among Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and certain members of Blackstone Communications Management Associates I L.L.C. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 13,

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of BCLA L.L.C., dated as of April 15, 2008, by and among Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and certain members of BCLA L.L.C. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on

Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Blackstone Real Estate Management Associates Europe III L.P., dated as of June 30, 2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form

Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Associates

L.L.C., dated as of June 30, 2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on

Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Blackstone Communications Management

ended March 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on May 15, 2008).

year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009).

Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of GSO Capital Opportunities Associates LLC, dated as of March 3, 2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

Exhibit Description

Exhibit

 $\frac{\text{Number}}{10.37+}$

10.38 +

10.39 +

10.47* 21.1*

10.40	Credit Agreement dated as of May 5, 2009 among Blackstone Holdings Finance Co. L.L.C., as Borrower, Blackstone Holdings I L.P., Blackstone Holdings III L.P. and Blackstone Holdings IV L.P., as Guarantors, and Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Citigroup Global Markets Inc. and Banc of America Securities LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers, and Banc of America Securities LLC, as Syndication Agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 7, 2009).
10.41+	Blackstone / GSO Capital Solutions Associates LLC Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement Dated as of May 22, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 7, 2009).
10.42+	Blackstone / GSO Capital Solutions Overseas Associates LLC Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement Dated as of July 10, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 7, 2009).
10.43+	Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Associates II L.L.C. Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement Dated as of June 30, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 7, 2009).
10.44+	Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Management Associates Europe L.P. Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership Dated as of June 30, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 7, 2009).
10.45+	BRECA L.L.C. Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on August 7, 2009).
10.46+	The Blackstone Group L.P. Amended and Restated Bonus Deferral Plan Effective November 5, 2009 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-O for the quarter ended September 30, 2009 (File No

Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of GSO Capital Opportunities Overseas Associates LLC, dated as of March 3, 2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for

Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of GSO Liquidity Associates LLC, dated as of March 3,

Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of GSO Liquidity Overseas Associates LLC, dated as of March 3,

2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

2008 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

the year ended December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009).

December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009).

December 31, 2008 (File No. 001-33551) filed with the SEC on March 2, 2009).

001-33551) filed with the SEC on November 6, 2009).

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Blackstone Management Partners IV L.L.C. and 113CS, LLC Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement dated as of February 24, 2010.

Exhibit Number 23.1*	Exhibit Description Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.
31.1*	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
31.2*	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).
32.1*	Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
32.2*	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
99.1*	Statement of Financial Condition of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. as of December 31, 2009 and Independent Auditors' Report.

^{*} Filed herewith.

+ Management contract or compensating plan or arrangement in which directors or executive officers are eligible to participate.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: February 26, 2010

The Blackstone Group L.P.

By: Blackstone Group Management L.L.C.,

its general partner

/s/ Laurence A. Tosi

Name: Laurence A. Tosi Title: Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities on this 26th day of February, 2010.

Signature /s/ Stephen A. Schwarzman Stephen A. Schwarzman	Title Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Hamilton E. James Hamilton E. James	Director
/s/ J. Tomilson Hill J. Tomilson Hill	Director
/s/ Richard Jenrette Richard Jenrette	Director
/s/ Jay O. Light Jay O. Light	Director
/s/ Brian Mulroney Brian Mulroney	Director
/s/ William G. Parrett William G. Parrett	Director
/s/ Laurence A. Tosi Laurence A. Tosi	Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Kathleen Skero Kathleen Skero	Principal Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

AIRCRAFT TIME SHARING AGREEMENT

This Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement ("Agreement") by and between 113CS, LLC a Delaware limited liability company ("Lessor"), and BLACKSTONE MANAGEMENT PARTNERS IV L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company ("Lessee") (collectively the "Parties"), is effective as of February 24, 2010.

WHEREAS, Lessor rightfully possesses the aircraft, equipped with engines and components as described in <u>Exhibit A</u> hereto, (hereinafter, individually or collectively, "Aircraft");

WHEREAS, Lessor has engaged a qualified aircraft management company ("Manager"), to provide a fully qualified flight crew to operate the Aircraft;

WHEREAS, Lessor and Lessee desire to lease the Aircraft on a non-exclusive time-sharing basis as defined in Section 91.501(c)(1) of the Federal Aviation Regulations ("FAR");

WHEREAS, this Agreement sets forth the understanding of the Parties as to the terms under which Lessor will provide Lessee with the use, on a periodic basis, of the Aircraft, operated by Lessor; and

WHEREAS, the use of the Aircraft will at all times be pursuant to, and in full compliance with, the requirements of FAR Part 91, particularly Sections 91.501(b)(6), 91.501(c)(1), and 91.501(d);

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, and for good and valuable consideration set forth below, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Lease of Aircraft.

Lessor agrees to lease the Aircraft to Lessee pursuant to the provisions of FAR Sections 91.501(b)(6), 91.501(c)(1), and 91.501(d) from time to time on a non-exclusive basis and on an "as needed and as available basis" and to provide a fully-qualified flight crew for all operations pursuant to this Agreement.

2. Term and Termination.

The Term of this Agreement shall commence on the date set forth above and shall continue for one (1) year, and automatically renew for additional one (1) year periods, unless either Party provides written notice of non-renewal at least ten (10) days prior to the applicable renewal period. Either Party may terminate this Agreement with respect to any or all of the Aircraft for any reason upon written notice to the other, such termination to become effective ten (10) days from the date of the notice. If not terminated prior to February 25, 2025 this Agreement shall automatically terminate on February 25, 2025.

3. Use of Aircraft.

(a) Lessee may use the Aircraft from time to time for any and all purposes allowed by FAR Section 91.501(b)(6). The Aircraft shall be available to Lessee at all times other than when it is (a) previously scheduled by Lessor or any other operator or time share lessee or (b) otherwise unavailable, such as due to maintenance. Lessee's use shall include the use of the Aircraft by its employees and guests. Lessee shall not accept any compensation or reimbursement whatsoever for any flight conducted under this Agreement.

(b) Lessor, through its agreement with Manager, shall provide to Lessee a qualified flight crew for each flight undertaken pursuant to this Agreement.

4. Lessee's Representations.

- (a) Lessee represents, warrants and covenants to Lessor that:
 - (i) Lessee will use the Aircraft for and on its own account only and will not use the Aircraft for the purposes of providing transportation of passengers or cargo in air commerce for compensation or hire.
 - (ii) Lessee shall not, directly or indirectly, create or incur any kind of lien or security interest on or affecting the Aircraft or do anything or take any action that results in the creation of such a lien, and Lessee shall, at its own expense, promptly take such action as may be necessary to discharge any such lien.
 - (iii) During the term of this Agreement, Lessee will abide by, and conform to, all such laws, governmental, and airport orders, rules, and regulations as shall from time to time be in effect relating in any way to the operation and use of the Aircraft by a time-sharing Lessee.

5. Scheduling.

(a) Lessee shall provide Lessor, or a person designated by Lessor, with notice of its desire to use the Aircraft pursuant to this Agreement and provide proposed flight schedules as far in advance of any given flight as possible, and in any case, at least four (4) hours in advance of Lessee's planned departure. Requests for flight time shall be in a form, whether

Page 3 of 12

written or oral, mutually convenient to, and agreed upon, by the Parties. In addition to the proposed schedules and flight times, Lessee shall provide at least the following information for each proposed flight at some time prior to scheduled departure, as required by the Lessor or Lessor's flight crew:

- 1. proposed departure point;
- 2. destination;
- 3. date and time of flight;
- 4. the number and identity of anticipated passengers;
- 5. the nature and extent of luggage and/or cargo to be carried;
- 6. the date and time of return flight, if any; and
- 7. any other information concerning the proposed flight that may be required by Lessor or Lessor's flight crew.
- (b) Lessor shall have final authority over the scheduling of the Aircraft and each use of the Aircraft by the Lessee shall be subject to Lessor's prior written approval, which may be by e-mail.
- (c) Lessee agrees that when, in the reasonable view of Lessor, Manager or the pilots of the Aircraft, safety may be compromised, Lessor or the pilots may terminate a flight, refuse to commence a flight, or take other action necessitated by such safety considerations without liability for loss, injury, damage, or delay.
- (d) Lessor shall not be liable to Lessee or any other person for loss, injury, or damage occasioned by the delay or failure to furnish the Aircraft and pilots pursuant to this Agreement for any reason.

Page 4 of 12

6. Maintenance.

- (a) Lessor shall be solely responsible for securing maintenance, preventive maintenance, and required or otherwise necessary inspections on the Aircraft and shall take such requirements into account in scheduling flights of the various Aircraft.
- (b) In the event of a loss or casualty occurrence, Lessor shall not be required to repair the Aircraft. If any of the Aircraft become unavailable due to loss or casualty, either Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement with respect to such Aircraft by written notice to the other Party.

7. Expenses for Use of Aircraft.

- (a) In exchange for use of the Aircraft, for each flight undertaken pursuant to this Agreement, Lessee shall pay Lessor the direct operating costs of the Aircraft as authorized by FAR Section 91.501(d) as it may be amended from time to time. As of the date hereof, as provided in FAR Section 91.501(d), those direct operating costs shall be limited to the following actual expenses for each use of the Aircraft:
 - (1) Cost of fuel, oil, lubricants and other additives;
 - (2) Travel expenses of the crew, including food, lodging, and ground transportation;
 - (3) Hangar and tie-down costs away from the Aircraft's base of operation;
 - (4) Insurance obtained for the specific flight;
 - (5) Landing fees, airport taxes, and similar assessments;
 - (6) Customs, foreign permit, and similar fees directly related to the flight;
 - (7) In-flight food and beverages;
 - (8) Passenger ground transportation;

Page 5 of 12

- (9) Flight planning and weather contract services; and.
- (10) An additional charge equal to one hundred percent of the expenses listed in sub-paragraph (1) of this Section.

8. Taxes for Use of Aircraft and Reimbursement for Expenses.

The Parties acknowledge that, with the exception of the expenses for in-flight food and beverages and passenger ground transportation, the payment of expenses set forth in Section 7 hereof is subject to the federal excise tax imposed under Section 4261 of the Internal Revenue Code, and any segment and landing fees associated with such flight(s). Lessee shall reimburse Lessor for such expenses and shall pay to Lessor the amount of such taxes within thirty (30) days of receipt of the applicable invoice as provided for in Section 9 hereof. Lessor agrees to collect and remit to the Internal Revenue Service, for the benefit of Lessee, all such federal excise taxes.

9. Invoicing and Payment.

Lessor will pay all expenses related to the operation of each Aircraft when incurred and will provide quarterly invoices to Lessee for the expenses enumerated in Section 7 and Section 8 above. Lessee shall pay Lessor for these expenses within thirty (30) days after receipt of the related invoice.

10. Insurance.

The risk of loss during the period when any Aircraft is operated on behalf of Lessee under this Agreement shall remain with Lessor, and Lessor will retain all rights and benefits with respect to the proceeds payable under policies of hull insurance maintained by Lessor that may be payable as a result of any incident or occurrence while an Aircraft is being operated on behalf of Lessee under this Agreement. Lessee and its members, officers and directors shall be named as additional insureds on liability insurance policies maintained by Lessor on the Aircraft with respect to flights conducted pursuant to this Agreement. The liability

Page 6 of 12

insurance policies on which Lessee and Lessee's members, officers and directors are named additional insureds shall provide that as to Lessee and Lessee's members', officers' and directors' coverage shall not be invalidated or adversely affected by any action or inaction, omission or misrepresentation by Lessor or any other person (other than Lessee). Any hull insurance policies maintained by Lessor on any Aircraft used by Lessee under this Agreement shall include a waiver of any rights of subrogation of the insurers against Lessee and Lessee's members, officers and directors.

11. Indemnity.

Lessor assumes and shall bear the entire risk of loss, theft, confiscation, damage to, or destruction of any Aircraft. Lessor shall release, indemnify, defend and hold harmless Lessee and its respective officers, directors, partners, employees, shareholders from and against any and all losses, liabilities, claims, judgments, damages, fines, penalties, deficiencies and expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys fees and expenses) incurred or suffered by Lessee on account of a claim or action made or instituted by a third person arising out of or resulting from operations of any Aircraft hereunder and/or any services provided by Lessor to Lessee hereunder, except to the extent attributable to the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Lessee or Lessee's guests on any Aircraft.

This Section 11 shall survive termination of this Agreement.

12. No Warranty.

NEITHER LESSOR (NOR ITS AFFILIATES OR AGENTS) MAKES, HAS MADE, OR SHALL BE DEEMED TO MAKE OR HAVE MADE, ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WRITTEN OR ORAL, WITH RESPECT TO ANY AIRCRAFT TO BE USED HEREUNDER OR ANY ENGINE OR COMPONENT THEREOF INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY WARRANTY AS TO DESIGN, COMPLIANCE WITH SPECIFICATIONS,

QUALITY OF MATERIALS OR WORKMANSHIP, MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR ANY PURPOSE, USE OR OPERATION, AIRWORTHINESS.

13. Operational Control.

"Operational Control" means the exercise of authority over initiating, conducting, or terminating a flight, subject to the pilot-in-command's authority for all safety of flight matters. It includes the authority to determine when the Aircraft shall be operated, where it shall be operated, and the passengers and/or cargo who or which shall be carried. IT IS HEREBY AGREED AND ACKNOWLEDGED BETWEEN LESSOR AND LESSEE THAT DURING ALL PHASES OF FLIGHTS CONDUCTED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, LESSOR SHALL RETAIN AND HAVE (I) OPERATIONAL CONTROL OF THE AIRCRAFT, AND (II) POSSESSION, COMMAND AND CONTROL OF THE AIRCRAFT. In addition, Lessor further acknowledges operational control by exercising Lessor's authority over initiating, conducting and terminating each flight.

14. Governing Law.

THE PARTIES HERETO ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ALL RESPECTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SUBSTANTIVE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CONNECTICUT (WITHOUT REGARD TO ITS CHOICE OF LAWS RULES).

15. Entire Agreement; Amendment.

This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the Parties hereto with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Any provision of this Agreement may only be amended, modified or supplemented in whole or in part at any time by an agreement in writing between the Parties executed in the same manner as this Agreement

Page 8 of 12

16. Supersedes Prior Agreements.

This Agreement expressly supersedes any prior written or oral understandings or agreements between the Parties with respect to any Aircraft.

17. Notices and Communications.

Unless otherwise expressly designated by the Parties, all notices or other communications delivered or given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to be duly given if sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, or in the event of an emergency, by telegraph, e-mail, or telecopy, as follows:

If to Lessee

113CS, LLC BLACKSTONE MANAGEMENT PARTNERS IV

L.L.C.

Waterbury-Oxford Airport
288 Christian St.
345 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10154

Suite 10

Oxford, CT 06478

 Attn.: John A Magliano
 Attn.: John A. Magliano

 Telephone: (212)583-5794
 Telephone: (212) 583-5794

 Facsimile: (212) 583-5692
 Facsimile: (212) 583-5692

E-Mail: Magliano@blackstone.com E-Mail: Magliano@blackstone.com

18. Successors and Assigns.

Neither this Agreement nor any Party's interest herein shall be assignable to any other Party whatsoever. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties hereto, their heirs, representatives and successors.

19. Severability.

If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

Page 9 of 12

20. No Waiver.

The failure of a Party to require performance of any provision of this Agreement shall in no way affect that Party's right thereafter to enforce such provision nor shall the waiver by a Party of any breach of any provision of this Agreement be taken or held to be a waiver of any further breach of the same provision or any other provision.

21. Base of Operations.

For purposes of this Agreement, the base of operation of the Aircraft is Waterbury-Oxford Airport, Oxford, Connecticut; provided, that such base may be changed by Lessor at any time during the term hereof.

22. Counterparts.

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts each of which will be deemed an original, all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement.

23. Truth-in-Leasing.

The Lessee shall mail a copy of this Agreement for and on behalf of both Parties to: Flight Standards Technical Division, P.O. Box 25724, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73125, within twenty-four (24) hours of its execution, as provided by FAR 91.23(c)(1).

Lessor agrees to comply with the notification requirements of FAR Section 91.23 by notifying by telephone or in person the FAA Flight Standards District Office nearest the airport from which the first flight under this Agreement with respect to each Aircraft shall originate at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to such first flight and to place a copy of this Agreement on each Aircraft prior to the first flight conducted under this Agreement for such Aircraft.

Page 10 of 12

- (a) LESSOR CERTIFIES THAT EACH AIRCRAFT HAS BEEN INSPECTED AND MAINTAINED WITHIN THE TWELVE MONTH PERIOD PRECEDING THE DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF PART 91, OF THE FEDERAL AVIATION REGULATIONS AND THAT ALL APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS FOR EACH AIRCRAFT'S MAINTENANCE AND INSPECTION THEREUNDER HAVE BEEN MET AND ARE VALID FOR THE OPERATIONS TO BE CONDUCTED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT.
- (b) LESSOR, WHOSE ADDRESS APPEARS IN SECTION 16 HEREOF AND WHOSE AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE APPEARS BELOW, AGREES, CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT WHENEVER AN AIRCRAFT IS OPERATED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, LESSOR SHALL BE KNOWN AS, CONSIDERED AND SHALL IN FACT BE THE OPERATOR OF THE AIRCRAFT AND THAT LESSOR UNDERSTANDS ITS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL AVIATION REGULATIONS.
- (c) THE PARTIES UNDERSTAND THAT AN EXPLANATION OF FACTORS AND PERTINENT FEDERAL AVIATION REGULATIONS BEARING ON OPERATIONAL CONTROL CAN BE OBTAINED FROM THE NEAREST FAA FLIGHT STANDARDS DISTRICT OFFICE.

(The remainder of this page intentionally left blank.)

Page 11 of 12

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have each caused this Agreement to be duly executed on February 24, 2010.

113CS, LLC as Lessor

/s/ John A. Magliano Name: John A. Magliano

Title: Secretary

BLACKSTONE MANAGEMENT PARTNERS IV L.L.C. as

Lessee

By: Blackstone Holdings I L.P., its Sole Member

By: Blackstone Holdings I/II GP Inc., its General Partner

/s/ John A. Magliano

Name: John A. Magliano Title: Assistant Secretary

Page 12 of 12

EXHIBIT A

Aircraft 1

Aircraft Make and Model: Gulfstream G-IV 1049

Aircraft Serial Number:

Rolls-Royce TAY MK 610-8 Engines Make and Model: Engine Serial Numbers: 16205 (left); 16206 (right)

Aircraft 2*

Aircraft Make and Model: Bombardier Global Express XRS

Aircraft Serial Number: 9354

Rolls-Royce BR710 Engines Make and Model:

Engine Serial Numbers: 12821 (left) and 12822 (right)

This Agreement shall be effective with respect to Aircraft 2 upon the date this Aircraft 2 is acquired by Lessor.

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

The following are subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group L.P. as of December 31, 2009 and the jurisdictions in which they are organized.

	Jurisdiction of
	Incorporation
<u>Name</u>	or Organization
Altius Associates LLC	Delaware
AMN Advisors, LLC	Delaware
Axios Holdings S.à.r.l.	Luxembourg
BCA IV-NQ L.L.C.	Delaware
BCCA I - NQ L.L.C.	Delaware
BCLO Advisors L.L.C.	Delaware
BCOM Side-by-Side GP LLC	Delaware
BCP IV GP LLC	Delaware
BCP IV Side-By-Side GP LLC	Delaware
BCP SGP IV GP LLC	Delaware
BCP V GP LLC	Delaware
BCP V Side-by-Side GP LLC	Delaware
BCP V USS Side-by-Side GP LLC	Delaware
BCP V-NQ GP LLC	Delaware
BDA Funding L.P.	Delaware
BG(HK) L Holdings L.L.C.	Delaware
BGAL Holdings L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone / GSO Capital Solutions Associates LLC	Delaware
Blackstone / GSO Capital Solutions Overseas Associates LLC	Delaware
Blackstone Administrative Services Partnership L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Advisors India Private Limited	India
Blackstone Advisory Services L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Advisory Services L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Alternative Asset Management Associates L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Alternative Asset Management L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Altius Advisors LLC (Cayman)	Cayman
Blackstone Altius Advisors LLC (BX)	Delaware
Blackstone Altius Advisors LLC (US)	Delaware
Blackstone Altius Associates LLC	Delaware
Blackstone Altius L/S Associates LLC (BX)	Delaware
Blackstone Asia Advisors L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Asia Opportunities Associates L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Capital Associates IV-NQ L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Capital Commitment Partners III L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Capital Commitment Partners IV - NQ L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Cleantech Venture Advisors L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Cleantech Venture Associates L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Communications Advisors I L.L.C.	Delaware
	Delaware
Blackstone Communications Capital Associates I-NQ L.P.	
Blackstone Communications Capital Commitment Partners I-NQ L.P. Blackstone Communications FCC L.L.C.	Delaware
	Delaware
Blackstone Communications GP LLC	Delaware
Blackstone Communications Management Associates (Cayman) L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone Communications Management Associates FCC L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Communications Management Associates I - NQ L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Communications Management Associates I L.L.C.	Delaware

Blackstone Corporate Debt Administration L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Credit Liquidity Associates (Cayman) L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone Credit Liquidity Associates L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone DD Advisors L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone DD Associates L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Debt Advisors L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Debt Orig Assoc L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Debt Origination LP	Delaware
Blackstone Distressed Securities Advisors L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Distressed Securities Associates L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Distressed Securities Fund L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone DL Mezzanine Associates L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone DL Mezzanine Holdings L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone DL Mezzanine Management Associates L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone DO Associates L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Communications FCC-NQ L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Communications Partnership (Cayman) L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone Family Communications Partnership I L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Family GP L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership (Cayman) III L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership (Cayman) IV L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership (Cayman) L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership (Cayman) V L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership (Cayman) V-NQ LP	Cayman
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership FCC - NQ L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership FCC L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership II L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership III L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership IV L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership SGP (Cayman) IV L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership V L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Investment Partnership V USS L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Media Partnership III L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Real Estate Partnership II L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Real Estate Partnership III L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Family Real Estate Partnership L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone FC Capital Associates IV L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone FC Capital Commitment Partners IV L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone FC Communications Capital Associates I L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone FC Communications Capital Commitment Partners L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone FI Capital Commitment Partners (Cayman) III L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone FI Communications Associates (Cayman) Ltd.	Cayman
Blackstone FI Mezzanine (Cayman) Ltd.	Cayman
Blackstone FI Mezzanine Associates (Cayman) L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone FI Mezzanine Holdings (Cayman) L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone Financial Services Inc. (trademark)	Delaware
Blackstone Fund Services India Private Limited	India
Blackstone Group Holdings L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Group Holdings L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Group International Ltd - Paris	France Delaware
Blackstone Group Limited Partner L.L.C.	Delaware Delaware
Blackstone Group Management L.L.C.	Delawale

Blackstone Group Real Estate Holdings International (Alberta) L.P. Alberta Blackstone Group Real Estate Holdings International (Alberta) L.P. IV Alberta Blackstone Holdings Finance Co LLC Delaware Blackstone Holdings I L.P. Delaware Blackstone Holdings I/II GP Inc. Delaware Blackstone Holdings I/II Limited Partner Inc. Delaware Blackstone Holdings II L.P. Delaware Blackstone Holdings III GP L.P. Delaware Blackstone Holdings III GP Limited Partner L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Holdings III GP Management L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Holdings III L.P. (Quebec SEC) Quebec Blackstone Holdings IV GP L.P. (Quebec SEC) Ouebec Blackstone Holdings IV GP Limited Partner L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Holdings IV GP Management (Delaware) L.P. Delaware Blackstone Holdings IV GP Management L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Holdings IV L.P. (Quebec SEC) Ouebec Blackstone Intermediate Funding L.P. Delaware Blackstone Kailix Advisors L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Kailix Associates L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Korea Advisors LLC Korea Blackstone Korea Advisors Ltd Korea Blackstone L/S Advisors L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone L/S Associates L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone LR Associates (Cayman) IV Ltd. Cayman Blackstone LR Associates (Cayman) V Ltd. Cayman Blackstone LR Associates (Cayman) V-NQ Ltd. Cayman Blackstone Management Associates (Cayman) IV L.P. Cayman Blackstone Management Associates (Cayman) V L.P. Cayman Blackstone Management Associates (Cayman) V-NQ LLC Cayman Delaware Blackstone Management Associates IV FCC L.L.C. Blackstone Management Associates IV L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Management Associates IV-NQ L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Management Associates V LLC Delaware Blackstone Management Associates V USS LLC Delaware Blackstone Management Partners GP L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Management Partners III L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Management Partners IV L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Management Partners L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Management Partners L.P. Delaware Blackstone Media Capital Commitment Partners III L.P. Delaware Blackstone Mezzanine Advisors II L.P. Delaware Blackstone Mezzanine Advisors L.P. Delaware Blackstone Mezzanine Associates II L.P. Delaware Blackstone Mezzanine Associates II USS L.P. Delaware Blackstone Mezzanine Associates L.P. Delaware Blackstone Mezzanine GP LLC Delaware Blackstone Mezzanine Holdings II L.P. Delaware Blackstone Mezzanine Holdings II USS L.P. Delaware Blackstone Mezzanine Holdings L.P. Delaware Blackstone Mezzanine Management Associates II L.L.C. Delaware Blackstone Mezzanine Management Associates II USS L.L.C. Delaware

Delaware

Blackstone Mezzanine Management Associates L.L.C.

Blackstone Participation Partners Cayman IV L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone Participation Partners Cayman V L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone Participation Partners FCC - NQ LP	Delaware
Blackstone Participation Partners FCC L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Participation Partners IV L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Participation Partners USS V L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Participation Partners V L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Participation Partnership (Cayman) V-NQ LP	Cayman
Blackstone Partners L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone PB I L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone PB II L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Property Management L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Property Management Limited	United Kingdom
Blackstone Property Management S.Ä.R.L.	France
Blackstone RE Capital Commitment Partners III L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate (Cayman) IV Ltd.	Cayman
Blackstone Real Estate (Cayman) V Ltd.	Cayman
Blackstone Real Estate (Cayman) VI - Q Ltd.	Cayman
Blackstone Real Estate (Cayman) VI Ltd.	Cayman
Blackstone Real Estate Advisors Europe L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Advisors III L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Advisors International L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Advisors IV L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Advisors L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Advisors V L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Advisors VI L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates (Alberta) IV L.P.	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Associates (Offshore) V L.P.	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Associates (Offshore) VI - Q L.P.	Alberta Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Associates (Offshore) VI L.P. Blackstone Real Estate Associates Europe (Delaware) III - NQ L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates Europe (Delaware) III - NQ L.L.C. Blackstone Real Estate Associates Europe (Delaware) III L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates Europe (Delawate) III L.L.C. Blackstone Real Estate Associates Europe III - NQ L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates Europe III L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates International (Delaware) II L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates International (Delaware) II L.L.C. Blackstone Real Estate Associates International (Delaware) L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates International II L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates International L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates IV - NQ L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates IV L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates V - NQ L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates V L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates VI - NQ L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Associates VI L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Capital Commitment Partners III L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate CMBS Associates LLC	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Europe (Cayman) III - NQ Ltd.	Cayman
Blackstone Real Estate Europe (Cayman) III Ltd.	Cayman
Blackstone Real Estate Europe Limited	United Kingdom
Blackstone Real Estate France SAS	France
Plackstone Deal Estate Heldings Europe III NO LD	Albarta

Alberta

Blackstone Real Estate Holdings Europe III - NQ L.P.

Plackstone Peak Estate Heldings Evyone III I. D.	Albanta
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings Europe III L.P. Blackstone Real Estate Holdings II L.P.	Alberta Delaware
	Delaware Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings III L.P. Blackstone Real Estate Holdings International - A L.P.	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings International II - Q L.P.	Alberta
	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings International II L.P.	Alberta Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings IV - NQ L.P.	
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings IV (Alberta) L.P.	Alberta Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings IV L.P.	Delaware Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings L.P.	
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings V - NQ L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings V (Offshore) L.P.	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings V L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings VI - NQ L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings VI (Offshore) - Q L.P.	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings VI (Offshore) L.P.	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Holdings VI L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Management Associates Europe III - NQ L.P.	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Management Associates Europe III L.P.	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Management Associates International II L.P.	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Management Associates International L.P.	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Partners Holdings Ltd.	United Kingdom
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations (Alberta) II GP L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Advisors L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Associates Europe (Delaware) L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Associates Europe L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Associates II L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Associates II-NQ LLC	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Associates L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Europe (Cayman) Ltd.	Cayman
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Europe GP L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Europe GP L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Holdings Europe L.P.	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Holdings II L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Holdings II-NQ L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Management Associates Europe L.P.	Alberta
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations Side-by-Side GP L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Real Estate Special Situations-NQ Side-by-Side GP L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Services Mauritius II Ltd.	Mauritius
Blackstone Services Mauritius Ltd.	Mauritius
Blackstone SGP Associates (Cayman) IV Ltd.	Cayman
Blackstone SGP Management Associates (Cayman) IV L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone SGP Participation Partners Cayman IV L.P.	Cayman
Blackstone Strategic Alliance Advisors L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Strategic Alliance Associates L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Strategic Alliance Fund L.P.	Delaware
Blackstone TWF Family Investment Partnership L.P.	Delaware
BMA V L.L.C.	Delaware

Delaware

Delaware

BMA V USS L.L.C.

BMEZ Advisors II L.L.C.

BMEZ Advisors L.L.C. Delaware BMP DL Side-by-Side GP LLC Delaware BMP II Side-by-Side GP LLC Delaware BMP II USS Side-by-Side GP LLC Delaware BMP Side-by-Side GP LLC Delaware BRE Advisors Europe L.L.C. Delaware BRE Advisors III II.L.C. Delaware BRE Advisors IV L.L.C. Delaware BRE Advisors VI.L.C. Delaware BRE ADVISOR VI.L.C. Delaware BRE ALD ADVISOR VI.L.C. Delaware BREA INCREDIATION OF CANNON CAyman BREA INCREDIATION OF CANNON CAYMAN BREA ADVISOR Delaware BREA ADVISOR		
BMP DL Side-by-Side GP LLC BMP II SISS -y-Side GP LLC BMP II SISS -y-Side GP LLC BMP SIGE-by-Side GP LLC BRE Advisors Europe L.L.C. BRE Advisors Europe L.L.C. BRE Advisors III L.L.C. BRE Advisors III L.L.C. BRE Advisors III LLLC. BRE Advisors III LLLC. BRE Advisors III LLLC. BRE Advisors IV L.L.C. BRE Advisors VLL.C. BRE ADVISOR AND BRE	BMEZ Advisors L. L. C	Delaware
BMP II USS die -by-Side GP LLC Delaware BMP Side-by-Side GP LLC Delaware BRE Advisors Europe LL C. Delaware BRE Advisors III LL.C Delaware BRE Advisors III LL.C. Delaware BRE Advisors IV LL.C. Delaware BRE Advisors VL.L.C. Delaware BREA Connecticut Managers, L.L.C. Delaware BREA International (Cayman) ILd. Cayman BREA IV.L.C. Delaware BREA IV. D.L.C. Delaware BREA IV. D.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. Delaware		
BMP IUSS Side OP LLC Delaware BMF Side-by-Side GP LLC Delaware BRE Advisors Europe LLC. Delaware BRE Advisors International LLC. Delaware BRE Advisors International LLC. Delaware BRE Advisors VL.L.C. Delaware BRE Advisors VL.L.C. Delaware BRE Advisors VL.L.C. Delaware BRE Advisors VL.L.C. Delaware BRE Associates International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BREA Connecticut Managers, LL.C. Delaware BREA International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BREA Management of California LL.C. Delaware BREA Management of California LL.C. Delaware BREA Management of Olio Cayman II Ltd. Delaware BREA Management of New York LL.C. Delaware BREA Management of Olio LL.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York LL.C. Delaware <t< td=""><td></td><td></td></t<>		
BMP Side-bys-Side GP LLC Delaware BRE Advisors III LL.C Delaware BRE Advisors III LL.C. Delaware BRE Advisors IV LL.C. Delaware BRE Advisors VI LL.C. Delaware BRE Europe Ltd United Kingdom BREA Connecticut Managers, LL.C. Delaware BREA International (Cayman) ILd. Cayman BREA International (Cayman) Ld. Cayman BREA IN LL.C. Delaware BREA Management of California LL.C. Delaware BREA Management of Georgia LL.C. Delaware BREA Management of Official LL.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York LL.C. Delaware BREA Management of Official LL.C. Delaware BREA Management of Georgia LL.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia LL.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia LL.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Dicula LL.C. Delaware BREA Property Managem		
BRE Advisors Furope L.L.C. BRE Advisors II L.L.C. BRE Advisors IV L.L.C. BRE Advisors V I.L.C. BRE Associates International (Cayman) II Ltd. BRE Associates International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BRE Associates International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BREA Conscience International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BREA IV - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Official L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Official L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts I.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts I.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts I.C. Delaware BREA Property Managem		
BRE Advisors III L.I.C. Delaware BRE Advisors V L.I.C. Delaware BRE Advisors V L.L.C. Delaware BRE Europe Lod United Kingdom BREA International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BREA International (Cayman) Ltd. Cayman BREA International (Cayman) Ltd. Cayman BREA IN L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Work L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. Del		
BRE Advisors International L.L.C. BRE Advisors V L.L.C. BRE Associates International (Cayman) II Ltd. BRE Europe Ltd BRE Europe Ltd BREA Concenteut Managers, L.L.C. Bolaware BREA International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BREA International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BREA International (Cayman) Ltd. Cayman BREA IV - NQ L.L.C. BOLaware BREA IV - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA IV - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Grogia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Dio L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Dio L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Cappia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Cappia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Bliniois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Milniois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Dio L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Milniois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Dio L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Milniois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Milniois L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Delaware		
BRE Advisors V L.L.C. Delaware BRE Advisors V I L.C. Delaware BRE Advisors V I L.C. Delaware BRE Expected Cayman BRE Europe Ltd United Kingdom BREA Connecticut Managers, L.L.C. Delaware BREA International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BREA I International (Cayman) Ltd. Cayman BREA I V NO, L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Work L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Work L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Dilois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois In.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Willinois In.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts In.C. Delaware BREA Property Managemen		
BRE Advisors VI.L.C. Delaware BRE Associates International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BRE Europe Ltd United Kingdom BREA Cassociates International (Cayman) II Ltd. Delaware BREA International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BREA International (Cayman) Ltd. Cayman BREA International (Cayman) Ltd. Delaware BREA IN V. NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Goorgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Milnois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Marsachusetts Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Michiga		
BRE Advisors VI LL.C. Delaware BRE Exope Ltd United Kingdom BREA Connecticut Managers, L.L.C. Delaware BREA International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BREA International (Cayman) Ltd. Cayman BREA IV L.L.C. Delaware BREA IV V. NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Coorgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Illinois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Florinia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Onio L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Colifornia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Colifornia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Goorgia Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Goorgia Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of New York L.C. <td< td=""><td></td><td></td></td<>		
BRE Europe Lid Cayman DRE Europe Lid Cinited Kingdom BRE A Connecticut Managers, L.L.C. Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware DREA International (Cayman) IL Ltd. Delaware Cayman DREA International (Cayman) Ltd. Cayman BREA International (Cayman) Ltd. Cayman BREA IN - NQ L.L.C. Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware DREA IN L.C. Delaware Delaware DREA IN L.C. Delaware Delaware DREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware Delaware Delaware DREA Management of Florinia L.L.C. Delaware Delaware Delaware DREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware Delaware Delaware DREA Management of Not L.L.C. Delaware Delaware DREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware Delaware Delaware DREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. Delaware Delaware Delaware DREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. Delaware Delaware Delaware DREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. Delaware Delaware Delaware DREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. Delaware Delaware Delaware DREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. Delaware Delaware Delaware DREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware DREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware Dela		
BRE Europe Ltd United Kingdom BREA Connecticut Managers, L.L.C. Delaware BREA International (Cayman) ILtd. Cayman BREA IN CAULC. Delaware BREA IV L.L.C. Delaware BREA MIN CAULC. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Illinois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Onio L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware </td <td></td> <td></td>		
BREA Connecticut Managers, LL.C. BREA International (Cayman) II Ltd. Cayman BREA International (Cayman) Ltd. Cayman BREA IV - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA IV - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA A Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Illinois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Illinois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Provide L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Provide L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Provide L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Elinoid L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of New York L		
BREA International (Cayman) ILLd. BREA International (Cayman) Ltd. BREA IV - NQ L.L.C. BREA IV L.L.C. BREA IV L.L.C. BREA RIV L.L.C. BREA Management of California L.L.C. BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. BREA Management of Illinois L.L.C. BREA Management of Illinois L.L.C. BREA Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Management of Folio L.L.C. BREA Management of Folio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Wichigan L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Wichigan L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Nork L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Nork L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Nork L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA PROPERTY Management of Pennsylvania L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA PROPERTY MARGEMENT MARG		
BREA International (Cayman) Ltd. BREA IV - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA IV L.L.C. Delaware BREA IV L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Illinois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Ohio L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Ellinois Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Way York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virgina L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virgina L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Delaware BREA V.L.L.C. Delaware BREA BREA V.L.L.C. Delaware BREA PROPERTY Management OP P.D. BREA PROPERTY Management OP P.D. BREA PROPERTY Management OP P.D. BREA PROPERTY MARAGEMENT OF P.D. BREA PROPERTY MARA		
BREA IV - NQ L.L.C. BREA IV L.L.C. BREA Management of California L.L.C. BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. BREA Management of Milnios L.L.C. BREA Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Management of Divide L.L.C. BREA Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Mirayland L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Delaware BREA V.L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Delaware BREA V.L.L.C. Delaware BREA V.L.L.C. Delaware BREA V.L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Delaware BREA V.L.L.C. Delaware BREA V.L.L.C.		
BREA IV L.L.C. BREA Management of California L.L.C. BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. BREA Management of Illinois L.L.C. BREA Management of Illinois L.L.C. BREA Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Management of Ohio L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Belaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Nichigan L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA V. N.Q. L.L.C. Delaware BREA VI.L.C. Delaware B		•
BREA Management of California L.L.C. BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of Hilmois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA V.L.L.C. Delaware BREA V.L.C. Delaware BREA V.L.C		
BREA Management of Georgia L.L.C. BREA Management of Illinois L.L.C. BREA Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Illinois L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Marsiachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaw		
BREA Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Management of Ohio L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Illinois L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Messachusetts L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Messachusetts L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V I.L.C. Delaware		
BREA Management of New York LL.C. BREA Management of California L.L.C. BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Georgia lnc. BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts LL.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Ohio L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Belaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Belaware BREA W - NQ L.C. Belaware BREA W - NQ L.C. Belawa		
BREA Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. BELA Property Management of Georgia Inc. BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. BELA Property Management of Ellinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Nichigan L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Nichigan L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V I.L.C. Delaware BREA VI.L.C. Delaware BREA III L.P. Delaware BREAI III L.P. Delaware BREMAI II L.P. Delaware BREMAI II L.P. Delaware BREMAI II L.P. Delaware BREMED Delaware BREMAI II L.P. Delaware BREMAI II L.P. Delaware BREMED Delaware BREMAI II L.P. Delaware BREMAI II L.P. Delaware BREMED Delaware BREMAI II L.P. Delaware		
BREA Property Management of California L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Missachusetts L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V I.L.C. Delaware BREA V I.L.C. Delaware BREA VI.L.C. Delaware BREA VI.L.C. Delaware BREA VI.L.C. Delaware BREA VI.L.C. Delaware BREA III L.P. BREAELI II L.P. Delaware BREALI II L.P. Delaware BREMAI II NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C.		
BREA Property Management of Florida L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Nichigan L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Nichigan L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Ohio L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V I.L.C. Delaware BREA V I.L.C. Delaware BREA V I.L.C. Delaware BREA III L.P. Delaware BREAI II L.P. Delaware BREMAI II L.P. Delaware BREMAI II L.P. BREME BREMAI II L.P. Delaware BREMAI II NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREMAI II NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREME BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III OP L.L.C. Delaware		
BREA Property Management of Georgia Inc. BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. Belaware BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Missachusetts L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Missachusetts L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Ohio L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V I.L.C. Delaware BREA VI.L.C. Delaware BREA VI.L.C. Delaware BREA III L.P. Delaware BREAI III L.P. Delaware BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREM III L.P. Delaware BREM III NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREM III NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III ON GP L.L.C.		
BREA Property Management of Georgia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V I.L.C. Delaware BREA VI L.L.C. Delaware BREA VI L.L.C. Delaware BREAI II L.P. Delaware BREAI II L.P. Delaware BREAI II L.P. Delaware BREMAI II L.P. Delaware BREMED L.L.C. Delaware BREMAI II L.P. Delaware		
BREA Property Management of Illinois Inc. BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts LL.C. Delaware BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V I - N.Q. L.L.C. Delaware BREA VI - N.Q. L.L.C. Delaware BREA III L.P. BREAI III L.P. BREMA III - N.Q. GP L.L.C. Delaware BREMA III - N.Q. GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. Delaware		
BREA Property Management of Illinois L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V L.L.C. BREA V I.L.C. Delaware BREA VI - N.Q. L.L.C. Delaware BREA VI L.L.C. Delaware BREA III L.P. BREAI III L.P. BREMA III L.P. BREMA III L.P. BREP Europe IIII - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe IIII - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe IIII - NQ GP L.P. Delaware BREP Europe IIII - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe IIII - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe IIII - NQ GP L.L.C.		
BREA Property Management of Maryland L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA V - NQ L.L.C. BREA V L.L.C. BREA V L.L.C. BREA VI L.L.C. BREA VI L.L.C. Delaware BREA VI L.L.C. Delaware BREA I II L.P. BREA I II L.P. BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREM I II.P. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C.		
BREA Property Management of Massachusetts Inc. BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V L.L.C. Delaware BREA VI L.L.C. Delaware BREA VI L.L.C. Delaware BREAI II L.P. BREAI II L.P. Delaware BREAI II L.P. BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREM LI.C. Delaware		
BREA Property Management of Massachusetts L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. Delaware BREA V I.L.C. Delaware BREA VI.L.C. Delaware BREA VI I.L.C. Delaware BREAI (Delaware) II L.L.C. Delaware BREAI II L.P. BREAI II L.P. BREAL LLC BREMAI II L.P. BREMELLC. BREMAI II L.P. BREME Urope III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C.		
BREA Property Management of Michigan L.L.C. BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA V. N.Q. L.L.C. BREA V. N.Q. L.L.C. BREA VI.L.C. BREA VI.L.C. BREA VI.L.C. BREA VI.L.C. BREA VI.L.C. BREA VI.L.C. BOElaware BREA II L.P. BREAI II L.P. BREAL II L.P. BREM L.L.C. BREM L.L.C. BREMAL II L.P. BREM L.L.C. BREM L.L.C. BREMAL II L.P. BREM L.L.C. BREM L.L.C. BREMAL II L.P. BREM L.L.C. BREM L.L.C		
BREA Property Management of New York L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. Delaware BREA V - NQ L.L.C. BREA V L.L.C. Delaware BREA V L.L.C. Delaware BREA VI - N.Q. L.L.C. Delaware BREA VI L.L.C. Delaware BREA II L.P. BREAI II L.P. BREAI II L.P. BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREM LI II L.P. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware		
BREA Property Management of Ohio L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA V - NQ L.L.C. BREA V - NQ L.L.C. BREA V L.L.C. BREA V I.L.C. BREA VI.L.C. BREA VI.L.C. Delaware BREA VI.L.C. Delaware BREA VI.L.C. Delaware BREAI (Delaware) II L.L.C. Delaware BREAI II L.P. BRECA LLC BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREM L.L.C. BREM L.L.C. BREM L.L.C. BREM L.L.C. BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C.		
BREA Property Management of Pennsylvania L.L.C. BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA V - NQ L.L.C. BREA V L.L.C. BREA V L.L.C. BREA VI - N.Q. L.L.C. BREA VI - N.Q. L.L.C. BREA VI L.L.C. BREA VI L.L.C. BREAI (Delaware) II L.L.C. BREAI (Delaware) II L.L.C. BREAI II L.P. BREAI II L.P. BRECA LLC BREM L.L.C. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P.		
BREA Property Management of Virginia L.L.C. BREA V - NQ L.L.C. BREA V L.L.C. BREA V L.L.C. BREA VI - N.Q. L.L.C. BREA VI L.L.C. BREA VI L.L.C. BREA VI L.L.C. BREA VI L.L.C. Delaware BREAI (Delaware) II L.L.C. BREAI II L.P. BREAI II L.P. BRECA LLC BREM L.L.C. Delaware		
BREA V - NQ L.L.C. BREA V L.L.C. BREA V L.L.C. BREA VI - N.Q. L.L.C. BREA VI L.L.C. BREA VI L.L.C. BREA I (Delaware) II L.L.C. BREAI II L.P. BRECA LLC BREM L.L.C. BREM L.L.C. BREM II L.P. BREM LI L.C. Delaware BREM LI L.C. Delaware BREM LI L.C. Delaware BREM LI L.P. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware		
BREA V L.L.C. BREA VI - N.Q. L.L.C. BREA VI L.L.C. BREAI (Delaware) II L.L.C. BREAI II L.P. BRECA LLC BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREM Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. BREP Europe III GP L.L.C. Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware		
BREA VI - N.Q. L.L.C. BREA VI L.L.C. BREAI (Delaware) II L.L.C. BREAI II L.P. BRECA LLC BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREM LI L.P. Delaware BREM LI L.P. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. Delaware BREP Europe III GP L.L.C. Delaware		
BREA VI L.L.C. BREAI (Delaware) II L.L.C. BREAI II L.P. BRECA LLC BREM L.L.C. BREM L.L.C. Delaware BREMAI II L.P. BREM Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. BREP Europe III GP L.L.C. Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware		
BREAI (Delaware) II L.L.C. BREAI II L.P. BRECA LLC BREM L.L.C. BREM L.L.C. BREMAI II L.P. BREM Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. BREP Europe III GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III GP L.L.C.		
BREAI II L.P. BRECA LLC BREM L.L.C. BREM LIL.C. BREMAI II L.P. BREM Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. BREP Europe III GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III GP L.L.C.		
BRECA LLC BREM L.L.C. BREMAI II L.P. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. BREP Europe III GP L.L.C. Delaware BREP Europe III GP L.L.C.		
BREM L.L.C. BREMAI II L.P. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. BREP Europe III GP L.L.C. Delaware Delaware		
BREMAI II L.P. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. BREP Europe III GP L.L.C. Delaware Delaware		
BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.L.C. BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. BREP Europe III GP L.L.C. Delaware Delaware		
BREP Europe III - NQ GP L.P. BREP Europe III GP L.L.C. Delaware		
BREP Europe III GP L.L.C. Delaware		
BREP Europe III GP L.P. Delaware		
	BREP Europe III GP L.P.	Delaware

BREP International GP L.L.C.	Delaware
BREP International GP L.P.	Delaware
BREP International II GP L.L.C.	Delaware
BREP International II GP L.P.	Delaware
BREP International II-Q GP L.L.C.	Delaware
BREP International II-Q GP L.P.	Delaware
BREP IV - NQ Side-by Side GP L.L.C.	Delaware
BREP IV (Offshore) GP L.L.C.	Delaware
BREP IV (Offshore) GP L.P.	Delaware
BREP IV Side-by Side GP L.L.C.	Delaware
BREP V - NQ Side-by Side GP L.L.C.	Delaware
BREP V (Offshore) GP L.L.C.	Delaware
BREP V (Offshore) GP L.P.	Delaware
BREP V Side-by Side GP L.L.C.	Delaware
BREP VI - NQ Side-by Side GP L.L.C.	Delaware
BREP VI (Offshore) GP L.L.C.	Delaware
BREP VI (Offshore) GP L.P.	Delaware
BREP VI -Q (Offshore) GP L.L.C.	Delaware
BREP VI -Q (Offshore) GP L.P.	Delaware
BREP VI Side-by Side GP - L.L.C.	Delaware
BTD CP Holdings LP	Delaware
Equity Healthcare L.L.C.	Delaware
GSO Advisor Holdings L.L.C.	Delaware
GSO Associates LLC	Delaware
GSO Capital Advisors, LLC	Delaware
GSO Capital Opportunities Associates LLC	Delaware
GSO Capital Opportunities Associates LLC	Delaware
GSO Capital Partners (California) LLC	Delaware
GSO Capital Partners (Camorina) LLC GSO Capital Partners (Texas) LP	Delaware
GSO Capital Partners (UK) LTD	United Kingdom
GSO Capital Partners International LLP	United Kingdom
GSO Capital Partners LP	Delaware
GSO Co-Investments Partners LLC	Delaware
GSO Debt Funds Management LLC	Delaware
GSO Holdings I LLC	Delaware
GSO Holdings II LLC	Delaware
	Delaware
GSO Holdings III LLC	Delaware
GSO Legacy Associates LLC	Delaware Delaware
GSO Legacy Overseas Associates LLC	
GSO Liquidity Associates LLC	Delaware
GSO Liquidity Overseas Associates LLC	Delaware
GSO Liquidity Overseas Associates Ltd	Cayman
GSO Origination Associates LLC	Delaware
GSO Overseas Associates LLC	Delaware
GSO Targeted Opportunity Associates LLC	Delaware
GSO Targeted Opportunity Master Associates LLC	Delaware
GSO Targeted Opportunity Overseas Associates LLC	Delaware
GSO VIPS LLC	Delaware
Kailix Advisors L.L.C.	Delaware
Kailix Associates L.L.C.	Delaware
Blackstone Market Opportunities Fund L.P.	Delaware
Park Hill Group Asia K.K.	Japan

Park Hill Group Holdings L.L.C. Park Hill Group Holdings Limited Park Hill Group L.L.C. Park Hill Real Estate Group L.L.C. PHG Holdings L.L.C. PHREG Holdings L.L.C. StoneCO IV Corporation Blackstone Strategic Equity Fund L.P. TBG Realty Corp. TBGHKL - Australian branch The Asia Opportunities Fund LP The Blackstone Group (Asia) Limited The Blackstone Group (HK) Limited The Blackstone Group Deutschland GmbH The Blackstone Group Europe Limited The Blackstone Group International (Cayman) Limited The Blackstone Group International Limited The Blackstone Group Japan K.K. The Blackstone Group Mauritius II Ltd.

The Blackstone Group Mauritius Ltd.

Blackstone Value Recovery Fund L.P.

Delaware United Kingdom Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware Delaware New York Australia Delaware Hong Kong Hong Kong Germany United Kingdom Cayman United Kingdom Japan Mauritius Mauritius Delaware

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements of our reports dated February 26, 2010, relating to the consolidated and combined financial statements of The Blackstone Group L.P. and subsidiaries ("Blackstone"), and the statement of financial condition of Blackstone Group Management, L.L.C., and the effectiveness of Blackstone's internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Blackstone for the year ended December 31, 2009:

- Registration Statement No. 333-157632 (Common Units Representing Limited Partnership Interests) on Form S-3
- Registration Statement No. 333-151853 (Common Units Representing Limited Partnership Interests) on Form S-3
- Registration Statement No. 333-157635 (The Blackstone Group L.P. 2007 Equity Incentive Plan) on Form S-8
- Registration Statement No. 333-143948 (The Blackstone Group L.P. 2007 Equity Incentive Plan) on Form S-8.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP New York, New York February 26, 2010

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Stephen A. Schwarzman, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 of The Blackstone Group L.P.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The Registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
 - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
 the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
 evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant's fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The Registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2010

/s/ Stephen A. Schwarzman

Stephen A. Schwarzman Chief Executive Officer of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Laurence A. Tosi, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 of The Blackstone Group L.P.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The Registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
 - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
 the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
 evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant's fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The Registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2010

/s/ Laurence A. Tosi

Laurence A. Tosi Chief Financial Officer of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of The Blackstone Group L.P. (the "Partnership") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Stephen A. Schwarzman, Chief Executive Officer of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C., the general partner of the Partnership, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Partnership.

Date: February 26, 2010

/s/ Stephen A. Schwarzman

Stephen A. Schwarzman Chief Executive Officer of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C.

^{*} The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of The Blackstone Group L.P. (the "Partnership") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Laurence A. Tosi, Chief Financial Officer of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C., the general partner of the Partnership, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Partnership.

Date: February 26, 2010

/s/ Laurence A. Tosi

Laurence A. Tosi Chief Financial Officer of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C.

^{*} The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.

Independent Auditors' Report

To the Members of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C.:

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial condition of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. (the "Company") as of December 31, 2009. This financial statement is the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial statement based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards as established by the Auditing Standards Board (United States) and in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the statement of financial condition is free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the statement of financial condition, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall statement of financial condition presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such statement of financial condition presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. as of December 31, 2009, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York February 26, 2010

BLACKSTONE GROUP MANAGEMENT L.L.C.

Statement of Financial Condition As of December 31, 2009

Assets	
Cash	<u>\$ 1</u>
Members' Capital	
Members' Capital	\$ 1

Notes to Statement of Financial Condition

1. ORGANIZATION

Blackstone Group Management L.L.C. (the "Company") was formed as a Delaware limited liability company on March 12, 2007. The Company is the general partner of The Blackstone Group L.P. ("Blackstone").

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting—The Statement of Financial Condition has been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

3. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All costs incurred by the Company in the management and operation of Blackstone are allocated to, and reimbursed from, Blackstone.